

VOL. **311** NO. **1** NOVEMBER 9, 1984 (Biomedical Applications, Vol. 36, No. 1)

BIOMEDICAL APPLICATIONS

	EDITOR, K. Macek (Prague)
	CONSULTING EDITOR, M. Lederer (Switzerland)
	EDITORIAL BOARD R. F. Adams (North Ryde) B. G. Belenkii (Leningrad) L. D. Bergelson (Moscow) A. A. Boulton (Saskatoon) C. J. W. Brooks (Glasgow) P. R. Brown (Kingston, RI) E. Chambaz (Saint-Martin-d'Hères) W. L. Chiou (Chicago, IL) H. Ch. Curtius (Zürich) J. A. F. de Silva (Nutley, NJ) Z. Deyl (Prague) R. A. de Zeeuw (Groningen) J. W. Drysdale (Boston, MA) F. M. Everaerts (Eindhoven) M. G. Horning (Houston, TX) E. Jellum (Oslo) A. Kuksis (Toroto) H. M. Liebich (Tübingen) T. Nambara (Sendai) M. Novotný (Bloomington, IN) P. Padieu (Dijon) J. Roboz (New York, NY) N. Seiler (Strasbourg) J. Sjövall (Stockholm) L. R. Snyder (Yorktown Heights, NY) S. J. Soldin (Toronto)
	W. J. A. VandenHeuvel (Rahway, NJ) J. Vessman (Mölndal)
	J. Wagner (Leipzig)
and the second secon	EDITOR, NEWS AND BOOK REVIEW SECTIONS Z. Dey! (Prague)
1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	n e e
Dirth 6	
t the second the second terms	
	ELSEVIER

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY

- Scope. The Journal of Chromatography publishes papers on all aspects of chromatography, electrophoresis and related methods. Contributions consist mainly of research papers dealing with chromatographic theory, instrumental development and their applications. The section *Biomedical Applications*, which is under separate editorship, deals with the following aspects: developments in and applications of chromatographic and electrophoretic techniques related to clinical diagnosis (including the publication of normal values); screening and profiling procedures with special reference to metabolic disorders; results from basic medical research with direct consequences in clinical practice; combinations of chromatographic and electrophoretic methods with other physicochemical techniques such as mass spectrometry. In *Chromatographic*, reviews on all aspects of chromatography, electrophoresis and related methods are published.
- Submission of Papers. Papers in English, French and German may be submitted, in three copies. Manuscripts should be submitted to: The Editor of *Journal of Chromatography*, P.O. Box 681, 1000 AR Amsterdam, The Netherlands, or to: The Editor of *Journal of Chromatography, Biomedical Applications*, P.O. Box 681, 1000 AR Amsterdam, The Netherlands. Review articles are invited or proposed by letter to the Editors and will appear in *Chromatographic Reviews* or *Biomedical Applications*. An outline of the proposed review should first be forwarded to the Editors for preliminary discussion prior to preparation. Submission of an article is understood to imply that the article is original and unpublished and is not being considered for publication elsewhere. For copyright regulations, see below.
- Subscription Orders. Subscription orders should be sent to: Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., P.O. Box 211, 1000 AE Amsterdam, The Netherlands. The *Journal of Chromatography* and the *Biomedical Applications* section can be subscribed to separately.
- Publication. The Journal of Chromatography (incl. Biomedical Applications, Chromatographic Reviews and Cumulative Author and Subject Indexes, Vols. 101-150 and 276-300) has 30 volumes in 1984. The subscription prices for 1984 are:

Chromatogr. (incl. Chromatogr. Rev. and Cum. Indexes Vols. 101-150 and 276-300) + Biomed. Appl. (Vols. 282-311):

Dfl. 4800.00 plus Dfl. 630.00 (postage) (total ca. US\$ 2088.50)

Chromatogr. (incl. Chromatogr. Rev. and Cum. Indexes Vols. 101-150 and 276-300) only (Vols. 282-304):

Dfl. 4025.00 plus Dfl. 483.00 (postage) (total ca. US\$ 1734.00)

Biomed. Appl. only (Vols. 305-311):

Dfl. 1225.00 plus Dfl. 147.00 (postage) (total ca. US\$ 528.00).

Journals are automatically sent by airmail to the U.S.A. and Canada at no extra costs, and to Japan, Australia and New Zealand, with a small additional postal charge. Back volumes of the *Journal of Chromatography* (Vols. 1 through 281) are available at Dfl. 190.00 (plus postage). Claims for issues not received should be made within three months of publication of the issue. If not, they cannot be honoured free of charge. Customers in the U.S.A. and Canada wishing information on this and other Elsevier journals, please contact Journal Information Center, Elsevier Science Publishing Co. Inc., 52 Vanderbilt Avenue, New York, NY 10017. Tel. (212) 867-9040.

Abstracts/Contents Lists published in Analytical Abstracts, Biochemical Abstracts, Biological Abstracts, Chemical Abstracts, Chemical Titles, Current Contents/Physical, Chemical & Earth Sciences, Current Contents/Life Sciences, Deep-Sea Research/Part B: Oceanographic Literature Review, Index Medicus, Mass Spectrometry Bulletin, Referativnyi Zhurnal and Science Citation Index.

See page 3 of cover for Publication Schedule, Information for Authors and information on Advertisements.

© ELSEVIER SCIENCE PUBLISHERS B.V. - 1984

0378-4347/84/\$03.00

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publisher, Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., P.O. Box 330, 1000 AH Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Upon acceptance of an article by the journal, the author(s) will be asked to transfer copyright of the article to the publisher. The transfer will ensure the widest possible dissemination of information.

Submission of an article for publication implies the transfer of the copyright from the author(s) to the publisher and entails the authors' irrevocable and exclusive authorization of the publisher to collect any sums or considerations for copying or reproduction payable by third parties (as mentioned in article 17 paragraph 2 of the Dutch Copyright Act of 1912 and in the Royal Decree of June 20, 1974 (S. 351) pursuant to article 16 b of the Dutch Copyright Act of 1912) and/or to act in or out of Court in connection therewith.

Special regulations for readers in the U.S.A. This journal has been registered with the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. Consent is given for copying of articles for personal or internal use, or for the personal use of specific clients. This consent is given on the condition that the copier pays through the Center the per-copy fee stated in the code on the first page of each article for copying beyond that permitted by Sections 107 or 108 of the U.S. Copyright Law. The appropriate foe should be forwarded with a copy of the first page of the article to the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 21 Congress Street, Salem, MA 01970, U.S.A. If no code appears in an article, the author has not given broad consent to copy and permission to copy must be obtained directly from the author. All articles published prior to 1980 may be copied for a per-copy fee of US\$ 2.25, also payable through the Center. This consent doos not extend to other kinds of copying, such as for general distribution, reself and oromotion purposes, or for creating new collective works. Special written permission must be obtained from the publisher for such copying. (Biomedical Applications, Vol. 36, No. 1)

CONTENTS

(Abstracts/Contents Lists published in Analytical Abstracts, Biochemical Abstracts, Biological Abstracts, Chemical Abstracts, Chemical Titles, Current Contents/Physical, Chemical & Earth Sciences, Current Contents/Life Sciences, Deep-Sea Research/Part B: Oceanographic Literature Review, Index Medicus, Mass Spectrometry Bulletin, Pharmaceutical Abstracts, Referativnyi Zhurnal, and Science Citation Index)

 Analysis of melatonin, 5-methoxytryptophol and 5-methoxyindoleacetic acid in the pineal gland and retina of hamster by capillary column gas chromatography—mass spectrometry by O. Beck (Stockholm, Sweden) and P. Pévet (Strasbourg, France and Amsterdam, The Netherlands) (Received May 14th, 1984)	1
Reliable measurement of non-esterified long-chain fatty acid pattern in blood plasma by C. Borra, G. Cosmi, A. Di Corcia and R. Samperi (Rome, Italy) (Received May 8th, 1984).	9
Gas chromatographic analysis of endogenous catecholamines, phenolic amines and derived isoquinolines using short glass capillary columns and electron-capture detection by T.C. Origitano and M.A. Collins (Maywood, IL, U.S.A.) (Received June 14th 1084	17
14th, 1984	17
Carbohydrates of whole defatted cells as a basis for differentiation between Actino- bacillus actinomycetemcomitans and Haemophilus aphrophilus by I. Brondz and I. Olsen (Oslo, Norway) (Received June 27th, 1984)	31
Determination of leukotrienes and prostaglandins in [¹⁴ C]arachidonic acid labelled human lung tissue by high-performance liquid chromatography and radioim- munoassay	
by F.J. Zijlstra and J.E. Vincent (Rotterdam, The Netherlands) (Received June 26th, 1984)	39
Determination of free 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol with several other mono- amine metabolites in plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography with amperometric detection	
by A. Minegishi and T. Ishizaki (Tokyo, Japan) (Received May 14th, 1984)	51
Analysis of dansyl derivatives of di- and polyamines in mouse brain, human serum and duodenal biopsy specimens by high-performance liquid chromatography on a standard reversed-phase column	
by J. Bontemps, J. Laschet, G. Dandrifosse, JL. Van Cutsem and PP. Forget (Liège, Belgium) (Received June 7th, 1984)	59
Rapid ion-exchange method for the determination of 3-methylhistidine in rat urine and skeletal muscle	
by G. Žunić, S. Stanimirović and J. Savić (Belgrade, Yugoslavia) (Received May 21st, 1984)	69

(Contents overleaf)

Resolution and quantitation of apolipoproteins A-I and A-II from human high-density lipoprotein by size exclusion high-performance liquid chromatography by P.M. Young, T.M. Boehm and J.E. Brown (Washington, DC, U.S.A.) (Re- ceived June 22nd, 1984)	79
Detection of changes in rabbit serum proteins after partial hepatectomy by means of two-dimensional electrophoresis under non-denaturing conditions by T. Kadofuku and T. Sato (Tokyo, Japan) (Received March 16th, 1984)	93
 High-performance liquid chromatographic procedure for the determination of di-(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate in human blood specimens. Problems of variable-extraction yield and the use of standard addition for calibration. by G.M. Pollack, R.L. Slaughter, J.F. Buchanan and D.D. Shen (Amherst, NY, U.S.A.) (Received June 28th, 1984)	101
Determination of benperidol in human plasma by high-performance liquid chroma- tography	
by R. Krüger, I. Mengel and H.J. Kuss (Munich, F.R.G.) (Received May 14th, 1984)	109
High-performance liquid chromatographic method for the analysis of a candidate 8-aminoquinoline antileishmanial drug using oxidative electrochemical detec- tion	
by J.C. Anders, A.D. Theoharides, L.M. Thomas, M.H. Smyth and H. Chung (Washington, DC, U.S.A.) (Received May 10th, 1984)	117
Determination of adriamycin, adriamycinol and their 7-deoxyaglycones in human serum by high-performance liquid chromatography by J. Cummings, J.F.B. Stuart and K.C. Calman (Glasgow, U.K.) (Received June 6th, 1984)	125
New rapid method of analysis of cefoxitin in serum and bone, by high-performance liquid chromatography by C. Purser, A. Baltar, I.K. Ho and A. Scott Hume (Jackson, MS, U.S.A.) (Received June 19th, 1984)	135
Notes	
Quantitative analysis of aromatic amines in human urine by gas chromatography- mass spectrometry-selection-ion monitoring by G. Carlucci, L. Airoldi and R. Fanelli (Milan, Italy) and B. Laguzzi (Turin, Italy) (Received June 4th, 1984)	141
Dihydrocaffeic acid: a common contaminant in the liquid chromatographic—electro- chemical measurement of plasma catecholamines in man by D.S. Goldstein, R. Stull, S.P. Markey, E.S. Marks and H.R. Keiser (Bethesda, MD, U.S.A.) (Received June 13th, 1984)	148
Determination of DOPA, dopamine and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA in plasma, urine, and tissue samples by high-performance liquid chromatography with electrochem-	
ical detection by S. Ito, T. Kato, K. Maruta and K. Fujita (Aichi, Japan) and T. Kurahashi (Kyoto, Japan) (Received May 4th, 1984)	154

Chromatographie en phase liquide automatique de la dopamine urinaire par F. Guyon, V. Lecomte-Joulin, C. Falcy et J.P. Dupeyron (Paris, France) (Reçu le 5 mai 1984)	160
Ascorbic acid oxidase speeds up analysis for catecholamines, indoleamines and their metabolites in brain tissue using high-performance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection	
by L. McKay, C. Bradberry and A. Oke (Lawrence, KS, U.S.A.) (Received June 21st, 1984)	167
Determination of non-protein-bound N-acetylcysteine in plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography	
June 7th, 1984)	170
Determination of α -tocopherol in human plasma by high-performance liquid chro- matography with electrochemical detection	
May 29th, 1984)	176
Quantitative analysis of cystathionine and perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid in the urine of a patient with cystathioninuria using isotachophoresis by H. Kodama, K. Sasaki and H. Mikasa (Kochi, Japan) and D. Cavallini and G. Ricci (Rome, Italy) (Received June 1st, 1984)	183
Gas-liquid chromatographic analysis with electron-capture detection of diclofensine in human plasma following derivatization	
by H. Hojabri, D. Dadgar and J.D. Glennon (Cork, Ireland) (Received May 31st, 1984)	189
Rapid gas chromatographic determination of ifosfamide in biological fluids by M.R.Z. Talha and H.J. Rogers (London, U.K.) (Received June 13th, 1984)	194
Simple method for routine determination of betaxolol in blood and urine by auto- mated high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorimetric detection by H. Caqueret and G. Bianchetti (Paris, France) (Received April 30th, 1984)	199
Rapid and sensitive analysis of terazosin in plasma, peritoneal dialysis solution, and urine using high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection by S.E. Patterson (North Chicago, IL, U.S.A.) (Received May 24th, 1984)	206
High-performance liquid chromatographic analysis of naloxone in human serum by M.D. Terry, G.H. Hisayasu, J.W. Kern and J.L. Cohen (Los Angeles, CA, U.S.A.) (Received June 15th, 1984)	213
Determination of bupivacaine in human plasma by high-performance liquid chroma- tography	
by UW. Wiegand, R.C. Chou, E. Lanz and E. Jännchen (Mainz, F.R.G.) (Received June 20th, 1984)	218
Detection of nalbuphine in plasma: an improved high-performance liquid chroma- tographic assay	
by M. Keegan and B. Kay (Manchester, U.K.) (Received May 28th, 1984)	223

(Continued overleaf)

Determination of carboxybupranolol, the major metabolite of bupranolol, in human plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography	
by L.M. Walmsley, R.R. Brodie and L.F. Chasseaud (Huntingdon, U.K.) (Received April 6th, 1984).	227
Determination of sodium 2-mercaptoethanesulphonate by high-performance liquid chromatography using post-column reaction colorimetry or electrochemical detection	

by B. Sidau and I.C. Shaw (London, U.K.) (Received May 24th, 1984) 234



Unique Chemicals from Japan Organic Reagent Specialist

DIMETHYLALKYLSILYLATION (DMAS) REAGENTS

For GC-MS of 1),2) Hydroxysteroids Prostaglandins Bile Acids³⁾ Thromboxane



Dimethylethylsilylimidazole (DMESI) Dimethyl-n-propylsilylimidazole (DMPSI) Dimethyl-iso-propylsilylimidazole (DMIPSI) Dimethyl-tert-butylsilylimidazole (DMTBSI)

also presenting

N-(tert-Butyldimethylsilyl)-N-methyltrifluoroacetamide(MTBSTFA) DMF-Dialkylacetals and Trimethylsilylation Reagents

Advantage of the DMAS ether derivs. • Estimation of the number of OH-

- groups in unknown compound by GC • Estimation of molecular weight of unknown compound by GC-MS
- Discrimination of phenolic and alcoholic OH-groups by GC and GC-MS
- Enhancement of Gas Chromatographic separation
- Enhancement of detection limit in microanalysis by selected ion monitoring



TMS \longrightarrow DMES exchange reaction for β -Estradiol

Reference:

- 1) H. Miyazaki, et al:
- Biomed. Mass Spectrom. 4, 23 (1977)
- 2) H. Miyazaki, et al:
- Biomed. Mass Spectrom. 6, 57 (1979) 3) H. Miyazaki, et al:
 - J. Chromatog. 289, 249 (1984)
- 4) J. Sjövall, et al:
 - J. Chromatog. 289, 195 (1984)

TOKYO KASEI KOGYO CO., LTD.

(Tokyo Chemical Industry Co., Ltd.)

3-9-4, Nihonbashi-Honcho, Chuo-ku, Tokyo, 103 Japan. Phone:03-241-0861 FAX:03-246-2094 Telex:2223592 ASACEM J Cable:ASACHEMCO TOKYO

637







P.O. Box 211, 1000 AE Amsterdam The Netherlands P.O. Box 1663 Grand Central Station, New York, NY 10163 By J.R. GREEN, Lecturer in Computational and Statistical Science, University of Liverpool, U.K. and D.MARGERISON, Senior Lecturer in Inorganic, Physical and Industrial Chemistry, University of Liverpool, U.K.

PHYSICAL SCIENCES DATA 2

This book first appeared in 1977. In 1978 a revised reprint was published and in response to demand, further reprints appeared in 1979, 1980 and 1983. Intended for researchers wishing to analyse experimental data, this work will also be useful to students of statistics. Statistical methods and concepts are explained and the ideas and reasoning behind statistical methodology clarified. Noteworthy features of the text are numerical worked examples to illustrate formal results, and the treatment of many practical topics which are often omitted from standard texts, for example testing for outliers, stabilization of variances and polynomial regression.

What the reviewers had to say:

"The index is detailed; the format is good; the presentation is clear; and no mathematics beyond calculus is assumed". —CHOICE

"A lot of thought has gone into this book and I like it very much. It deserves a place on every laboratory bookshelf". _____CHEMISTRY IN

-CHEMISTRY IN BRITAIN 1977. Reprinted 1978, 1979. 1980, 1983 xiv + 382 pages US\$ 41.75/Dfl. 98.00 ISBN: 0-444-41725-7

ISTRY IN The Dutch guilder price is definitive. US\$ prices are valid in USA and Canada only. 7163a Indispensable information for the Advanced Technology Laboratory

JOURNAL OF ANALYTICAL AND APPLIED PYROLYSIS



Subscription Information

1985: Volume 7 (4 issues) US \$ 98.00/Dfl. 255.00, including postage



P.O. Box 211, 1000 AE Amsterdam The Netherlands 52 Vanderbilt Avenue New York, NY 10017 U.S.A. Editors H.L.C. Meuzelaar, Salt Lake City, UT, U.S.A. H.-R. Schulten, Wiesbaden, F.R.G.

Associate Editor C.E.R. Jones, Redhill, U.K.

The international *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* is devoted to the publication of qualitative and quantitative results relating to:

- Controlled thermal degradation and pyrolysis of technical and biological macromolecules;
- Environmental, geochemical, biological and medical applications of analytical pyrolysis;
- Basic studies in high temperature chemistry, reaction kinetics and pyrolysis mechanisms;
- Pyrolysis investigations of energy related problems, fingerprinting of fossil and synthetic fuels, coal extraction and liquefaction products.

The scope of the journal includes items such as the following:

- Fundamental investigations of pyrolysis processes by chemical, physical and physicochemical methods.
- Structural analysis and fingerprinting of synthetic and natural polymers or products of high molecular weight, including biopolymers, microorganisms, cells, tissues, humic materials, geopolymers and sediments.
- Technical developments and new instrumentation for pyrolysis techniques in combination with such chromatographic or spectrometric methods as GLC, TLC, MS, UV, IR, NMR or combined GC-MS. Special attention will be paid to automation, optimization and standardization.
- Computer handling and processing of pyrolysis data, including library filing and retrieval techniques, as well as computer matching and advanced pattern recognition techniques.

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY

VOL. 311 (1984)

(Biomedical Applications, Vol. 36)



INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL ON CHROMATOGRAPHY, ELECTROPHORESIS AND RELATED METHODS

BIOMEDICAL APPLICATIONS

EDITOR

K. MACEK (Prague)

CONSULTING EDITOR

M. LEDERER (Switzerland)

EDITORIAL BOARD

R. F. Adams (North Ryde), B. G. Belenkii (Leningrad), L. D. Bergelson (Moscow), A. A. Boulton (Saskatoon), C. J. W. Brooks (Glasgow), P. R. Brown (Kingston, RI), E. Chambaz (Saint-Martin-d'Hères), W. L. Chiou (Chicago, IL), H. Ch. Curtius (Zürich), J. A. F. de Silva (Nutley, NJ), Z. Deyl (Prague), R. A. de Zeeuw (Groningen), J. W. Drysdale (Boston, MA), F. M. Everaerts (Eindhoven), M. G. Horning (Houston, TX), E. Jellum (Oslo), A. Kuksis (Toronto), H. M. Liebich (Tübingen), T. Nambara (Sendai), M. Novotný (Bloomington, IN), P. Padieu (Dijon), J. Roboz (New York, NY), N. Seiler (Strasbourg), J. Sjövall (Stockholm), L. R. Snyder (Yorktown Heights, NY), S. J. Soldin (Toronto), W. J. A. VandenHeuvel (Rahway, NJ), J. Vessman (Mölndal), J. Wagner (Leipzig)

Vol. 36

1984



ELSEVIER AMSTERDAM — OXFORD — NEW YORK — TOKYO

J. Chromatogr., Vol. 311 (1984)

© ELSEVIER SCIENCE PUBLISHERS B.V. - 1984

0378-4347/84/\$03.00

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publisher, Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., P.O. Box 330, 1000 AH Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Upon acceptance of an article by the journal, the author(s) will be asked to transfer copyright of the article to the publisher. The transfer will ensure the widest possible dissemination of information.

Submission of an article for publication implies the transfer of the copyright from the author(s) to the publisher and entails the authors' irrevocable and exclusive authorization of the publisher to collect any sums or considerations for copying or reproduction payable by third parties (as mentioned in article 17 paragraph 2 of the Dutch Copyright Act of 1912 and in the Royal Decree of June 20, 1974 (S. 351) pursuant to article 16 b of the Dutch Copyright Act of 1912) and/or to act in or out of Court in connection therewith.

Special regulations for readers in the U.S.A. This journal has been registered with the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. Consent is given for copying of articles for personal or internal use, or for the personal use of specific clients. This consent is given on the condition that the copier pays through the Center the per-copy fee stated in the code on the first page of each article for copying beyond that permitted by Sections 107 or 108 of the U.S. Copyright Law. The appropriate fee should be forwarded with a copy of the first page of the article to the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 21 Congress Street, Salem, MA 01970, U.S.A. If no code appears in an article, the author has not given broad consent to copy and permission to copy must be obtained directly from the author. All articles published prior to 1980 may be copied for a per-copy fee of US\$ 2.25, also payable through the Center. This consent does not extend to other kinds of copying, such as for general distribution, resale, advertising and promotion purposes, or for creating new collective works. Special written permission must be obtained from the publisher for such copying.

Printed in The Netherlands

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 1–8 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2223

ANALYSIS OF MELATONIN, 5-METHOXYTRYPTOPHOL AND 5-METHOXYINDOLEACETIC ACID IN THE PINEAL GLAND AND RETINA OF HAMSTER BY CAPILLARY COLUMN GAS CHROMATOGRAPHY—MASS SPECTROMETRY

OLOF BECK*,*

Department of Toxicology, Karolinska Institutet, Box 60 400, S-104 01 Stockholm (Sweden)

and

PAUL PÉVET

Zoological Laboratory, University L. Pasteur, Strasbourg (France) and The Netherlands Institute for Brain Research, Amsterdam (The Netherlands)

(First received February 20th, 1984; revised manuscript received May 14th, 1984)

SUMMARY

A specific capillary column gas chromatographic—mass spectrometric method was used to determine 5-methoxyindoles in the pineal gland and retina of the golden hamster during a light—dark (14:10) cycle. In the pineal gland, the mean levels of melatonin ranged from 0.15 to 2.4 pmol per gland, with a maximum in the dark. The levels of 5-methoxytryptophol and 5-methoxyindoleacetic acid were in the same range, but peaked during light. In the retina the levels of melatonin were about 100 pmol/g, and seemed not to differ between light and dark. The level of 5-methoxyindoleacetic acid were in the same range during light but were below the detection limit during dark.

INTRODUCTION

Interest in 5-methoxyindoles has so far mainly been focussed on melatonin and its function as a pineal hormone [1]. Although another 5-methoxyindole,

^{*}Correspondence address: Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Stanford University Medical Center, Stanford, CA 94305, U.S.A.

5-methoxytryptophol (5MTOL), has long been known to exert an influence on reproduction [2], it is only recently that the existence and physiological effects of 5-methoxyindoles other than melatonin have gained interest [3, 4]. In addition, several findings have demonstrated that organs other than the pineal gland (e.g. the retina) possess the capability to produce 5-methoxy-indoles (see ref. 5).

The aim of the present study was to determine endogenous levels of melatonin, 5MTOL and 5-methoxyindoleacetic acid (5MIAA) in the pineal gland and retina of the golden hamster during a light—dark cycle, by using a specific capillary column gas chromatographic—mass spectrometric (GC—MS) method.

EXPERIMENTAL

Chemicals and biological samples

5MTOL was obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.); melatonin was from Regis (Morton Grove, IL, U.S.A.); 5MIAA was from Aldrich (Beerse, Belgium); pentafluoropropionic anhydride (PFPA) was from Reagenta (Uppsala, Sweden); and 2,2,2-trifluoroethanol (TFE) was from E. Merck (Darmstadt, F.R.G.). 5-Methoxyindole-3- $[2^{-2}H_2]$ acetic acid (5- $[^{2}H_2]$ MIAA) was synthesized according to the procedure of Beck and Bosin [6]. 5-Methoxy-[$\alpha, \alpha, \beta, \beta^{-2}H_4$] tryptophol (5- $[^{2}H_4]$ MTOL) was synthesized by the method of Hesselgren and Beck [7]. N-Acetyl-5-methoxy- $[\alpha, \alpha, \beta, \beta^{-2}H_4]$ tryptamine ([$^{2}H_4$]melatonin) was prepared by the procedure of Shaw et al. [8]. All other chemicals used were of analytical purity.

Male golden hamsters (*Mesocricetus auratus*) (80-90 g) were obtained from TNO (Zeist, The Netherlands). The animals were maintained under a long photoperiod (light—dark 14:10), with the light on between 4.00 a.m. and 6.00 p.m., at 25°C in constant humidity; they received food and water ad libitum. After decapitation, the pineal gland and retinae were quickly removed. The tissues were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70° C prior to analysis. During the night the animals were killed in the dark, but dissected in the light.

Preparation of samples

The pineal glands from three animals were pooled and the retinae from each animal were analysed together. The tissue was homogenized in 1.0 ml of icecooled 0.15 *M* formic acid containing $[^{2}H_{4}]$ melatonin (38.7 pmol), 5- $[^{2}H_{4}]$ -MTOL (74.8 pmol) and 5- $[^{2}H_{2}]$ MIAA (47.2 pmol), using an Ultra-Turrax homogenizer. The homogenate was centrifuged at 70,000 g for 15 min and the supernatant transferred to a clean acid-washed (dichromate—sulphuric acid) 15-ml glass-stoppered tube containing 6 ml of dichloromethane. The tube was shaken and centrifuged at 1000 g for 5 min. The organic layer was divided into two equal parts which were transferred to new tubes and evaporated to dryness under a stream of nitrogen. One part of the extract was used for the analysis of melatonin and 5MTOL. The extract was treated with 50 μ l of PFPA at 60°C for 1 h, evaporated to dryness under nitrogen and redissolved in 25 μ l of ethyl acetate. The other part of the extract was used for the analysis of

3

5MIAA. This part was treated with 50 μ l of a mixture of PFPA and TFE (4:1) at 75° C for 5 min, followed by evaporation to dryness under nitrogen. Thereafter, the residue was treated as described above for the melatonin and 5MTOL fraction.

Gas chromatography—mass spectrometry

Selected ion monitoring was performed using a computer-controlled LKB 2091 gas chromatograph-mass spectrometer. The gas chromatograph and the mass spectrometer were interfaced with a jet separator. The GC separations were achieved using a 25 m \times 0.32 mm I.D. WCOT SE-52 capillary column and helium was used as carrier and make-up gas. Splitless injections were carried out using a "moving needle" device. The GC conditions were: injector heater 260°C; column temperature 200°C for 5MTOL and 5MIAA and 230°C for melatonin; column flow-rate ~ 2 ml/min and make-up gas flow-rate ~ 12 ml/min. Aliquots of 2 μ l of the samples were injected and an initial delay of about 1.5 min in opening the valve was effected to avoid contamination of the ion source. Under these conditions the retention times of the derivatives of the 5-methoxyindole compounds were about 2 min. The MS conditions were: separator temperature 250°C; ion source temperature 240°C; electron energy 70 eV; and trap current 50 μ A. The mass numbers monitored for melatonin, 5MTOL and 5MIAA were m/z 360:364, 483:487 or 319:322, and 433:435, respectively, where the lower mass number corresponds to the authentic compound and the higher to the deuterated internal standard.

Quantitation

Calibration curves were constructed by plotting the peak height ratios (authentic/internal standard) of the standard samples against the concentration of authentic compound. The levels were then determined from the corresponding peak height ratios of each sample by reference to the calibration curve. The calibration curves showed a linear relationship of the peak height raios to the concentration and always intercepted near the origin.

RESULTS

Identification

The selected-ion monitoring involved recording ion intensities at mass numbers corresponding to the molecular ions and, in the case of 5MTOL, also to a characteristic fragment ion [9-11]. The identification was based on the presence of compounds eluting at the same retention time as authentic compounds and at the correct mass numbers. Evidence for the presence of melatonin, 5MTOL and 5MIAA in the pineal gland (Fig. 1), and of melatonin and 5MIAA in the retina (Fig. 2), was obtained. The reproducibility of the method was better than 10% for all three compounds.

Pineal levels

During the light phase the level of melatonin in the pineal gland was found to be about 0.15 pmol per gland (Fig. 3). The melatonin level was increased about fifteen-fold to 2.4 pmol per gland during the dark. The levels of 5MTOL



Fig. 1. Ion trace chromatograms obtained from the analysis of (A) melatonin, (B) 5MTOL, and (C) 5MIAA in hamster pineal glands. Mass numbers (m/z) and relative amplification factors are indicated. The retention time is expressed in minutes.



Fig. 2. Ion trace chromatogram obtained from the analysis of (A) melatonin, and (B) 5MIAA in hamster retinae. Mass numbers (m/z) and relative amplification factors are indicated. The retention time is expressed in minutes.



Fig. 3. Concentrations of melatonin, 5MTOL and 5MIAA in the hamster pineal gland during a light—dark cycle (long photoperiod, light—dark 14:10).

and 5MIAA were of a similar magnitude to those of melatonin (Fig. 3). The maximal levels of 5MTOL and 5MIAA occurred, however, during the light phase, and there was less difference than for melatonin between light and dark.

Retina levels

Melatonin was present in the retina at a level of about 100 pmol/g (Fig. 4). No difference in the melatonin level between light and dark phase was evident. 5MIAA was detectable in most samples collected during light and the levels seemed to be at the detection limit during dark (Fig. 4). There was a significant variation in results within the groups. 5MTOL could be detected in a few samples ($\sim 10\%$), with a limit of detection of about 5 pmol/g. There appeared to be a relation between melatonin, 5MIAA and 5MTOL in the retina in that when the melatonin level was high, 5MIAA and 5MTOL also occurred at relatively high levels.



Fig. 4. Concentrations of melatonin and 5MIAA in the hamster retina during a light-dark cycle (long photoperiod, light-dark 14:10).

DISCUSSION

The results of this study, obtained by use of GC-MS, confirm the presence of melatonin in the pineal gland of the male golden hamster, as had previously been found using radioimmunoassay methods [12-14]. The diurnal variation of the melatonin levels in the pineal gland, with a maximum during the dark phase of the light-dark cycle, is also in agreement with the earlier studies. However, some disagreement exists with regard to absolute levels. This study is in accordance with the results of Tamarkin et al. [12] and points to slightly lower levels than reported by others [13, 14].

The presence of melatonin in the retina of both non-mammalian and mammalian species (see ref. 5), including hamster [15], has previously been reported. Our results are in good agreement with those obtained previously in hamster [15]. The absence of a diurnal variation of the melatonin concentration is in agreement with a study of the ground squirrel [16], but in variance

with studies of quail, pigeon, chicken and rat [17-19]. However, our results are in agreement with a study of Pévet et al. [20] in which the capacity of the hamster retina to synthesize melatonin was similar throughout the light-dark cycle.

The presence of 5MTOL and 5MIAA in the pineal gland of hamster is in agreement with earlier studies of other species (see ref. 4). The diurnal variation of the 5MTOL levels, with a maximum during the light phase, is in agreement with an earlier study of the capacity of hamster pineal to synthesize 5MTOL [20]. In rat pineal, however, a maximum in 5MTOL levels during dark has been reported [10, 21].

This study reports for the first time the presence of 5MIAA in retina. The level of 5MIAA appeared to possess a diurnal variation, with high levels during the light phase. However, as for melatonin, there was a significant variation in the results, which may indicate that factors other than light—dark influence its level.

The exact physiological function of the 5-methoxyindoles has yet to be demonstrated. However, both melatonin and 5MTOL possess physiological effects [1, 4]. It is interesting to note that in the pineal gland melatonin and 5MTOL occur at similar concentrations but with maximum levels at different times of the light—dark cycle. In retina, however, melatonin occurs at a substantially higher concentration than 5MTOL. 5MIAA may arise as a metabolite of all the other 5-methoxyindoles [22-24] and as yet no physiological effect has been described for this compound.

In conclusion, the present study has demonstrated that 5-methoxyindoles other than melatonin are present in the pineal gland and retina of hamster, and that their levels possess a diurnal variation. This strengthens the concept that melatonin is not the only 5-methoxyindole that has to be considered when pineal function is studied.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Financial support was obtained from the Swedish Medical Research Council (04041).

REFERENCES

- 1 D.P. Cardinali, Endocr. Rev., 2 (1981) 327.
- 2 W.N. McIsaac, R.J. Taborsky and G. Farrel, Science, 145 (1964) 63.
- 3 P. Pévet, Psychoneuroendocrinology, 8 (1983) 61.
- 4 P. Pévet, in J. Axelrod, F. Fraschini and G.P. Velo (Editors), The Pineal Gland and Its Endocrine Role, Plenum, London, 1983, p. 331.
- 5 C.L. Ralph, in N. Birau and W. Schloot (Editors), Melatonin Current Status and Perspectives, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1981, p. 35.
- 6 O. Beck and T.R. Bosin, Biomed. Mass Spectrom., 6 (1979) 19.
- 7 T. Hesselgren and O. Beck, J. Labelled Compd. Radiopharm., 27 (1979) 411.
- 8 G.J. Shaw, G.J. Wright and G.W.A. Milne, Biomed. Mass Spectrom., 4 (1977) 348.
- 9 K. Blau, G.S. King and M. Sandler, Biomed. Mass Spectrom., 4 (1977) 232.
- 10 S.J. Carter, C.A. Laud, I. Smith, R.M. Leone, R.J.L. Hooper, R.E. Silman, M.D.A. Finnie, P.E. Mullen and D.L. Larson-Carter, J. Endocrinol., 83 (1979) 35.
- 11 O. Beck, G. Jonsson and A. Lundman, Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol., 318 (1981) 49.

- 8
- 12 L. Tamarkin, S.M. Reppert, D.J. Orloff, D.C. Klein, S.M. Yellon and B.D. Goldman, Endocrinology, 107 (1980) 1061.
- 13 M.D. Rollag, E.S. Panke and R.J. Reiter, Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med., 165 (1980) 330.
- 14 E.S. Panke, M.D. Rollag and R.J. Reiter, Endocrinology, 104 (1979) 194.
- 15 R.J. Reiter, W.K. Trakulrungsi, C. Trakulrungsi, J. Vriend, W.W. Morgan, M.K. Vaughan, L.Y. Johnson and B.A. Richardson, in D.C. Klein (Editor), Melatonin Rhythm Generating System, Karger, Basel, 1982, p. 143.
- 16 R.J. Reiter, B.A. Richardson and E.C. Hurlbut, Neurosci. Lett., 22 (1981) 285.
- 17 S.F. Pang, P.H. Chow, T.M. Wong and E.C.F. Tso, Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 51 (1983) 1.
- 18 S.M. Reppert and S.M. Sagar, Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci., 24 (1983) 294.
- 19 G.A. Bubenik, R.A. Purtill, G.M. Brown and L.J. Grota, Exp. Eye Res., 27 (1978) 323.
- 20 P. Pévet, M.G.M. Balemans, W.C. Legerstee and V. Vivien-Roels, J. Neural Transm., 49 (1980) 229.
- 21 B.W. Wilson, H.J. Lynch and Y. Ozaki, Life Sci., 23 (1978) 1019.
- 22 I.J. Kopin, C.M.B. Pare, J. Axelrod and H. Weissbach, J. Biol. Chem., 236 (1961) 3072.
- 23 S. Kveder and W.M. McIsaac, J. Biol. Chem., 236 (1961) 3214.
- 24 P. Delvigs, W.M. McIsaac and R.G. Taborsky, J. Biol. Chem., 240 (1965) 348.

CHROMBIO. 2222

RELIABLE MEASUREMENT OF NON-ESTERIFIED LONG-CHAIN FATTY ACID PATTERN IN BLOOD PLASMA

CLAUDIO BORRA, GIOVANNI COSMI, ANTONIO DI CORCIA* and ROBERTO SAMPERI

Dipartimento di Chimica, Universită "La Sapienza" di Roma, P.ale Aldo Moro 5, 00185 Rome (Italy)

(First received February 8th, 1984; revised manuscript received May 8th, 1984)

SUMMARY

In this reliable assay for determining the non-esterified long-chain fatty acid pattern in plasma, only 100 μ l of sample are needed and a single assay can be done within 40 min. The isolation procedure was performed by adsorption of fatty acids from plasma onto graphitized carbon black (Carbopack B) using a column method. After desorption and removal of the eluting phase, fatty acids are methylated by diazomethane and quantified by packed column gas chromatography. Analytical recoveries ranged between 91% and 103%. Within-run precision gave coefficients of variation of 2.3% and 11% for fatty acid concentrations of 58.2 and 0.6 μ mol/l, respectively. Studies of plasma samples under various storage conditions indicated that reliable measurement of the non-esterified fatty acid fraction can be obtained even after 60 days if specimens are conserved at -18° C in the presence of a suitable phospholipase inhibitor.

INTRODUCTION

The pattern of non-esterified long-chain fatty acids (NEFA) in blood is of interest in a wide variety of biochemical and clinical investigations. All of the proposed analytical methods involve solvent extraction and gas chromatography of the methyl esters. Most of them are modifications of the procedures of Dole and Meinertz [1] or Folch et al. [2] which make use of time-consuming multiple purification steps to isolate the NEFA fraction from the lipid extract [3-6]. Recently, Mueller and Binz [7] described a rapid method without further manipulations with a chloroform-methanol extract of buffered (pH 6) serum. However, the sophisticated gas chromatographic apparatus proposed may discourage use of the method in other laboratories.

Recently, Carbopack B has been successfully used as an adsorbing medium

for isolating acidic compounds [8-12] from blood serum and urine. We describe here a reliable procedure which makes use of $100 \ \mu$ l of plasma and employs Carbopack B for sample purification coupled with a conventional packed column for gas chromatography of NEFA methyl esters. The stability of the NEFA composition in plasma, serum and related extracts under different storage conditions was also investigated.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents

Solvents of analytical grade from various commercial sources were distilled twice in a glass system. Deionized water was distilled in the presence of permanganate. Diazomethane was generated from N-nitrosomethylurea [13] and the diethyl ether solution was stored at -18° C after addition of solid potassium hydroxide. Under these conditions, the solution is stable for at least two months, whereas working aliquots are stable for about one week if conserved at 4°C during the period of use. Benzenemethanesulphonyl fluoride (BMSF) was obtained from Fluka (Buchs, Switzerland) and a solution of 100 g/l in methanol was used. Carbopack B (80–120 mesh) was kindly supplied by Supelco (Bellefonte, PA, U.S.A.).

Standards

Fatty acid standards (puriss, > 99% GC) were from Fluka. The stock standards were 1 g/l in chloroform and were stable for at least six months at -18° C. For studies of recovery at low and high acid concentrations in serum, *n*-eicosanoic and arachidonic acids were dissolved in methanol—water (50:50, v/v) to give a concentration of 0.5 mg/l. This solution was further diluted to give a concentration of 0.1 mg/l. Two internal standard solutions were used. One was prepared by dissolving *n*-heptadecanoic acid in water—methanol (50:50, v/v) to give a concentration of 0.5 mg/l. The second solution was prepared by a five-fold dilution of the *n*-heneicosanoic acid stock standard. The reference standard solution was prepared by evaporating 10 μ l of each individual fatty acid stock solution and derivatizing each residue. All standard solutions were stored at 4°C and replaced every two weeks.

Phospholipids were supplied by Supelco.

Glassware preparation

All the glassware was cleaned with hot chromosulphuric acid and rinsed thoroughly with distilled water.

Gas chromatography

A Model 3800 gas chromatograph equipped with a flame-ionization detector from Dani (Monza, Italy) was used. The glass colum, $2 \text{ m} \times 2 \text{ mm}$ I.D., packed with GP 5% DEGS-PS on 100–120 mesh Supelcoport was from Supelco. The chromatographic conditions were: oven temperature 185°C; injection port and detector block temperatures 200°C. Nitrogen was used as carrier gas with a dead time of 30 sec.

Samples

Blood was drawn after overnight fast from apparently healthy volunteers by antecubital venipuncture. The blood samples were collected in centrifuge tubes containing ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid as anticoagulant, chilled immediately in an ice bath, stoppered and centrifuged at 4°C for 15 min at 2000 g. Plasma was promptly removed, divided into 100- μ l aliquots which were collected in 6-ml air-tight screw-capped glass vials containing 3 μ l of the BMSF solution and stored at -18°C if not processed within 1 h.

Procedure

Prepare the Carbopack B bed by introducing 0.25 g of the adsorbent into a 15×0.6 cm glass column with a small pledget of glass wool in the bottom. Wash the column with 5 ml of chloroform, 3 ml of methanol and 3 ml of distilled water, in sequence. Remove large bubbles by gently pumping distilled water onto the Carbopack B bed with the aid of a Pasteur pipette. Percolate the biological specimen previously diluted with 5 ml of the methanol-water (50:50, v/v) solution containing *n*-heptadecanoic acid as internal standard. Rinse the vial with two portions of 2.5 ml of 3 mmol/l hydrochloric acid solution and pass the rinsings through the column. Wash the column with 1.5 ml of methanol and elute the long-chain fatty acids with chloroform-methanol (70:30, v/v). Collect 3 ml of the eluate from the moment the eluting solution is applied to the column in a cone-shaped glass vial, add 10 μ l of the nheneicosanoic acid solution and evaporate the solvent under a stream of nitrogen at 50°C. Place the vial in an ice bath, add 3 μ l of methanol, 30 μ l of cold ethereal diazomethane and seal. After about 5 min, eliminate the excess reagents under a nitrogen stream at room temperature, dissolve the residue with 15 μ l of chloroform and inject 1 μ l.

Quantification was performed by peak height measurement since the fatty acid methyl ester peaks are sharp and symmetrical. To calculate the concentration of each fatty acid, the peak height relative to that of the internal standard is compared with that of the reference standard.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Precision

The within-run precision was evaluated by assaying the same plasma sample nine times. The results are shown in Table I.

Recovery

Under the experimental conditions adopted, arachidonic and eicosanoic acids are, respectively, the first and the last compounds to be desorbed from the Carbopack column.

We determined the recovery of fatty acids from plasma by supplementing plasma samples of known NEFA content with known amounts of selected longchain fatty acids and re-assaying. With respect to the extraction procedure, we evaluated the relative and absolute analytical recoveries by adding two internal standards, i.e. n-heptadecanoic acid and n-heneicosanoic acid, the first before and the second after the purification process. Results are given in Table II.

TABLE I

WITHIN-RUN PRECISION FOR THE ANALYSIS OF FATTY ACIDS IN PLASMA SPECIMENS (n = 9)

Fatty acid*	Retention time (min)	Mean ± S.D. (µmol/l)	C.V. (%)	
C _{14:0}	1.8	3.9 ± 0.17	4.3	
C16:0	2.8	58.2 ± 1.34	2.3	
C16:1	3.2	4.1 ± 0.25	6.0	
C18:0	4.8	19.1 ± 0.63	3.3	
C18:1	5.4	50.0 ± 1.35	2.7	
C18:2	6.7	19.0 ± 0.80	4.2	
C18:3	8.8	4.6 ± 0.22	4.8	
C20:0	8.3	0.6 ± 0.07	11	
C20:4	15.3	1.7 ± 0.11	6.2	

*The fatty acids are denoted by chain length:number of double bonds.

TABLE II

ABSOLUTE AND RELATIVE RECOVERIES OF FATTY ACIDS ADDED TO PLASMA SPECIMENS

Added (µmol/l)	Found (µmol/l)	Recovery (%)			
		Absolute	Relative*		
Arachidonic acid					
81.2(n=6)	78.8	97	103		
16.2	15.6	97	103		
n-Eicosanoic					
79.1	67.2	85	91		
15.8	13.7	87	93		
<i>n</i> -Heptadecanoic					
92.6	86.3	93			

*Relative to *n*-heptadecanoic acid.

Specificity

Although diazomethane is a toxic compound, we found it could not be replaced as methylating reagent by methanolic acids or alkalies because of the problem of transmethylation by the latter reagents of any phospholipids which may be coeluted with the free fatty acids from the Carbopack column.

Endogenous lipids and substances present in solvents or Carbopack B were considered as possible interfering compounds.

Under the extraction conditions selected, triacylglycerols and cholesteryl esters were not eluted from the Carbopack B purification column, whereas some phospholipids were partly coeluted with free fatty acids. To ascertain the absence of hydrolysis or transesterification reactions occurring during the analysis, a plasma sample was divided into aliquots, one remained unsupplemented and every single other aliquot was supplemented with one of the following phospholipids: diarachidoylphosphatidylcholine, diarachidoylphosphatidylethanolamine, egg lysophosphatidylethanolamine, bovine sphingomyelin. These samples were then submitted to analysis in duplicate. In terms of individual concentrations of free fatty acids, we noted no difference between the blank and phospholipid-supplemented plasma samples.

When the chloroform washing of Carbopack B was omitted, the blank showed the presence of some background interfering peaks. Solvents used as supplied gave high blank values especially for palmitic, stearic and oleic acids. These interferences became negligible when the solvents were bidistilled.

Storage

Five fresh plasma samples from different subjects were each divided in two portions, one of which was supplemented with a phospholipase inhibitor such as BMSF [14]. Each portion was further fractionated into aliquots, stored at either -18° C or 4° C and periodically analysed over a period of 60 days. Table III shows that reliable measurements of free fatty acids in plasma can still be made within 60 days, provided the plasma samples are conserved at -18° C wih a phospholipase inhibitor.

TABLE III

EFFECT OF STORAGE ON PLASMA (n = 5) FATTY ACID CONCENTRATIONS

The data are expressed as percentage variation of the initial concentrations of oleic, linoleic and arachidonic acids which are 121 ± 40 , 32 ± 12 , $2.4 \pm 0.7 \mu mol/l$, respectively.

Temperature (°C)	No. of days	Δ <i>C</i> (%)					
		Oleic		Linoleic		Arachidonic	
		Mean	Range	Mean	Range	Mean	Range
+4	1	+7.5	+2.0 to +18	+24	+15 to +40	+33	+25 to +43
-18	1	+0.5	-3.0 to +3.8	+4.1	-0.5 to +8.0	+3.9	+0.4 to +6.8
-18	5	+6.8	+2.7 to +10.1	+11.4	+4.8 to +18.5	+24	+18 to +29
+4	1*	+1.1	-0.5 to +3.8	-1.5	-3.5 to +0.5	-3.3	-5.0 to -2.1
+4	7*	+4.5	-1.0 to +8.9	+17	+9.5 to +21	+39	+21 to +110
-18	60*	+3.6	+0.1 to +11	+3.6	-1.5 to +9.8	+3.1	-2.7 to +10.3

*Plasma samples supplemented with benzenemethanesulphonyl fluoride.

Some fractions collected after purification of plasma aliquots were not processed further but were stored at 4° C. No significant variation in the NEFA concentrations was observed on periodic analysis of the extracts over a period of two months. Moreover, we observed that extracts were stable even when they were left for one week at room temperature.

A mean 15% higher arachidonic acid concentration was measured when serum instead of plasma was submitted to analysis. Serum was obtained by allowing blood to clot for 1 h at room temperature. The higher amount can be explained by the fact that phospholipids can be hydrolysed to a variable extent and that arachidonic acid in its non-esterified form is particularly abundant in phospholipids.

Extraction column variables

A 50-fold dilution of plasma with methanol—water was essential to ensure quantitative recovery of NEFA. Considerable losses in the effluent, especially of saturated fatty acids, occurred as the dilution ratio was decreased or water was used as diluting agent. This can be accounted for by the existence of a NEFA—protein complex.

Low recovery of fatty acids was observed when the washing step with acidic water was omitted. This can be ascribed to chemical binding between acidic compounds and some chemical heterogeneities present on the Carbopack surface [15]. However, the binding is readily hydrolysed by acidic washing of the purification column.

Methanol washing eliminates water and some potentially interfering compounds [12]. However, loss of arachidonic acid was observed when the volume of methanol exceeded 5 ml.

We evaluated the effect of the composition of the eluting phase on the recovery of fatty acids. When the chloroform/methanol ratio was decreased, saturated fatty acids were partially lost. A chloroform/methanol ratio higher than 70:30 enhanced the recovery of the last acid to be eluted from Carbopack, i.e. eicosanoic acid. However, under such conditions, other compounds were coeluted which caused the appearance on the chromatogram of peaks with high retention times, thus increasing the analysis time.

Under the experimental conditions used, the flow-rate of the solvents percolating through the Carbopack column was about 3 ml/min. As reported elsewhere [12], attempts to increase the flow-rate by exerting an additional pressure provoked loss of analytes in the plasma effluent.

To improve our procedure in terms of economy and speed, we evaluated the reusability of the purification column. After each extraction, the column was restored by washing it sequentially with 3 ml of chloroform, 3 ml of methanol and 3 ml of water. After five such extractions, the NEFA concentration was unchanged within the precision of the method. However, when the restored column was left unused and filled with water, we observed some increase in the unsaturated fatty acids, probably due to the slow hydrolysis of some phospholipids which are strongly retained by the Carbopack column. An analogous effect occurred when the purification process was casually interrupted after the acidic washing step.

TABLE IV

FATTY ACID CONCENTRATIONS IN PLASMA SAMPLES (n = 5) AS MEASURED BY THREE DIFFERENT PROCEDURES

	Our method		Mueller and Binz [7]		Hagenfeldt [3]	
	Mean	Range	Mean	Range	Mean	Range
C	83.9	58.1-106	79.4	51.3-104	115	71.4-154
C	5.6	4.1- 8.2	4.4	2.1-7.6	15.4	7.0- 21.1
C	26.6	19.1- 38.9	24.5	17.6- 38.8	38.0	22.3 - 61.6
C	99.0	65.3 - 122	103	64.4 - 127	132	80.2-191
C	30.3	18.0- 39.8	38.1	21.2 - 46.9	58.7	37.2 - 82.7
C	5.7	4.4-6.4	5.4	3.2-6.3	6.4	3.6- 9.8
C	0.8	0.6- 1.2	1.0	0.8 - 1.2	1.3	1.0- 1.8
C20:4	2.2	1.2- 4.0	3.9	1.4- 7.8	7.8	4.3 - 13.1

Values are expressed in μ mol/l.

We compared results using our method with those using two previously reported methods [3, 7]. Five fresh serum samples from different subjects were each divided into three aliquots, which were analysed in duplicate following the three extraction procedures. In all cases, final samples were injected into the chromatographic column proposed by us. The results are reported in Table IV. As can be seen, we found a fair agreement between our procedure and that described by Mueller and Binz [7], even though higher values for arachidonic acid were occasionally obtained by the latter procedure. However, we found the purification method reported by Mueller and Binz [7] unsuitable for quantification with a conventional-packed column as it appeared to be seriously deteriorated after about ten injections of the extracted and derivatized sample.

Surprisingly, Hagenfeldt's method [3] gave by far higher values for fatty acids, particularly for those that are relatively more abundant in phospholipids, such as linolenic and arachidonic acids. This could be explained by considering that this method includes an acidic extraction step which may provoke hydrolysis of phospholipids. To obtain experimental evidence for this hypothesis, a serum sample was divided into two aliquots; one was spiked with diarachidoylphosphatidylcholine leaving the other one unsupplemented. These samples were then submitted to analysis in duplicate according to the procedure of Hagenfeldt [3]. The large increase of arachidonic acid concentration in the free fatty acid fraction after addition of the phospholipid unequivocally confirmed the hypothesis.

REFERENCES

- 1 V.P. Dole and H. Meinertz, J. Biol. Chem., 235 (1960) 2595-2599.
- 2 J. Folch, M. Lees and G.H. Sloane-Stanley, J. Biol. Chem., 226 (1957) 497-509.
- 3 L. Hagenfeldt, Clin. Chim. Acta, 13 (1966) 266-268.
- 4 M. Heinberg, G.D. Dunn and H.G. Wilcox, J. Lab. Clin. Med., 83 (1974) 393-402.
- 5 V. Rogiers, Clin. Chim. Acta, 78 (1977) 227-233.
- 6 T. Moilanen and T. Nikkari, Clin. Chim. Acta, 114 (1981) 111-116.
- 7 H.W. Mueller and H. Binz, J. Chromatogr., 228 (1982) 75-93.
- 8 G. Cosmi, A. Di Corcia, L. Ripani, R. Samperi and G. Vinci, Clin. Chim. Acta, 126 (1982) 101-105.
- 9 A. Di Corcia, R. Samperi, G. Vinci and G. D'Ascenzo, Clin. Chem., 28 (1982) 1457-1460.
- 10 G. Cosmi, A. Di Corcia, R. Samperi and G. Vinci, Clin. Chem., 29 (1983) 319-321.
- 11 F. Andreolini, A. Di Corcia, A. Lagana, R. Samperi and G. Raponi, Clin. Chem., 29 (1983) 2076-2078.
- 12 F. Andreolini, C. Borra, A. Di Corcia, A. Lagana, R. Samperi and G. Raponi, Clin. Chem., 30 (1984) 742-744.
- 13 A.H. Blatt (Editor), Organic Syntheses, Collective Vol. II, Wiley, Chichester, New York, 1944, p. 165 and p. 461.
- 14 D.P. Wallach, Biochem. Pharmacol., 30 (1981) 1315-1324.
- 15 F. Andreolini, C. Borra, A. Di Corcia and R. Samperi, J. Chromatogr., 310 (1984) 208-212.
Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 17–29 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2245

GAS CHROMATOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS OF ENDOGENOUS CATECHOLAMINES, PHENOLIC AMINES AND DERIVED ISOQUINOLINES USING SHORT GLASS CAPILLARY COLUMNS AND ELECTRON-CAPTURE DETECTION

THOMAS C. ORIGITANO and MICHAEL A. COLLINS*

Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics, Loyola University of Chicago, Stritch School of Medicine, Maywood, IL 60153 (U.S.A.)

(First received April 5th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 14th, 1984)

SUMMARY

A gas chromatographic method is described for the concomitant separation and analysis of catecholamines, catecholamine or 3,4-dihydroxyphenylethylamine condensation products (tetrahydroisoquinolines), and their isomeric mono-O-methyl (phenolic) metabolites which may be present in neuronal tissues, utilizing short glass capillary columns and electroncapture detection. Isomeric phenolic amines that were not generally separable with conventional-packed gas chromatographic columns were rapidly resolved on the capillary system, and with their catecholamine or catechol isoquinoline precursors, quantitated with high sensitivity (0.25-7.0 pg) and reproducibility. Key steps in the approach with tissues include initial amine isolation with a weak cation-exchange resin (BioRex-70), fluoracyl derivative formation, and brief washing of the derivatives with ammonium phosphate buffer (pH 5.8) just prior to capillary analysis; overall recoveries of amines or alkaloids added to rat brain homogenates ranged from 79% to 89%. Application of the method is demonstrated in an assay of endogenous dopamine in rat corpus striatum and hypothalamus. This new procedure should complement and in some instances may be preferred over liquid chromatographic assays for catecholic and phenolic amines and isoquinolines, and ought to be applicable to mass spectrometric detectors as well.

INTRODUCTION

Gas chromatographic (GC) methodologies for the measurement of catecholamines (CAs) and their amine metabolites in tissues have been available for several years. Such assays generally have required the sensitive electron-capture cell or a mass spectrometer as a detector [1]. One often unacknowledged limiting factor with these similar GC-based assays has been the degree of resolu-

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

tion of geometric and structural neuroamine isomers in complex mixtures. In GC studies with CAs and their recently appreciated trace carbonyl condensation products, the 1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinolines (TIQs), we frequently experienced difficulties separating certain isomeric O-methylated metabolites on conventional wide-bore (packed) GC columns. Bail et al. [2] first noted this problem with mono-O-methylated derivatives of simple TIQ condensation products of dopamine (DA).

To overcome resolution problems in GC analyses of neuroamines which employ the relatively accessible electron-capture detector [3], we explored the use of short capillary (open tubular) columns. There has been very little application of capillary methodology to assays of endogenous neurochemicals (see Discussion). With their high retention time stabilities and superior efficiencies (3000 plates per m), sufficiently inert capillary columns should be very appropriate for separations of geometric isomers of neuroamines. In this report, separation and quantitation of the CAs, O-methylated CA isomers, and a select number of simple catecholic and phenolic isoquinolines are demonstrated using short glass capillary columns, a state-of-the-art splitter injection mode and an autoinjector. Resolution far exceeded and detection limits easily equaled those obtained with conventional-packed GC columns coupled to an electroncapture detector or a mass spectrometer.

Isoquinolines and β -carbolines (indoleamine condensation products) constitute a relatively new group of potentially endogenous neuroamine derivatives (mammalian alkaloids) that could be of pathophysiological importance in certain disease conditions [4]. This capillary GC method, with its high sensitivity and reproducibility, can aid in determining precisely which alkaloids are in vivo substances. The overall procedure was used earlier [5] to clarify the apparent absence of the TIQs, salsolinol (SAL, Fig. 1) and its 7-O-methylated metabolite (7M-SAL), from corpus striatum of normal untreated rats. For the purpose of this report, an endogenous catecholamine, dopamine, is quantitated



(d,I) Salsolinol (SAL)

HO HO CH₃

(d,I) SAL-1-Carboxylic Acid

SAL-1-CA



(cis) SAL-3-Carboxylic Acid (SAL-3-CA)





(d, l)4-Hydroxyl-1-Desmethylsalsolinol (4-HO-DSAL)



Fig. 1. 6,7-Dihydroxy (catecholic) isoquinolines used in this study. The ten other isoquinolines in Table I are the respective 6-O-methyl and 7-O-methyl (phenolic) alkaloids related to these five substrates. in two rat brain regions with the overall capillary GC procedure. In another report we show the applicability of this high-resolution capillary GC method using electron-capture detection (ECD) in studies of TIQ O-methylation patterns in rat brain [6].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The capillary GC studies with the catecholic and phenolic amines were carried out with a Varian 3700 gas chromatograph equipped with dual ⁶³Ni electron-capture detectors (pulsed mode), a Varian 8000 automatic liquid sampler injector, and a polyphenylmethylsiloxane (OV-17) wall-coated open tubular (WCOT) glass capillary column (10 m \times 0.25 mm; Alltech Assoc.). The split ratio was 10:1, and the head pressure of the carrier gas, oxygen-free nitrogen, was 0.8 kg/cm. The temperatures of the injector and detector were 250°C and 350°C, respectively, and column temperatures were as indicated in the figure legends or tables. Conventional columns (1.83 m \times 6.35 mm, glass) packed with 3% OV-101, 3% OV-17, 5% SE-30 or 3% SE-54 on Gas Chrom Q (80–100 mesh) were coupled to the other electron-capture detector. Peak areas and retention times were obtained with a Varian CDS-111C computing integrator.

When confirmatory chromatography of the amines before derivatization was needed, an isocratic high-performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) system consisting of a 25 cm \times 4 mm BioSil (Bio-Rad Labs.) 10- μ m C₁₈ reversed-phase column and a BioAnalytical Systems LC-2A electrochemical detector (0.79 V) was utilized, generally with a mobile phase of 0.1 *M* sodium dihydrogen phosphate (pH range 4-5.5) containing 1 m*M* Na₂EDTA and varying percentages of methanol. A detailed account of the HPLC of simple and complex isoquinolines is in preparation. Thin-layer chromatography (TLC), when required to monitor synthetic reactions, was accomplished on 5 cm \times 25 cm silica gel plates (Whatman) in *sec*-butanol-acetic acid-water (4:1:1, v/v/v) or on aluminum oxide plates (Macherey-Nagel) in chloroform-methanol-water (70:50:5, v/v/v). Compounds were visualized in an iodine chamber. The aluminum oxide plate was qualitatively useful for complete separation of catechols, which did not migrate in this case, from phenols, which did.

Chemicals and reagents

All of the isoquinolines used in this study have been characterized and reported in the literature. The TIQs d,l-salsolinol (HCl salt), d,l-salsolinol-1-carboxylic acid (d,l-SAL-1-CA) and cis-salsolinol-3-carboxylic acid (cis-SAL-3-CA) in Fig. 1, and their respective racemic mono-O-methyl derivatives (6M-SAL, 7M-SAL, 6M-SAL-1-CA, 7M-SAL-1-CA, 6M-SAL-3-CA and 7M-SAL-3-CA), were synthesized in yields ranging from 20% to 75% by aqueous (pH 4–5) condensation of the appropriate open-chain amine or amino acid with a three-to four-fold molar excess of acetaldehyde (Baker, analytical grade) or pyruvic acid (Sigma) at room temperature [7–9]. Elevated temperatures (60–70°C) were necessary to obtain sufficient (but low) yields of the 6-O-methylated TIQ isomers.

The 4-hydroxylated TIQs related to norepinephrine (NE) [d,l-4-hydroxyl-1-desmethylsalsolinol (dl-4-HO-DSAL) in Fig. 1 and its two mono-O-methyl

derivatives] were available as racemic HCl salts from earlier syntheses [10]. The three dihydroisoquinolines (DIQs) used in this study (1,2-dehydro-SAL in Fig. 1 and its respective 6- and 7-O-methyl analogues) were obtained as HBr salts via Bischler—Napieralski cyclizations of the appropriate mono- or dimethoxylated amide [11—13] followed by demethylation with refluxing 48% HBr where required. 3,4-Dihydroxyphenylethylamine (DOPA), the CAs, and their phenolic metabolites utilized as standards or synthetic reactants were purchased from Sigma, Aldrich or Regis.

Reactions were monitored initially by the TLC and HPLC techniques mentioned. Reaction products that failed to precipitate after several days were isolated by acidification (1 M hydrochloric acid), lyophilization and successive recrystallization from ethanol—ethyl acetate. Product purity was assessed by HPLC. Structures were proven by infrared (IR) and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy and by melting point comparisons with literature values.

Preparation of fluoracyl derivatives

Fluoracyl derivative preparation for capillary GC-ECD was achieved with the CAs, non-carboxylated TIQs and their mono-O-methylated analogues in a manner similar to a previously reported method [3]. To plastic-lined screw-top scintillation vials containing weighed amounts of the amine or amine salt, or to the lyophilized residues obtained from the ion-exchange column isolation (below) of aqueous extracts of tissue or standards, were added 500 μ l of acetonitrile (Pierce) and 50 μ l of heptafluorobutyryl anhydride (HFBA, Pierce). In some instances HFBA was replaced by pentafluoropropionyl anhydride (PFPA) or trifluoroacetyl anhydride (TFAA). After 30-40 min at room temperature, reactions were dried in a hood with a nitrogen stream. Samples or dried extracts containing 1- or 3-carboxylated TIQs were first treated with 200 μ l of hexafluoroisopropanol (HFIP, Pierce) and 50 μ l of fluoracyl agent, usually PFPA, and after 30 min at room temperature, were dried as above. The residue was further treated with PFPA (50 μ l) and acetonitrile (500 μ l) for 20 min, and blown dry with nitrogen. The final residues from fluoracylation or esterification-fluoracylation were dissolved in 1 ml sequanal-grade toluene (Pierce) and were transferred to glass centrifuge tubes. The toluene solutions were vortexed with 0.5 ml of 1 M ammonium phosphate (pH 5.8) for 60 sec and centrifuged briefly (3-4 min) in a clinical centrifuge. The top (organic) phases were carefully transferred to autoinjector vials and injected (1μ) into the capillary GC system.

Animal experiments

Male Sprague—Dawley rats $(100 \pm 10 \text{ g})$ were killed by stunning and decapitation. Brains were removed and the cerebellar, corpus striatal and hypothalamic regions were taken according to Holman et al. [14], weighed and frozen on dry ice. Tissues were transferred to 7-ml plastic centrifuge tubes which contained fixed amounts (usually 75 or 150 ng) of 3,4-dihydroxybenzylamine (DHBA), and when required, varying amounts of the CAs, TIQs and/or the phenolic amines. Homogenization was done in ice-cold 75% ethanol (5 ml/g of tissue) utilizing a 20-sec burst of a Techmar Tissuemizer. The homogenizing blade was washed with 1 ml of fresh cold 75% ethanol after each sample, the washings were added to the homogenates, and the combined fractions were centrifuged at 30,000 g (4°C) for 20 min.

In a modification of the weak cation-exchange isolation procedure of Holman et al. [14], supernatants from centrifugations were diluted two-fold with distilled water and applied to small columns $(2.5 \times 0.6 \text{ cm})$ of BioRex-70 resin (200-400 mesh; Bio-Rad Labs.). The resin was prepared by repeated stirring in distilled water and aspiration of suspended particles, followed by stirring in 3 Mhydrochloric acid for 1 h, washing continuously with water until pH 5 was achieved, stirring in 3 M sodium hydroxide for 1 h and washing again to pH 5. It was then suspended in 0.1 M disodium hydrogen phosphate — sodium dihydrogen phosphate (pH 6.5) containing 10% Na₂EDTA. The effluents from the applied supernatants followed by 2 ml phosphate buffer (pH 6.5) and 2 ml distilled water were collected, combined and lyophilized. Assay by HPLC established that the amino acids and carboxylic acid metabolites were contained in these combined fractions. The columns were then treated with 2.5 ml of 1.0 M hydrochloric acid to elute amines and the effluent was frozen and lyophilized. The residues were treated as described under Preparation of fluoracyl derivatives.

RESULTS

HFB versus other fluoracylated derivatives

Compared to their TFA derivatives, the HFB derivatives of amines and TIQs consistently gave greater ECD responses, more symmetrical peaks and better capillary separations of geometric isomers. The responses and peak symmetries for the PFP derivatives were equivalent to the HFB derivatives, but acceptable separations of the (PFP) O-methylated TIQs or of 3M-DA and 4M-DA were not always obtained. Satisfactory separations of the mono-O-methylated 1- or 3-carboxylated TIQs were achieved, however, when the carboxylated isomers were derivatized with HFIP—PFPA combinations (retention times are listed in Table I).

Effect of ammonium phosphate wash on capillary GC of HFB-derivatized amines $\$

The capillary GC chromatograms of the HFB-derivatized TIQs or open-chain amines, prepared from standards in aqueous solutions or tissue extracts (but not from crystalline standards), showed unacceptably large solvent fronts. A 1-min extraction or wash of the toluene solution of HFB derivatives with 0.5 vol. of 1 *M* ammonium phosphate solution, pH 5.7–5.8, just prior to injection effectively reduced this solvent response (Fig. 2). This step was found necessary for capillary measurements of tissue NE, DA and SAL, or for any assay with DHBA as an internal standard. When HFB-derivatized amines in toluene were washed repeatedly (up to five times) with fresh ammonium phosphate aliquots and immediately injected, peak areas and retention times were not significantly affected. However, extended storage of the washed toluene solutions of the HFB derivatives in contact with the ammonium phosphate solution (pH 5.8) apparently resulted in complete loss of the derivatives. Additionally, when a saturated sodium borate solution or ammonium phosphate of



Fig. 2. The effect on the capillary GC-ECD chromatogram of a single ammonium phosphate buffer (pH 5.8) wash of a toluene solution containing a freshly derivatized (HFBA) mixture of NE, DHBA, DA, SAL, 3M-DA and 4M-DA. Chromatograms: (A) before wash; (B) immediately following wash. Procedure and chromatographic conditions are described in the text. Column temperature = 130° C.

pH 6 were employed as washes, recoveries of derivatized CAs or catechol TIQs were reduced to negligible values.

Capillary versus conventional GC separation of standard mixtures of CAs, TIQs and O-methyl derivatives

A comparison of the capillary GC versus conventional (packed) column GC separation of an HFB-derivatized mixture of DHBA, DA, SAL, 3M-DA, 4M-DA, 6M-SAL, and 7M-SAL is shown in Fig. 3. Complete separations of 3M-DA and 4M-DA and the two SAL isomers were readily obtained on the glass capillary column. As shown, a conventional-packed (1.83 m glass, 3% OV-17) column failed to separate the O-methylated DA TIQ isomers. Furthermore,

other packings referred to in Materials and methods in conventional columns were found unsuitable for the separation of the mono-O-methylated SAL isomers.

The 10-m glass capillary columns also were effective in separating mixtures (11-50 pg) of the three principal CAs (epinephrine, NE and DA) concurrent with their three main O-methylated amine metabolites in brain, normetanephrine, metanephrine and 3-O-methyl DA (chromatogram not shown). However, such low amounts of these catecholic and phenolic amines could not be chromatographed on longer (30-50 m) glass capillary columns of the same type and diameter. Fused-silica columns were not examined in this study.



Fig. 3. GC comparison of an HFB-derivatized mixture of DHBA, DA, SAL, 3M-DA, 4M-DA, 6M-SAL and 7M-SAL chromatographed on (A) a 10-m WCOT OV-17 glass capillary column (130°C), versus (B) a conventional 1.83 m \times 6.35 mm glass column packed with 3% OV-101 on Porapak Q (160°C).

Summary of capillary GC characteristics and recoveries for DA, representative isoquinolines, and their O-methyl derivatives

Table I is a summary of the relative retention times and minimum detectable quantities for DA, SAL, 4-HO-DSAL, SAL-1-CA, SAL-3-CA, 1,2-dehydro-SAL and their respective isomeric mono-O-methyl analogues following derivatization with either HFBA or PFPA—HFIP and capillary GC—ECD analysis at the indicated column temperatures. The overall recoveries (means of three to four samples) for these catecholic or phenolic compounds following addition to rat brain (cerebellar) tissue, aqueous ethanol extraction, isolation on BioRex-70, appropriate derivatization and capillary analysis are also shown. With this com-

TABLE I

CONDITIONS AND RECOVERIES OF STANDARDS FROM BRAIN TISSUE IN THE CAPILLARY GC ASSAY OF DAS AND TIQS

Compound	Derivative/ column temperature (°C)	Retention time (min)	Minimum detectable quantity (ng/ml)	Recovery from tissue* (%)
Dopamine (DA)	HFB/130	6.00	0.25	89
3M-DA	HFB/130	9.50	0.45	84
4M-DA	HFB/130	10.20	0.45	85
Salsolinol	HFB/130	8.40	0.25	88
6M-SAL	HFB/130	21.55	0.45	82
7M-SAL	HFB/130	22.55	0.45	82
4-HO-DSAL	HFB/130	12.05	2.00	85
6M-4-HO-DSAL	HFB/130	17.64	5.00	82
7M-4-HO-DSAL	HFB/130	18.80	7.00	82
SAL-1-CA	PFP-HFIP/125	6.45	1.00	83
6M-SAL-1-CA	PFP-HFIP/125	16.20	5.00	80
7M-SAL-1-CA	PFP-HFIP/125	18.16	5.00	80
SAL-3-CA	PFP-HFIP/155	5.40	1.00	85
6M-SAL-3-CA	PFP-HFIP/155	16.70	5.00	82
7M-SAL-3-CA	PFP-HFIP/155	19.25	5,00	82
1,2-Dehydro-SAL	HFB/145	4.55	1.00	79
6M-1,2-Dehydro-SAL	HFB/145	7.10	7.00	82
7M-1,2-Dehydro-SAL	HFB/145	8.50	2.00	84

Chromatographic conditions: $10 \text{ m} \times 0.25 \text{ mm}$ OV-17 glass WCOT column, injector temperature, 250° C, detector temperature, 350° C, attenuation range = 10^{-11} a.u.f.s.

*Mean of three to four samples of rat cerebellar tissue (100 mg per sample) containing added amines. Standard deviations varied between 3.5% and 7.5%.

plete procedure for the compounds investigated, recoveries varied from 79% to 89% with a standard deviation of less than 8%.

The cation-exchange (BioRex-70) isolation step was found necessary in this overall capillary GC procedure. Attempts to analyze the lyophilized ethanol extracts of TIQ-spiked tissues (after HFBA treatment and the buffer wash) gave unacceptably long (25 min) capillary solvent and reagent peaks. In using the BioRex columns with mixtures of DHBA, SAL, SAL-1-CA and their respective mono-O-methylated derivatives added to cerebellar tissue, 95–97% of the carboxylated TIQs (as determined by HPLC of the eluate on reversed-phase columns) were recovered in the primary elution, the 2 ml phosphate buffer and the 2 ml distilled water, with no detectable elution of CAs, non-carboxylated TIQs or DHBA. The amines (DHBA, SAL and O-methylated SAL isomers) then were eluted completely from the ion-exchange resin by 1 M hydrochloric acid, with no evidence of the presence of carboxylated TIQs.

The isolation of amine mixtures was also examined with the relatively strong cation-exchange resin, Dowex-AG50-WX. Removal of bound isoquinolines from columns $(2.5 \times 0.6 \text{ cm})$ of this resin required relatively stringent acid conditions (4 *M* hydrochloric acid—methanol, 1:1, v/v) and after lyophilization, only 20-40% of the amines was recovered, according to HPLC or capillary GC analysis.

Verification of the precision and linearity of the capillary GC method using SAL and DHBA

The precision of the capillary GC measurement was demonstrated with nine successive autosample injections of a mixture of the two (HFB-derivatized) catechol compounds, SAL (85 pg/ml) and internal standard, DHBA. The retention time and peak area for SAL varied by only 0.07% and 3.7%, respectively, and the mean area ratio (\pm S.D.) for SAL/DHBA was 0.891 \pm 0.01, with a 1.2% relative deviation.

Linearity with standards was shown in experiments in which the area ratios for SAL/DHBA increased linearly from 4 to 83 ng/ml SAL in relation to a fixed (100 ng/ml) concentration of DHBA (internal standard). The correlation for the relationship was 0.9997. Similarly, the linearity of the overall procedure was confirmed in experiments in which SAL (from 10 to 100 ng/ml) and DHBA (100 ng/ml) were added to rat cerebellar tissue and carried through the extraction, derivatization, wash and analysis.



Fig. 4. Capillary GC-ECD chromatogram of HFB-derivatized amines from rat corpus striatum. Areas and retention times of DHBA and DA were obtained by computing integrator. Chromatographic conditions are described in text. Column temperature = 130° C. Attenuation setting of $2 \cdot 10^{-11}$ a.u.f.s. was used to demonstrate the absence of 4M-DA and the presence of 3M-DA, but it resulted in apparent solvent tailing and off-scale deflections of DA and DHBA.

Assay of endogenous dopamine in the rat corpus striatum and hypothalamus by short glass capillary GC—ECD

A representative chromatogram of rat corpus striatum extract (95 mg tissue) is shown in Fig. 4. Control chromatograms showed no interfering substances. The concentration of DA was quantitated with the use of the computing integrator. The striatal and hypothalamic means of twelve rats are shown in Table II, and are compared to reported DA values in the literature.

TABLE II

COMPARISON OF CAPILLARY GC–ECD ASSAY* OF DOPAMINE IN RAT STRIATUM AND HYPOTHALAMUS WITH VALUES IN THE LITERATURE OBTAINED BY HPLC AND FLUORIMETRY

Brain region	Dopamine ($\mu g/g \pm S.E.M.$)	Method	Reference
Corpus striatum	9.50 ± 0.78 (n=12)	Capillary GC-ECD	This report
•	8.80 ± 0.82	HPLC	[29]
	8.78 ± 0.89	Fluorimetry	[14]
Hypothalamus	1.90 ± 0.31	Capillary GC-ECD	This report
	2.10 ± 0.16	Fluorimetry	[14]

*Conditions were as described in the text and in Table I for dopamine.

DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, the use of capillary columns has not been reported previously in GC analyses of endogenous CAs, either alone or simultaneously with their O-methylated metabolites. The TIQ alkaloids also had not been examined by capillary GC prior to this study. However, Martin et al. [15] provided a thorough study of the GC behavior of CAs and their O-methylated derivatives on 30-m fused-silica capillary columns using negative-ion detection, and subsequently determined the concentration of normetanephrine in human cerobrospinal fluid. Several other capillary methods have been reported for selected CA metabolites. LeGatt et al. [16] used capillary GC-ECD for the measurement of rat brain normetanephrine and 3-O-methyl DA. No attempts were made to demonstrate resolution of their potential 4-O-methylated isomers. With capillary GC-mass spectrometry (MS), oxidized CA derivatives were assayed in the urine by Muskiet et al. [17] and in the spinal fluid (homovanillic acid) by Vogt et al. [18]. Recent analytical GC studies have used capillary columns with series of amines which included the catecholamine compound isoproterenol [19, 20]. Overall, however, application of high-resolution capillary procedures in studies of catecholic and phenolic amines has been limited.

Several thorough capillary GC studies are available with indoleamines and particularly their tetrahydro- β -carboline condensation products. Beck et al. [21] used 20-m glass capillary columns for MS studies on the occurrence of β -carbolines in tissues and dietary components. An earlier capillary report from the same laboratory focused on the indoleamine condensation products in urine and spinal fluid [22]. The MS of β -carbolines (following appropriate derivatization) was also investigated in detail on 30-m fused-silica capillary columns by Faull et al. [23]. Serotonin or its O-methylated and/or oxidized

metabolites have also been analyzed on glass capillary columns in GC-MS procedures [17, 24].

Concerning important steps in the methodology of this report, a substantial (and necessary) reduction in the solvent/reagent peak was brought about by the brief ammonium phosphate wash of freshly derivatized (fluoracylated) samples. As noted in Results, repeated washings of toluene solution of HFB-catecholamines with several (up to five were done) fresh ammonium phosphate aliquots, followed by immediate analysis, did not significantly change the peak areas. However, because of the susceptibility of fluoracylated derivatives to hydrolysis, the derivatized sample could not be stored for substantial lengths of time in contact with the aqueous wash. Other researchers using capillary GC-ECD have noted the necessity of a similar wash or clean-up step before injection. Davis et al. [25] washed PFP-HFIP-derivatized hydroxyphenylacetic acids with 1 *M* phosphate, pH 6 (cation not stated) prior to capillary GC-ECD analysis, and suggested that the wash removed excess and possibly hydrolyzed fluorinating agent which would otherwise saturate the electron-capture detector. Sodium borate buffer may have served a similar purpose in the meta-O-methyl CA procedure of LeGatt et al. [16] or in a serotonin assay by Calvery et al. [26]. For the derivatized CAs and catechol TIQs, saturated borate was unsuitable as a wash solution, perhaps because it promoted hydrolysis of the fluoracyl derivatives.

Another important consideration is our use of a weak cation-exchange resin such as BioRex-70 rather than a strong amine exchanger such as Dowex, or (for the catechol compounds) a binding material such as aluminum oxide. As indicated, the replacement of BioRex with Dowex required stronger acid eluents and resulted in substantially lower recoveries, probably because of compound degradation. The use of aluminum oxide in place of BioRex also gave lower recoveries of CAs, more contaminated chromatograms, and relatively large solvent fronts that could not be reduced effectively by the phosphate wash. Using the fluoracyl anhydrides as derivatizing agents, best results (maximal responses and essentially single derivatives) were obtained with HFBA, but the HFIP-PFPA combination pioneered by Watson et al. [27] for acid metabolites of CAs was also effective for carboxylated TIQs. Other fluoracylating agents such as fluoracyl imidazoles, found by Barker et al. [28] and Faull et al. [23] to be the best reagents for GC-MS studies with β -carboline condensation products, were not investigated in this study with CAs and TIQs. However, in previous GC-ECD work using conventional columns [3], fluoracyl imidazoles tended to produce multiple derivatives of the TIQs.

Contrary to results of other capillary applications with splitter injector modes, we found that the capillary system with an automatic injector provided a high degree of precision and reproducibility with derivatized mixtures of CAs or TIQs. Equally significant is that the autoinjector in combination with the capillary column permitted very accurate retention time values (0.1% deviation). As an indication of the method's practical applicability, the assay of rat striatal and hypothalamic DA gave values that compared reasonably well with results in the literature from HPLC and fluorimetry (Table II). Due to the extreme sensitivity and good linear range of new models of electron-capture detectors, not only DA but epinephrine or norepinephrine can be readily measured in the small brain tissue samples that are obtained, for example, by the punch technique.

The capillary GC—ECD procedure described could serve as an important adjunct to reversed-phase HPLC assay, which is now probably the most common means of CA and TIQ estimation. In many situations, when MS is not available or is cost-prohibitive, retention times and quantities of endogenous catecholic and phenolic amines could be confirmed rapidly by this highly specific and yet inexpensive technique. Notwithstanding its complementary role, we suggest that capillary GC would be of great value in determinations of those geometric isomers of mono-O-methylated CAs or TIQs which are not separated by conventional GC (as shown) or cation-exchange HPLC.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Dr. David Crumrine (Department of Chemistry, Loyola University) for the NMR spectra, and Hoffmann-La Roche for the additional samples of salsoline and isosalsoline. The synthesis of several of the DIQs by Dr. A. Hashmi and the initial assistance of Dr. Stan Lorens are gratefully acknowledged. Supported by ADAMHA AA00266.

REFERENCES

- 1 A. Krstulovic, in J.C. Giddings, E. Grushka, J. Cazes and P.R. Brown (Editors), Advances in Chromatography, Vol. 17, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1979, pp. 279-309.
- 2 M. Bail, S. Miller and G. Cohen, Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res., 3 (1979) 167.
- 3 M.G. Bigdeli and M.A. Collins, Biochem. Med., 12 (1975) 55.
- 4 C.M. Melchior and M.A. Collins, CRC Crit. Rev. Toxicol., 9 (1982) 313.
- 5 T.C. Origitano, J. Hannigan and M.A. Collins, Brain Res., 224 (1981) 446.
- 6 M.A. Collins and T.C. Origitano, J. Neurochem., 41 (1983) 1569.
- 7 C. Schopfe and H. Bayerle, Ann. Chem., 513 (1934) 190.
- 8 A. Brossi, A. Focella and S. Teitel, Helv. Chim. Acta, 55 (1972) 15.
- 9 G.S. King, B.L. Goodwin and M. Sandler, J. Pharm. Pharmacol., 26 (1974) 476.
- 10 F. Kernozek and M.A. Collins, J. Heterocycl. Chem., 9 (1972) 1437.
- 11 W. Whaley and T. Govindachari, Org. React., 6 (1951) 151.
- 12 S. Teitel, J. O'Brien and A. Brossi, J. Med. Chem., 15 (1972) 845.
- 13 S. Teitel, J. O'Brien, W. Pool and A. Brossi, J. Med. Chem., 17 (1974) 134.
- 14 R.B. Holman, P. Angwin and J.D. Barchas, Neuroscience, 1 (1976) 147.
- 15 J.T. Martin, J.D. Barchas and K.F. Faull, Anal. Chem., 54 (1982) 1806.
- 16 D.F. LeGatt, G.B. Baker and R.T. Coutts, Res. Commun. Chem. Pathol. Pharmacol., 33 (1981) 61.
- 17 F.A.J. Muskiet, M.C. Stratingh, G.J. Strob and B.G. Wolthers, Clin. Chem., 27 (1981) 223.
- 18 W. Vogt, K. Jacob, A.B. Ohnesorge and B. Schwertfeger, J. Chromatogr., 199 (1980) 191.
- 19 A.S. Christophersen, E. Hovland and K.E. Rasmussen, J. Chromatogr., 234 (1982) 107.
- 20 J. Chauhan and A. Darbre, J. Chromatogr., 236 (1982) 151.
- 21 O. Beck, T. Bosin, B. Holmstedt and A. Lundman, in F.E. Bloom, J.D. Barchas, M. Sandler and E. Usdin (Editors), Beta-carbolines and Tetrahydroisoquinolines, Alan R. Liss, New York, 1982, pp. 29-40.
- 22 J. Allen, S. Beck, O. Borg and R. Skroder, Eur. J. Mass Spectrom. Biochem. Med. Environm. Res., 1 (1980) 171.

- 23 K.M. Faull, R.B. Holman, G. Elliott and J.D. Barchas, in F.E. Bloom, J.D. Barchas, M. Sandler and E. Usdin (Editors), Beta-carbolines and Tetrahydroisoquinolines, Alan R. Liss, New York, 1982, pp. 135-154.
- 24 C. Suñol and E. Gelpi, J. Chromatogr., 142 (1977) 559.
- 25 B.A. Davis, D.A. Durden, P. Pun-Li and A.A. Boulton, J. Chromatogr., 142 (1977) 517.
- 26 D.G. Calvery, G.B. Baker, H.R. McKim and W.G. Dewhurst, Can. J. Neurol. Sci., 7 (1980) 237.
- 27 E. Watson, B. Travis and S. Wilk, Life Sci., 15 (1974) 2167.
- 28 S.A. Barker, R. Harrison, G. Brown and S.T. Christian, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 87 (1979) 146.
- 29 R. Zaczek and J.T. Coyle, J. Neural Transm., 53 (1982) 1.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 31-38 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2246

CARBOHYDRATES OF WHOLE DEFATTED CELLS AS A BASIS FOR DIFFERENTIATION BETWEEN ACTINOBACILLUS ACTINOMYCETEMCOMITANS AND HAEMOPHILUS APHROPHILUS

ILIA BRONDZ*

Department of Chemistry, University of Oslo, Blindern, Oslo 3 (Norway)

and

INGAR OLSEN

Department of Microbiology, Dental Faculty, University of Oslo, Blindern, Oslo 3 (Norway)

(First received March 12th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 27th, 1984)

SUMMARY

Using gas chromatography and gas chromatography—mass spectrometry, the closely related bacteria Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans and Haemophilus aphrophilus were distinguished by means of the sugar content in whole defatted cells. Both species contained rhamnose, fucose, galactose, glucose, galactosamine, glucosamine, and L-glycero-D-mannoheptose. Contrary to H. aphrophilus, whole cells of A. actinomycetemcomitans contained D-glycero-D-mannoheptose. This sugar may thus serve as a marker for taxonomic differentiation between A. actinomycetemcomitans and H. aphrophilus.

INTRODUCTION

In Gram-negative bacteria polysaccharides are found as integral parts of the cell wall, in the extracellular capsule, or in both these structures. The cell wall polysaccharides of Gram-negative bacteria are bound to lipid, constituting the somatic lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which represents the endotoxic principle of these organisms. Polysaccharides residing on the bacterial cell surface are involved in phenomena such as cell—cell recognition, binding of bacteriophages, and antigenic expression. Since most microbial polysaccharides cannot be digested by mammalian enzymes, they remain in circulation for a considerable time [1], acting as potent antigens. The fine structure of surface polysaccharides in bacteria may therefore serve as a basis for their serological classification.

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

PERCENTAGE CEL	LULAR SUGAR ^T	COMPOSITIC	ON OF ME	THANOLY		nat te Jan ar		
Bacteria≭≭		Rhamnose	Fucose	Galactose	Glucose	DD-Heptose	LD-Heptose	Galactosamine + glucosamine
Actinobacillus actino	mycetemcomitans	4	Ľ	0	001		5 5	9 G
ATCC 33384 +	("""") (""") (""")	0.0 6.1	0.3	5.6	13.9	5.9	8.1	4.6
ATCC 29522		11.5	8.8	3.5	10.2	3.6	6.2	6.2
FDC 2112		4.1	1.1	5.7	15.0	5.8	8.1	4.0
FDC 2097		10.9	16.1	7.2	17.9	4.5	6.0	6.6
FDC 2043		10.1	13.3	7.2	22.6	7.1	10.5	4.9
		5.0	6.8	5.1	15.9	6.9	10.7	4.4
FDC N 27		4.9	9.3	10.0	10.3	4.4	7.2	3.9
Haemophilus aphrop ATCC 33389 (ATCC 19415 (hilus (NCTC 5906***) (NCTC 5886)	5.2 5.3	8.5 6.0	8.6 6.3	19.0 17.8		4.7 4.5	2.6 2.6
	Inedonnem-O-over	tose T.D-Hent	ose = L-elv	cero-D-man	noheptose			

THANOLYSED WHOLE DEFATED CELLS (S D. 5%) 1 +

TABLE I

*DD.Heptose = D-glycero-D-mannoheptose; LD-Heptose = L-glycero-D-mannoheptose. **ATCC, American Type Culture Collection, Rockville, MD, U.S.A.: NCTC, National Collection of Type Cultures, London, U.K.; FDC, Forsyth Dental Center, Boston, MA, U.S.A. ***Type strain of the species.

LPS has also been used as a chemical basis for such classification [2]. This fact prompted us to use carbohydrates of LPS as tools for taxonomic differentiation between the closely related Gram-negative, facultative rods Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans and Haemophilus aphrophilus [3]. Since preparation of LPS is a rather time-consuming procedure, more convenient diagnostic procedures need to be established for the routine laboratory. In the present study, the sugar content of whole cells of A. actinomycetemcomitans and H. aphrophilus has been used to distinguish between these bacteria.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Bacteria

The strains of A. actinomycetemcomitans and H. aphrophilus examined, the sources from which they were obtained, and the procedures for maintenance and cultivation have been described elsewhere [4, 5].

Methanolysis and derivatization

After removal of the free fatty acids with hexane [4, 5], whole lyophilized cells were methanolyzed (2 M hydrochloric acid in anhydrous methanol, 24 h, 85°C) [6]. After separating with chloroform (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland), the organic phase of the methanolysate, which contained the bound fatty acids, from the water phase, the latter was lyophilized and derivatized with acetonitrile (Rathburn, U.K.) and trifluoroacetic anhydride (Fluka) (1:1) [3].

Reference compounds

Sigma (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.) provided α -D(+)-fucose, D(+)-galactose, α -D(+)-glucose, D(+)-galactosamine, D(+)-glucosamine, D(+)-mannose, and α -L-rhamnose. Natural galactose, glucosamine, L-glycero-D-mannoheptose, mannose, and rhamnose were identified from LPS (Sigma) of *Escherichia coli* [7] and *Salmonella typhimurium* [8]. D-Glycero-D-mannoheptose was determined from *Chromobacterium violaceum* [9]. *Ch. violaceum* and N-glucosaminemyristate were generously provided by Drs. O. Lüderitz and U. Meier, Max-Planck-Institut für Immunbiologie, Freiburg, F.R.G.

Gas chromatography

A Sigma 3 gas chromatograph (Perkin-Elmer, Norwalk, CT, U.S.A.) furnished with an electronic integrator (Sigma 10) was used. The Chrompack (Middelburg, The Netherlands) CP-Sil 5 CB (polydimethylsiloxane) glass capillary column used was 25 m \times 0.22 mm I.D. with a film thickness of 0.14 μ m and height equivalent of a theoretical plate 0.25 mm. Helium served as carrier gas at a flow-rate of 2 ml/min. The pressure at the inlet of the column was 151.5 kPa. The temperature of the injector and flame-ionization detector was 200°C. Programme: hold 2 min at 90°C, then 90°C to 260°C at 9°C/min with the attenuator of the gas chromatograph set at 8, and the attenuator of the Sigma data 10 system at -1. The paper speed was 10 mm/min. Splitless injection was used. The identity of the methanolysed and derivatized sugars was established by direct cochromatography and by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS). The sugars were identified tentatively by comparing their retention times with those of authentic standards.

Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry

GC-MS was performed as described previously [3].

RESULTS

The distribution of sugars in whole defatted cells of A. actinomycetemcomitans and H. aphrophilus is shown in Table I. Both species contained rhamnose, fucose, galactose, glucose, L-glycero-D-mannoheptose, galactosamine, and glucosamine. The most striking feature of the present results was that D-glycero-D-mannoheptose was present in all the strains of A. actinomycetemcomitans examined, but in none of the H. aphrophilus strains. Ratios between essential sugar markers such as D-glycero- and L-glycero-D-mannoheptose and between glucose and L-glycero-D-mannoheptose are compared in Table II with those of LPS from A. actinomycetemcomitans and H. aphrophilus. The ratio between D-glycero- and L-glycero-D-mannoheptose was rather constant and similar in whole cells and LPS from A. actinomycetemcomitans. The glucose/L-

TABLE II

Whole defatted cells		Lipopolysaccharide**			
	DD-/LD-Hep	Glc/LD-Hep	DD-/LD-Hep	Glc/LD-Hep	
Actinobacillus	actinomycetemc	omitans			
33384	0.8	2.1	0.8	2.1	
29524			0.7	1.9	
29523	0.7	1.7			
29522	0.6	1.7	0.6	1.3	
2112	0.7	1.9			
2097	0.8	3.0			
2043	0.7	2.2			
511	0.6	1.5	0.6	1.1	
HK 435			0.8	1.4	
N 27	0.6	1.4	0.6	1.6	
Haemophilu s a	phrophilus				
33389		4.0		1.8	
19415		4.0		1.8	
655				1.2	
654				1.1	
626				1.4	
621				1.5	

RATIOS BETWEEN SELECTED SUGARS^{*} IN WHOLE DEFATTED CELLS AND LIPO-POLYSACCHARIDE FROM BACTERIA

*Glc = glucose; DD-Hep = D-glycero-D-mannoheptose; LD-Hep = L-glycero-D-mannoheptose. **Data from ref. 3. glycero-D-mannoheptose ratio varied somewhat between the strains of A. actinomycetemcomitans but was rather constant within each strain when whole cells and LPS were compared. In whole cells of the H. aphrophilus strains examined the glucose/L-glycero-D-mannoheptose ratio was approximately twice as high as in LPS.

Typical gas chromatograms of the sugars in whole defatted cells of the A. actinomycetemcomitans and H. aphrophilus strains are presented in Figs. 1 and 2.



Fig. 1. Typical gas chromatogram of the sugar composition of whole defatted cells of *A. actinomycetemcomitans*, as represented by strain ATCC 33384. Abbreviations: Rha, rhamnose; Fuc, fucose; Gal, galactose; Glc, glucose; DD-Hep, D-glycero-D-mannoheptose; LD-Hep, L-glycero-D-mannoheptose; GalN, galactosamine; GlcN, glucosamine.

Fig. 2. Typical gas chromatogram of the sugar composition of whole defatted cells of *H. aphrophilus*, as represented by strain ATCC 33389. Abbreviations: Rha, rhamnose; Fuc, fucose; Gal, galactose; Glc, glucose; LD-Hep, L-glycero-D-mannoheptose; GalN, galactos-amine; GlcN, glucosamine.

The molar response factors of trifluoroacetylated derivatives of the detected sugars were as described previously [3].

The mass spectra of D-glycero- and L-glycero-D-mannoheptose were also consistent with our previous description [3].

DISCUSSION

In the present study, the sugar composition of whole cells was used to differentiate between the closely related bacteria *A. actinomycetemcomitans* and *H. aphrophilus*. Whole cells yielded more complicated gas chromatograms than purified cell wall preparations such as LPS [3]. Trifluoroacetyl derivatized whole-cell methanolysates from *Neisseriae* and *Moraxellae* also showed complex gas—liquid chromatographic (GLC) profiles with peaks of similar retention in different "finger prints" which were not easily distinguished and identified [10]. Therefore, selective extractions and various other identification techniques had to be performed. For easier interpretation of the present gas chromatograms, defatted cells were analysed, i.e. cells pre-extracted for free and bound fatty acids [4-6].

The most outstanding feature of the present study was that D-glycero-Dmannoheptose could be demonstrated in whole cells of A. actinomycetemcomitans but not of H. aphrophilus. A similar difference was observed in phenol-extracted LPS from a series of strains, including type strains, other reference strains and laboratory strains of A. actinomycetemcomitans and H. aphrophilus [3]. Seen together, these observations strongly suggested that D-glycero-D-mannoheptose can serve as a marker for taxonomic differentiation between A. actinomycetemcomitans and H. aphrophilus. They also supported our previous differentiation between A. actinomycetemcomitans and H. aphrophilus based on free cellular fatty acids [5], as well as the establishment of A. actinomycetemcomitans as a separate species distinct from H. aphrophilus in a recent edition of Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology [11]. The present method of gas chromatography of derivatized methanolysates from whole defatted cells may represent a valuable step towards more accurate identification and classification of A. actinomycetemcomitans and H. aphrophilus, complementing the few biochemical tests recommended for distinction between these bacteria [12].

The ratio between the percentage of D-glycero- and L-glycero-D-mannoheptose was rather constant and similar to that detected in whole LPS from A. actinomycetemcomitans. This suggested that LPS is the principal source of these aldoheptoses in A. actinomycetemcomitans. Some bacteria, e.g. Azotobacter indicum, have D-glycero-D-mannoheptose in their capsule [13]. Also the glucose/L-glycero-D-mannoheptose ratio was rather constant and similar in whole cells and LPS from A. actinomycetemcomitans. This may indicate no other major reservoirs for glucose in A. actinomycetemcomitans than LPS. The examined H. aphrophilus strains revealed an increase in the glucose/Lglycero-D-mannoheptose ratio in whole cells compared to LPS. This suggested other sources for glucose in these bacteria than LPS. One likely source is their surface exopolymers, i.e. microcapsule, fibrils or slime layer [14], which may be eliminated during purification of LPS with ultracentrifugation [15]. The fact that glucose is a common capsular sugar in bacteria [16, 17] supported this idea.

King and Tatum [18] and Zambon et al. [19] were able to divide A. actinomycetemcomitans into serogroups which shared a common antigen with H. aphrophilus. The present study on whole defatted cells did not provide any clear chemical basis for creation of groups of strains corresponding to the serogroups suggested in A. actinomycetemcomitans. There are many suggestions in the literature (e.g. ref. 20) that exopolysaccharides are highly branched structures, and if so, identical chemotypes may occur within different serogroups. Alternatively, even if the carbohydrate structure is constant, alterations due to acyl constituents, which are prevalent in exopolysaccharides, are frequently noted [17].

Depolymerization of polysaccharides through methanolysis is preferable to aqueous acid [21]. Methanolysis was used already in 1966 by Ishizuka et al. [22], and has later been modified by a number of authors (for review, see ref. 23). It does not cause significant destruction of sugars [24]. Most glycosidic linkages are quantitatively broken [25] and the reduced monosaccharides stabilized as methyl glycosides during this procedure [10]. After Vilkas et al. [26] reported GLC separation of a number of carbohydrates in 1966, including methyl glycosides of their trifluoroacetates, Tamura and co-workers [27, 28] carried out comprehensive investigations of the conditions necessary for preparation and chromatography of trifluoroacetyl derivatives of glucose, galactose, mannose, glucosaminitol, galactosaminitol, and mannitol, and subsequently adopted GLC of trifluoroacetates of alditols [29] as their standard method for estimation of mono- and disaccharides in biological fluid [30]. The advantage of trifluoroacetates is that they are more volatile than either acetates or trimethylsilyl ethers and therefore chromatographic separation may be carried out more rapidly and at lower temperatures [31, 32]. Trifluoroacetates have thus proved valuable additions to the range of carbohydrate derivatives suitable for GLC, and capillary columns permit the analysis of submicrogram quantities (for review, see ref. 33). It has also been reported that methyl glycosides are stabilised under trifluoroacetylosis and are quantitatively recovered after O-detrifluoroacetylation [34]. Methanolysis can in principle yield four different glycosides for each sugar, i.e. α - and β -anomers of both the methyl pyranosides and the methyl furanosides [32]. The relative portion of the different isomers for a given sugar is a function of the methanolysis conditions and usually is not altered by subsequent derivatization of the methyl glycosides. Quantitation of the sugars in the present chromatograms was usually based on multiple peaks, but can also be made from selected peaks because the ratio between the peaks was stable under the experimental conditions used, which was consistent with the findings of other workers in this field [24, 25, 32]. In some cases the proportion of an isomer of a sugar may be so low that it is negligible. Often, however, two or more isomers may not be resolved under a particular set of chromatographic conditions and yield only a single peak [32]. Thus, galactose yielded only two peaks when analysed as trifluoroacetylated methyl glycoside [32], whereas three peaks were observed when galactose was chromatographed as trimethylsilylated methyl glycoside [35].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported in part by the Anders Jahres Fond til Vitenskapens Fremme and by the Proprietær Christopher Øverland og Hustru Ingeborg Øverlands Legat. The authors are also indebted to Dr. O. Lüderitz and U. Meier, Max-Planck-Institut für Immunbiologie, Freiburg, F.R.G., for generous supply of *Ch. violaceum* and N-glucosaminemyristate.

REFERENCES

- 1 K. Jann and O. Westphal, in M. Sela (Editor), The Antigens, Vol. III, Academic Press, New York, San Francisco, 1975, p. 3.
- 2 H. Nikaido, Int. J. System. Bacteriol., 20 (1970) 383.
- 3 I. Brondz and I. Olsen, J. Chromatogr., 310 (1984) 261.
- 4 I. Brondz, I. Olsen and T. Greibrokk, J. Chromatogr., 274 (1983) 299.
- 5 I. Brondz and I. Olsen, J. Chromatogr., 278 (1983) 13.
- 6 I. Brondz and I. Olsen, J. Chromatogr., 308 (1984) 19.
- 7 W. Weidel, Z. Physiol. Chem., 299 (1955) 253.
- 8 M.L. Osborn, S.M. Rosen, L. Tothfield and B.L. Horecher, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 48 (1962) 1831.
- 9 D.A.L. Davies, Nature, 180 (1957) 1129.
- 10 E. Jantzen, K. Bryn and K. Bøvre, Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Scand. Sect. B, 82 (1974) 753.
- J.E. Phillips, in N.R. Krieg (Editor), Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, Vol. 1, Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore, MD, 9th ed., 1984, pp. 570-576.
- 12 J. Slots, Arch. Microbiol., 131 (1982) 60.
- 13 V.M. Parikh and J.K.N. Jones, Can. J. Chem., 41 (1963) 2826.
- 14 S.C. Holt, A.C.R. Tanner and S.S. Socransky, Infect. Immun., 30 (1980) 588.
- 15 O. Lüderitz, K. Jann and R. Wheat, in M. Florkin and E.H. Stotz (Editors), Comprehensive Biochemistry, Vol. 26A, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1968, pp. 105-228.
- 16 J.F. Wilkinson, Bacteriol. Rev., 22 (1958) 46.
- 17 I.W. Sutherland, in I. Sutherland (Editor), Surface Carbohydrates of the Prokaryotic Cell, Academic Press, London, New York, 1977, pp. 27-95.
- 18 E.O. King and H.W. Tatum, J. Infect. Dis., 111 (1962) 85.
- 19 J.J. Zambon, J. Slots and R.J. Genco, Infect. Immun., 41 (1983) 19.
- 20 G.O. Aspinall, R.S.P. Jamieson and J.F. Wilkinson, J. Chem. Soc., (1956) 3483.
- 21 N.W.H. Cheetham and P. Sirimanne, Carbohydr. Res., 112 (1983) 1.
- 22 I. Ishizuka, N. Ueta and T. Yamakawa, Jap. J. Exp. Med., 36 (1966) 73.
- 23 D.B. Drucker (Editor), Microbiological Applications of Gas Chromatography, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, London, 1981, pp. 275-285.
- 24 J.P. Zanetta, W.C. Breckenridge and G. Vincendon, J. Chromatogr., 69 (1972) 291.
- 25 K. Bryn and E. Jantzen, J. Chromatogr., 240 (1982) 405.
- 26 M. Vilkas, Hiu-I-Jan, G. Boussac and M.-C. Bonnard, Tetrahedron Lett., 14 (1966) 1441.
- 27 Z. Tamura and T. Imanari, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 15 (1967) 246.
- 28 Z. Tamura, T. Imanari and Y. Arakawa, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 16 (1968) 1864.
- 29 T. Imanari, Y. Arakawa and Z. Tamura, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 17 (1969) 1967.
- 30 H. Nakamura and Z. Tamura, Clin. Chim. Acta, 39 (1972) 367.
- 31 P. Decker and H. Schweer, Carbohydr. Res., 107 (1982) 1.
- 32 D.G. Pritchard and W. Niedermeier, J. Chromatogr., 152 (1978) 487.
- 33 S.C. Churms, in E. Heftmann (Editor), Chromatography Fundamentals and Applications of Chromatographic and Electrophoretic Methods, Part B: Applications (Journal of Chromatography Library, Vol. 22B), Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1983, p. B262.
- 34 B. Nilsson and S. Svensson, Carbohydr. Res., 69 (1979) 292.
- 35 J.R. Clamp, G. Dawson and L. Hough, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 148 (1967) 342.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 39–50 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2247

DETERMINATION OF LEUKOTRIENES AND PROSTAGLANDINS IN [¹⁴C] ARACHIDONIC ACID LABELLED HUMAN LUNG TISSUE BY HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY AND RADIOIMMUNOASSAY

FREDERIK J. ZIJLSTRA* and J. ERIC VINCENT

Department of Pharmacology, Medical Faculty, Erasmus University Rotterdam, P.O. Box 1738, 3000 DR Rotterdam (The Netherlands)

(First received February 23rd, 1984; revised manuscript received June 26th, 1984)

SUMMARY

A liquid chromatographic method for the determination of ¹⁴C-labelled prostaglandins, leukotrienes and other lipoxygenase products formed by human lung tissue is described. In this paper we report our problems identifying these substances when ³H- or ¹⁴C-labelled compounds are compared with measurements of the mass by absorption or radioimmunoassay. Furthermore, some preliminary results of [¹⁴C]arachidonic acid labelled human lung tissue, stimulated by the Ca-ionophore A23187, show that, of the lipoxygenase products, mostly leukotriene B₄ like compounds are formed and less leukotriene C₄, E₄ and D₄. Relatively large amounts of hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids are present. The main cyclooxygenase products are thromboxane B₂, 6-ketoprostaglandin F₁ α and prostaglandin D₂.

INTRODUCTION

The biologically active leukotrienes (LTs) are formed from arachidonic acid (AA). Several of these substances induce slow contractions in smooth muscles. The effects of the LTs on peripheral and central airway functions of pulmonary tissue have also been described [1]. Furthermore, it has been reported that the addition of leukotriene C_4 (LTC₄) and D_4 (LTD₄) induces thromboxane A_2 (TxA₂) release from guinea pig isolated perfused lungs [2, 3]. Both the contraction of lung parenchymal strips and the TxA₂ release could be inhibited by the β -adrenoceptor agonist isoprenaline [4]. In previous work, a comparison was made between the contractile activities and TxA₂ release of human, porcine and guinea pig lung parenchymal strips after the application of LTC₄ and LTD₄ [5]. The results indicate that both the contractile activity of LTs on human lung strips and the TxA₂ release were rather low in com-

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

40

parison with the guinea pig lung strip. In cultured endothelial cells from human umbilical vein, however, LTC_4 promotes prostacyclin synthesis [6]. Recently, it has become evident that human alveolar macrophages produce leukotriene B_4 (LTB₄) [7], and it was also shown that human peritoneal macrophages synthesize LTB₄ and LTC₄ [8]. Further, Dahlén et al. [9] showed that allergen challenge of chopped human lung tissue elicits contraction that correlates with the release of both LTC₄, LTD₄ and leukotriene E_4 (LTE₄) and prostaglandins.

In this paper we describe an extraction procedure and high-performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) techniques for the separation of cyclooxygenase and lipoxygenase products with comparatively high recoveries and discuss some of the problems concerned with the identification of these substances formed from [¹⁴C]AA-labelled and Ca-ionophore-triggered chopped human lung tissue.

EXPERIMENTAL

Apparatus

A 1082B high-performance liquid chromatograph (Hewlett-Packard) was used, consisting of double-head pump, temperature-controlled column compartment, variable-volume injector and variable-wavelength detector. The Superrac fraction collector (LKB, Sweden) was connected to this apparatus and used as an automatic sampling system. Radioactivity in the labelled fractions was counted in a 3255 Tricarb liquid scintillation counter (Packard, Brussels, Belgium).

Chemicals

LTB₄, LTC₄ and LTD₄ were gifts of Dr. J. Rokach (Merck Frosst, Canada). Ca-ionophore A23187 was obtained from Hoechst (Calbiochem-Behring, U.S.A.), reduced glutathione from ICN (Cleveland, OH, U.S.A.) and prostaglandins D₂ (PGD₂), E₂ (PGE₂) and F_{2α} (PGF_{2α}) from Sigma (U.S.A.). 6-Ketoprostaglandin F_{1α} (6-keto-PGF_{1α}) and thromboxane B₂ (TxB₂) were gifts of Dr. J.B. Smith (Philadelphia, PA, U.S.A.). Siliclad[®] was obtained from Clay Adams (Becton Dickinson, U.S.A.). Tetrahydrofuran, methanol, acetonitrile, benzene and acetic acid were all of analytical grade from E. Merck (Darmstadt, F.R.G.). Picofluor-15 (Packard) was used as premixed scintillation cocktail.

Radiochemicals

 $[1^{-14}C]AA$, 5-D- $[5,6,8,9,11,12,14,15^{-3}H(n)]hydroxy-6,8,11,14$ -eicosatetraenoic acid (5-HETE), 12-L- $[5,6,8,9,11,12,14,15^{-3}H(n)]HETE$ and 15-L- $[5,6, 8,9,11,12,14,15^{-3}H(n)]HETE$ were purchased from New England Nuclear. All other radiolabelled compounds mentioned below were obtained from the Radiochemical Centre (Amersham, U.K.): $[5,6,8,9,11,12,14,15^{-3}H(n)]LTB_4$, $[14,15^{-3}H(n)]LTC_4$, $[14,15^{-3}H(n)]LTD_4$, 6-keto- $[5,8,9,11,12,14,15^{-3}H(n)]PGE_1_{1\alpha}$, $[5,6,8,9,11,12,14,15^{-3}H(n)]TxB_2$, $[5,6,8,11,12,14,15^{-3}H(n)]PGE_2$, $[5, 6,8,11,12,14,15^{-3}H(n)]PGF_{2\alpha}$, $[5,6,8,9,12,14,15^{-3}H(n)]PGD_2$, $[1^{-14}C]PGE_2$ and $[1^{-14}C]PGF_{2\alpha}$. The purity of the radiochemicals was shown to be greater than 97%.

Materials

Sep-Pak C₁₈ and Sep-Pak silica cartridges and HPLC-solvent filters HA (0.45 μ m) and FH (0.5 μ m) were obtained from Waters Assoc.; prepacked HPLC columns Nucleosil 5C₁₈ and Zorbax BPtmC₈ (each 250 × 4.6 mm) were from Chrompack (Middelburg, The Netherlands).

Antisera

Anti-TxB₂, anti-PGF_{2 α}, anti-PGE₂ and anti-PGD₂ were obtained from l'Institut Pasteur (Paris, France); anti-6-keto-PGF_{1 α} was obtained from Seragen (Boston, MA, U.S.A.). Cross-reactivities are given in Table I.

TABLE I

CROSS-REACTIVITIES OF COMMERCIALLY OBTAINED ANTIBODIES

Compound	Antibody						
	$\overline{6\text{-Keto-PGF}_{1\alpha}}$	TxB ₂	$PGF_{2\alpha}$	PGE ₂	PGD ₂		
6-Keto-PGF ₁	100	_	0.04	< 0.01	0.01		
PGF ₁₀	7.8	—	12.0	0.01	0.01		
PGF	2.2	0.1	100	0.11	0.04		
6-Keto-PGE,	6.8			0.16			
PGE.	0.7	_	0.03	10.7	0.01		
PGE	0.6	0.1	0.03	100	0.01		
PGA.	< 0.01		< 0.01	0.04	_		
PGA	< 0.01	0.1	< 0.01	0.3			
PGD	< 0.01	0.2	3.0	< 0.01	100		
PGD.	_		< 0.4	< 0.01	78		
TxB	< 0.01	100	< 0.01	< 0.01	1.2		
13,14-Dihydro-15-keto-PGE,	< 0.01	0.1	_	0.6	0.01		
13,14-Dihydro-15-keto-PGF	< 0.01	0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.01		
13,14-Dihydro-PGE,	_	_	_	2.1	_		
6-Keto-PGE ₂	—	0.1	< 0.01	13.2			

Data are expressed in per cent at $50\% B/B_0$ (B = bound).

Human lung tissue

Human lung tissues were obtained from adults [5]. Lobectomy was performed on account of tumours. The premedication consisted of 0.25 mg of atropine and 10 mg of Opial[®]. During the operation, the following agents were administered: Fentanyl[®] (0.5 mg), pancuronium bromide (Pavulon[®], 6 mg), thiopental (Pentotal[®], 150 mg) and 3 g of cephalothin (Keflin[®]). Parenchymal tissue of the outer parts was used in our experiments.

Method

Human lung tissue (10 g) from which the lung membrane had been removed was cut into slices. The slices were chopped in a McIlwain tissue chopper and divided in portions of 0.5×0.5 mm. The whole fraction was washed three times with Krebs—Henseleit buffer (20 ml of buffer, 5 min, 400 g) in a polypropylene 50 ml tube (Falcon[®]). Then 20 ml of Krebs—Henseleit buffer were added and the tube was placed in a water-bath of 37°C on a magnetic stirrer (900 rpm). Through a thin pipette, the sample was continuously gassed with a mixture of 95% O₂ + 5% CO₂. Thereafter, 10 μ Ci of [1-¹⁴C]AA (55 mCi/ mmol), glutathione (final concentration 2 mM) and 100 μ g of Ca-ionophore A23187 (dissolved in 100 μ l of ethanol) were added. At the end of the 10-min incubation, [³H]LTs and [³H]PGs were added and the homogenate was centrifuged (10 min, 1400 g, 4°C). The pellet was washed once, and the combined supernatant centrifuged (90 min, 30,000 g average, 4° C) to separate the cells and small particles. The clear incubation supernatant was then applied to a Sep-Pak C_{18} cartridge and the effluent was placed on a Sep-Pak silica cartridge. (The C₁₈ cartridge was prewashed with 10 ml of methanol and 10 ml of distilled water; the silica cartridge was prewashed with 10 ml of methanol and 100 ml of water [10].) The sample was eluted with 2.5 ml of methanol on each column; these eluates were combined and evaporated to dryness with a gentle stream of nitrogen at 40°C. Thereafter, the dried sample was dissolved in 1 ml of solvent A (tetrahydrofuran-methanol-water-acetic acid. 25:30:45:0.1, v/v, adjusted to pH 5.5 with ammonium hydroxide), filtered and kept in a siliconized micro-vial.

Chromatographic system

Reversed-phase HPLC of LTs and other lipoxygenase products was carried out on a Nucleosil 5 C_{18} column, using solvent system A. Mobile phases were filtered by vacuum filtering through a Millipore filter and degassed with helium [11, 12]. The flow-rate was 0.9 ml/min and the absorption was measured at 280 nm. Prior to use, the system was washed with approx. 15 ml of water, thereafter with approx. 30 ml of a 2% (w/v) EDTA solution in water, and rewashed with water [10]. The column was equilibrated with the mobile phase A at an oven temperature of 37°C. Fractions were collected for scintillation counting. After each run (90 min) the column was rinsed for at least 30 min because of contamination with Ca-ionophore, which elutes after approx. 115 min.

Reversed-phase HPLC of PGs was performed on a Zorbax C_8 column. This solvent system (B) contained acetonitrile—benzene—water—acetic acid (24:0.2:0.1:76, v/v). The flow-rate of this eluent was 2.0 ml/min. From the contents of each collected fraction, 50 μ l were taken and kept at 4°C for the radioimmunoassay (RIA) of the PGs. The main fraction was immediately used for ¹⁴C and ³H counting. The column was rinsed with acetonitrile for 30 min after each sample to elute the lipoxygenase products.

Radioimmunoassay of prostaglandins

Reagents were equilibrated to room temperature before use. After the addition of standards (range 0-500 pg) and diluted samples, [³H]PG and antibody were added. At the end of the incubation (2 h at room temperature and 18 h at 4°C), charcoal suspension was added. The tubes were allowed to stand for 15 min at 4°C and centrifuged for 10 min at 1400 g. The supernatants were decanted and mixed with 6 ml of scintillation fluid. The risk of cross-reactions was negligible when RIA was performed after HPLC (cross-reactivities and specifications are given in Tables I and II).

TABLE II

Immunogen Amount of added tracer		Bound/total (%)	Non-specific binding		
	dpm	pg		(%)	
6-Keto-PGF _{1α}	16,000	18.4	39.7	9.2	
TxB,	15,000	18.5	57.9	1.9	
PGF	8,500	9.2	17.0	4.5	
PGE.	12,500	13.0	40.1	3.9	
PGD ₂	8,500	10.7	34.3	7.4	

SPECIFICATIONS OF VARIABLE CONDITIONS IN THE RIAS

Quantitative evaluation

The settings for double-labelled scintillation counting were such that there was no spillover of radioactivity of ³H into the ¹⁴C channel. Calculations of dpm were carried out using quenched standard sets by a computer (Digital, PDP 11/70). For daily analysis, a plotting system was programmed in order to obtain data of total counts covering the peak areas. Amounts calculated in dpm of both channels were plotted as separate chromatograms.

The data obtained from the RIAs were linearly plotted as the ln (mass) against the negative (-) ln $\{\%B/(100 - \%B)\}$ (where B=bound). The linearity was tested by means of a variance analysis.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Fig. 1 shows a representative chromatogram (one of five experiments) of LTs and other lipoxygenase products, after $[^{14}C]$ AA labelling of the lung tissue. The upper part of the figure represents the mass, measured by absorption at 280 nm. It is evident that substances are present with the same retention times (t_R) as LTs, indicated by C, D and B. The major compound is LTB₄, whereas LTC₄ is hardly detectable because of the strong tailing effect, caused by substances with identical chromatographical properties to some of the phospholipids, running on the front. Based on the retention time, peak 1 is tri-HETE, and peak 2 is 6-trans-LTB₄ + 12-epi,6-trans-LTB₄, according to Verhagen et al. [12].

The lower curve of the HPLC separation gives the plotted ¹⁴C-labelled fractions. Peak 1 covers both the above-mentioned tri-HETE and a substance with the same t_R as LTC₄. Prostaglandins, however, nearly cochromatograph with LTC₄, so that a not unimportant part of peak 1 is due to the presence of cyclooxygenase products. The compound indicated by H is most probably HHT (12-OH-5,8,10-heptadecatrienoic acid). The identification of this peak was based upon the following observation: washed rat platelets were labelled with [¹⁴C]AA as described before [13], aggregated with collagen, extracted as described above and applied to HPLC for further analysis. Our earlier observations on platelet aggregation indicate that the main compounds formed are, respectively, 12-HETE, HHT and TxB₂. A similar result was obtained by Luderer et al. [14]. As in our system, TxB₂ cochromatographs with LTC₄ and the retention time of 12-HETE appeared to be approx. 60 min; the peak at 26 min is likely to be HHT. In the example shown in Fig. 1, relatively large amounts of HETEs are formed.

Table III lists the recoveries (mean \pm S.E.M.) of ³H-labelled standards added to tissue samples. It is remarkable that the overall recoveries of HETEs are low, especially of 5-HETE. The chromatogram given at the bottom of Fig. 1



Fig. 1. Chromatograms of LTs and HETEs, synthesized by chopped human lung tissue, after [¹⁴C]AA loading, in the presence of glutathione (2 mM) and Ca-ionophore A23187 (approx. 10 μ M). The incubation medium was processed through Sep-Pak C₁₈ and silica cartridges as described in Experimental and the methanol fractions after evaporation to dryness were subjected to HPLC in solvent system A. A Chrompack Nucleosil 5C₁₈ column (250 × 4.6 mm) was used. Mobile phase: tetrahydrofuran-methanol-water-acetic acid (25:30:45:0.1) adjusted to pH 5.5 with ammonium hydroxide. Flow-rate 0.9 ml/min. The chromatogram at the bottom, representing radioactivity in fractions of one per min, is corrected for delay time between the absorption cell and the fraction collector. Peaks: C = LTC₄, D = LTD₄-like, B = LTB₄, 15 = 15-HETE, 12 = 12-HETE and 5 = 5-HETE. Based on retention times, 1 = tri-HETE, 2 = 6-trans-LTB₄ + 12-epi,6-trans-LTB₄.

TABLE III

RECOVERIES OF TRITIATED LTs, HETEs, AND PGs, MEASURED BY HPLC

Data were obtained after the extraction procedure as described in the methods section. Values are given as the mean ± S.E.M.

	Recovery (%)	n	
LTC.	59 ± 5.0	3	
LTD,-like	86 ± 1.5	3	
LTB	70 ± 5.7	3	
15-HETE	34 ± 1.1	3	
12-HETE	34 ± 0.9	3	
5-HETE	18 ± 0.6	3	
6-Keto-PGF ₁₀	64 ± 2.9	8	
TxB.	86 ± 2.7	8	
PGF	44 ± 1.8	8	
PGE	73 ± 2.9	8	
PGD ₂	59 ± 2.6	8	

is not corrected for recoveries listed in Table III; in this case the plotted quantity of 5-HETE should be three times higher compared to the leukotrienes.

Furthermore, there is a pronounced difference in recovery of certain PGs obtained from HPLC separations as shown in Fig. 2. Fig. 2A shows the internal PG standards (³H), fig. 2B the ¹⁴C-labelled PGs formed from exogenous AA. The small peak 2 shows the immunoreactivity of 6-keto-PGF_{1α}, and the wide peak 5 that of TxB₂. However, peak 6 (PGF-immunoreactive), peak 7 (PGE-immunoreactive) and peak 8 (PGD-immunoreactive) do not have the same t_R as the added ³H standards. The longer the t_R , the greater the delay between ³H-labelled and unlabelled material.

Determination of the amounts present in the sample by the different RIAs is represented in Fig. 2C. In this case, the immunoreactivities of the PGs mentioned before have the same t_R as the ¹⁴C-labelled compounds. Others have noticed that a difference exists between the t_R of PGs labelled with ³H or ¹⁴C [15]. This might be due to the isotope effect. Four double bounds are labelled with ³H whereas ¹⁴C only is labelled on the 1-position. Increase of the mass plays an unimportant role, because spheric occlusion occurs at molecular weights of 2000 and higher (MW_{PG} approx. 350). It would appear that labelling with ³H makes these substances more hydrophilic. Fig. 3 confirms the findings presented in Fig. 2. Commercially available ³H- and ¹⁴C-labelled PGE₂ and PGF_{2α} have a difference in retention times of approx. 5%. This could be a reason of errors in selecting the wrong fractions for RIA when ³H-labelled standards are used as markers.

A second observation that needs further explanation is the difference that occurs in the specific activities of the PGs. This can be calculated from the data presented in Fig. 2. The pattern of ¹⁴C-labelled and RIA-determined amounts is not identical. In this case, there is even a difference by a factor of 4 between the highest and the lowest specific activity (expressed as dpm/ng, covering the whole peak area). Peaks 3 and 4 in Fig. 2B are unknown. 13,14-Dihydro-15-keto-PGs run after 80 min, so that differences are not caused by these compounds.



Fig. 2. Reversed-phase HPLC separation of PGs in the same sample as used in Fig. 1. A Chrompack Zorbax BP5 column was used; the solvent system contained acetonitrile—benzene—water—acetic acid (24:0.2:76:0.1); the flow-rate was 2 ml/min. One fraction per min was collected and divided as described in the text. (A) Chromatogram of [³H]PG standards. Peaks: K = 6-keto-PGF_{1α}, T = TxB₂, F = PGF_{2α}, E = PGE₂ and D = PGD₂. (B) Chromatogram of ¹⁴C-labelled compounds. Identification of peaks 1–8 is discussed in the results section. (C) Measurement of the fractions in (A) by RIA.

Fig. 4 shows the chromatograms of an experiment in which ³H-labelled LTs were used as markers, without the addition of $[^{14}C]$ AA to the tissue. Several problems arise when the LTs in the tissue are identified with the use of ³H-labelled substances. This difficulty is due to the fact that in LTC₄ and LTD₄



Fig. 3. Chromatogram of collected fractions (two per min) after the injection of ³H- and ¹⁴C-labelled PGF_{2α} and PGE₂. The chromatographic conditions were the same as described in Fig. 2. This chromatogram was plotted by means of a computer-programmed XY printer. Peaks: $HF = [^{3}H]PGF_{2\alpha}$, $CF = [^{14}C]PGF_{2\alpha}$, $HE = [^{3}H]PGE_{2}$, $CE = [^{14}C]PGE_{2}$.

one double bound is 3 H-labelled, and in LTB₄ this amount is four. The latter is comparable with the labelled PGs (see section on radiochemicals). In Fig. 4A, peaks 2 and 5 have approximately the same t_R as in Fig. 4B. The delay is only \pm 2%. However, the difference is much greater between peak 6 of Fig. 4A and peak 8 of Fig. 4B. Batch 9 of the $[^{3}H]LTB_{4}$ used in the experiment as shown in Fig. 4A proved to be a racemic mixture of 6-trans-LTB₄ and 12epi, 6-trans-LTB₄. We thereafter injected both batch 9 and the newly prepared batch 10 directly into the HPLC system. The t_R of the first peak was the same as the one obtained in Fig. 4A after extraction procedures. The second peak (batch 10) had a delay of approx. 1 min. Compared to Fig. 4B, these two peaks were shifted 8% t_R . Peaks 3, 5 and 7+8 were collected in order to compare the biological activity of the so far unknown compound 5. The fractions were evaporated to dryness, dissolved in Krebs' buffer and added to a guinea pig lung parenchymal strip, as described before [5]. Expressed in factors of potency, the biological activities were respectively: peak 3 (LTC₄-like), 20; peak 5, 5; peak 7+8 (LTB₄-like), 1. The unknown peak 5 could be LTE_4 on the basis of its t_R [9, 16] and activity [9, 17, 18].

Finally, we determined the presence of glutamine and glycine in the hydrolysed fraction, compared to standards of LTC_4 (containing cysteine–glycine– glutamine) and LTD_4 (containing cysteine–glycine), following the method as described earlier [19]. In this fraction 5, a relatively small amount of glycine was present. We concluded from these data that this compound may be LTE_4^* .

^{*}During the preparation of the manuscript, synthetic LTE_4 was obtained. It shows the same t_R as the compound described here.



Fig. 4. Reversed-phase HPLC separation of LTC_4 , LTD_4 and LTB_4 . (A) ³H-Labelled LTs were added to a non-labelled incubation medium of chopped human lung tissue, triggered with Ca-ionophore as described in Experimental. The numbers 2, 5 and 6 indicate the ³H-labelled LTC_4 , LTD_4 and LTB_4 (batch 9), respectively. (B) Measurement of the absorbance at 280 nm of the same tissue extract as mentioned in (A). (C) Chromatogram of synthetic LTC_4 (3), LTD_4 (4) and LTB_4 (7, a degradation product?), directly applied to the reversed-phase HPLC system.

When $[^{3}H]LTD_{4}$ was injected directly onto the HPLC column, the t_{R} was the same as peak 4 in Fig. 4A.

CONCLUSIONS

Whole human lung tissue, stimulated with Ca-ionophore A23187, produced under the conditions described, large amounts of LTB_4 -like compounds and less LTC_4 and LTD_4 . The major PG-like substances were immunoreactive with TxB_2 , 6-keto-PGF_{1\alpha} and PGD₂. The role of these different compounds has not yet been established. The formation of comparatively high amounts of TxB_2 and PGD_2 in antigen-challenged human lung tissue has been observed [20]. TxA_2 has bronchoconstrictor activity. The differences observed in the specific activities of the PGs may indicate that these substances are not formed from the same AA pool. Identification of AA metabolites could give problems when tritiated standards are used, due to the decrease of retention times. Whether recently available tritiated LTs are suitable for receptor binding studies and other specific interactions is doubtful as long as it remains uncertain that these compounds are pure LTs and not chemically degraded products.

The conversion of LTC_4 in LTD_4 by γ -glutamyltranspeptidase is inhibited by serine—borate complex [21]. Although in receptor binding studies in guinea pig lung, [³H] LTD₄ was not metabolized to LTE_4 [22], this bioconversion was demonstrated in experiments with guinea pig ileum. In the presence of L-cysteine, the conversion of LTD_4 to LTE_4 was largely inhibited [23]. In future work, the effect of a 5-lipoxygenase inhibitor on the formation of PGs will be investigated, as well as the differences in AA metabolism of lung tissue obtained from asthmatics and non-asthmatics [24].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We appreciate the assistance of Mr. T. van Immerzeel (Department of Computing Systems) and Mr. W.F. Clotscher (Department of Biochemistry) for the development of computer programs. Dr. D. Fekkes is thanked for determinations of glycine and Mrs. B.H.M. Busscher-Lauw for typing the manuscript, Dr. J. Rokach (Merck Frosst Labs., Canada) for gifts of leukotrienes and Dr. J.B. Smith (Philadelphia, PA, U.S.A.) for standards of TxB₂ and 6-keto-PGF_{1 α}. Without the help of Dr. P.A. Frederikz (Thoraxcentre, Academic Hospital Dijkzigt) from whom parts of human lungs were obtained, our investigations would not have been possible.

REFERENCES

- 1 P. Hedqvist, S.E. Dahlén, L. Gustafsson, S. Hammerström and B. Samuelsson, Acta Physiol. Scand., 110 (1980) 331.
- 2 P.J. Piper and M.W. Samhoun, Prostaglandins, 21 (1981) 793.
- 3 F.J. Zijlstra, I.L. Bonta and J.E. Vincent, in B. Samuelsson, R. Paoletti and P.W. Ramwell (Editors), Advances in Prostaglandin, Thromboxane and Leukotriene Research, Vol. 12, Raven Press, New York, 1983, p. 167.
- 4 F.J. Zijlstra, I.L. Bonta, M.J.P. Adolfs and J.E. Vincent, Eur. J. Pharmacol., 76 (1981) 297.
- 5 F.J. Zijlstra, J.E. Vincent and I.L. Bonta, Agents Actions, 14 (1984) 1.
- 6 E.B. Cramer, L. Pologe, N.A. Pawlowski, Z.A. Cohn and W.A. Scott, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 80 (1983) 4109.
- 7 A.O.S. Fels, N.A. Pawlowski, E.B. Cramer, T.K.C. King, Z.A. Cohn and W.A. Scott, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 79 (1982) 7866.
- 8 J.T. Du, M. Foegh, Y. Maddox and P.W. Ramwell, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 753 (1983) 159.
- 9 S.E. Dahlén, G. Hansson, P. Hedqvist, T. Björck, E. Granström and B. Dahlén, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 80 (1983) 1712.
- 10 S.A. Metz, M.E. Hall, T.W. Harper and R.C. Murphy, J. Chromatogr., 233 (1982) 193.
- 11 D.J. Masters and R.M. McMillan, in P.J. Piper (Editor), Leukotrienes and Other Lipoxygenase Products, Research Studies Press, Chichester, 1983, p. 275.

- 12 J. Verhagen, P. Walstra, G.A. Veldink, J.F.G. Vliegenthart and P.L.B. Bruynzeel, Prostagl. Leukotr. Med., 13 (1984) 15.
- 13 J.E. Vincent, F.J. Zijlstra and H. van Vliet, Prostagl. Med., 5 (1980) 79.
- 14 J.R. Luderer, D.L. Riley and L.M. Demers, J. Chromatogr., 273 (1983) 402.
- 15 N. Ardaillou, J. Sraer, C. Melcion, F. Farin, G. Striker and R. Ardaillou, in B. Samuelsson, R. Paoletti and P.W. Ramwell (Editors), Thromboxane and Leukotriene Research, Vol. 11, Raven Press, New York, 1983, p. 505.
- 16 R.M. Clancy and T.E. Hugli, Anal. Biochem., 133 (1983) 30.
- 17 K.F. Austen, E.J. Corey, J.M. Drazen and A.G. Leitch, Brit. J. Pharmacol., 80 (1983) 47.
- 18 P. Sirois, S. Roy and P. Borgeat, Prostaglandins, 26 (1983) 91.
- 19 M.J. Schouten, J. Bruinvels, L. Pepplinkhuizen and J.H.P. Wilson, Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav., 19 (1983) 245.
- 20 E.S. Schulman, H.H. Newball, L.M. Demers, F.A. Fitzpatrick and N.F. Adkinson, Amer. Rev. Respir. Dis., 124 (1981) 402.
- 21 L. Orning and S. Hammerström, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 106 (1982) 1304.
- 22 S.S. Pong and R.N. De Haven, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 80 (1983) 7415.
- 23 S. Krilis, R.A. Lewis, E.J. Corey and K.F. Austen, J. Clin. Invest., 71 (1983) 909.
- 24 P. Godard, J. Chaintreuil, M. Damon, M. Coupe, O. Flandre, A. Crastes de Paulet and F.B. Michel, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., 70 (1982) 88.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 51–57 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2221

DETERMINATION OF FREE 3-METHOXY-4-HYDROXYPHENYLGLYCOL WITH SEVERAL OTHER MONOAMINE METABOLITES IN PLASMA BY HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY WITH AMPEROMETRIC DETECTION

A. MINEGISHI and T. ISHIZAKI*

Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Clinical Research Institute, National Medical Center, Toyama 1-21-2, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 162 (Japan)

(First received February 8th, 1984; revised manuscript received May 14th, 1984)

SUMMARY

A reversed-phase liquid chromatographic method with amperometric detection has been developed for determining free 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol in plasma. The method is based on a simple and rapid extraction procedure employing a small C_{18} column. Vanillyl alcohol was used as an internal standard to obtain a good reproducibility. The 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol concentrations measured with the present method were in reasonable agreement with recently published data using high-performance liquid chromatography with amperometric detection and gas chromatography with mass spectrometry. The additional advantage of the present assay is that it can be performed in parallel with the quantification of other monoamine metabolites in plasma.

INTRODUCTION

Changes in the activity of the brain monoaminergic system have been implicated in a number of pathological states including psychiatric and neurological disorders [1-4]. Free 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol (MHPG) is a principal metabolite of norepinephrine in the human brain [5, 6], and is considered to pass readily out into the blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) [7]. The assessment of metabolite(s) in the CSF is difficult for ethical reasons under usual clinical settings. The measurement of free MHPG concentrations in plasma has been suggested to offer a useful index of central adrenergic activity in human subjects [5, 8], although some controversial problems still remain to be solved [9].

Gas chromatographic methods with mass spectrometry (GC-MS) [10-12],

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

which have most commonly been used for the measurement of plasma MHPG concentration, require expensive apparatus and superior technique. Highperformance liquid chromatographic methods with amperometric detection (HPLC-ED) have recently been shown to be useful for the determination of MHPG in urine [13, 14], brain [15, 16], and CSF [17-20]. To our knowledge, however, only two recent articles [21, 22] have described the HPLC-ED method for the determination of free MHPG concentrations in plasma. Those experimental procedures [21, 22], however, necessitated a somewhat tedious pre-extraction of MHPG from plasma. In addition, several compounds used as internal standards in the previous HPLC-ED assays [14, 18, 21] do not appear to be readily available.

This article describes an HPLC-ED method for determining free MHPG concentrations in human plasma using vanilly alcohol as the internal standard. The method necessitates a simple one-step sample purification step on a small C_{18} column. Furthermore, the present assay method, when used in combination with the method recently reported by us [23], permits four major monoamine metabolites in human plasma to be readily profiled.

EXPERIMENTAL

Reagent

4-Hydroxy-3-methxoybenzyl alcohol (vanillyl alcohol, VA) was obtained from Aldrich (Milwaukee, WI, U.S.A.). 3-Methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol (MHPG) hemipiperazine salt and other related compounds were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.). All other reagents were of analytical reagent grade.

Chromatography

The liquid chromatography-electrochemical detection system consisted of a Yanako Model L-4000 W pump, a $250 \times 4.6 \text{ mm I.D. } 7_{\mu}\text{m}$ Yanapak ODS-A reversed-phase column and a Model VMD-501 dual electrochemical detector with glassy carbon electrodes. All of the system was purchased from Yanagimoto (Kyoto, Japan). Applied potential was +0.7 V versus Ag/AgCl reference electrode. The mobile phase, 0.1 *M* potassium phosphate buffer (pH 4.8) containing EDTA \cdot 2Na (10 μ M) and methanol (10%), was delivered at a flow-rate of 1.1 ml/min at ambient temperature.

Extraction

Blood was collected in a tube containing 0.1% EDTA \cdot 2Na and 0.1% sodium metabisulphite and put on ice. Plasma was separated by centrifugation at 600 g for 7 min at 4°C, and then stored at -80°C until analysed.

Extraction was performed under vacuum using Bond-Elut columns pre-packed with 100 mg of C_{18} -bonded silica (40 μ m) in a 1-ml capacity disposable syringe (Analytichem International, Harbor City, CA, U.S.A.). The columns, which were inserted into a vacuum chamber connected with a water aspirator, were prepared by washing with 1 ml of methanol followed by 1 ml of water.

After the addition of 50 μ l of a solution of VA (internal standard equivalent
to 5 ng) to 1 ml of plasma, samples were applied to and passed through the columns, followed by 0.75 ml of water to rinse off both the residual samples and easily eluted hydrophilic compounds. The adsorbed materials were eluted with 200 μ l of methanol-0.1 *M* phosphate buffer (pH 4.8) mixture (40:60). Usually 20 μ l of this solution were injected into the HPLC system.

Calibration curves were generated by processing authentic standard substances through the entire extraction procedure and comparing the peak heights with that of the internal standard.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The principal problems associated with the determination of plasma MHPG concentrations using HPLC-ED have been concerned with the selection of an appropriate extraction procedure prior to injection into the HPLC system [13, 21, 22] and the selection of the compound used as internal standard [14, 21]. To solve the latter problem, various neutral compounds such as 4-hydroxybenzyl alcohol, 3(p-hydroxyphenyl)-1-propanol, and 3-hydroxy-4-methoxybenzyl alcohol (isovanillyl alcohol) were examined in the present study. VA was chosen because of its appropriate chromatographic behaviour and sufficient detectability at the potential of 0.7 V (Fig. 1), which allowed the MHPG analysis to be sensitive and selective.

Typical chromatograms showing the separation of MHPG and VA (internal standard) in standard solution and in an extract of human plasma are shown in Figs. 1 and 2, respectively. Under the present chromatographic conditions, related basic monoamines except for serotonin which was retained longer than MHPG, were eluted within 5 min (Table I). All of the acidic and other neutral metabolites examined did not interfere with the detection of MHPG and VA. Furthermore, the pH of the mobile phase and the column temperature employed in the present assay method substantially contributed to an optimal separation from other possible interferences by endogenous substances in human plasma. Unidentified peaks, which appeared just after MHPG (Fig. 2), overlapped at temperatures above 35° C or with increasing pH. Identities of the peaks were verified by the chromatographic behaviour under varying conditions and electrochemical characteristics determined by a dual-electrode detection system, which enabled the relative magnitudes of current responses of standards and unknowns to be compared at two different potentials.

Effective and rapid extraction was accomplished with the use of a small C_{18} column. Neutral metabolites such as MHPG and VA were readily sorbed on a hydrophobic C_{18} sorbent from plasma and eluted with a methanol—buffer mixture. When the plasma sample was acidified prior to applying it to the extraction column, the bulk of interfering substances was also sorbed, resulting in a disturbance of the subsequent chromatographic analysis. Since MHPG is a fairly hydrophilic compound, the volume of water used for washing had to be set at 0.75 ml in order to remove interference(s) caused by more hydrophilic compound(s) than MHPG and to minimize the possible loss of MHPG. The use of methanol as the eluent in place of methanol—buffer mixture also led to an increase in interfering peaks. Through the entire extraction procedure in the present assay method, the majority of acidic monoamine metabolites and the



Fig. 1. Chromatogram of authentic MHPG and vanillyl alcohol (VA as internal standard, IS) in standard solution (0.8 ng each).

Fig. 2. Typical chromatogram of MHPG (3.54 ng/ml) and vanilly l alcohol (VA) in an extract from human plasma.

TABLE I

RETENTION TIMES OF SOME MONOAMINE RELATED COMPOUNDS

Compound	Retention time (min)	
L-Dopa	3.80	
3,4-Dihydroxyphenylglycol	4.65	
Dopamine	4.67	
Tyrosine	4.73	
5-Hydroxytryptophan	8.18	
L-Tryptophan	8.23	
3,4-Dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC)	8.54	
3-Methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol (MHPG)	9.24	
Serotonin	10.70	
5-Hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA)	19.65	
Homovanillic acid (HVA)	22.74	
Vanillyl alcohol (VA)	25.08	

relevant amino acids were eliminated together with many unknown interfering compounds.

The recovery rates from plasma throughout the entire procedure were around 60.88% for MHPG and 95.70% for VA (Table II). The highly sufficient reproducibility of the assay was confirmed by the coefficient of variation (C.V.) which ranged from 2.63% to 5.39% (Table II). A standard curve was run on each occasion with known amounts of MHPG added to plasma samples and extracted as described above. The linearity over the range 0.5–20 ng/ml was demonstrated by the plot of the peak height ratios of MHPG to VA (5 ng/ml) against the added amounts of MHPG. The standard curve had an r value of 0.994 and intercepted the origin (Y = 0.145X + 0.004, where Y is the peak height ratio and X is the concentration in ng).

TABLE II

PRECISION OF MHPG DETERMINATION FROM POOLED PLASMA AND RECOVERY OF ADDED MHPG AND VA

Compound	Concentration ± S.D. (ng/ml)	C.V. (%)	Amount added (ng)	Recovery ± S.D. (%) (n = 5)
MHPG				
Pool 1	$6.48 \pm 0.17 \ (n = 5)$	2.63 (within-day)	5	57.55 ± 3.38
Pool 2	$4.08 \pm 0.22 (n = 9)$	5.39 (between-day)	10	60.88 ± 3.53
Pool 3	$8.25 \pm 0.30 \ (n = 9)$	3.64 (between-day)		
VA (internal standard)			5	95.70 ± 2.41

TABLE III

DETERMINATION OF PLASMA MHPG FROM HEALTHY HUMAN SUBJECTS

MHPG concentration in plasma (ng/ml)
6.73
6.65
3.48
6.73
5.19
5.76
±1.28

The values for free MHPG concentrations in plasma from five healthy volunteers are given in Table III, which were found to be in agreement with the recently published data using HPLC-ED [21, 22] and GC-MS [5, 7].

Recently, we described a method for the simultaneous determination of 3,4dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC) and homovanillic acid (HVA), metabolites of dopamine, and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA), a metabolite of serotonin, in human plasma by HPLC-ED [23]. The simultaneous utilization of the present and previous assay methods permits the determination of four major monoamine metabolites - MHPG, DOPAC, HVA and 5-HIAA - in plasma after the parallel extraction of MHPG and the other three metabolites from approximately equal portions of an aliquot of



Fig. 3. Combined method for determination of plasma monoamine metabolites. Abbreviations: DOPAC = 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid; 5-HIAA = 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid; HVA = homovanillic acid; MHPG = 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol; IS = internal standard.

plasma sample (Fig. 3). The present and previous methods are clinically applicable by employing just $500-\mu$ l aliquots of plasma. Such a combined method may further facilitate the clinical applicability of the measurement of monoamine metabolites in plasma at various pathological states [1-4] including psychiatric disorders. By using this combined method, a clinical study is underway in our laboratory; the results will be reported elsewhere.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Miss Kaori Narita for her secretarial assistance. This study was supported in part by a grant-in-aid from the Ministry of Human Health and Welfare, Tokyo, Japan.

REFERENCES

- 1 B.E. Leonard, Neurochem. Int., 4 (1982) 339.
- 2 P. Riederer, K. Toifl and P. Kurzik, Clin. Chim. Acta, 123 (1982) 27.
- 3 R.F. Harvey, D.T. Fullerton, I.H. Carlson, M.H. Klin and T. Howell, Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil., 63 (1982) 419.
- 4 G.N. Ko, J.D. Elsworth, R.H. Roth, B.G. Rifkin, H. Leigh and E. Redmond, Arch. Gen. Psychiatry, 40 (1983) 425.
- 5 J.W. Maas, S.E. Hattox, N.M. Greene and D.H. Landis, Science, 205 (1979) 1025.
- 6 E.M. DeMet and A.E. Halaris, Biochem. Pharmacol., 28 (1979) 3043.
- 7 I.J. Kopin, F.K. Goodwin, D.C. Jimerson and R.J. Polinsky, Science, 219 (1983) 73.
- 8 J.D. Elsworth, D.E. Redmond, Jr. and R.H. Roth, Brain Res., 235 (1982) 115.
- 9 I.J. Kopin, R.J. Polinsky, J.A. Oliver, I.R. Oddershede and M.H. Ebert, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 57 (1983) 632.

- 10 B. Sjöquist, B. Lindström and E. Änggård, J. Chromatogr., 105 (1975) 309.
- 11 F.A.J. Muskiet, G.T. Nagel and B.Y. Wolthers, Anal. Biochem., 109 (1980) 130.
- 12 D.C. Jimerson, S.P. Markey, J.A. Oliver and I.J. Kopin, Biomed. Mass Spectrom., 8 (1981) 256.
- 13 R. Alonso, C.J. Gibson and J. McGill, Life Sci., 29 (1981) 1689.
- 14 G. Santagostino, P. Frattini, S. Schinelli, M.L. Cucchi and G.L. Corona, J. Chromatogr., 233 (1982) 89.
- 15 A.J. Cross and M.H. Joseph, Life Sci., 28 (1981) 499.
- 16 J.F. Towell and V.G. Erwin, J. Chromatogr., 223 (1981) 295.
- 17 A.M. Krstulovic, L. Bertani-Dziedzic, S.W. Dziedzic and S.E. Gitlow, J. Chromatogr., 223 (1981) 305.
- 18 P. Frattini, G. Santagostine, M.L. Cucchi, G.L. Corona and S. Schinelli, Clin. Chim. Acta, 125 (1982) 97.
- 19 P.J Langlais, W.J. McEntee and E.D. Bird, Clin. Chem., 26 (1980) 786.
- 20 G.M. Anderson, J.G. Young, D.J. Cohen, B.A. Shaywitz and D.K. Batter, J. Chromatogr., 222 (1981) 112.
- 21 M. Scheinin, W-H. Chang, D.C. Jimerson and M. Linnoila, Anal. Biochem., 132 (1983) 165.
- 22 H. Ong, F. Capet-Antonini, N. Yamaguchi and D. Lamontagne, J. Chromatogr., 233 (1982) 97.
- 23 A. Mineghishi and T. Ishizaki, J. Chromatogr., 308 (1984) 55.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 59–67 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2230

ANALYSIS OF DANSYL DERIVATIVES OF DI- AND POLYAMINES IN MOUSE BRAIN, HUMAN SERUM AND DUODENAL BIOPSY SPECIMENS BY HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY ON A STANDARD REVERSED-PHASE COLUMN

JOSÉ BONTEMPS*, JACQUES LASCHET and GUY DANDRIFOSSE

Laboratoire de Biochimie Générale et Comparée, Place Delcour, 17, B-4020 Liège (Belgium)

and

JEAN-LOUIS VAN CUTSEM and PIERRE-PHILIPPE FORGET

Polyclinique Pédiatrique, Boulevard de la Constitution, 66, B-4020 Liège (Belgium)

(First received March 1st, 1984; revised manuscript received June 7th, 1984)

SUMMARY

The concentrations of putrescine, spermine and spermidine were measured in human serum, children's duodenal biopsy specimens and mouse brain homogenates by highperformance liquid chromatography. The chromatographic analysis was performed on dansyl derivatives of the polyamines using a reversed-phase system with an ion-pairing retention mechanism (heptane sulphonate). Capacity factors were determined at different concentrations of acetonitrile. Simple linear gradients were set up for fast (15 min) or routine (25 min) analysis. Three fluorescence detectors were compared for these determinations and their detection limits determined. The minimum detectable amount of polyamines was 25 fmol compared to 500 fmol with standard detectors. While samples prepared from tissues did not require a high sensitivity, a detector of better performance was needed to assay the polyamines in human serum.

INTRODUCTION

Putrescine (Put), spermidine (Spd) and spermine (spm) are polyamines implicated in many processes affecting cell growth and maturation. In animals, experiments have been concentrated on the study of polyamine metabolism in rapidly growing tissues: embryonic growth of different organs, compensatory growth and experimental tumours [1]. The involvement of polyamines in the postnatal maturation of the rat small intestinal mucosa has also been demonstrated [2]. Most human studies on polyamines have attempted to relate disturbances of polyamine levels in serum, urine or cerebrospinal fluid with malignant disease, while data on tissue polyamines are scanty [1].

As our laboratory is interested in the study of polyamine metabolism in mice and in humans, we aimed, in the present paper, at developing a method for the measurements of these compounds in biological fluids (serum), and animal (mouse brain) and human (intestine) tissues. Seiler's [3] review of the assay procedures already presented high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) as a powerful method [3]. With this technique, these compounds were rapidly separated (20-50 min), and measured in amounts of 10-100 pmol. In addition, the method was shown to be suitable for full automation. The usefulness of HPLC was later apparent for the analysis of unusual polyamines [4], acetylated derivatives [5,6] and in numerous studies on polyamine biosynthesis [7].

As in the case of the amino acid analysis, HPLC approaches are multiple. Separation can be achieved with an ion-exchange column or a reversed-phase column. Post- and pre-column derivatization methods are used to produce UV-absorbing or fluorescent derivatives. Various reagents are available: ninhydrin, *o*-phthalaldehyde, fluorescamine, and dansyl, dabsyl, tosyl or benzoyl chlorides [3-10].

Among these numerous combinations, reversed-phase separation and a precolumn dansylation procedure were selected for the following reasons. The analysis can be performed with a standard liquid chromatograph without additional devices. Using dansyl chloride (Dns-Cl) the derivatization step allows concentration of the sample prior to injection. This well documented derivatization [3,7,11] seems to give the greatest sensitivity in HPLC analysis [10] by formation of di-, tri- and tetradansyl derivatives for Put, Spd and Spm, respectively. The chosen separation mode was a reversed-phase system. The performance of these stationary phases has been recently improved. They are now available in $3-\mu$ m particles for high-speed separations or packed in narrow-bore columns to operate at low flow-rates. These methods of low dispersion enable the modern analyst to increase detectability and to reduce sample volume, solvent consumption and separation time down to several minutes, i.e. minimizes the analysis cost.

The present work was derived from the recent paper of Brown et al. [10]. The regulation of retention was investigated to set up linear gradients depending upon specific requirements. The method will be illustrated by the analysis of polyamines in various biological samples: brain homogenate of young mice (10-30 days), children's duodenal biopsy tissue and human serum. As a high detector sensitivity was required for serum analysis, the sensitivity and selectivity of three fluorescence detectors were compared. In a subsequent paper the performances of three types of columns (standard, high-speed and microbore) will be determined as a second alternative for improving the detectability.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Apparatus

The HPLC equipment was mainly purchased from Altex Scientific (Berkeley, CA, U.S.A.). It was composed of two solvent metering pumps (A and B, Model 110 A) controlled by a microprocessor (Model 421), a high-pressure mixing chamber and a manual injection valve (Model 210) fitted with a 20- μ l sample loop. A 5- μ m Ultrasphere-ODS column (150 × 4.6 mm) from the same manufacturer was protected by a pre-column (42 × 3.2 mm) dry-packed with Vydac-201 RP (30-44 μ m) from Macherey, Nagel & Co. (Düren, F.R.G.) for routine analysis. The performance of this column system was found to be unchanged after one year of use at a rate of two days per week.

Different fluorescence detectors were used. Two filter fluorimeters from Gilson (Middelton, WI, U.S.A.) were compared. The Spectra-Glo model (detector A) was equipped with a 15- μ l cell and standard filters for fluorescamine. Model 121 (detector B) had a 9- μ l flow cell and similar filters: 310-410 nm and 475-650 nm for excitation and emission, respectively. Detector C was a Model LS-4 fluorescence spectrophotometer from Perkin-Elmer (Norwalk, CT, U.S.A.) with a 3- μ l flow cell. With this apparatus optimal wavelengths of 333 and 522 nm were determined by stopping the flow and scanning the excitation and emission spectra.

Electrical signals were processed by a C-R1A Chromatopac recording data calculator from Shimadzu (Kyoto, Japan) or sent to a double-pen recorder (10 mV).

Reagents and solvents

Putrescine, spermidine and spermine were from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.). Dansyl chloride and sodium 1-heptanesulphonate were from Aldrich-Europe (Beerse, Belgium). Carbonate salts, sulphosalicylic acid, acetic and perchloric acids, heptane, methanol and acetone were pro analysi chemicals from E. Merck (Darmstadt, F.R.G.). Acetonitrile-UV was an HPLC-grade solvent from Burdick & Jackson Labs. (Muskegon, MI, U.S.A.).

Procedures

Solvent A for the HPLC analysis was prepared as follows: 20 mM sodium 1-heptanesulphonate and 20 mM acetic acid solution in water delivered by a Milli-Q apparatus (Millipore, Bedford, MA, U.S.A.). This advantageously replaces the commercial ion-pairing reagent PIC-B7 from Waters Assoc. (Milford, MA, U.S.A.). Solvent B was HPLC-grade pure acetonitrile.

Standard solutions of the polyamines were prepared from 1 mM stock solutions in water and stored at -20° C. They were found to be stable for a period of several months.

Mouse brain homogenates were prepared from C57 black deermice. The heads of the decapitated animals were immediately frozen by immersion in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70° C. One hemisphere (100-140 mg) was rapidly treated by the addition of 10 vols. of 0.2 *M* cold perchloric acid and homogenized in a glass Potter. The homogenate was left for 15 min at 0°C and proteins were pelleted by centrifugation at 5000 g for 20 min. The pellet

was resuspended in the same volume of acid, homogenized and centrifuged in the same conditions. The pooled supernatants were stored overnight in an ice and water bath. A last centrifugation was performed before derivatization. Aliquots of 200 μ l of the clear supernatant were used for derivatization, i.e. 6.8–9.5% of the starting material [10].

Children's duodenal biopsy tissue (2-7 mg) was homogenized in water (1 mg wet tissue per 200 μ l) at 0°C using a glass homogenizer. Solid sulphosalicylic acid was added up to a 40 mg/ml final concentration and precipitation was allowed to proceed for 30 min at 0°C. After centrifugation at 2000 g for 15 min, aliquots of 200 μ l of the supernatant i.e. 14-50% of the original sample, were submitted to the dansylation procedure.

Human serum was deproteinized by sulphosalicylic acid and treated as described for duodenal biopsy material.

RESULTS

Control of retention and selectivity

In the ion-pairing separation of Brown et al. [10], a concave gradient was used to effect the retention using PIC-B7 in 50% acetonitrile as solvent A and pure acetonitrile as solvent B.

Before setting up a simple linear gradient, which is easily reproducible from laboratory to laboratory, we started by reconstituting the pre-mixed PIC-B7 reagent (as described in the experimental part) to study the influence of acetonitrile on retention. The results of these isocratic measurements are presented in a double-logarithmic plot in Fig. 1. This type of presentation was found to be linear, i.e. more useful than the classical plot of $\log k'$ as a function of % B. This allows linear regression parameters to be determined which facilitate inter- or extrapolations. High capacity factors are easily obtained by lowering the acetonitrile concentration, which also increases the selectivity. Such high values are required as many peaks were observed before the elution of Put (Figs. 2–4) or in a blank chromatogram (see Fig. 3 of ref. 10). At high detection sensitivity, and depending upon the sample, a large number of nonpolyamine fluorescent peaks were visible throughout the whole chromatogram (Fig. 4). Some of these could coelute with polyamines, i.e. the straight lines of Fig. 1 were crossed by those from impurity peaks, coming mainly from all the chemicals involved in the derivatization procedure. Some of these interfering peaks were eliminated by purification of the dansyl reagent as described by Seiler and Demisch [11].

Gradient set-up and peak identification

Two examples of gradient analysis are presented in Fig. 2, differing by a factor of two in time between injections. The amounts of polyamines are similar to those measured in samples from duodenal biopsies of children. Part A of this figure shows an incomplete separation of Put (peak 1) from the first eluting peaks when starting with an initial solvent composition of 70% (v/v). A partial contamination of Spd (peak 2) due to the steepness of the gradient was also observed. This run took only 12 min. A complete resolution of the peaks of polyamines from impurities was obtained by lowering both



Fig. 1. Dependence of capacity factor mobile phase composition. Sample: 20 μ l of dansylated Spm (•), Spd (\odot) or Put (•) at 10 nmol/ml. Stationary phase: 5- μ m Ultrasphere-ODS, 150 × 4.6 mm. Mobile phase: solvent A = 20 mM heptanesulphonate and 20 mM acetic acid, in water; solvent B = acetonitrile. Flow-rate: 2 ml/min. Detector B: Model 121 from Gilson with standard filters for fluorescamine. Parameters of the linear regressions: intercepts of 18.55, 14.86 and 10.90 for Spm, Spd and Put, respectively; slopes of -9.24, -7.51 and -5.66 for Spm, Spd and Put, respectively.

initial composition and gradient slope (part B). A complete analytical run was achieved in 25 min with a limited loss of sensitivity. This type of gradient was adopted for routine analysis. Retention times were found to be perfectly constant, i.e. a variation coefficient below 1%, so that peak identification by the data processor was possible.

Quantitative analysis of various biological samples

When the concentrations of the dansylated polyamines were assayed in



Fig. 2. Linear gradient separation of a diamine (putrescine) and polyamines (spermidine and spermine) on a 5- μ m Ultrasphere-ODS column using a filter fluorometer (detector B). Sample: 20 μ l of dansylated Put (peak 1, 1 nmol/ml), Spd (peak 2, 4 nmol/ml) and Spm (peak 3, 4 nmol/ml). Full and dotted lines refer to the recorded fluorescence intensities and to the programmed gradient, respectively. Part A (12-min analytical run): the solvent composition is changed after 1.5 min (70% to 100% B in 1 min) and 5 min (100% to 70% B in 0.5 min). Part B (25-min analytical run): the solvent composition is changed after 9 min (57% to 100% B in 7 min) and 20 min (100% to 37% B in 1 min). Maximum operating pressure at 2 ml/min: 18 MPa (2500 p.s.i.).

three types of biological extracts, the response was found to vary over a wide range of sensitivities depending on the amount of starting material available and the content of polyamines in the investigated sample. Samples prepared from mouse brain or human serum were found to contain amounts of polyamines differing by two orders of magnitude, as can be seen from the concentrations of the standard solutions in Table I.

TABLE I

LEVELS OF POLYAMINES IN VARIOUS BIOLOGICAL SAMPLES

The results are expressed as mean values of n measurements \pm S.D., nmol/g weight tissue or nmol/ml of serum.

Standards used for calibration (nmol/ml)	Detector type	Sample origin	Туре	Putrescine (Put)	Spermidine (Spd)	Spermine (Spm)
5-10	A	Brain from mouse aged 15 days (n = 5)	Normal (C ₅₇ black) Epileptic (DBA/2)	53.6±5.8 70.0±13.8	402 ±21 470 ±24	566 ±38 566 ±38
1—5	В	Children's duodenal biopsy tissue $(n = 7)$	Normal	52 ±33	402 ±61	1362 ± 333
0.05-0.1	с	Human serum $(n=3)$	Normal	1.1±0.3	0.06±0.01	0.05 ± 0.02



Fig. 3. Comparative response of detectors C (part A) and B (part B) for the injection of 1 pmol of putrescine (peak 1), spermidine (peak 2) and spermine (peak 3) using the 25-min gradient shown in Fig. 2B. Part A (detector C): LS-4 spectrofluorimeter from Perkin-Elmer set at 333 nm (excitation) and 522 nm (emission) using an intermediate scaling factor. Part B: (detector B): Model 121 instrument of Gilson operating at maximum sensitivity.

Mouse brain homogenates and children's intestinal biopsy tissues from normal individuals could be analysed with a low-cost filter fluorimeter. Detector B showed a detection limit of 0.6 pmol for Put and of 0.3 pmol for Spd and Spm, assuming a limiting value of 3 for the signal-to-noise ratio. Detector A was found to be four to five times less sensitive than detector B.



Fig. 4. Analysis of a serum sample using detector C. Peaks as in Fig. 2.

A major drawback of these filter detectors was the significant drift of their baseline when used at high sensitivity in the gradient elution mode. This disadvantage is shown in Fig. 3 where detectors B and C were connected in series for the analysis of a mixture of the three polyamines in equimolar amounts (1 pmol of each dansyl derivative was injected). This effect was proportional to the slope of the gradient and varied from solvent to solvent. It was probably related to changes of refractive index.

The results reported in Table I are in good agreement with those reported in the literature [12, 13].

The complete analysis of human serum could not be realized using detector A or B. For this analysis a more sensitive detector was necessary, namely, detector C, which was able to detect less than 0.025 pmol. A typical chromatogram obtained with this detector is shown in Fig. 4. For this type of trace analysis, concentration by peak compression technique would be helpful [14], particularly if a microbore column is used.

CONCLUSIONS

The concentration of polyamines as their fluorescent dansyl derivatives was easily measured by high-performance liquid chromatography in various biological samples. The regulation of retention by heptane sulphonate and acetonitrile as mobile phase components allows high capacity and selectivity factors to be attained. The much higher hydrophobicity of polyamines (spermine and spermidine) as compared to a diamine (putrescine) justified the use of a gradient elution system to shorten the analysis time. Simple linear gradient led to satisfactory results and a relatively short analysis time. The minimal detectable amount was 25 fmol compared to 500 fmol with standard detectors. This method is well suited for the analysis of polyamines in organ fragments such as those from brain or duodenal biopsies. Preliminary results showed its usefulness for studying the role of polyamines in the mechanism of epilepsy [15] and in the maturation of human intestinal mucosa. The method is presently being extended to the analysis of amines resulting from amino acid decarboxylation, by modification of the elution programme. The application of the method described in the present paper to serum analysis, however, requires a higher degree of sensitivity, which could be reached by the use of a spectrofluorimeter equipped with a small flow cell, instead of using a low-cost filter fluorimeter. Other alternatives for sensitivity enhancement will be considered in a subsequent publication.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was supported by Grant No. 1.5.612.83F from the Fonds National de la Recherche Scientifique (Belgium).

REFERENCES

- 1 J. Janne, H. Poso and A. Raina, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 473 (1978) 241.
- 2 G.O. Luk, L.J. Marton and J.B. Baylin, Science, 210 (1980) 195.
- 3 N. Seiler, Clin. Chem., 25 (1977) 1519.
- 4 L. Servillo, C. Esposito and R. Porta, Ital. J. Biochem., 27 (1978) 334.
- 5 N. Seiler and B. Knödgen, J. Chromatogr., 221 (1980) 227.
- 6 P.K. Bondy and N.Z. Canellakis, J. Chromatogr., 224 (1981) 371.
- 7 M. Tabor and C.W. Tabor, Methods Enzymol., 94 (1983).
- 8 G.G. Shaw, I.M.S. Al-Deen and P.M. Elworthy, J. Chromatogr. Sci., 18 (1980) 166.
- 9 J.-K. Lin and C.-C. Lai, J. Chromatogr., 227 (1982) 369.
- 10 N.D. Brown, M.P. Strickler and J.M. Whaum, J. Chromatogr., 245 (1982) 101.
- 11 N. Seiler and L. Demisch, in K. Blau and G. King (Editors), Handbook of Derivatives for Chromatography, Heyden, London, 1978, p. 350.
- 12 T.W. Jasper, W.G. Luttge, T.B. Benton and A.D. Garnica, Dev. Neurosci., 5 (1982) 233.
- 13 M.S. Moruzzi, M.G. Monti, G. Piccinini and G. Mezzetti, Life Sci., 31 (1982) 1639.
- 14 K. Šlais, D. Kouřilová and M. Krejčí, J. Chromatogr., 282 (1983) 363.
- 15 J. Laschet, J. Bontemps, G. Dandrifosse and T. Grisar, Arch. Int. Physiol. Biochem., 92 (1984) 41.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 69–77 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2229

RAPID ION-EXCHANGE METHOD FOR THE DETERMINATION OF 3-METHYLHISTIDINE IN RAT URINE AND SKELETAL MUSCLE

GORDANA ŽUNIĆ*

Institute of Experimental Medicine, Military Medical Academy, Belgrade (Yugoslavia)

SAVA STANIMIROVIĆ

Department of Bromatology, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Belgrade, Belgrade (Yugoslavia)

and

JOVAN SAVIĆ

Institute of Experimental Medicine, Military Medical Academy, Belgrade (Yugoslavia)

(First received March 14th, 1984; revised manuscript received May 21st, 1984)

SUMMARY

A method for the determination of 3-methylhistidine using an automatic amino acid analyser has been developed. A single column system with lithium buffer (pH 3.950, 0.500 mol/l lithium and 0.067 mol/l citrate) was used for elution. The standard amino acid mixture of basic amino acids and some dipeptides usually present in physiological fluids was analysed for the development of the method. 3-Methylhistidine eluted in 46.7 \pm 0.049 min and the peak area coefficient of variation for the same sample was 1.07%.

As 3-methylhistidine is completely resolved from the other basic amino acids and some dipeptides (anserine and carnosine), this method is suitable for the analysis of urine and muscle extracts as well as skeletal muscle protein hydrolysates where this amino acid is present in much lower concentrations than other amino acids.

INTRODUCTION

3-Methylhistidine (3-MeHis) is a constituent of skeletal muscle proteins [1]. In other tissues it is present in negligible quantities [2]. As this amino acid is formed by post-translational methylation of peptide-bound histidine [3,4], the rate of its urinary excretion has become a valuable catabolic marker of the skeletal muscle proteins and has increasingly been used for this purpose in recent time [5-8].

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

There are many methods for the estimation of 3-MeHis based on ionexchange chromatography [9-11] or high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) [12-15]. Most of them have been developed for urine determinations [9-14]. Some of them have been tested on plasma [14, 19] and muscle [15,17] samples. It seems that there are different problems if various biological samples are analysed. Some workers, using HPLC systems, have employed different ion-pairing reagents for different biological samples [15]. Pyridine elution for muscle protein hydrolysates has been recommended by some authors [16]. Determination of 3-MeHis in the skeletal muscle proteins could be a problem as this amino acid is present in much lower concentrations than the others [17]. If the free form of this amino acid has to be measured in muscle samples, anserine and carnosine could be a problem because of their similar chromatographic characteristics.

This report describes an ion-exchange chromatographic method for the determination of 3-MeHis that overcomes these problems and is suitable for both urine and skeletal muscle samples. It needs neither different analytical conditions for different biological samples nor special samples preparation or derivatization required when other methods are used [12-16]. Besides, it is faster than many methods based on ion-exchange chromatography [18-21], sufficiently sensitive for urine and muscle protein hydrolysate samples and more precise compared to the other methods [9, 12, 13].

EXPERIMENTAL

Equipment

Analyses were performed using a Model 121 M automatic amino acid analyser (Beckman, Palo Alto, CA, U.S.A.) operated according to the flow diagram presented in Fig. 1. The single-column system using the short column of the instrument packed with ion-exchange resin was employed. Reagent flows were regulated with pumps and the temperature of the chromatographic column maintained by a circulating water bath. Analyser operating conditions are summarized in Table I.

Amino acids eluted from the chromatographic column were detected with a ninhydrin reagent. The absorbance was measured at 570 nm using a flow cuvette and recorded by a two-channel recorder. The channel operating at the highest sensitivity was connected to a calculator; another channel operated at the usual sensitivity of the instrument. The calculator (Beckman, Data 126 System Calculator) was used for the determination of elution times (in minutes), peak area measurement (absorbance converted to the digital signal) as well as for the quantification of separated compounds.

All functions of the analyser were programmer-controlled. The programmer has 42 channels and performs different functions at predetermined times (pumps, transfer and injection of the samples, control buffer selector valves, control of column temperature, etc.). The instrumental analysis sequence is given in Table II and calculator run parameters in Table III.

Chemicals

All chemicals were of analytical grade (Merck). Water for preparing buffers





TABLE I

ANALYSER OPERATING CONDITIONS

Ion-exchanger	AA-10 resin (Beckman)
Column diameter	0.28 cm
Column length	13.0 cm
Resin bed height	4.5 cm
Buffer: pH	3.950 ± 0.010
Lithium	0.500 mol/l
Citrate	0.067 mol/l
Buffer flow-rate	7.5 ml/h
Ninhydrin flow-rate	3.5 ml/h
Column temperature	64°C
Photometer: wavelength	570 nm
absorbance range	0.1 a.u.
Volume of the applied sample on the column	50 µl and 100 µl

TABLE II

Step No.	Step time (min)	Operation
1	20.0	Equilibration before automatic run start; buffer and ninhydrin to
9	0.1	the column
2 0	0.1	Automatic run start
3	2.0	plate to the metering loop
4	0.1	Calculator on
5	1.0	Sample injection on the column
6	52.0	Chromatographic analysis
7	2.0	Regeneration of ion-exchange resin; lithium hydroxide to the column
8	15.0	Equilibration of the resin with the buffer
9	5.0	Calculator off, results printing
10	0.1	Programmer chart to step No. 2 for next sample analysis

INSTRUMENTAL ANALYSIS SEQUENCE

TABLE III

CALCULATOR RUN PARAMETERS

PW	(peak width)	20
SS	(slope sensitivity)	1000
\mathbf{BL}	(baseline test)	5
ML	(maximum baseline level)	50000
MA	(minimum area)	1000
FP	(number of fused peaks)	255

was ion-exchanged and sterile (Milli-Q Water Purification System, Millipore).

Lithium citrate buffer pH 3.950 ± 0.010 (23°C) with 0.500 mol/l lithium and 0.067 mol/l citrate was used. It was prepared by dissolving citric acid monohydrate and lithium hydroxide in water, and was then titrated to the desired pH value with concentrated hydrochloric acid and brought to final volume with water. The buffer was filtered before use (Millipore 0.2 μ m mesh). Octanoic acid was used as a preservative (0.1 ml per 1000 ml).

Lithium citrate buffer (0.150 mol/l lithium and 0.050 mol/l citrate) pH 2.2 was used for dilutions. The buffer was filtered (Millipore, 0.2 μ m mesh).

AA-10 resin (Beckman, PN 338013) was used. Lithium hydroxide solution (0.3 mol/l) was used for resin regeneration.

Dimethyl sulphoxide—ninhydrin reagent (Beckman, PN 336452) was used for amino acid detection. This reagent was mixed with a premeasured amount of hydrindantin according to the directions given.

The basic amino acid solution (Hamilton, Type P-B, PN 77729) contained 2.5 μ mol/ml lysine, arginine, histidine, 1-methylhistidine, 3-methylhistidine, hydroxylysine, γ -aminobutyric acid, ornithine, ethanolamine, 15.0 μ mol/ml creatinine, 2.5 μ mol/ml carnosine and 1.25 μ mol/ml anserine. This solution was diluted 25 times with a sample diluting buffer, pH 2.2 (solution A). Solutions of individual compounds were prepared from standard substances (Serva) by dissolving them in the sample diluting buffer.

Samples

Rat urine was analysed and as the rat excretes 3-MeHis mostly in the acetylated form [4], the urine was hydrolysed in hydrochloric acid (6 mol/l) at 110° C for 20 h, then evaporated and dissolved in the sample diluting buffer.

The rat muscle (m. gastrocnemius) was extracted in sulphosalicylic acid (0.16 mol/l). The deproteinized extract was brought to pH 2.2 with lithium hydroxide and to the final volume with the sample diluting buffer.

Mixed rat muscle protein hydrolysates (m. gastrocnemius) were prepared according to the method of Haverberg et al. [2].

TABLE IV

ELUTION TIMES OF 3-METHYLHISTIDINE AND SOME OTHER COMPOUNDS

Compound	Elution time (min)			
Tryptophan	23.9			
Hydroxylysine	29.5			
Ammonia	33.3			
Creatinine	33.6			
Ornithine	35.6			
Lysine	36.0			
Histidine	41.3			
1-Methylhistidine	41.6			
3-Methylhistidine	46.7			
Carnosine	56.9			
Arginine	62.5			



Fig. 2. Chromatogram of standard amino acid mixture (solution A). The mixture was injected into the column in 100 μ l of lithium citrate dilution buffer and contained 100 nmol/ml of each compound with the exception of anserine (50 nmol/ml).

Elution times of the compounds examined were determined by their separate injection and elution from the chromatographic column. These results are presented in Table IV.

To test the interaction between compounds in the mixture and to determine the precision of 3-MeHis measurement, a standard calibration mixture (solution A) was analysed. The chromatogram obtained with this mixture is shown in Fig. 2. As can be seen, lysine, 3-MeHis, arginine as well as anserine and carnosine are resolved as separate peaks.

The sensitivity of 3-MeHis determination was also tested. A calibration curve was obtained using solutions with increasing concentrations of this amino acid (from 10 to 300 nmol/ml) and it was found to be linear for concentrations ranging from 10 to 150 nmol/ml.

TABLE V

REPEATABILITY OF ELUTION TIMES AND PEAK AREAS OF SEPARATED COMPOUNDS (n = 5)

Compound	Concentration (nmol/l)	Elution time			Peak area (calculator readings)		
		Mean (min)	S.D. (min)	C.V. (%)	Mean	S.D.	C.V. (%)
3-MeHis	100	46.7	0.049	0.105	9,947,375.4	106,238.0	1.068
Arginine	100	62.5	0.049	0.078	8,668,142.0	55,302.7	0.638
Lysine	100	36.0	0.040	0.111	9,055,923.6	141,906.3	1.567
Anserine	50	52.7	0.040	0.076	137,484.5	6,709.2	4.880
Carnosine	100	56.9	0.075	0.131	615,251.0	12,489.6	2.030





Fig. 3. Chromatograms obtained with rat urine (A), muscle protein hydrolysate (B) and muscle extract (C), illustrating good resolution of 3-MeHis from the other compounds; 50 μ l of each sample were applied on the column.

The statistical analysis of the peak areas and elution times obtained for compounds completely separated from the mixture are presented in Table V. There are small variations in elution times and the calculator always identifies the peaks with good precision. The position of 3-MeHis on the chromatograms ranged from 46.7 to 46.8 min (C.V. = 0.1%) and the peak areas obtained in replicate with the same standard solution had a very low coefficient of variation (C.V. = 1.07%).

Applicability of this method for 3-MeHis estimation in physiological fluids was tested using muscle extract and protein hydrolysates as well as urine samples. Recovery of the added 3-MeHis to muscle extract was 99.4%. In the samples examined this amino acid eluted as a separate peak (see Fig. 3).

DISCUSSION

The separation of 3-MeHis from other basic amino acids was complete under the descirbed analytical conditions. Lysine and arginine as well as anserine and carnosine were resolved (Fig. 2) and could be quantitated by this method. At the same time, 1-MeHis coeluted with histidine (His). The other amino acids eluted together or before ammonia.

As 3-MeHis is separated from the basic amino acids as well as from some dipeptides (anserine and carnosine) present in muscles, this method is suitable for the determination of 3-MeHis in muscle extracts without preliminary removal of peptides (Fig. 3). In addition, since the 3-MeHis peak is sufficiently far from the His/1-MeHis peak, the method can be used with good accuracy for the determination of 3-MeHis in muscle protein hydrolysates where this amino acid is present in much lower concentrations than other amino acids (Fig. 3). It seems that with other methods [16,17] the determination of 3-MeHis in muscle protein because the time of its elution from the chromatographic column is too close to histidine. For the determination of 3-MeHis in skeletal muscle protein hydrolysates by the present method, neither special preliminary sample preparation nor pyridine elution, as recommended by some authors [16], is needed.

The method that we have developed for the determination of 3-MeHis is faster than some other methods based on ion-exchange chromatography [18-21]. It is as fast as the method recommended by Long and Geiger [10] but the elution time is achieved with ten times lower flow-rates of buffer and ninhydrin. Although some methods for 3-MeHis based on HPLC are faster [12-14], duration of analysis is rather similar since sample preparation is longer. At the same time, this present method can be used for the determination of lysine, arginine, anserine and carnosine. While this method for 3-MeHis is as sensitive as some other methods [9], its precision is much better compared to those based either on ion-exchange chromatography [9] or on HPLC [12,13]. Repeatabilities of peak location (C.V. = 0.1%) and peak areas (C.V. = 1.07%) permit a precise determination of 3-MeHis concentrations.

We examined the influence of some working parameters on the 3-MeHis elution rate from the column and on its resolution from other compounds. It is very sensitive to column temperature changes. A temperature decrease produced a slower elution of this amino acid and of the other amino acids from the column. At the same time, lowering of the temperature resulted in an increased distance between anserine and carnosine. At 33°C these peptides eluted very slowly producing wide peaks. At the same temperature 3-MeHis

eluted in 72.7 min, at 41°C in 64.7 min, while at 67°C it eluted in 43.7 min. However, with the temperature higher than 64°C, the peaks were too close and their determination was less precise.

The buffer composition affected the 3-MeHis elution time and its resolution from other amino acids. While the pH of the buffer was unchanged (pH 3.95), change in ionic concentration (1 mol/l lithium and 0.166 mol/l citrate) produced a faster 3-MeHis elution from the column. However, this buffer did not resolve anserine, carnosine and arginine, which eluted together, while the 3-MeHis and His/1-MeHis peaks were too close. A buffer flow faster than recommended produced similar changes in the distance between the 3-MeHis and His/1-MeHis peaks. Therefore, the conditions presented at the beginning of this paper were chosen as optimal.

REFERENCES

- 1 A.M. Asatoor and M.G. Armstrong, Biochim. Biophys. Res. Commun., 26 (1967) 168.
- 2 L.H. Haverberg, P.T. Omstedt, H.N. Munro and V.R. Young, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 405 (1975) 67.
- 3 H.N. Munro and V.R. Young, Amer. J. Clin. Nutr., 31 (1978) 1608.
- 4 V.R. Young, S.D. Alexis, B.S. Baliga and H.N. Munro, J. Biol. Chem., 247 (1972) 3592.
- 5 V.R. Young, L.N. Haverberg, C. Bilmazes and H.N. Munro, Metabolism, 22(1973)1429.
- 6 C.L. Long, L.N. Haverberg, V.R. Young, J.M. Kinney, H.N. Munro and J.W. Geiger, Metabolism, 24 (1975) 929.
- 7 G. Žunić, J. Savić and D. Pantelić, Adv. Physiol. Sci., 26 (1981) 285.
- 8 K.N. Frayn, R.A. Little and C.J. Threlfall, Brit. J. Exp. Pathol., 61 (1980) 474.
- 9 M. Neuhäuser and P. Fürst, Anal. Biochem., 92 (1979) 294.
- 10 C.L. Long and J.W. Geiger, Biochem. Med., 12 (1975) 267.
- 11 R.C. Feldhoff, D.J. Ledden, M.C. Steffen, X.J. Musacchia and J.M. Steffen, Fed. Proc., Fed. Amer. Soc. Exp. Biol., 42 (1983) 2216.
- 12 L.C. Ward, M. Miller and S. Hawgood, J. Chromatogr., 223 (1981) 417.
- 13 Z. Friedman, H.W. Smith and W.S. Hancock, J. Chromatogr., 182 (1980) 414.
- 14 S.J. Wassner, J.L. Schlitzer and J.B. Li, Anal. Biochem., 104 (1980) 284.
- 15 W.S. Hancock, D.R.K. Harding and Z. Friedman, J. Chromatogr., 228 (1982) 273.
- 16 L.N. Haverberg, H.N. Munro and V.R. Young, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 371 (1974) 226.
- 17 M. Elia, A. Carter and R. Smith, Brit. J. Nutr., 42 (1979) 567.
- 18 D.T. DiFerrante, N.J. Wilson and C.S. Leach, J. Chromatogr., 187 (1980) 271.
- 19 P. Vràtnỳ and J. Zbrožek, J. Chromatogr., 76 (1973) 482.
- 20 H. Lukaski and J. Mendez, Metabolism, 29 (1980) 758.
- 21 E. Gross, I.B. Holbrook and M.H. Irving, Brit. J. Surg., 65 (1978) 663.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 79–92 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2241

RESOLUTION AND QUANTITATION OF APOLIPOPROTEINS A-I AND A-II FROM HUMAN HIGH-DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN BY SIZE EXCLUSION HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

PATRICIA M. YOUNG*,* and TIMOTHY M. BOEHM

Department of Clinical Investigation, Walter Reed Army Medical Center, Washington, DC 20307 (U.S.A.)

and

J. EDWARD BROWN

Department of Biological Chemistry, Walter Reed Army Institute of Research, Washington, DC 20307 (U.S.A.)

(First received March 12th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 22nd, 1984)

SUMMARY

Apolipoproteins A-I and A-II, extracted from human high-density lipoprotein (HDL), were resolved and quantified by size exclusion high-performance liquid chromatography on TSK 125 and TSK 250 analytical columns connected in series without the use of chemical denaturants or detergents in the eluent buffer. The columns were pre-equilibrated with a solution containing 0.1 M sodium phosphate, pH 7.2, 0.2 M sodium chloride at a flow-rate of 1 ml/min. Delipidated HDL (1 mg protein per ml) was resolved into two populations of apolipoprotein (apo) A-I: one representing the apo A-I monomer and the other, a self-associated form with a molecular weight of approximately 120,000 daltons. The column eluates were screened for immunoreactivity to apo A peptides, and the identity of each peak was confirmed by sodium dodecyl sulfate—polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis followed by immunoblot analysis. Apo A-I peptides isolated by high-performance liquid chromatography disrupted unilamellar phospholipid vesicles to form smaller phospholipid particles that eluted on gel filtration columns within the size range of HDL. Thus, a rapid method for the isolation and quantitation of non-denatured apolipoproteins from HDL has been developed using size exclusion high-performance liquid chromatography.

^{*}Present address: Altitude Research Division, U.S. Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine, Natick, MA 01760-5007, U.S.A.

INTRODUCTION

The levels of plasma high-density lipoprotein (HDL) have been correlated inversely with mortality from cardiovascular disease [1, 2], and increased amounts of cholesterol in HDL appeared to protect against development of atherosclerosis [3]. Recent studies indicated that the levels of apolipoprotein (apo)A-I, the major protein component of HDL, may be a better metabolic marker for coronary artery disease than cholesterol levels [4], and for that reason efforts were directed toward the development of a rapid, reliable assay for apolipoprotein A levels.

Size exclusion high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) provides a high-recovery system for the detection, isolation and quantitation of proteins and other macromolecules. The size exclusion columns are capable of separating apolipoprotein molecules utilizing denaturants such as urea or guanidinium chloride [5, 6]. However, we have demonstrated that delipidated human HDL (apo-HDL) can be resolved by size exclusion HPLC without the use of these chemicals, thus providing a rapid method for quantification and recovery of native apolipoproteins from human HDL.

EXPERIMENTAL

Materials

Size exclusion protein standards, Biogel A-15 M, and protein assay kit II were obtained from Bio-Rad Labs. (Richmond, CA, U.S.A.). Human apolipoproteins A-I, A-II and C-III, and antisera to apolipoprotein A were obtained from Calbiochem-Behring (San Diego, CA, U.S.A.). Sodium phosphate, sodium chloride, and HPLC-grade water were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Fairlawn, NJ, U.S.A.). Electrophoretic reagents and protein standards were supplied by Bethesda Research Labs. (Bethesda, MD, U.S.A.). Phosphatidylcholine (egg), sphingomyelin, cholesterol, cholesteryl oleate, oleic acid, triolein, and bovine serum albumin were obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.). [³H] Methyl choline dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine and [¹²⁵I] protein A were obtained from New England Nuclear (Boston, MA, U.S.A.).

Preparation of apo-HDL

Plasma was obtained from normolipidemic, fasting donors, and HDL was isolated by the sequential floatation method of Lindgren et al. [7]. In order to isolate very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) and low density lipoprotein (LDL), the plasma was adjusted to a density (d) of 1.063 g/ml by addition of a solution containing 0.96 M sodium chloride, 7.572 M sodium bromide, 1 mM EDTA (d = 1.48 g/ml) and centrifuged at 190,000 g for 24 h at 12°C using a Sorvall (DuPont, Wilmington, DE, U.S.A.) 65.13 rotor in a Sorvall OTB-75B ultracentrifuge. The VLDL and LDL were removed by aspiration, and the infranatant was adjusted to d = 1.21 g/ml using the same salt solution (d = 1.48g/ml) and centrifuged for 36 h under the same conditions. The HDL fraction was recovered and dialyzed against nitrogen-saturated HPLC-grade water adjusted to 1.0 M sodium chloride. HDL was delipidated by diethyl ether and ethanol extractions according to the method of Shore and Shore [8]. Protein content was determined with the Bio-Rad protein assay kit using bovine serum albumin as a standard. The protein concentration of the final apo-HDL preparations ranged from 1.0 to 1.5 mg/ml and recoveries of protein averaged 85%. Each HDL and apo-HDL preparation was extracted by the method of Folch et al. [9], and thin-layer chromatography of these extracts was performed on silica gel G 20×20 cm plates (Fisher Scientific). The absence of phospholipid in the apo-HDL preparations was confirmed by separation using a solvent mixture of chloroform—methanol—water (65:25:4, v/v/v) [10] as the developing solvent, and the absence of neutral lipid was determined using a solvent system of hexane—diethyl ether—acetic acid (70:30:1, v/v/v) [11]. Phospholipid and neutral lipid in HDL and standards were quantified by a modification [12] of the densitometric procedure of Katz et al. [13]. Each apo-HDL preparation was stored in liquid nitrogen until chromatographed.

Chromatographic system

The HPLC system consisted of one 6000A pump, a 720 system controller, a U6K injector all from Waters Assoc. (Milford, MA, U.S.A.). Column eluate was monitored for ultraviolet absorbance using a Waters 440 detector (280 nm), and relative areas of each peak were determined using a Waters 730 data module. Two size exclusion columns, a TSK 125 connected in series to a TSK 250 (Bio-Rad Labs.) were equilibrated with the eluent buffer consisting of 0.1 M sodium phosphate, pH 7.2, 0.2 M sodium chloride at a flow-rate of 1 ml/min. The columns were calibrated with molecular weight standards (Bio-Rad Labs.), and no significant variation was observed between column and protein standard lots.

Hybridot screening of column eluates

A 150- μ g sample of human apo-HDL was resolved by size exclusion HPLC and collected into 0.3-ml fractions. A 100- μ l aliquot of each fraction corresponding to the appropriate peaks was applied to nitrocellulose using a hybridot apparatus (Bethesda Research Labs.). The nitrocellulose sheet was suctioned to dryness and processed with a 1:50 dilution of antisera against apo A peptides (Calbiochem-Behring) according to the method of Burnette [14]. Also, bovine serum albumin, standard apo A-I and A-II injections were chromatographed and collected as described for hybridot analysis.

Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

Fractions collected from HPLC resolution of human apo-HDL were dialyzed against 0.1 M sodium phosphate, pH 7.4, containing 1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) in a microdialysis unit from Bethesda Research Labs. and subjected to SDS—polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) on 15% gels using the method of Laemmli [15]. Paired PAGE gels were run using the Bio-Rad Labs. Protean double-slab electrophoresis cell with identical sample volumes applied to corresponding lanes of each gel. Proteins on one gel were visualized by silver staining [16], and the proteins on the other gel were transferred to nitrocellulose and analyzed by the immunoblot procedure of Burnette [14] using a 1:50 dilution of antisera against apo A peptides.

Incubation of vesicles with apo-HDL fractions

Unilamellar phospholipid vesicles were prepared and radiolabeled with tritiated lecithin as previously described [17]. Appropriate fractions from size exclusion HPLC of apo-HDL (167 μ g protein per ml) were incubated with egg yolk phosphatidylcholine vesicles (445 μ g lecithin per ml) in a total volume of 0.6 ml (2.6 \times 30 cm) and chromatographed as described previously [17]. The Biogel A-15M column was calibrated using human HDL, bovine serum albumin and unilamellar vesicles. When incubation mixtures were applied to the Biogel A-15M columns, eluted fractions were analyzed for radioactivity using Aquasol (New England Nuclear) as the scintillation cocktail, counting efficiencies for tritium were approximately 50% and data were expressed as dpm tritium per ml eluted fraction.

RESULTS

Calibration of TSK 125 and TSK 250 size exclusion HPLC columns

When a mixture of molecular weight standards was separated by size exclusion HPLC with serial TSK 125 and TSK 250 columns, a linear relationship was obtained between log molecular weight and retention time (Fig. 1). Thyroglobulin (MW = 670,000), eluting at the void volume of these columns with a retention time of 10.50 min, was excluded from this plot. Therefore, these columns provided an estimate of protein molecular weight from the retention



Fig. 1. Plot of log molecular weight versus retention time. A mixture of thyroglobulin, γ -globulin, ovalbumin, myoglobin, and cyanocobalamin was resolved on TSK 125 and 250 size exclusion HPLC columns as described. Thyroglobulin (MW = 670,000) eluted at the void volume of the columns with a retention time of 10.50 min (data not shown). The retention time of each protein was plotted against log molecular weight.

Fig. 2. Plot of apo A-I and apo A-II standard amounts versus area units. Varying amounts of apo A-I (•) and apo A-II (•) were resolved by size exclusion HPLC as previously described. The area of each peak was determined and each peak area was plotted against the amount of protein (μ g). Each data point represents the average of at least three separate injections of each apoprotein in a concentration of 0.5 μ g/ μ l eluent buffer. The coefficient of linearity for apo A-I was 0.999, and for apo A-II 0.994.

time values. Varying amounts of apo A-I and apo A-II (Calbiochem-Behring) were chromatographed, and a linear correlation between amount (μ g) protein and the area of the resultant peak was shown (Fig. 2). Peak retention times and peak areas of standard apo A-I and apo A-II chromatograms were measured to ascertain levels of apo A-I and apo A-II present. A standard curve was regenerated prior to each analysis and less than 5% variation was observed.

Chromatography of the apo A-I standard (50 μ g) in a concentration of 18 μ M resulted in an elution profile shown in Fig. 3. Fractions were collected and analyzed for protein content, and approximately 46.4 μ g were detected, representing a recovery of 93%. Similar results were obtained for the apo A-II standard and human apo-HDL isolates (data not shown). Therefore, this methodology provided a high-recovery system for the resolution and quantitation of apo A-II and apo-A-II on the basis of a molecular weight separation by HPLC.



Fig. 3. Elution profile of apo A-I on TSK 250 and TSK 125 columns. Apo A-I, 50 μ g in a concentration of 0.5 μ g/ μ l, was resolved by HPLC as described, and column eluates were monitored for protein content at 280 nm (-). Fractions of 0.3 ml volume were collected and analyzed for protein content using the Bio-Rad microassay (\circ - - \circ).

Chromatography of apo-HDL on TSK-125 and TSK-250 HPLC columns

Size exclusion HPLC of human apo-HDL resulted in an elution profile as depicted in Fig. 4B. Human apo-HDL was resolved into three major peaks with retention times of 13.50 min, 15.62 min, and 17.09 min. When a mixture of commercially available apo A-I, A-II, and C-III peptides was resolved by size exclusion HPLC apo A-I eluted at 15.50 min, apo A-II at 17.16 min, and apo C-III at 18.91 min (Fig. 4A). The major difference between these elution profiles was the appearance in the human apo-HDL profile of a major peak with retention time 13.50 min. This peak at 13.50 min represented a protein or



Fig. 4. Size exclusion HPLC of apolipoproteins. (A) A mixture of apo A-I (15 μ g), apo A-II (3 μ g), and apo C-III (3 μ g), each obtained from Calbiochem-Behring, was resolved by size exclusion HPLC under previously described conditions. Retention times for each apolipoprotein were determined by separate injection of each protein (data not shown). Apo A-I, apo A-II, and apo C-III eluted with retention times of 15.50 min, 17.16 min, and 18.91 min, respectively. (B) An aliquot of 25 μ l human apo-HDL (1 μ g/ μ l protein) was chromatographed under the same conditions. Three peaks were resolved: peak I, retention time 13.50 min; peak 2, retention time 15.62 min, corresponding to 4.5 μ g apo A-I; and peak 3, retention time 17.09, representing 3.8 μ g apo A-II. (C) Prior to resolution by HPLC, 30 μ l of the apo-HDL preparation was adjusted to 0.1% SDS at 25°C. The aliquot was chromatographed immediately after mixing on size exclusion HPLC columns, and two protein peaks were observed. The peak eluting at 15.33 min corresponded to 24.65 μ g apo A-I and the second peak, with retention time 17.15 min to 3.5 μ gapo A-II. All protein amounts were determined by comparing integrated areas of each peak to the areas obtained from standard apolipoprotein injections of known concentrations.

protein complex eluting from the TSK 250 and 125 columns with an apparent molecular weight, MW = 120,000. Adjustment of the eluent buffer from 0.2 M to 2.0 M sodium chloride had no disruptive effect on the peak at 13.50 min. When the respective peaks were collected and injected again, each peak chromatographed with the same retention time, although the peaks were broader and some material (< 20%) eluted at the void volume (data not shown). When apo-HDL was adjusted to 0.1% SDS (w/v) the peak at 13.50 min was abolished and an increase in the 15.33 min peak was observed (Fig. 4C). Also in Fig. 4C, the resolution of apo A-II was obscured somewhat by the descending shoulder of the monomeric A-I peak.

Hybridot analysis of eluates from size exclusion HPLC of apo-HDL

In order to determine the composition of the peaks obtained from size exclusion HPLC of the human apo-HDL isolate, column eluate fractions were analyzed immunologically for the presence of apo-A peptides. Fractions were collected and subjected to hybridot analysis against antisera to apo A peptides (Fig. 5). All three protein peaks resolved by HPLC of apo-HDL displayed immunoreactivity to antisera against apo A peptides. Separate elutions of standard apo A-I, apo A-II, and bovine serum albumin were screened with apo A antisera under described conditions. Apo A-I and apo A-II standards isolated directly from HPLC displayed reactivity (Fig. 5), but bovine serum albumin did not (data not shown).



Fig. 5. Autoradiographic screening of HPLC column eluates for reactivity to antisera against apo A peptides. Apo-HDL, apo A-I and apo A-II were chromatographed separately and collected as described. For the human apo-HDL isolate: fractions 48-52 represent peak 1 (t_R 13.50 min); fractions 53-58, peak 2 (t_R 15.62 min); and fractions 59-68, peak 3 (t_R 17.09 min). The apo A-I standard displayed immunoreactivity in fractions 54-58 and the apo A-II standard reacted with antisera in fractions 58-64.

SDS-PAGE

In order to establish the identities of the peaks obtained from HPLC resolution of apo-HDL. fractions corresponding to the appropriate peaks were analyzed by SDS—PAGE (Fig. 6). The total apo-HDL isolate was subjected to SDS—PAGE in lane 5 and appeared as two major bands corresponding in mobility to apo A-I and apo A-II. When fractions collected from HPLC resolution of human apo-HDL were analyzed by SDS—PAGE, both the first peak, $t_R = 13.50$ min (lane 2), and the second peak, $t_R = 15.62$ min (lane 3) contained predominately a protein with approximate MW of 24,000. This protein comigrated with apo A-I standard, applied either directly (lane 6) or after HPLC (lane 9). The third peak $t_R = 17.09$ min, was resolved into two components with MW = 24,000 and 17,500 (lane 4). Although contaminated with apo A-I, this fraction was enriched in apo A-II as shown by co-migration with the apo A-II standard (lane 7).

In order to confirm the identities of the protein bands resolved by SDS—PAGE analysis, parallel slab gel was subjected to immunoblot analysis (Fig. 7). Each apolipoprotein demonstrated immunoreactivity to anti-apo A antisera. Total apo-HDL contained three cross-reacting proteins (lane 5). The



Fig. 6. SDS—PAGE of apolipoprotein standards and apo-HDL before and after resolution by HPLC. Ten injections each of 35 μ g apo-HDL were chromatographed, collected, and prepared for electrophoresis as previously described. Lanes 1 and 8 contained as protein molecular weight standards ovalbumin, α -chymotrypsinogen, β -lactoglobulin, lysozyme/cytochrome c. Lanes 2, 3, and 4 contained human apo-HDL isolates from HPLC representing the peaks eluting with retention times of 13.50, 15.62, and 17.09 min, respectively. Lane 5 contained apo-HDL prior to resolution by HPLC. Lanes 6 and 7 contained commercial apo A-I and apo A-II standards prior to injection, respectively, and lanes 9 and 10 contained apo A-I and apo A-II after resolution by HPLC, proteins were visualized by silver staining.



Fig. 7. Immunoblot detection of apolipoproteins resolved by SDS—PAGE. Apolipoproteins were prepared and subjected to SDS—PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose as previously described. Lanes 10 and 9 represented aliquots of apo A-II and apo A-I isolated from HPLC, lanes 7 and 6 represented apo A-II and apo A-I prior to resolution by HPLC. Lane 5 contained apo-HDL prior to resolution by HPLC. Lanes 2, 3, and 4 correspond to apo-HDL peaks eluting with retention times of 13.50, 15.62, and 17.09 min, respectively.

predominant protein band comigrated with apo A-I standards (lane 6 or 9). Two faster migrating bands in the total apo HDL lane were detected faintly with the antiserum. One of these bands comigrated with the dye front and may represent apo C peptides. The other band, slightly above the dye front, migrated with the apo A-II standards (lane 7 or 10). Lanes 2, 3, and 4 corresponded to peak 1 (13.50 min), peak 2 (15.62 min) and peak 3 (17.09 min), respectively, after fractionation of human apo HDL by HPLC. The peaks at 13.50 min (lane 2) and at 15.62 min (lane 3) contained largely apo A-I. The peak at 17.09 min (lane 4) was identified as apo A-II. The commercial antisera (Calbiochem-Behring) appeared to react predominantly with apo A-I and much less with apo A-II. The relative lack of radioactivity bound at the apo A-II position in the peak 3 fraction (lane 4) indicated much better resolution of apo A-II from apo A-I than indicated by silver-stained gel (Fig. 6, lane 4). Since silver staining occurs predominantly on the gel surface, the apo A-I protein content detected by silver staining may be over-estimated from possible

To determine if apo A-I recovered from HPLC of human apo-HDL retained biological activity, the ability of the apolipoprotein to disrupt unilamellar phospholipid vesicles and form HDL-like phospholipid particles was examined. Apo-HDL was resolved by HPLC and fractions corresponding to both apo A-I peaks were collected and pooled. In other HPLC elutions, the associated form of apo A-I was collected separately from the monomeric apo A-I. Bovine serum albumin was chromatographed also. In separate experiments, monomeric apo A-I, self-associated apo A-I or bovine serum albumin was incubated (167 μ g protein/ml) with radiolabeled egg yolk phosphatidylcholine (PC) vesicles (445 μ g/ml PC) as described in Experimental. After incubation, aliquots of each mixture were chromatographed on a Biogel A-15 M gel filtration column. Unilamellar vesicles prior to incubation eluted from Biogel A-15M as a symmetrical peak at 104 ml (Fig. 8). When the monomeric apo A-I population isolated from HPLC was incubated with the vesicles, and incubation mixtures were resolved on Biogel A-15M, two peaks of PC radioactivity were detected. One represented unilamellar vesicles (104 ml) and another represented a smaller phospholipid particle eluting within the size range of HDL (Fig. 8). As shown in Table I, incubation of unilamellar vesicles with the apo A-I monomer resulted in the transfer of approximately 58% of the PC from the vesicle to this smaller particle. Similar results were obtained with the self-associated form of apo A-I when incubated under the same conditions (Table I). In addition, vesicle disruption occurred following incubation with a mixture of both apo A-I peaks and with the total apo-HDL preparation prior to resolution by HPLC



Fig. 8. Effect of apo-A-I isolated by HPLC on unilamellar vesicles. [³H]labeled egg PC vesicles (265 μ g) were incubated in a total volume of 600 μ l for 18 h at 37°C in the absence (\circ - \circ - \circ) and presence (\bullet - \bullet) of the apo A-I monomer (100 μ g) isolated by HPLC. Aliquots of 550 μ l were resolved on a Biogel A-15M gel filtration column (2.6 \times 30 cm) and eluted fractions were analyzed for radioactivity. Recovery of radioactivity averaged 90%. The void volume of the column occurred at 56 ml, and the internal volume was found at 164 ml. The arrow indicated the elution volume of HDL.
TABLE I

EFFECT OF DIFFERENT PROTEIN FRACTIONS UPON THE DISRUPTION OF PHOSPHOLIPID VESICLES

All incubations included tritium-labeled vesicles $(445 \ \mu g/ml \ egg \ yolk \ PC)$ and were conducted for 18 h at 37°C. Aliquots were applied to a Biogel A-15M column for estimation of lecithin disruption. The values shown are the average of at least three separate experiments.

Substance added to vesicles	Percentage labeled phospolipid disrupted	
No addition	1	_
Bovine serum albumin [*] (167 μ g/ml)	1	
Apo-HDL ^{**} (167 μ g/ml)	65	
Apo A-I monomer [*] (167 μ g/ml)	58	
Apo A-I aggregate* (167 μ g/ml)	46	
Apo A-I monomer [*] (84 μ g/ml) +		
apo A-I aggregate* (84 μ g/ml)	49	
Apo A-I*** (167 μ g/ml)	60	

*After resolution by HPLC.

**Not resolved by HPLC.

***Calbiochem-Behring, prior to HPLC.

(Table I). No vesicle disruption was detected when bovine serum albumin was incubated with the unilamellar vesicles. Thus, both monomeric and associated apo A-I isolated from size exclusion HPLC can disrupt unilamellar vesicles to form smaller phospholipid particles eluting in the size range of human HDL.

DISCUSSION

A non-denaturing size exclusion HPLC method has been developed for the isolation and quantitation of apo A-I and apo A-II from human HDL. By utilizing the TSK 250 and TSK 125 analytical columns in series, it was possible to obtain reliable estimates of apolipoprotein molecular weight. Also, a linear response was obtained for the amount of apo A-I and apo A-II resolved, thus providing a high-recovery means for determining apolipoprotein concentrations. Human apo-HDL was resolved into three separate peaks in the absence of denaturants. These peaks were identified as a self-associated form of apo A-I, monomeric apo A-I, and apo A-II. Furthermore, apo C peptides were resolved from apo A-I and apo A-II peaks, when a mixture of these proteins was applied to the column. Apo C peptides were not readily detected in apo HDL fractionations because of their relatively low concentrations in apo HDL preparations.

Our data suggested that native apo A-I separated from apo-HDL existed in both polymeric and monomeric forms. The polymeric form observed in the first HPLC peak ($t_R = 13.50$ min) appears to be a tetrameric complex of apo A-I. Vitello and Scanu [18] have observed the association of human apo A-I into dimers, tetramers, and octomers by resolution on Sephadex G-75 using a non-denaturing buffer. Within the concentration range of $5 \cdot 10^{-7} M$ and $5 \cdot 10^{-4} M$, bovine apo A-I molecules displayed both tetrameric and

monomeric forms [19]. In our initial solutions of human apo-HDL, apo A-I was present at approximately $2 \cdot 10^{-5}$ M and would be within this concentration range. It is of interest to note that apo A-II also has been reported to selfassociate in aqueous solution in a concentration dependent manner [20]. In our HPLC system, we observed no apo A-II association, perhaps because the apo A-II levels were too low. The apo A-I standard from Calbiochem-Behring did not form tetramers as readily as the apo A-I molecules isolated from human donors in this laboratory. It is possible that the commercial apo A-I may have been altered by the electrophoretic conditions used for purification such that it no longer readily self-associated within the concentration ranges described by Jonas [19]. Other investigators have resolved apolipoproteins from apo-HDL utilizing conventional gel filtration columns equilibrated with 6-8 M urea [19, 21, 22]. Also, apolipoproteins from HDL have been isolated by preparative size-exclusion HPLC using buffered 6 M urea or 6 Mguanidinium chloride in the column eluates [5, 6]. On Sephadex G-150 bovine apo-HDL was resolved into three major peaks [19]. The peak with the highest molecular weight had an estimated molecular weight of 80,000 daltons; the second was 27,000 daltons, and the third approximately 17,000 daltons. Jonas [19] proposed that the first peak represented a tetrameric form of apo A-I and our results appear to confirm this observation with human apo A-I. We have not utilized urea, guanidinium chloride, or other agents known to solubilize apolipoproteins. In our hands, apo-HDL has remained in solution when dialyzed against either 1.0 M sodium chloride for ether extractions or 0.2M sodium chloride for ethanol-diethyl ether extractions. The preparation was guickly frozen in liquid nitrogen at a concentration of 1-1.5 mg/ml protein and defrosted within 5 min of its removal from liquid nitrogen. This storage did not alter elution profiles or protein content, and apo-HDL solutions have been stored for as long as six months. Another factor that may have contributed to the successful fractionation without denaturants may have been the rapid resolution of apo-HDL components accomplished by size exclusion HPLC. Within 20 min these components were resolved with minimal dilution of the sample. Since gel filtration columns can take as long as 8 h to elute, it is possible that more column-apolipoprotein interactions may develop necessitating the use of chemical denaturants.

The monomeric and polymeric forms of apo A-I after resolution by HPLC retained the ability to disrupt unilamellar phospholipid vesicles. When spherical HDL was mixed with phospholipid dispersions or vesicles, apo A-I disassociated from HDL to disrupt vesicle bilayers and form discs [23]. It has been proposed that disc-like precursor HDL molecules, composed largely of phospholipid and apo A-I, give rise to mature HDL molecules through the action of lecithin cholesterol acyl transferase [24, 25]. Thus the insertion of apolipoprotein molecules into lipid bilayers is a critical event for the assembly of plasma lipoproteins, and regardless of the origin of HDL molecules, apo A-I is involved in interactions with phospholipids at various stages in HDL metabolism [26]. In aqueous solution apo A-I molecule in the absence of phospholipid. Apo A-I molecules are most stable when associated with a phopsholipid bilayer to form a discoidal particle, followed by association with spherical HDL, and are least

stable in aqueous solution without lipid [23]. In our experiments, both monomeric and polymeric A-I molecules when incubated with phospholipid associated with phospholipid bilayers leading to disruption of vesicles to form smaller HDL discs. Jonas [19] proposed that the bovine tetrameric A-I aggregate may bind preferentially to protein rather than phospholipid based on the more non-polar components of bovine HDL as compared to human HDL composition. Since bovine apo A-I interacts with a larger amount of apolar lipid, it may develop stronger interprotein bonding than human apo A-I [19]. Therefore, our data suggest that both apo A-I fractions isolated here retained biological activity.

Using this method, native apolipoproteins can be isolated directly from HPLC columns and utilized for metabolic studies concerning apolipoprotein interaction with phospholipids and other models of in vivo phenomenon. Furthermore, this system provided a reliable means to determine apo A-I and apo A-II levels in human HDL and can be utilized in clinical studies to determine metabolic markers for coronary artery disease in humans.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Excellent technical assistance was provided by U. Vega-Morales, A. Walters, and K.E. Kraus. We thank E. Ervin and R. Saleson for typing the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- 1 D.P. Barr, E.M. Russ and H.A. Eder, Amer. J. Med., 11 (1951) 480.
- 2 G.J. Miller and N.E. Miller, Lancet, i (1975) 16.
- 3 G.G. Rhoads, C.L. Gulbrandsen and A. Kagan, N. Engl. J. Med., 294 (1976) 293.
- 4 J.J. Maciejko, D.R. Holmes, B.A. Kohke, A.R. Zinsmeister, D.M. Dinh and S.J.T. Mao, N. Engl. J. Med., 309 (1983) 385.
- 5 T.C. Wehr, R.L. Cunico, G.S. Ott and V.G. Shore, Anal. Biochem., 125 (1982) 386.
- 6 D. Pfaffinger, C. Edelstein and A.M. Scanu, J. Lipid Res., 24 (1983) 796.
- 7 F.T. Lindgren, L.C. Jensen and F.T. Hatch, in G. Nelson (Editor), Blood, Lipids and Lipoproteins: Quantitation, Composition, and Metabolism, Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1972, p. 184.
- 8 V. Shore and B. Shore, Biochemistry, 7 (1968) 3396.
- 9 J. Folch, M. Lees and G.H. Sloane-Stanley, J. Biol. Chem., 226 (1957) 497.
- 10 G. Rouser, G. Kitchevsky and A. Yamamoto, Lipid Chromatographic Analysis, Vol. 1, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1967, p. 99.
- 11 H.K. Mangold, in E. Stahl (Editor), Thin-Layer Chromatography, Springer, New York, 1969, p. 363.
- 12 C.T. Chan, P. Brecher, C. Haudenschild and A.V. Chobanian, Microvas. Res., 18 (1979) 353.
- 13 S.S. Katz, G.G. Shipley and D.M. Small, J. Clin. Invest., 58 (1976) 200.
- 14 W.N. Burnette, Anal. Biochem., 112 (1981) 195.
- 15 U.K. Laemmli, Nature, 227 (1970) 680.
- 16 J.H. Morrissey, Anal. Biochem., 117 (1981) 307.
- 17 P.M. Young and P.I. Brecher, J. Lipid Res., 22 (1981) 944.
- 18 L.B. Vitello and A.M. Scanu, J. Biol. Chem., 251 (1976) 1131.
- 19 A. Jonas, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 393 (1975) 471.
- 20 J. Gwynne, G. Palumbo, J.C. Osborne, H.B. Brewer and H. Edelhoch, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 1710 (1975) 204.
- 21 A. Scanu, J. Toth, C. Edelstein, S. Koga and E. Stiller, Biochemistry, 8 (1969) 3309.

- 22 A. Jonas, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 393 (1975) 460.
- 23 A.R. Tall, D.M. Small, G.G. Shipley and R.S. Lees, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 72 (1975) 4940.
- 24 T.M. Forte, A.V. Nichols, E.L. Gong, S. Lux and R.I. Levy, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 248 (1971) 381.
- 25 A.R. Tall and D.M. Small, N. Engl. J. Med., 299 (1978) 1232.
- 26 J.A.F. Op den Kamp, M. Xauerz and L.L.M. Van Deenan, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 406 (1975) 169.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 93–99 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2235

DETECTION OF CHANGES IN RABBIT SERUM PROTEINS AFTER PARTIAL HEPATECTOMY BY MEANS OF TWO-DIMENSIONAL ELECTROPHORESIS UNDER NON-DENATURING CONDITIONS

TSUYOKI KADOFUKU* and TSUNEO SATO

Chemical Laboratory, School of Medicine, Showa University, 1-5-8 Hatanodai, Shinagawa-ku, Tokyo 142 (Japan)

(Received March 16th, 1984)

SUMMARY

The changes in rabbit serum proteins after partial hepatectomy were examined by means of two-dimensional electrophoresis utilizing isoelectric focusing in a 4% polyacrylamide gel in the first dimension and a 4–30% pore gradient polyacrylamide gel in the second dimension. A rapid increase in seven proteins was observed after partial hepatectomy and a rapid decrease in two proteins. Major serum proteins, including albumin, immunoglobulin G, immunoglobulin M and α_2 -macroglobulin, did not change.

The time course of the changes was examined using a densitometer; the maxima of the changes were observed on day 3 after partial hepatectomy.

INTRODUCTION

Since the first report of Higgins and Anderson [1] on the quantitative assessment of liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy, a large number of studies on the regenerating liver cells have been reported. However, what controls the proliferation after partial hepatectomy and how the rapid regenerative growth is stimulated are not yet fully clear. A series of specific substances is supposed to control the proliferation of liver cells, but it is also considered that metabolic changes after partial hepatectomy contribute to the stimulation of these substances. To answer this question, the changes in the serum concentration of various metabolites after partial hepatectomy have been studied [2-5]. The changes in serum proteins after partial hepatectomy, however, are not yet known except for some proteins [2-6] because of the insufficient resolution of the analytical techniques.

On the other hand, Manabe et al. [7] have described a two-dimensional

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

electrophoretic technique without denaturing agent, and have shown that human plasma proteins can be resolved into about 250 spots. Since this technique does not use denaturing agents such as sodium dodecyl sulphate or urea during the electrophoretic run, it is suitable for the analysis of a mixture of soluble proteins without loss of their native physicochemical properties [8] or their biological activity [9].

In a previous paper [10] we applied this electrophoretic technique to analysing the changes in rat serum proteins after partial hepatectomy, and could detect changes in more than twenty serum proteins supposed to be closely related to the proliferation of liver cells. In this present paper we describe the changes in rabbit serum proteins after partial hepatectomy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents

Ampholine (pH range 3.5-10) was obtained from LKB Produkter (Bromma, Sweden). Acrylamide, N,N'-methylenebisacrylamide, N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine (all special grade for electrophoresis), Tris base, glycine, sucrose and ammonium persulphate were purchased from Wako (Osaka, Japan). Coomassie Brilliant blue R-250 was purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.).

Partial hepatectomy and serum samples

Male rabbits (Japanese White strain) weighing approximately 2 kg were used. Partial hepatectomy (about 60% of liver weight) was performed under light ether anaesthesia. After partial hepatectomy the rabbits were maintained for 1-20 days with food and water ad libitum. Sham operation was done in an identical manner to partial hepatectomy in terms of skin and muscle incision, manipulation of the liver and care of the wound. On days 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 10 and 20 after partial hepatectomy, blood (about 1 ml) was obtained from an ear vein using a disposable syringe. The blood was left to stand at 4°C for 30 min, and then centrifuged at 3000 g for 10 min. Sucrose was added to the serum to give a concentration of 10% (w/v), and the samples were stored at -20° C until use.

Two-dimensional electrophoresis

Two-dimensional electrophoresis was carried out as described in the previous report [10] with some modifications. Isoelectric focusing in the first dimension was performed on a gel column (14.5 cm \times 0.5 cm I.D.). A 4% acrylamide (0.2% bisacrylamide) solution containing 2% Ampholine (pH range 3.5–10) and 0.05% ammonium persulphate was poured into the glass tube. After gelling, the bottom of the glass tube was covered with dialysis membrane, and placed in an electrophoresis chamber. Overlay solution (5% sucrose solution containing 2% Ampholine, 50 μ l) was layered on top of the gel column and then the serum sample (50 μ l) was applied below the overlay solution. The cathode electrode solution was 0.04 *M* sodium hydroxide, and the anode 0.01 *M* phosphoric acid. Electrophoresis was run at a 2-mA constant current per gel column for about 40 min (until the voltage reached 460 V), and then

460 V constant voltage for 20 h at 4°C. After electrophoresis, the gel was pushed out and placed directly on top of the second-dimension slab gel without equilibration.

Gradient polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis in the second dimension was performed with a slab gel apparatus which forms four slab gels of 12 cm long, 16 cm wide, 0.4 cm thick. A 4–30% acrylamide linear gradient (0.2% bisacrylamide) containing a 0–10% sucrose and a 0.05–0.025% ammonium persulphate linear gradient, was poured in about 50 min at 4°C. Gelling occurred in about 2 h in a water-bath at 30°C. The gradient gel buffer was 0.14 M Tris-HCl (pH 8.9), and the electrode buffer was 0.05 M Tris-0.38 M glycine (pH 8.3). Electrophoresis was run at a 36-mA constant current per slab gel for 20 h at 4°C.

Measurement of the pH gradient

The pH gradient was measured as follows. The first-dimension isoelectric focusing gel was duplicated for each sample. One gel was cut into 10-mm sections and these sections were placed in individual test tubes containing 2 ml of distilled water. These test tubes were allowed to stand for 2 h at room temperature, then the pH was measured on a pH meter.

Staining and destaining

Gels were stained for 24 h in 0.025% Coomassie Brilliant blue R-250-7% (v/v) acetic acid-50% (v/v) methanol. Destaining was done in 7% (v/v) acetic acid overnight at room temperature, and then at 80°C for 6 h. During the staining and the destaining the gel container was shaken gently.

Densitometry of Coomassie Brilliant blue stained spots

Densitometric quantitation of Coomassie Brilliant blue stained spots on the slab gel was carried out with a Shimadzu dual-wavelength thin-layer chromatographic scanner CS-900 (Shimadzu, Tokyo, Japan). Sample wavelength was 580 nm (reference wavelength 750 nm) and the Coomassie Brilliant blue stained spots were measured by transmission.

RESULTS

Several serum samples of normal rabbits (Japanese White strain, approximately 2 kg) were subjected to two-dimensional electrophoresis, the protein distributions were compared, and the positions of the serum proteins were reproducible. Fig. 1 shows an example of the two-dimensional electrophoretic pattern of normal rabbit serum. Major serum proteins were located on the gel by comparing the patterns with those of human plasma proteins [11]; some of these are shown in the figure.

The time course of the changes in the two-dimensional patterns of serum proteins after partial hepatectomy was examined. Serum samples obtained on days 1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 10 and 20 after partial hepatectomy were subjected to the two-dimensional electrophoresis and the protein distributions were compared with those of the normal serum pattern. Rapid changes were observed for several proteins; these are shown by arrows in Fig. 1 (proteins in area C are



Fig. 1. Two-dimensional electrophoretic pattern of normal rabbit serum proteins. Dotted arrows indicate the decreased proteins and solid arrows indicate the increased proteins after partial hepatectomy. The positions of major serum proteins were tentatively located on the slab gel by comparing the two-dimensional electrophoretic pattern of rabbit serum with those of human plasma proteins [11]. IgM = immunoglobulin M, IgG = immunoglobulin G, $\alpha_2 M = \alpha_2$ -macroglobulin, Tf = transferrin, Alb = albumin.

shown in Fig. 2C). Dotted arrows show the proteins that are apparently decreased after partial hepatectomy and the solid arrows show the proteins that are apparently increased. Some major serum proteins, such as albumin, immunoglobulin G, immunoglobulin M and α_2 -macroglobulin, did not change after partial hepatectomy.

Fig. 2 shows the time courses of the proteins particularly changed after partial hepatectomy. The proteins and the areas on the acrylamide slab gels are shown in Fig. 1. The protein of spot 1 rapidly decreased after partial hepatectomy, was minimal on day 3, then gradually increased and almost recovered its original level on day 20. The protein of spot 2 rapidly increased after partial hepatectomy, was maximal on day 3, and almost returned to its original level on day 20. Transferrin was observed as several spots over a wide pI range, but after partial hepatectomy distribution of its basic side changed more than that of its acidic side.

Quantitation of proteins on the acrylamide slab gels was carried out with a Shimadzu TLC scanner. Fig. 3 shows the time courses of the changes of protein spot 1 and protein spot 2. The extent of the changes was expressed as relative amount (amount before partial hepatectomy = 100%). It was demon-



Fig. 2. Time courses of the changes in the two-dimensional pattern of rabbit serum proteins after partial hepatectomy. Serum samples taken on days 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 10 and 20 after partial hepatectomy were analysed by two-dimensional electrophoresis. Time-dependent changes on the gel sections in areas A, B and C (indicated in Fig. 1) are shown. Protein positions that changed rapidly after partial hepatectomy are indicated by arrows. $\alpha_2 M = \alpha_2$ -macroglobulin, Tf = transferrin.

strated that the protein amount of spot 1 decreased below 10% of its initial level on day 3, and the protein amount of spot 2 increased above 300% of its original level on day 3.

DISCUSSION

Changes in serum proteins after partial hepatectomy have been studied by means of one-dimensional electrophoretic techniques, such as cellulose acetate membrane electrophoresis [3] and polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis



Fig. 3. Densitometric quantitation of proteins on acrylamide slab gels. The quantitation of protein spots 1 and 2 was carried out with a Shimadzu TLC scanner. Time-dependent changes are shown by relative amounts (amount before partial hepatectomy = 100%). (A) protein spot 1; (B) protein spot 2.

[5]. These one-dimensional electrophoretic techniques, however, could offer little information about the changes in the serum proteins supposed to be closely related to the proliferation of liver cells after partial hepatectomy. As shown in Figs. 1 and 2, the two-dimensional electrophoresis described in this paper can detect the changes in serum proteins after partial hepatectomy. Since this technique does not require equilibration of the firstdimension gel, there is no loss of proteins. Therefore, the accurate timedependent changes in amounts of proteins on acrylamide slab gels can be measured using a thin-layer scanner. The quantitation of rapidly changed proteins will be useful in estimating the restoration of liver cells after partial hepatectomy.

It is also possible that the changes in serum proteins described above are due not only to partial hepatectomy but also to the operation wounds. Therefore, we analysed the serum of sham-operated rabbits by two-dimensional electrophoresis and compared the levels of serum proteins with those after partial hepatectomy. However, no changes were observed except for transferrin, which after sham operation showed changes similar to those shown in Fig. 2C, but the extent was not so much as that after partial hepatectomy. Although the function and role of these changes are still unclear, we suppose these proteins contribute, by themselves or with other substances, to the proliferation of liver cells after partial hepatectomy.

REFERENCES

- 1 G.M. Higgins and R.M. Anderson, Arch. Pathol., 12 (1931) 186.
- 2 C.G.D. Morley and H.S. Kingdon, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 308 (1973) 260.
- 3 W. Strecker, S. Silz, A. Salem and G. Ruhenstroth-Bauer, Horm. Metab. Res., 12 (1980) 604.

- 4 N. Nagasue, M. Kobayashi, A. Iwaki, H. Yukawa, R. Kanashima and K. Inokuchi, Cancer, 41 (1978) 435.
- 5 N.L. Coetzee, J. Short, K. Klein and P. Ove, Cancer Res., 42 (1982) 155.
- 6 R.E. Weesner, C.L. Mendenhall, D.D. Morgan, V. Kessler and C. Kromme, J. Lab. Clin. Med., 95 (1980) 725.
- 7 T. Manabe, K. Tachi, K. Kojima and T. Okuyama, J. Biochem., 85 (1979) 649.
- 8 T. Manabe, N. Takahashi, K. Kojima, T. Shinoda and T. Okuyama, J. Biochem., 87 (1980) 451.
- 9 T. Kadofuku, T. Sato, T. Manabe and T. Okuyama, Electrophoresis, 4 (1983) 427.
- 10 T. Kadofuku, T. Iijima, T. Sato, I. Tei and Y. Makino, J. Chromatogr., 275 (1983) 71.
- 11 T. Manabe, K. Kojima, S. Jitsukawa, T. Hoshino and T. Okuyama, J. Biochem., 89 (1981) 841.

CHROMBIO. 2252

HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHIC PROCEDURE FOR THE DETERMINATION OF DI-(2-ETHYLHEXYL)PHTHALATE IN HUMAN BLOOD SPECIMENS

PROBLEMS OF VARIABLE-EXTRACTION YIELD AND THE USE OF STANDARD ADDITION FOR CALIBRATION

GARY M. POLLACK^{*}, RICHARD L. SLAUGHTER, JAMES F. BUCHANAN and DANNY D. SHEN^{*,**}

Departments of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutics, School of Pharmacy, State University of New York at Buffalo, Amherst, NY 14260 (U.S.A.)

(First received March 28th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 28th, 1984)

SUMMARY

A high-performance liquid chromatographic procedure was developed for the determination of di-(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (DEHP) concentrations in human whole blood samples. The solvent extraction of DEHP was found to be highly variable between samples obtained from different subjects (coefficient of variation of 30.4%). The recovery of DEHP following extraction with ethyl acetate was negatively correlated with serum lipid content, as expressed by the sum of serum cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations (r = -0.864). The technique of standard addition of DEHP allowed a single-point calibration of DEHP extractability in individual blood samples, and provided an accurate estimation of DEHP concentration (coefficient of variation of approximately 6% in replicate samples). The potential for intersample variability in the solvent extraction of other highly lipid-soluble compounds should be considered.

INTRODUCTION

Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (DEHP) is a plasticizer commonly used in the production of polyvinyl chloride plastics, comprising up to 40% by weight of

^{*}Present address: Division of Pharmaceutics, School of Pharmacy, Beard Hall 200-H, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC 27514, U.S.A.

^{**}Present address: Department of Pharmaceutics, BG-20, School of Pharmacy, University of Washington, Seattle, WA 98195, U.S.A.

some medical plastic products such as blood storage bags and flexible tubings [1]. Animal studies have indicated that this compound can induce hepatomegaly and affect a variety of biochemical functions of the liver [2]. A recent long-term toxicity study has also revealed its capacity for producing hepatic tumors in rodents [3]. Concerns over the potential toxicity of DEHP and other plasticizers have led to the problem of assessing the degree of exposure to plasticizers in various hospital patient populations. Several investigations have been directed towards identifying the presence of plasticizers in blood and tissues of those patients likely to be at risk of exposure. For example, significant concentrations of DEHP have been reported in patients with end-stage renal failure requiring maintenance hemodialysis [4-6] and surgical patients who have received blood transfusions [6] or undergone cardiac bypass [7].

In order to further characterize the extent of exposure and the disposition kinetics of DEHP, an accurate and reliable method for the measurement of the phthalate ester in various biological fluids or tissue specimens is required. Several chromatographic procedures have been reported for the quantitation of DEHP in blood or plasma [4, 6, 8, 9]. During our attempt to adopt the published assays for DEHP in human blood samples, we encountered a high degree of intersubject variability in the solvent extraction of the plasticizer from whole blood. Although in principal the variability problem can be overcome by preparing calibration standards using each subject's own blank blood, in practice it poses a serious dilemma as completely DEHP-free blood cannot be obtained.

The present study was undertaken to determine whether any specific biochemical factors could be identified which may be responsible for the observed variability in the chemical extraction of DEHP. Furthermore, an assay methodology involving the technique of standard addition was developed for the determination of DEHP concentrations in individual whole blood samples.

EXPERIMENTAL

Chemicals

All solvents were of HPLC grade and were purchased from a commercial source (J.T. Baker, Phillipsburg, NJ, U.S.A.). DEHP (Aldrich, Milwaukee, WI, U.S.A.) and di-*n*-octylphthalate (DOP, Eastman-Kodak, Rochester, NY, U.S.A.) were used without further purification.

Subjects

Blood samples (20 ml) were obtained from thirteen normal volunteers for the purposes of determining the individual variation in DEHP calibration curves and relating the extraction of DEHP from blood to serum lipid and α_1 -acid glycoprotein (AAG) concentrations. Blood was drawn through a metal needle into glass syringes. A 10-ml aliquot was set aside and stored in glass vials containing heparin (20 U/ml) at -20°C. The serum fraction was separated from the remaining blood and stored in glass vials at -20°C.

DEHP extraction

Ethyl acetate (5 ml) containing 1 μ g/ml of the internal standard DOP was

(1)

added to 0.5 ml of heparinized whole blood samples in acid-washed glass culture tubes (16 \times 125 mm with PTFE-lined caps, American Scientific Products, McGaw Park, IL, U.S.A.). Preliminary experiments indicated no difference in the extraction of DOP added with the extraction solvent as opposed to added prior to extraction. DOP was subsequently added with the ethyl acetate to facilitate the processing of samples. The tubes were vortexed vigorously (15 sec), shaken (15 min), and centrifuged (1800 g, 15 min). The organic layer was transferred to a fresh glass tube, evaporated to dryness at 50°C under a stream of dry nitrogen, and reconstituted with 100 μ l methanol.

Chromatographic analysis

Aliquots $(10-80 \ \mu)$ of the reconstituted extracts were analyzed by highperformance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The chromatograph consisted of a Waters Assoc. (Milford, MA, U.S.A.) Model 6000A constant flow-rate pump, a U6K variable-volume injector, and a Model 440 UV absorbance detector. Separation was achieved with a Partisil 5 ODS Rapid Analysis Column, particle size 5 μ m (Whatman, Clifton, NJ, U.S.A.). The mobile phase consisted of methanol-water (93:7). The high methanol content was required due to the extremely lipophilic nature of DEHP. The flow-rate was set at 3.0 ml/min with a column back pressure of 7 MPa. Absorbance of the eluent was monitored at 254 nm, and peak area ratios (DEHP to DOP) were determined with a Hewlett-Packard (Avondale, PA, U.S.A.) Model 3390A reporting integrator. Interday variability in instrument response, as assessed by daily injections of a standard methanolic solution containing DEHP and DOP, was 1.8%.

Linearity of DEHP calibration curves

Blood from ten of the thirteen normal volunteers was spiked with DEHP to yield a series of blood standards containing 0, 0.5, 1.0, 2.5, and 5.0 μ g/ml plasticizer. A 25- μ l aliquot of a methanolic solution of DEHP was added to acid-washed glass centrifuge tubes (16 × 125 mm) and the methanol was gently evaporated under a stream of dry nitrogen. Lysed whole blood was added to each tube, followed by brief vortexing. No DEHP was lost during this preparation. The blood samples were extracted and analyzed by HPLC as described in the preceding sections. Peak area ratios were plotted versus DEHP concentration for each individual set of blood standards, and linear calibration plots were fitted with least-squares regression lines.

Correlation of ethyl acetate extractability with serum biochemistry

The extraction yield of DEHP from blood was assessed with 0.5-ml samples from thirteen normal volunteers to which a known amount $(2.5 \ \mu g)$ of DEHP had been added. Since blood from all volunteers contained a measurable amount of DEHP, the peak area ratio due to the spiked DEHP, i.e. AR(s), was calculated:

$$AR(s) = AR(2) - AR(1)$$

where AR(1) and AR(2) are the peak area ratios before and after the addition of 2.5 μ g (corresponding to 5 μ g/ml) of DEHP. The increase in peak area ratio after the standard addition represents an assay response factor. The only requirement with this type of single-point calibration procedure is strict adherence to linearity in response. Extraction yield was calculated by referencing AR(s) to the peak area ratio obtained by direct injection of a methanolic solution containing 5 μ g DEHP and 10 μ g DOP per ml.

Serum concentrations of triglycerides, total cholesterol, low-density lipoproteins (LDL) and high-density lipoproteins (HDL) were determined in the same samples using standard clinical chemistry procedures [10, 11]. Serum concentrations of AAG were measured with a commercial radial immunodiffusion kit (M-Partigen, Calbiochem-Behring, San Diego, CA, U.S.A.).

Validation of the standard addition method as a calibration procedure

Aliquots of pooled whole blood were spiked with DEHP to yield concentrations of 0, 0.5, 1.0, 2.5, and 5.0 μ g/ml. Five 1.0-ml blood samples were prepared at each concentration. Each sample was divided into two 0.5-ml portions. The first portion was extracted directly, as described previously, while the remaining portion was added to a glass tube containing 2.5 μ g DEHP (i.e. equivalent to an addition in concentration of 5 μ g/ml). The split samples were analyzed as described in the preceding sections. The blood concentration of DEHP was calculated as follows:

Sample DEHP concentration
$$(\mu g/ml) = AR(1) \times \frac{5 \ \mu g/ml}{AR(2) - AR(1)}$$
 (2)

To determine the concentration of added DEHP, a mean peak area ratio was determined in five blank samples of pooled blood. This mean ratio was subtracted from AR(1) and AR(2) in order to eliminate the contribution of endogenous DEHP. The reproducibility of the procedure was assessed with five replicate samples at each concentration of DEHP.

RESULTS

Several organic solvents and solvent mixtures were tested to identify the optimum solvent for recovery of DEHP from pooled human whole blood samples. Hexane, diethyl ether, chloroform, chloroform—methanol (2:1, v/v), ethylene dichloride, methylene chloride, and methylene chloride—pentane (1:1, v/v) were all associated with unacceptably low extraction yields (i.e. < 50%). Only ethyl acetate appeared to be a practical extraction solvent for this compound (mean recovery from pooled blood of 65.2%).

Representative chromatograms of extracts of blank and spiked blood samples are displayed in Fig. 1. DEHP and DOP eluted at 8.8 and 10.4 min, respectively. It should be noted that low concentrations of DEHP were present even in supposedly blank blood samples.

The calibration plots obtained with blood from ten subjects are presented in Fig. 2. Linear response was observed over the entire concentration range in all cases. Correlation coefficients of the regression lines ranged from 0.990 to 0.999. However, significant intersubject differences in the slope of the calibration plots were observed. The slope estimates varied over a two-fold range (0.0200-0.0475) with a coefficient of variation of 30.4%. The large variation in slope value suggested that the extractability of DEHP from whole blood was



Fig. 1. Representative chromatograms following extraction of a whole blood sample obtained from a normal volunteer (A) and blood spiked with 5 μ g/ml DEHP and 10 μ g/ml DOP (B). The concentration of DEHP in the unspiked sample was 0.12 μ g/ml.

Fig. 2. DEHP calibration plots generated in blood obtained from ten normal volunteers. The lines indicate the least-squares regression of the peak area ratio versus concentration data. Individual points have been omitted for clarity.

highly variable between subjects, while the apparent linearity of the individual calibration curves indicated that the extractability of DEHP was constant for a given sample within the range of DEHP concentrations studied.

A summary of DEHP extraction yield and relevant biochemical data for each subject is presented in Table I. The results of the correlation analyses between DEHP extraction yield and individual biochemical factors and combinations thereof are presented in Table II. Extractability of DEHP was negatively correlated with the concentration of each of the four indices of serum lipid content (viz. LDL, HDL, cholesterol, triglycerides), indicating that increases in serum lipid content result in a decrease in the extractability of DEHP. The strongest correlation was observed between DEHP extraction yield and the sum of serum cholesterol and triglycerides (r = -0.864, p < 0.001). This relationship is displayed in Fig. 3.

Although DEHP has been found to bind to AAG [12], the serum concentration of this protein did not correlate with the extraction yield of the plasticizer from blood. It is doubtful that intersubject differences in serum albumin concentration would contribute to the intersubject variation in extraction since DEHP does not appear to bind to this protein [13]. It is interesting to note that DEHP extraction appeared to increase with increasing hematocrit, suggesting that the compound is removed from the cellular blood fraction more readily than from the serum fraction. Considering that DEHP is concentrated in red blood cells relative to serum in a ratio of approximately 2:1 [14], extraction of DEHP from whole blood should allow a lower detection limit than extraction from the corresponding serum sample.

DEHP E.	ATRACTION 1	TELD AND SER	TOM BIOCHEM	ICAL CORI	RELATES		DEAP EXTRACTION HELD AND SERUM BIOCHEMICAL CORRELATES					
Subject	Extraction [*] (%)	Triglycerides (mg/dl)	Cholesterol (mg/dl)	HDL (mg/dl)	LDL (mg/dl)	AAG (mg/dl)	Hematocrit (%)					
1	50.4	82	187	58	113	96	42.5					
2	69.7	71	165	46	105	100	48.0					
3	50.9	115	167	96	48	84	42.8					
4	39.3	154	193	56	107	94	42.0					
5	60.5	84	211	68	126	92	46.4					
6	56.0	82	233	42	175	102	46.4					
7	67.8	97	164	49	96	ND**	43.7					
8	58.8	66	183	60	110	98	47.3					
9	89.0	63	138	38	87	ND	46.3					
10	51.3	85	189	36	136	98	44.2					
11	68.9	51	167	67	90	86	40.7					
12	70.6	78	153	51	86	ND	47.2					
13	74.6	66	150	71	66	ND	42.0					

DEUD E	VTD ACTION	VIET IN ANT) CEDIIM	DIOCUENICAL	CODDET ATE
DERF E	AIRACHON	TIEDD ANT	JOLLOW	DIOCHEMICAL	CORRELATES

*Extraction from whole blood with ethyl acetate.

**ND = not determined.

TABLE II

CORRELATIONS OF EXTRACTION YIELD WITH SERUM BIOCHEMICAL FACTORS

Serum factor	Correlation coefficient	Statistical significance	
Cholesterol (mg/dl)	0.671	<0.02	
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	-0.712	< 0.01	
HDL (mg/dl)	-0.322	>0.2	
LDL (mg/dl)	-0.219	>0.4	
Hematocrit (%)	+0.471	>0.1	
AAG (mg/dl)	+0.547	>0.05	
HDL + LDL (mg/dl)	-0.550	>0.05	
Cholesterol + triglycerides			
(mg/dl)	-0.864	<0.001	



Fig. 3. Relationship between DEHP extraction recovery and the sum serum cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations in blood obtained from thirteen normal volunteers. The line indicates the least-squares regression of the data (r = -0.864, p < 0.001).

TABLE I



Fig. 4. Comparison of DEHP concentrations estimated using the standard addition procedure with known DEHP concentrations in pooled blood from ten volunteers. Five samples were analyzed at each concentration. The broken line indicates the least-squares regression of the data. The solid line represents a perfect correspondence between the estimated and known concentrations.

Estimates of DEHP concentration in the whole blood standards as determined by the standard addition procedure are compared to the actual concentrations in Fig. 4. The slope of the least-squares regression line between the measured and actual DEHP concentrations was 0.963, which is not significantly different from unity. The regression line also had a negligible intercept. The concentration estimates had an acceptable degree of reproducibility, with a coefficient of variation (n = 5) ranging from 5.16% (5 µg/ml) to 6.78% (2.5 µg/ml). Thus, the method of standard addition should be a reasonable approach to estimating whole blood concentrations of DEHP.

DISCUSSION

Differences in the extractability of a given compound from different biological matrices (e.g. serum, urine, and tissues) or from the same type of specimens from different animal species are well known. However, the potential problem of intersubject variation in extraction from biological samples is often neglected. The usual approach to quantitating a compound in blood, for example, is to develop a calibration curve, usually in pooled blood from several donors. Measurements in unknown samples are subsequently referenced to this standard curve. This traditional calibration procedure becomes invalid given the degree of intersample variability in DEHP extraction observed in the present study. It thus becomes necessary to determine the extraction yield in each sample analyzed.

The physicochemical basis for the intersubject differences in the extractability of DEHP is nor known. The data presented here suggest that increases in serum lipids, particularly as expressed by the sum of serum cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations, decreased the extraction yield. Albro and Corbett [13] have shown that more than 80% of the DEHP present in human plasma after storage in plastic bags is associated with the lipoprotein fraction. It would appear that a portion of DEHP present in whole blood is tightly associated with the lipoprotein fraction, and that as the lipid content of blood increases the amount of DEHP available for extraction by ethyl acetate decreases. An alternative explanation may be that a fraction of DEHP in blood is trapped in precipitated lipoproteins following the addition of ethyl acetate, leading to incomplete and variable recovery. The latter hypothesis is supported by our observation that no DEHP is detectable in the supernatant after proteins in a serum sample have been precipitated with trichloroacetic acid or ice-cold acetonitrile.

The unusual extraction problem with DEHP is likely due to the high lipid solubility of the plasticizer. It would be anticipated that similar problems may be encountered with other highly lipophilic compounds. The solvent extraction of the plasticizer tris(butoxyethyl)phosphate (TBEP), a constituent of rubber stoppers used in many evacuated blood collection systems, has been found to be highly variable between serum samples obtained from different subjects [15]. The reported variation in the extraction yield of this compound was even greater than that associated with DEHP (i.e. a four-fold variation in calibration slope between subjects). As observed in the present study, the extraction yield of TBEP was found to correlate well (r = 0.88) with the serum concentration of cholesterol and triglycerides.

The phenomenon of significant intersample variation in extraction recovery is not restricted to extraction with ethyl acetate. Significant variability in the recovery of DEHP from serum or blood was also observed when using hexane, ethylene dichloride, and chloroform as extraction solvents. Thus, it is likely that the dependence of extraction yield on serum lipid content is a general analytical problem for highly lipid-soluble compounds, and is not restricted to either a single class of compounds or to a specific extraction solvent. The standard addition procedure described herein provides an efficient and acceptably accurate means of estimating blood concentrations of compounds subject to a high degree of intersample variability in extraction.

REFERENCES

- 1 B. Gulbring, Vox Sang., 9 (1964) 513.
- 2 W.H. Lawrence, Clin. Toxicol., 13 (1978) 89.
- 3 W.M. Kluwe, J.K. Haseman, J.F. Douglas and J.E. Huff, J. Toxicol. Environ. Health, 10 (1982) 797.
- 4 T.P. Gibson, W.A. Briggs and B.J. Boone, J. Lab. Clin. Med., 87 (1976) 519.
- 5 L.M. Lewis, T.W. Flechtner, J. Kerkay, K.H. Pearson, W.J. Chen, K.L. Popowniak and S. Nakamoto, Trans. Amer. Soc. Art. Intern. Organs, 23 (1977) 566.
- 6 N.P.H. Ching, G.N. Jhan, C. Subbarayan, D.V. Bowen, A.L.C. Smith, Jr., C.E. Grossi, R.G. Hicks, F.H. Field and T.F. Nealson, Jr., J. Chromatogr., 222 (1981) 171.
- 7 E.J. Dravian, K.H. Pearson and J. Kerkay, Anal. Lett., 15 (1982) 1729.
- 8 J.Y. Piechocki and W.C. Purdy, Clin. Chim. Acta, 48 (1973) 385.
- 9 J. Vessman and G. Rietz, J. Chromatogr., 100 (1974) 153.
- 10 G.R. Warnick and J.J. Albers, J. Lipid Res., 19 (1978) 65.
- 11 G.E. Mott and M.L. Rogers, Clin. Chem., 24 (1978) 354.
- 12 E. Pike, B. Skuterud, P. Kierkulf, D. Fremstad, S.M. Abdel-Sayed and P.K.M. Lundle, Clin. Pharmacokin., 6 (1981) 367.
- 13 P.W. Albro and J.T. Corbett, Transfusion, 18 (1978) 750.
- 14 G.M. Pollack and D.D. Shen, unpublished results.
- 15 G.D. Anderson, A.T. Elvin and D. Lalka, J. Pharm. Sci., submitted for publication.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 109–116 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2225

DETERMINATION OF BENPERIDOL IN HUMAN PLASMA BY HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

R. KRÜGER*, I. MENGEL and H.J. KUSS

Psychiatric Hospital, University of Munich, Nussbaumstrasse 7, D-8000 Munich 2 (F.R.G.)

(First received March 5th, 1984; revised manuscript received May 14th, 1984)

SUMMARY

A high-performance liquid chromatographic method for the quantitative determination of benperidol in human plasma using haloperidol as internal standard is described. The method involves liquid—liquid extraction, separation of the substances on a reversed-phase column C_{1s} followed by ultraviolet detection at 254 nm. The mobile phase consists of 32% acetonitrile in 0.05 *M* potassium dihydrogen phosphate buffer (pH 2.8). The detection limit is 0.5–1.0 ng/ml using 2- or 4-ml plasma samples.

INTRODUCTION

Benperidol (Glianimon[®]) is an antipsychotic agent of the butyrophenone group. It is one of the most potent neuroleptics, being about eight times more potent than haloperidol, a neuroleptic with related structure (Fig. 1) [1].

No simple and selective method has been described for the determination of benperidol in human plasma, whereas several methods exist for determining haloperidol. The radioimmunoassay developed for haloperidol can be applied to benperidol [2-4]. However, the assay is unspecific, since cross-reaction occurs with other butyrophenones. The radioreceptor assay [5], too, is unspecific, since drugs and metabolites that block dopamine receptors are measured as well.

Gas chromatographic [6-9] and selected-ion monitoring mass spectrometric [10,11] assays have been reported for haloperidol but not for the other butyrophenones. These methods are not suitable for routine monitoring of plasma levels, as they are very time-consuming.

Two methods have been developed for haloperidol using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with ultraviolet (UV) detection [12,13]. Experiments to determine benperidol in human plasma with these methods



Fig. 1. Chemical structures of (a) benperidol and (b) haloperidol.

have failed in our laboratory. Another HPLC method with electrochemical detection [14] has been reported for haloperidol and reduced haloperidol, not for benperidol.

The method described here, based on HPLC, is selective for benperidol, as well as for haloperidol. It is rapid, and sensitive enough to study the pharmacokinetics of both drugs and to study relationships between plasma concentrations and neuroleptic efficacy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chemicals

Benperidol, 4-[4-(2-0x0-2,3-dihydro-1-benzimidazolyl)-1-piperidinyl]-1-(4-fluorophenyl)-1-butanone, was obtained from Tropon (Cologne, F.R.G.) and haloperidol, 4-[4-(4-chlorophenyl)-4-hydroxy-1-piperidinyl]-1-(4-fluorophenyl)-1-butanone from Janssen-Pharmaceutica (Belgium). *n*-Hexane (Uvasol, Merck), isopropanol (Uvasol, Merck), acetonitrile (LiChrosolv, Merck), sodium bicarbonate (p.a., Merck), phosphoric acid (p.a., Merck) were used without further purification. Aqueous solutions were prepared using deionized water, which had been passed through a Milli-Q water purification system (Millipore).

Standards

Stock solutions were prepared by dissolving 1 mg of benperidol and 1 mg of haloperidol in 1 ml of 0.1 *M* hydrochloric acid. They were stored at 4°C. These solutions are stable for several months. Aliquots of these stock solutions were diluted with 0.05 *M* potassium dihydrogen phosphate buffer (pH 2.8) to a concentration of 1 μ g/ml. These solutions served to prepare spiked plasma samples for calibration curves and recovery analyses. Fresh plasma samples were prepared on each day of analysis. Solutions of benperidol in methanol were stable at 4°C for 3–5 weeks only.

Chromatographic system

The chromatographic system consisted of a Waters 6000A solvent delivery

system, a Waters UV detector 440 operating at 254 nm and a Rheodyne 7125 syringe loading sample injector with a 100- μ l sample loop. A HP 3390 A integrator was used to determine the concentrations of the neuroleptics by peak area integration. The mobile phase consisted of 32% acetonitrile in 0.05 *M* potassium dihydrogen phosphate buffer (pH 2.8). The buffer solution was passed through a 0.2- μ m membrane filter (Schleicher & Schüll) prior to mixing with acetonitrile. The flow-rate was set at 1.0 ml/min. A column (length 250 mm, O.D. 8 mm, I.D. 4 mm) packed with C₁₈ Nucleosil (Macherey, Nagel & Co., Düren, F.R.G.; particle size 5 μ m) served as stationary phase.

Extraction

The quantity of plasma used for extraction depended on the benperidol concentration. For concentrations >5 ng/ml plasma samples of 1 ml were extracted; for lower concentrations, samples of 2 or 3 ml were used.

Plasma and 50 ng $(50 \ \mu)$ of haloperidol as internal standard were mixed in polypropylene tubes $(17.5 \ m)$ with polyethylene stoppers. After adding 1 ml of 2 *M* sodium bicarbonate buffer (pH 10.5) and 5 ml of hexane with 5% or 10% isopropanol (for 1 or 2 ml of plasma, respectively), the samples were shaken for 30 min and centrifuged for 10 min at 1800 g. The hexane layer was transferred to another tube containing 100 μ l of 0.05 *M* potassium dihydrogen phosphate buffer (pH 2.8). This mixture was shaken again for 30 min and centrifuged for 10 min at 1800 g. The hexane layer was aspirated and 90 μ l of the aqueous layer were injected into the chromatographic system.

Calibration

Plasma samples of 1 or 2 ml with benperidol concentrations of 1, 3, 5, 10, 20 and 50 ng/ml were prepared. After adding 50 ng/ml haloperidol as internal standard, the samples were treated as described above. Calibration curves were obtained by plotting the peak area ratios of benperidol to haloperidol against the benperidol concentration given.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Extraction

Liquid—liquid extraction of the butyrophenones from plasma in two steps was necessary to separate the drugs from endogenous substances which interfere with the chromatographic analysis. In the first step, the butyrophenones were extracted from alkalized plasma (pH 10.5) with an organic solvent. In the second, they were reextracted with an acidic aqueous solution (pH 2.8). The extractabilities of benperidol and haloperidol were different. The yield of extraction depended on the amount of isopropanol added to hexane (Table I). Plasma samples of 1 and 2 ml, each spiked with 50 ng of benperidol and 50 ng of haloperidol, were extracted with hexane and with hexane + 1%, 5%, 10% or 20% isopropanol.

When the plasma was extracted with pure hexane, a gel was formed in the organic layer; the absolute recoveries were therefore very low and variable. After extraction with hexane + 1% isopropanol the recovery for benperidol was lower than for haloperidol, the ratios being 0.26 for 1 ml of plasma and 0.09

TABLE	I
-------	---

INFLUENCE OF ISOPROPANOL ON THE EXTRACTABILITY OF 50 ng OF BENPERIDOL AND 50 ng OF HALOPERIDOL ADDED TO 1 OR 2 ml OF PLASMA Values are mean of four extractions.

Plasma Isopropanol		Extractabilit	y (%)	Benperidol/haloperidol
(ml) (%)	Benperidol	Haloperidol		
1	0*	8.2 ± 4.5	12.2 ± 5.3	0.67
2	0*	3.2 ± 3.0	26.1 ± 9.3	0.12
1	1	16.5 ± 2.1	63.7 ± 6.1	0.26
2	1	4.8 ± 0.5	56.2 ± 4.6	0.09
1	5	65.3 ± 2.1	75.4 ± 1.6	0.87
2	5	37.4 ± 4.5	73.0 ± 2.8	0.51
1	10	38.8 ± 2.3	29.0 ± 1.9	1.34
2	10	55.2 ± 3.6	68.1 ± 3.2	0.81
1	20**	34.1 ± 3.5	24.0 ± 5.3	1.42
2	20**	19.3 ± 9.8	21.3 ± 9.6	0.91

*Gel formation, extractability very low.

**Peaks very broad and not well separated from other plasma peaks.

for 2 ml of plasma. When 1 ml of plasma was extracted, the best recoveries for both substances were obtained with hexane + 5% isopropanol, with a mean ratio of 0.87. When 2 ml of plasma are extracted, the amount of isopropanol must be increased to 10% in order to obtain comparable recoveries; the ratio was then 0.81. With hexane + 5% isopropanol the recovery for benperidol was too low, the ratio being 0.51.

The addition of isopropanol to hexane is important, especially for the extraction of benperidol; the amount necessary depended on the quantity of plasma used for extraction.

Detection

The absorbances of benperidol and haloperidol at 214 and 254 nm were compared. They were greater at 214 nm than at 254 nm for both drugs.

The ratio of peak area at 214 nm to peak area at 254 nm is 2.0 for benperidol and 1.3 for haloperidol. Nevertheless, the extracted plasma samples were measured at 254 nm, because the signal-to-baseline-noise ratio was better at this wavelength. If there are other drugs in the extracted plasma, the selectivity of analysis can be improved by measuring the absorbances at both wavelengths and comparing the peak area ratios.

Resolution

With the chromatographic conditions described in Materials and methods the retention times are about 6 min for benperidol and about 12 min for haloperidol.

Fig. 2 shows the chromatograms for a blank plasma sample (Fig. 2a), a plasma sample spiked with 5 ng of benperidol and 50 ng of haloperidol (Fig. 2b) and a plasma sample of a patient receiving benperidol 40 mg/day (Fig. 2c). The blank plasma was free of interfering peaks.



Fig. 2. Chromatograms of blank plasma (a), plasma spiked with 5 ng benperidol + 50 ng haloperidol (b), and plasma taken from a patient treated with 40 mg/day benperidol (c). Peaks: 1 = benperidol; 2 = haloperidol.

The sensitivity of our method was 1 ng/ml if 2 ml of plasma were extracted, and 0.5 ng/ml if 4 ml were extracted.

Calibration and precision

The calibration curves in the range of 1-50 ng/ml benperidol were linear. Mean values of the peak area ratios benperidol to haloperidol with standard deviations and coefficients of variation as well as the regression equation of the line are summarized in Table II. Recovery analyses of spiked plasma samples were done together with each series of patient samples. The results of twelve independent analyses on different days (in the course of two months) are listed in Table III. The coefficients of variation ranged from 3.7% to 6.3%.

Application of the method

Plasma concentrations in patients receiving a high dose of 40 mg of benperidol per day for six or seven days, followed by a low dose of 6 mg/day for fourteen days, were determined. Another group of patients received only a low dose of 6 mg/day for 21 days. The blood samples were collected 14 h

TABLE II CALIBRATION CURVE DATA

Benperidol concentration (ng/ml)	n	Peak area ratio benperidol/haloperidol (mean ± S.D.)	C.V. (%)	
1	6	0.029 ± 0.003	10.6	,, <u></u> ,
3	6	0.063 ± 0.006	9.1	
5	12	0.106 ± 0.005	4.6	
10	12	0.204 ± 0.009	4.4	
20	12	0.377 ± 0.016	4.3	
50	12	0.922 ± 0.036	3.9	
Regression equati	ons			

 $Y_1 = 0.014 + 0.018X$, $r^2 = 0.9998$ (1-50 ng/ml) $Y_2 = 0.018 + 0.018X$, $r^2 = 0.9999$ (5-50 ng/ml)

TABLE III

RESULTS FOR TWELVE RECOVERY ANALYSES PERFORMED ON DIFFERENT DAYS

Given (ng/ml)	Found (mean ± S.D.) (ng/ml)	C.V. (%)	
5	5.14 ± 0.30	5.8	
10	9.97 ± 0.63	6.3	
20	18.57 ± 0.78	4.2	
50	44.97 ± 1.67	3.7	

TABLE IV

BENPERIDOL PLASMA CONCENTRATIONS OF PATIENTS RECEIVING 40 mg OR 6 mg PER DAY

No. of patients	Day of blood sampling	Dose (mg/day)	Plasma concentration (ng/ml, mean ± S.D.)	C.V. (%)
10	4	40	15.1 ± 7.3	48,3
10	14	6	4.1 ± 1.4	34.1
7	4	6	3.1 ± 1.2	40.1
7	14	6	4.2 ± 1.2	28.2

after medication on days 2, 4, 7, 14, 21 in Li-heparin tubes. The samples were centrifuged at 1800 g; the plasma was then separated and frozen at -40° C.

Table IV shows the mean plasma concentrations on day 4 of ten patients receiving 40 mg/day and plasma concentrations of the same patients on day 14 after reducing the dose on day 6 or 7 to 6 mg/day. The relation between dose and plasma concentration is not linear.

The inter-individual variations of the plasma concentrations were wide. The coefficient of variation for a dose of 40 mg/day on day 4 was 48.3%, the mean plasma concentration being 15.1 ± 7.3 ng/ml. On day 14 the mean plasma concentration was 4.1 ± 1.4 ng/ml with a coefficient of variation of

34.1%. The mean values of seven patients receiving a constant dose of 6 mg for at least 14 days are listed in the same table. Plasma concentrations on day 4 were 3.1 ± 1.2 ng/ml with a coefficient of variation of 40.1%. They were somewhat lower than on day 14 with 4.2 ± 1.2 ng/ml and a coefficient of variation of 28.2%.

The present method developed for the determination of benperidol in human plasma is simple and rapid. With our extraction method and chromatographic conditions other butyrophenones like haloperidol, droperidol or trifluperidol can be detected as well. Their retention times and capacity factors are listed in Table V. The detection limit of benperidol and haloperidol is 1.0 ng/ml using 2 ml of plasma per assay and 0.5 ng/ml using 4 ml. The HPLC method for haloperidol with electrochemical detection [14] is as sensitive as our method. The two HPLC methods with UV detection [12,13] are selective for haloperidol; benperidol could not be determined; the detection limit was 2 ng/ml. Our method is somewhat more sensitive and has the advantage that other butyrophenones can be analysed.

TABLE V

RETENTION TIMES AND CAPACITY FACTORS FOR BENPERIDOL, DROPERIDOL, HALOPERIDOL AND TRIFLUPERIDOL

Compound	t _R (min)	k'		
Benperidol	5.9	2.3		
Droperidol	5.8	2.2		
Haloperidol	11.6	5.4		
Trifluperidol	18.3	9.2		

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was supported by the Wilhelm Sander-Stiftung.

REFERENCES

- 1 P.A.J. Janssen and W.F.M. Van Bever, in E. Usdin and I.S. Forrest (Editors), Psychotherapeutic Drugs, Part II, Marcel Dekker, New York, Basel, 1977, p. 869.
- 2 B.R. Clark, B.B. Tower and R.T. Rubin, Life Sci., 20 (1977) 319.
- 3 E. van den Eeckhout, F.M. Belpaire, M.G. Bogaert and P. de Moerloose, Eur. J. Drug Metab. Pharmacokin., 5 (1980) 45.
- 4 G. Schöllnhammer, H. Spechtmeyer, C. Hesse, J. Husser, H. Ebeling and M. Bergener, Abstracts Nürnberger Symposium, 1983, Arbeitsgemeinschaft für Neuropsychopharmakologie und Pharmakopsychiatrie, 1983, Abstract No. 89.
- 5 J. Creese and S.H. Snyder, Nature, 270 (1977) 180.
- 6 A. Forsman, E. Martensson, G. Nyberg and R. Öhman, Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol., 286 (1974) 113.
- 7 J. Rosenfeld, M. Kawai, J.R.A. Rigg and J.K. Khandelwal, J. Chromatogr., 129 (1976) 387.
- 8 G. Bianchetti and P.L. Morselli, J. Chromatogr., 153 (1978) 203.
- 9 M. Franklin, Clin. Chem., 26 (1980) 1367.
- 10 K.L. Hornbeck, J.C. Griffiths, R.J. Neborsky and M.A. Faulkner, Biomed. Mass Spectrom., 6 (1979) 427.

- 11 M.A. Moulin, R. Camsonne, J.P. Davy, E. Poilpre, P. Morel, D. Debruyne, M.C. Bigot, M. Dedieu and M. Hardy, J. Chromatogr., 178 (1979) 324.
- 12 K. Miyazaki, T. Arita, I. Oka, T. Koyama and I. Yamashita, J. Chromatogr., 223 (1981) 449.
- 13 P. Jatlow, R. Miller and M. Swigar, J. Chromatogr., 227 (1982) 233.
- 14 E.R. Korpi, B.H. Phelps, H. Granger, W. Chang, M. Linnoila, J.L. Meek and R.J. Wyatt, Clin. Chem., 29 (1983) 624.

CHROMBIO. 2232

HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHIC METHOD FOR THE ANALYSIS OF A CANDIDATE 8-AMINOQUINOLINE ANTILEISHMANIAL DRUG USING OXIDATIVE ELECTROCHEMICAL DETECTION

JOHN C. ANDERS*, ANTHONY D. THEOHARIDES, LENA M. THOMAS, MICHAEL H. SMYTH and HO CHUNG

Department of Pharmacology, Division of Experimental Therapeutics, Walter Reed Army Institute of Research, Washington, DC 20307 (U.S.A.)

(First received March 12th, 1984; revised manuscript received May 10th, 1984)

SUMMARY

An analytical method was developed for the quantitation of a candidate antileishmanial drug, 6-methoxy-8-(6-diethylaminohexylamino)-4-methylquinoline, dihydrochloride, in canine plasma. The assay utilized internal standard technique with a structurally similar 8-aminoquinoline, 6-methoxy-8-(7-diethylaminoheptylamino)-4-methylquinoline, dihydrochloride, as the internal standard. The method employs a liquid—solid extraction procedure with prepackaged silica gel columns upon which the drug and internal standard are adsorbed, then selectively washed and eluted. Reversed-phase chromatography was then employed to analyze the extracted sample by means of oxidative electrochemical detection at + 0.75 V. Good accuracy and precision were obtained over the range of concentration tested (10—1500 ng/ml plasma). Analyses of plasma samples from human volunteers given the drug demonstrate the method is also suitable for analysis of human plasma samples. The entire procedure is relatively simple and requires only 1 ml of plasma.

INTRODUCTION

The leishmaniases are parasitic diseases affecting perhaps 100,000,000 people in the tropical and semitropical world [1]. The major forms of human disease are papular ulcerative cutaneous disease (cutaneous disease), erosive oral, nasal or pharyngeal disease (mucocutaneous disease), or hepatosplenomegaly (visceral disease). The leishmaniases result from infection of the macrophages of the respective organs by the amastigote form of the parasite. The leishmaniases are presently treated with pentavalent antimonials such as sodium stibogluconate (Pentostam[®], Burroughs Wellcome) or N-methylglucamine (Glucantime[®], Rhodia) [2-4]. The 10-25% of cases that are antimony-resistant [4] are treated with more or higher doses of antimony, with

pentamidine or with amphotericin B [2-4]. These compounds are parenterally administered and have relatively low therapeutic indices.

The Walter Reed Army Institute of Research has screened more than 3000 compounds in an effort to find an orally administered effective antileishmanial compound. 6-Methoxy-8-(6-diethylaminohexylamino)-4-methylquinoline, dihydrochloride, is presently the most active drug discovered thus far in a screening program for antileishmanial activity in the hamster model of visceral leishmaniasis [5]. In this model, the above compound has consistently shown suppressive activity 400-700 times greater than the reference compound, Glucantime [5]. This compound is being developed for human use and has been tested in a double blind study of safety and tolerance in humans and was well tolerated up to and including a 60-mg single oral dose [6].

To support the development of this drug, the estimation of pharmacokinetic parameters in animals and humans must be determined. Therefore a sensitive and specific assay for this candidate 8-aminoquinoline antileishmanial drug in plasma was needed and is described in this paper.

EXPERIMENTAL

Chemicals

6-Methoxy-8-(6-diethylaminohexylamino)-4-methylquinoline. dihvdrochloride* (I) and 6-methoxy-8-(7-diethylaminoheptylamino)-4-methylquinoline dihydrochloride** (II), the internal standard, were synthesized on contract from Starks Assoc. (Buffalo, NY, U.S.A.) and Ash Stevens (Detroit, MI, U.S.A.), respectively (Fig. 1). Compound I and the internal standard were found to be 99.7% [7] and > 99% pure, respectively. 6-Methoxy-8-(6ethylaminohexylamino)-4-methylquinoline, dihydrochloride hemihydrate***, the salt form of a metabolite of compound I found in both rat and hamster microsomal preparations [8], was synthesized under contract by Starks Assoc. (purity > 99.0%, Fig. 1). Acetonitrile was of HPLC grade and obtained from Burdick & Jackson Labs. (Muskegon, MI. U.S.A.). All chemicals used in this study were of reagent grade. Trizma buffer was purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.). Ammonium formate was purchased from Fisher Scientific (Fairlawn, NJ, U.S.A.).



Fig. 1. Chemical structures of compound I (I), the internal standard (II) and the N-deethylated metabolite of compound I (III).

^{*}This compound is an investigational drug and has no generic name. An institutional identification of WR 6026 • 2HCl (Lot AF) is used to identify this compound.

^{**}The internal standard was also obtained from the Walter Reed Inventory and has no generic name. An institutional identification of WR 223,658 • 2HCl (Lot AA) is used.

^{***}This metabolite was synthesized and also obtained from the Walter Reed inventory. The institutional identification for the chemical is WR 211,789 \circ 2HCl \circ ½H₂O.

Dehydrated ethanol was purchased from U.S. Industrial Chemical (Tuscola, IL, U.S.A.). Silica gel Bond-Elut[®] columns (3 ml capacity) were purchased from Analytichem International (Harbor City, CA, U.S.A.). Plasma was prepared from freshly drawn heparinized (20 I.U./ml) canine blood. All water was demineralized, double glass-distilled and stored in glass.

Liquid-solid extraction of compound I from plasma

Canine plasma samples (1 ml) that had been previously spiked with various levels of compound I were thawed at room temperature. The internal standard was dissolved in 0.01 *M* hydrochloric acid and appropriate amounts were added to the thawed samples and vortexed for 10 sec. Acetonitrile (2 ml) was added to the sample and immediately vortexed vigorously for 30 sec. Samples were then centrifuged for 10 min at 500 g and 5°C in a Sorvall refrigerated RC-2 centrifuge (DuPont, Newtown, CT, U.S.A.). The supernatant was transferred to another precleaned (tubes rinsed with acetonitrile then methanol) disposable glass test tube and acetonitrile was evaporated to dryness under nitrogen gas (< 35°C) using a N-Evap[®] analytical evaporator manufactured by Organomation (South Berlin, MA, U.S.A.). The sample was reconstituted with 2.0 ml of water and vortexed vigorously for 15 sec.

The sample was placed onto a wetted silica gel Bond-Elut column previously equilibrated by the passage of 4 ml of ethanol followed by 6 ml of water. The test tube was rinsed with 2.0 ml water and the rinse solution was also put on the column. The sample and test tube rinse were drawn through the column in this and subsequent wash steps by use of a vacuum (200 mmHg) with a Vac-Elute[®] manifold obtained from Analytichem International. After the sample had been drawn through the column, the volume was washed with 6 ml of water followed by 6 ml of water—ethanol (20:80). Finally, the drug plus internal standard were eluted off the silica gel Bond-Elut column with 8 ml of 0.1 *M* trizma, pH 7.4—ethanol (20:80) into a precleaned glass test tube and evaporated to dryness under nitrogen gas at $< 35^{\circ}$ C. The dry residue was dissolved in mobile phase for HPLC analysis.

HPLC analysis

Chromatographic system consisted of a Model 6000A pump (Waters Assoc., Milford, MA, U.S.A.), a Model U6K universal injector (Waters Assoc.), an electrochemical detector with a single glassy carbon electrode (Bioanalytical Systems, West Lafayette, IN, U.S.A.), a Model 585 strip-chart recorder (Linear Instruments, Irvine, CA, U.S.A.) and a 250 mm \times 4.6 mm I.D. 5- μ m particle size Spherisorb-CN[®] column (Thomson Instrument, Newark, DE, U.S.A.) Column was at ambient temperature. Mobile phase consisted of 0.1 Mammonium formate, pH 4.5-acetonitrile (67:33) and the flow-rate was 2.0 ml/min. The pH of the ammonium formate was titrated with concentrated formic acid to pH 4.5 prior to the addition of acetonitrile. Samples were reconstituted in 250 μ l of mobile phase and 5–20% of the samples were injected. The electrochemical detector was set in the oxidative mode at an applied potential of +0.75 V using a single glassy carbon electrode at a sensitivity of 2-10 nA full scale. The electrochemical detector signal was filtered at a maximum cut-off frequency of 0.05 Hertz by means of a Model 1021A filter (Spectrum Scientific, Newark, DE, U.S.A.).

Quantitation

Quantitation was achieved using peak height ratios of compound I to internal standard (II). For each analysis, a standard curve was generated by adding known and varying amounts of compound I and a known and constant amount of the internal standard to canine plasma. The ranges of standard curves (8–120 ng or 100–1500 ng) were designed to encompass the range of expected experimental values. Spiked samples were treated as unknowns to evaluate the precision and accuracy of the method. Additionally, blind plasma samples spiked with low concentrations of compound I were prepared by another laboratory and were analyzed to further validate the procedure. Human plasma samples were obtained from volunteers, participating in a safety and tolerance study, 24 h following a single 60-mg oral dose of placebo. The human plasma samples were then frozen (-20° C) for approximately 30 days and then analyzed by this procedure.

Percent recovery was determined by comparison of peak height of compound I for each unknown sample to an external standard curve of ng of compound I on column versus peak height (cm). An external standard curve was constructed for every analysis.

RESULTS

The method was validated by means of spiked canine plasma samples treated as unknowns and blind spiked canine plasma samples prepared in another laboratory. The results are shown in Tables I—III and they demonstrate good precision and accuracy over the concentration range studied. The overall accuracy and precision from 10 to 1000 ng of compound I per ml of plasma were \pm 7.2% and 7.2% coefficient of variation (C.V.), respectively. In addition, the overall (10—1000 ng/ml) mean percentage recovery of compound I as determined by external standard technique was 55 \pm 13.2% (n = 103).

In order to accurately quantitate plasma levels of compound I over a large concentration range (10-1500 ng/ml) two separate but overlapping standard curves were run. Both low- and high-range standard curves consisted of seven

TABLE I

PRECISION AND ACCURACY DATA FOR ANALYSIS OF LOW CONCENTRATIONS OF COMPOUND I IN PLASMA (n = 16)

Data are a summarization of data of four separate experiments. A standard curve of 8 to 130 ng of compound I per ml of plasma bracketed spiked unknowns. For additional information, see Experimental.

Amount added (ng)	Amount measured (ng, mean ± S.D.)	C.V. (%)	Accuracy %∆ ! *	
10.0	9.5 ± 1.32	13.9	11.2	
20.0	20.4 ± 1.74	8.5	7.1	
50.0	53.5 ± 7.45	13.9	11.7	
100.0	99.5 ± 10.38	10.4	8.8	

*Represents the mean of individual determinations for the absolute percent difference of amount of drug added to sample versus amount of drug assayed.

PRECISION AND ACCURACY DATA FOR ANALYSIS OF HIGHER CONCENTRATIONS OF COMPOUND I IN PLASMA (n = 12)

Data are a summarization of data of two separate experiments. A standard curve of 100-1500 ng of compound I per ml of plasma bracketed spiked unknowns. For additional information, see Experimental.

Amount added (ng)	Amount measured (ng, mean ± S.D.)	C.V. (%)	Accuracy %Δ *
500.0	520.3 ± 13.96	2.7	4.7
1000.0	1036.6 ± 17.90	1.7	3.6

*Refer to footnote to Table I.

TABLE III

PRECISION AND ACCURACY DATA FOR ANALYSIS OF BLIND SAMPLES (n = 5)

Data represent a single experiment for the analysis of plasma samples spiked with compound I that were supplied by another laboratory. The actual levels of compound I were made known to the analyst only after the blind samples were analyzed. The unknowns were bracketed by a standard curve from 8 to 120 ng of compound I per ml of plasma. For additional information, see Experimental.

Amount added (ng)	Amount measured (ng, mean ± S.D.)	C.V. (%)	Accuracy	
17.2	16.7 ± 0.69	4.1	3.6	
34.3	35.3 ± 1.95	5.5	4.0	
85.1	76.9 ± 2.82	3.7	9.7	

*Refer to footnote to Table I.

points bracketing the anticipated unknown sample concentrations. Good linearity and a negligible Y-intercept were routinely found. Least-squares linear regression of low- and high-range standard curves yielded a representative equation (Y = aX + b) for the line and regression coefficients (r^2) of Y = 0.0022X + 0.0190, $r^2 = 0.9991$ and Y = 0.0231X - 0.0115, $r^2 = 0.9995$, respectively.

The samples were free of interfering peaks as seen in the blank sample (Fig. 2A). Baseline separation is achieved between compound I and the internal standard and the analysis time is about 11 min (Fig. 2B). Following a single 60-mg oral dose to human volunteers, compound I was detected in human plasma 24 h after administration (Fig. 2C). Analysis of plasma from volunteers receiving a placebo revealed no interfering peak in the region of interest (not shown). Furthermore, Fig. 3 demonstrates that the presence of the N-deethylated metabolite (III) of compound I in plasma would not interfere with the quantitation of compound I. This metabolite has similar chromatographic mobility as that of compound I and is found in in vitro rodent hepatic microsomal metabolism experiments [8]. Therefore, the formation of this metabolite in vivo is likely.



Fig. 2. HPLC chromatograms of extracts from: (A) blank canine plasma; (B) canine plasma (1.0 ml) spiked with 10 ng of compound I (I) and 50 ng of the internal standard (II); (C) patient sample drawn 24 h after oral administration of compound I, spiked with 50 ng of the internal standard (II). A 38-ng amount of compound I (I) per ml of human plasma was detected. In both instances 50 µl of a total 250 µl were injected. For additional information, see Experimental.



RETENTION TIME, MIN

Fig. 3. HPLC chromatogram of extract from canine plasma (1.0 ml) spiked with 500 ng of compound I (I), internal standard (II), and the N-deethylated metabolite of compound I (III). In this instance, 25 μ l of a total 250 μ l was injected. For additional information, see Experimental.

DISCUSSION

Quantitating this antileishmanial drug by this method has two unique features. First, the liquid—solid extraction of compound I from plasma using disposable prepackaged extraction columns, silica gel Bond-Elut columns, simplifies the extraction by allowing the binding of the drug and internal standard to a solid matrix. This allows the bound sample to be selectively washed to remove unwanted contaminates, and then eluted off the column with the use of aqueous salt and organic mixture. This is less cumbersome, time-consuming and uses less glassware than classical liquid—liquid extraction methods.

The second feature is the use of oxidative electrochemical detection (ED) rather than ultraviolet (UV) detection which provides 50% greater sensitivity and greater selectivity. This observation was determined by the analysis of compound I from plasma and detected simultaneously by both ED and UV at their maximum useable sensitivities (2 and 0.001 nA full scale, respectively) in our laboratory. Oxidative HPLC—ED is an amperometric determination involving the heterogenous electron transfer from the electrode surface to the solute as it passes through the low volume thin layer cell of the electrochemical detector. Therefore the ability to detect a compound by oxidative ED is dependent on its strength as an oxidizing agent which is a more specific process than detection by UV absorption at 254 nm. This selectivity became useful due to the fact that interfering compounds which were detected occasionally by UV were not detected by ED at all, thereby eliminating a major obstacle in the development of this assay.

REFERENCES

- 1 C.R. Alving and E.A. Steck, Trends Biochem. Sci., 4 (1979) N175.
- 2 W. Peters, Indian J. Med. Res., 73 (1981) 1.
- 3 P.D. Marsden, New Engl. J. Med., 300 (1979) 350.
- 4 J.D. Berman, in H.W. Conn (Editor), Current Therapy, Saunders, Philadelphia, PA, 1983, p. 27.
- 5 K.E. Kinnamon, E.A. Steck, P.S. Loizeaux, W.L. Hanson, W.L. Chapman, Jr. and V.B. Waits, Amer, J. Trop. Med. Hyg., 27 (1978) 751.
- 6 R.C. Reba, K.G. Barry and L.B. Altstatt, U.S. Army Medical Research and Development Command, Contract DAMD 17-75-C-5036, 1983, Report No. 21.
- 7 P. Lim, U.S. Army Medical Research and Development Command, Contract DAMD 17-79-C-9154, 1981, Report No. 394.
- 8 A.D. Theoharides, H. Chung and H. Velazquez, Fed. Proc., Fed. Amer. Soc. Exp. Biol., 42 (1983) 914.
Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 125–133 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2233

DETERMINATION OF ADRIAMYCIN, ADRIAMYCINOL AND THEIR 7-DEOXYAGLYCONES IN HUMAN SERUM BY HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

JEFFREY CUMMINGS*

Department of Clinical Oncology, University of Glasgow, 1 Horselethill Road, Glasgow G12 9LX (U.K.)

JAMES F.B. STUART

Department of Clinical Oncology, University of Glasgow, 1 Horselethill Road, Glasgow G12 9LX and Department of Pharmacy, University of Strathclyde, George Street, Glasgow G1 1XW (U.K.)

and

KENNETH C. CALMAN

Department of Clinical Oncology, University of Glasgow, 1 Horselethill Road, Glasgow G12 9LX (U.K.)

(First received March 12th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 6th, 1984)

SUMMARY

A reversed-phase isocratic high-performance liquid chromatographic assay is described for the measurement of adriamycin, adriamycinol and their 7-deoxyaglycones in human serum. The lower limit of detection in serum is 3 ng/ml for adriamycin and 1 ng/ml for adriamycinol and the 7-deoxyaglycones with coefficients of variation for k' of less than 5% throughout the day.

An extraction technique for serum is described which is capable of an almost equal recovery (> 77%) of adriamycin, metabolites and daunorubicin (the internal standard) without interference from endogenous components of serum. Serum concentrations of metabolites 15 min after intravenous bolus administration of 40 mg/m² adriamycin in two different patients were 26.5 and 16.6 ng/ml for adriamycinol; 109.8 and 5.8 ng/ml for the adriamycinol 7-deoxyaglycone and 21.4 and 17.1 ng/ml for the adriamycin 7-deoxyaglycone. A total of six metabolites of adriamycin were detected in the two patients using this methodology.

INTRODUCTION

Adriamycin (ADR) is a naturally occurring anthracycline glycosidic antibiotic with a broad spectrum of antitumour activity in human cancer [1]. In man, it was shown to be converted to at least eight different products, which were identified in urine using thin-layer chromatography (TLC) [2]. These were: adriamycinol (AOL), the major metabolite; five aglycones, adriamycin aglycone (ADR-ONE), adriamycin 7-deoxyaglycone (ADR-DONE), adriamycinol aglycone (AOL-ONE), adriamycinol 7-deoxyaglycone (AOL-DONE) and adriamycinol demethyl 7-deoxyaglycone (AOL-DM-DONE); and two conjugates of AOL-DM-DONE (Fig. 1). Pharmacokinetics of several aglycones were followed in fourteen cancer patients using TLC [3].

Recently, normal- and reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) methods have been published for the separation of mixtures of ADR and metabolites [4-11]. Coupled to a variety of extraction techniques the only metabolite of ADR that was detected in patient serum or plasma by



COMPOUND	R ₁	R ₂	R ₃
ADR	о н —С—СН ₂ ОН	сн ₃ 0/ но	і осн _з
AOL	ОН С−СН2ОН Н	CH ₃ HO HO	I осн ₃
ADR-ONE	о – с – сн ₂ он	 он	I осн _з
AOL-ONE	он — с — сн ₂ он н	 ОН	 осн _з
ADR-DONE	о 11 —с−сн₂он	 н	 осн _з
AOL-DONE	он −с −сн ₂ он н	H H	 осн ₃
AOL-DM-DONE	он -с-сн ₂ он н	 H	 ОН

Fig. 1. The structure of adriamycin and its metabolites.

HPLC was AOL [4, 7, 9, 12, 13]. The aglycones were suggested to be TLC artefacts caused by the hydrolysis of the glycosides ADR and AOL in situ during prolonged chromatographic development with acidic solvent systems [9, 12]. Whilst chemical decomposition may account for ADR-ONE and AOL-ONE, they can be produced by mild acid hydrolysis [10], it cannot explain the presence of 7-deoxyaglycone metabolites.

ADR and AOL 7-deoxyaglycone are formed by the chemical degradation of semi-quinone free radicals of ADR and AOL [14-16]. Since free radicals have been strongly implicated in the etiology of ADR-induced cardiotoxicity ADR-DONE and AOL-DONE may be important pharmacological markers. We report a new isocratic reversed-phase HPLC method with a simple extraction step which can detect adriamycin, adriamycinol and their 7-deoxy-aglycones in patient serum.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Apparatus

HPLC was performed throughout using an Altex Model 110A pump and an Altex Model 210 injection port with a 20- μ l injection loop (Beckman-RIIC, High Wycombe, U.K.); a Gilson Spectro-glo filter fluorimeter with narrow-band interference filters at 480 nm (excitation) and 560 nm (emission) and a 10- μ l quartz micro flow cell (Gilson, Villiers-le-Bel, France); a Shimadzu CR-1B integrator (supplied by Scotlab Instrument Sales, Bellshill, U.K.) or a Rikadenki R-20 pen recorder (Rikadenki Mitsui Electronics, Chessington, U.K.) and μ Bondapak C₁₈ prepacked columns 250 mm \times 4.6 mm I.D. (supplied by HPLC Technology, Macclesfield, U.K.).

Reagents and standards

All methanol, acetonitrile, propan-2-ol and chloroform were HPLC reagent grade (Fisons Scientific, Loughborough, U.K.). Orthophosphoric acid and all other solvents and chemicals were of analytical reagent grade (AnalaR, BDH, Poole, U.K.). Water was double-distilled and deionised in a quartz glass still. Pure adriamycin-HCl and adriamycinol-HCl were a gift from Dr. S. Penco (Farmitalia, Milan, Italy). The internal standard, daunorubicin-HCl (DNR), was from May and Baker (Dagenham, U.K.). Adriamycin aglycone and adriamycin 7-deoxyaglycone were from Dr. Penco and were also synthesised. Daunorubicin aglycone (DNR-ONE), adriamycin aglycone and adriamycinol aglycone were all synthesised by mild acid hydrolysis with 0.1 M hydrochloric acid at 55°C for 1 h [10]. Adriamycin 7-deoxyaglycone and adriamycinol 7-deoxyaglycone were synthesised by catalytic hydrogenation using a palladium catalyst [2]. Purity of all the aglycones was assessed by TLC using 20×10 cm glass plates coated with a 250-µm layer of silica gel G (Analtech uniplates, Scotlab Instruments Sales) and three different ascending solvent systems (S). S 1 was chloroform-methanol-water (80:20:3); S 2 was chloroform-methanol-glacial acetic acid-water (80:20:14:6) and S 3 was ethyl acetate-ethanol-glacial acetic acid-water (80:10:5:5) [2]. The aglycones were visualised as orange spots under ultraviolet light at 254 nm. The chemical identity of methanolic solutions of all the synthesised aglycone

standards was verified by direct probe injection mass spectrometry with a Kratos MS 902S mass spectrometer and a DS 55C data system (Kratos Analytical Instruments, Manchester, U.K.).

Stock solutions (100 μ g/ml) of AOL, ADR, DNR, AOL-ONE, ADR-ONE and DNR-ONE were prepared in methanol. Stock solutions of 10 μ g/ml of ADR-DONE and AOL-DONE were prepared in methanol because of their poor solubility. All further dilutions were made with methanol to give a range of standard solutions of 0.025–10 μ g/ml. All standard solutions were stored in PTFE-lined screw-capped bottles at -20°C and were made up fresh every month. Calibration curves were constructed by injecting 20 μ l of standard solution to give a range of 0.5–200 ng on the column. All standard curves were linear (r > 0.99) and had intercepts at the origin. The limit of detection was set at the 3:1 signal-to-noise ratio.

Chromatographic conditions

The mobile phase consisted of: 5 mM (final concentration) orthophosphoric acid, 62.5% in methanol, acetonitrile and propan-2-ol, either 12.5:12.5:12.5 or 15:15:7.5, respectively, pH 3.2. Elution was isocratic at a flow-rate of 2.5 ml/min. Mobile phase was degassed by sonication at 12 μ m for 15 min using a MSE sonicator (MSE Instruments, Crawley, U.K.). The column was at ambient room temperature (normally 25°C). Quantitation of sera extracts was by either peak area or peak height and was always by reference to standard calibration curves run on the same day.

Extraction procedure

Blood samples were collected from patients receiving $40 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ ADR}$ for the chemotherapy of cancer and were allowed to clot in plain glass tubes for 1 h at 4° C. Heparinised tubes were not used because heparin was shown to interfere with the HPLC assay. Blood was centrifuged at 1000 g for 10 min and the sera separated and stored at -20° C. Prior to extraction sera were thawed at room temperature.

To 1 or 2 ml of serum were added 100 ng DNR in 10 μ l of methanol as an internal standard. The sera were then mixed with 5 vols. of chloroform— propan-2-ol (2:1) and either whirlimixed for two 1-min periods in 25-ml PTFE-lined screw capped test-tubes or vortexed for 30 min in 35-ml tapered glass centrifuge tubes (28 mm I.D.) with a Buchler vortex evaporator (Gallenkamp, East Kilbride, U.K.). After mixing, the samples were centrifuged at 2000 g for 15 min at 4°C to separate two phases. The upper aqueous phase was discarded by aspiration, the lower organic phase was transferred to a clean 35-ml tapered centrifuge tube and was evaporated to dryness in the Buchler vortex evaporator at 40°C and 25 mmHg of vacuum. The residue was redissolved in either 50 or 100 μ l of methanol by whirlimixing for 1 min and 20 μ l were injected onto the HPLC column.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Physico-chemico properties of ADR and metabolites An assumption which is commonly made regarding ADR and metabolites is

that they fluoresce all with the same quantum efficiency (Φ) and molar extinction coefficient (ϵ) . To establish whether or not this is a valid assumption the fluorescence of each metabolite and DNR which was determined by HPLC was expressed relative to the fluorescence of equal concentrations of ADR (Table I). DNR and ADR were found to fluoresce equally but without exception the relative molar fluorescence (RMF) of the metabolites was greater than ADR. With AOL, ADR-ONE and AOL-ONE it was 1.5 times greater than ADR and with ADR-DONE and AOL-DONE it was 2 times greater than ADR (Table I). Assuming equal fluorescence is, therefore, likely to introduce large errors into quantitation when HPLC is involved [8, 11, 13, 17] and especially when only total fluorescent equivalents are measured [18-20].

TABLE I

PHYSICO-CHEMICO PROPERTIES OF ADRIAMYCIN AND METABOLITES

Compound MW	MW	Relative	Stability**		Percent solubility***		
		molar fluorescence*		25° C	Water	Methanol	Chloroform
ADR	543.5	1	6.5	9.1	>10	>1	ns
AOL	545.6	1.5	3.6	6.3	>10	>1	ns
ADR-ONE	414.4	1.5	1.1	1.9	ns	>0.5	< 0.02
AOL-ONE	416.4	1.5	<1	1.3	ns	>0.1	sparingly
ADR-DONE	398.4	2	1.6	1.3	ns	< 0.002	sparingly
AOL-DONE	400.4	2	<1	<1	ns	< 0.002	sparingly
DNR	527.5	1	6.1	8.0	>10	>1	ns

*Relative molar fluorescence is defined as the ratio of the integrated peak area of a metabolite and DNR over the integrated peak area of an equimolar concentration of ADR and is an expression of a metabolites fluorescence relative to the fluorescence of ADR.

**Stability data refer to the percentage of chemical decomposition per hour after a day at 25° C and per day after a week at 4° C of 10 μ g/ml methanolic solutions.

***Solubility was determined using saturated or near saturated solutions after mixing for 4 h at room temperature; ns refers to not soluble and sparingly to solubility of less than 0.001%.

TLC has been implicated in producing ADR metabolite artefacts [9, 12]. Stability studies of ADR, metabolites and DNR were performed using the HPLC method described in this paper. At 4° C and 25° C the aglycones decomposed at less than 2% per day and per hour, respectively (Table I). ADR, DNR and AOL degraded faster than the aglycones at 3.6–6.5% per day at 4° C and at 6.3–9.1% per hour at 25° C. The glycosides (ADR, DNR and AOL) decomposed into non-detectable, non-fluorescent products and not into aglycones.

The final property studied was solubility. The aglycones and particularly the 7-deoxyaglycones were insoluble in water, methanol and chloroform (Table I). Further solvents were investigated to find one suitable. Acetonitrile, tetrahydrofuran, hexane, light petroleum ($80-120^{\circ}$ C), benzene and toluene were tried each with equally poor results. The alcohols methanol, ethanol and propan-2-ol gave the best results. A possible explanation for the poor solubility of the aglycones is that strong hydrogen bonding occurs between quinone and hydroxyl groups in the crystals lattice. Alcohols would compete for hydrogen

bonds which may account for their success as solvents. The glycosides were soluble in both water and to a lesser extent methanol but were insoluble in chloroform (Table I).

High-performance liquid chromatography

The separation achieved with the mixture of 12.5:12.5:12.5 methanol, acetonitrile and propan-2-ol is in Fig. 2A with capacity factors (k') and retention times (t_R) in Table II and with the mixture of 15:15:7.5 methanol, acetonitrile and propan-2-ol in Fig. 2B with k' and t_R in Table II. After equilibration with either mobile phase for 1 h k' varied by less than 5% over an 8-h period at 25° C. By reducing the proportion of propan-2-ol, keeping the phosphoric acid constant and increasing the methanol and acetonitrile equally k' can be increased without affecting the separation (compare Fig. 2A and B). Detection limits along with lowest recorded serum level in parenthesis are for AOL, 0.5 ng (2.1 ng/ml); AOL-ONE, 0.5 ng; ADR 1 ng (4.4 ng/ml); ADR-ONE,



RETENTION TIME MIN

Fig. 2. Separation of a mixture of standards of ADR, metabolites and DNR (internal standard). (A) Chromatographic conditions: 5 mM (final concentration) orthophosphoric acid, 62.5% in methanol, acetonitrile and propan-2-ol, 12.5:12.5:12.5, pH 3.2. (B) Chromatographic conditions: 5 mM (final concentration) orthophosphoric acid, 62.5% in methanol, acetonitrile and propan-2-ol, 12.5:12.5:12.5, pH 3.2. (B) Chromatographic conditions: 5 mM (final concentration) orthophosphoric acid, 62.5% in methanol, acetonitrile and propan-2-ol, 15:15:7.5, pH 3.2. (C) After extraction from human serum. Chromatographic conditions as in Fig. 2A. Elution rate 2.5 ml/min and fluorescence detection at 480 nm (excitation) and 560 nm (emission). Peaks: a = AOL; b = AOL-ONE; c = ADR; d = ADR-ONE; e = AOL-DONE; f = DNR; g = ADR-DONE, h = DNR-ONE; i = serum peaks.

TABLE II

SEPARATION OF ADRIAMYCIN AND METABOLITES BY ISOCRATIC REVERSED-PHASE HPLC USING μ BONDAPAK C₁₈

Mobile phase 1 was 5 mM (final concentration) orthophosphoric acid, 62.5% in methanol, acetonitrile and propan-2-ol, 12.5:12.5:12.5. Mobile phase 2 was 5 mM (final concentration) orthophosphoric acid, 62.5% in methanol, acetonitrile and propan-2-ol, 15:15:7.5. The pH of both mobile phases was 3.2 and the elution rate was 2.5 ml/min. Fluorescence was measured at 480 nm (excitation) and 560 nm (emission).

Compound	Mobile phase 1		Mobile phase 2		
	k'	$(t_R \min)$	k'	$(t_R \min)$	
AOL	2.1	(5.0)	2.4	(5.5)	
AOL-ONE	2.6	(5.8)	3.3	(6.8)	
ADR	3.6	(7.3)	4.1	(8.1)	
ADR-ONE	4.2	(8.3)	6.0	(11.2)	
AOL-DONE	5.3	(10.0)	6.7	(12.3)	
DNR	7.8	(14.1)	10.1	(17.8)	
ADR-DONE	8.7	(15.5)	12.8	(22.0)	
DNR-ONE	9.4	(16.7)	13.6	(23.3)	

1 ng (4.2 ng/ml); AOL-DONE, 0.5 ng (1.4 ng/ml); and ADR-DONE, 1 ng (2.7 ng/ml). Extraction of ADR and metabolites from serum did not introduce interference peaks (Figs. 2C and 3C).

In preliminary studies normal-phase HPLC was investigated for its ability to separate the aglycone metabolites of ADR and the glycoside metabolite AOL. Silica gel particles (5 and 10 μ M) (LiChrosorb Si 60, E. Merck, Darmstadt, F.R.G.) and a variety of chloroform-based mobile phases were tried. The aglycones always tended to elute early unresolved.

Negatively charged ions have been employed in the analysis of ADR and metabolites by HPLC [8, 21]. In one study [21] and in our own studies, these agents had little influence on k' of aglycone standards.

Separation of the aglycone metabolites of ADR has only been properly demonstrated using reversed-phase HPLC. In one case gradient elution was used [4], although this method was unable to resolve two of the aglycones, ADR-ONE and AOL-DONE. Another approach employed isocratic elution using one mobile phase to resolve the glycosides and another to resolve the aglycones and two internal standards [10]. A third method used isocratic elution with a single predominately aqueous mobile phase with the consequence that retention times of the later eluting peaks were delayed and poor peak symmetry and decreased sensitivity resulted [7].

The present method achieves a separation of ADR and its major glycoside metabolite AOL as well as four different aglycone metabolites and DNR without requiring gradient elution or more than one mobile phase. Also, a complete analysis can be performed in under 18 min without broadening of later eluting peaks and analysis time can be controlled by changing the proportions of the different components of the mobile phase. Serum extractions

Over 50 control extractions with blood bank serum were performed. 1 or 2 ml of serum were spiked with 10 μ l of a methanolic solution containing 10–1000 ng of standard. Individual extraction efficiencies ± S.D. expressed as a percentage for 10 ng of standard were for AOL, 78.4 ± 12.3%; AOL-ONE, 84.8 ± 9.3%; ADR, 83.4 ± 6.1%; ADR–ONE, 85.8 ± 8.6%; AOL-DONE, 91.0 ± 5.3%; DNR, 77.8 ± 7.4%; and ADR-DONE, 82.1 ± 9.6%. This simple technique did not involve prolonged treatment with ethanolic 0.6 *M* hydrochloric acid [7] or require high-speed centrifugation to separate phases after precipitating proteins with ammonium sulphate [4] or use prepacked minicolumns [12] and was capable of more or less equal recovery of ADR and metabolites along with DNR. A typical blank serum extract is shown in Fig. 3C.

Fig. 3A and B shows chromatograms of blood taken from two different cancer patients 15 min after intravenous bolus administration of 40 mg/m² ADR. In the first patient (Fig. 3A) four ADR metabolite peaks were identified



RETENTION TIME MIN

Fig. 3. (A) Serum extract from a patient who received ADR as an intravenous bolus of 40 mg/m². Chromatographic conditions as in Fig. 2A. Peaks: a = serum peaks; b = ADR metabolite (k' 1.8); c = AOL (26.5 ng/ml); d = ADR (257.6 ng/ml); e = AOL-DONE (109.8 ng/ml); f = DNR (internal standard); and g = ADR-DONE (21.4 ng/ml). (B) Serum extract from a second patient who received ADR as an intravenous bolus of 40 mg/m². Chromatographic conditions: 5 mM (final concentration) orthophosphoric acid, 62.5% in methanol, aceto-nitrile and propan-2-ol, 16.5:16.5:4.5, pH 3.2. Elution rate 2.5 ml/min and detection as in Fig. 2A. Peaks: a = serum peaks; b = ADR metabolite (k' 1.5); c = ADR metabolite (k' 1.8); d = AOL (16.6 ng/ml); e = ADR (260 ng/ml); f = ADR-ONE (4.1 ng/ml); g = AOL-DONE (5.8 ng/ml); h = DNR (internal standard) and i = ADR-DONE (17.1 ng/ml). (C) Blank serum extract. Chromatographic conditions as in Fig. 2A. Peaks: a = serum peaks.

apart from the parent drug and the internal standard. The metabolites present were AOL (26.5 ng/ml), AOL-DONE (109.8 ng/ml), ADR-DONE (21.4 ng/ml) and an early eluting metabolite with k' of 1.8. In the second patient (Fig. 3B) six ADR metabolite peaks were identified apart from the parent drug and the internal standard. The metabolites present were AOL (16.6 ng/ml), AOL-DONE (5.8 ng/ml), ADR-ONE (4.1 ng/ml) and ADR-DONE (17.1 ng/ml) along with two early eluting metabolites with k' of 1.5 and 1.8.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the Cancer Research Campaign, London, for its support and for receipt of Grant C.R.C. SP1429 P2. Jeffrey Cummings would like to thank Mr. Tony Ritchie, Department of Chemistry, University of Glasgow, for running mass spectra and for aiding in their interpretation and Dr. Graham Skellern, Department of Pharmacy, University of Strathclyde, for many useful discussions.

REFERENCES

- 1 S.K. Carter, J. Nat. Cancer Inst., 55 (1975) 1265.
- 2 S. Takanshi and N.R. Bachur, Drug Metab. Dispos., 4 (1976) 79.
- 3 R.S. Benjamin, C.E. Riggs and N.R. Bachur, Cancer Res., 37 (1977) 1416.
- 4 P.A. Andrews, D.E. Brenner, F.E. Chou, H. Kubo and N.R. Bachur, Drug Metab. Dispos., 8 (1980) 152.
- 5 S.D. Averbach, T.T. Finkelstein, S.E. Frandich and S.D. Reich, J. Pharm. Sci., 70 (1981) 265.
- 6 R. Baurain, D. Deprez-De Campeneere and A. Trouet, Anal. Biochem., 94 (1979) 112.
- 7 W. Bolanowska, T. Gessner and H. Preisler, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 10 (1983) 187.
- 8 A.C. Haneke, J. Crawford and A. Aszalos, J. Pharm. Sci., 70 (1981) 1112.
- 9 M. Israel, W.J. Pegg, P.M. Wilkinson and M.B. Garnick, J. Liquid Chromatogr., 1 (1978) 795.
- 10 R.N. Pierce and P.I. Jatlow, J. Chromatogr., 164 (1979) 471.
- 11 S. Shinozawa and T. Oda, J. Chromatogr., 212 (1981) 323.
- 12 J. Robert, A. Illiadis, B. Hoerni, J.P. Cano, M. Durand and C. Lagarde, Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol., 18 (1982) 739.
- 13 P.M. Wilkinson, M. Israel, W.J. Pegg and E. Frei, III, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 2 (1979) 121.
- 14 N.R. Bachur, S.L. Gordon, M.V. Gee and H. Kon, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S., 76 (1979) 954.
- 15 V. Berlin and W.A. Haseltine, J. Biol. Chem., 40 (1981) 4747.
- 16 P.L. Gutierrez, M.V. Gee and N.R. Bachur, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 223 (1983) 68.
- 17 R.J. Parker, E.R. Priester and S.M. Sieber, Drug Metab. Dispos., 10 (1982) 499.
- 18 M.J. Egorin, R.E. Clawson, L.A. Ross, R.D. Friedman, S.D. Reich, A. Pollock and N.R. Bachur, Cancer Res., 43 (1983) 3253.
- 19 F.A. Schmid, G.M. Otter, G.C. Perri, D.J. Hutchinson and F.S. Philips, Cancer Res., 43 (1983) 976.
- 20 S. Yanovich and R.N. Taub, Cancer Res., 42 (1982) 3582.
- 21 M.A. van Lancker, H.J.C.F. Nelis and A.P. de Leenheer, J. Chromatogr., 254 (1983) 45.

CHROMBIO. 2240

NEW RAPID METHOD OF ANALYSIS OF CEFOXITIN IN SERUM AND BONE, BY HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

CHRISTINE PURSER*, ANN BALTAR, ING KANG HO and ARTHUR SCOTT HUME

Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS 39216-4505 (U.S.A.)

(First received March 19th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 19th, 1984)

SUMMARY

A method for the extraction and quantification of cefoxitin in blood and bone samples is described in this paper. The procedure, which prepares biological material for reversedphase high-performance liquid chromatographic analysis is convenient, rapid and reproducible. It also allows for use of cephalothin as an internal standard in measuring serum cefoxitin levels. Conventional extraction procedures, involving use of organic solvents, generally yield drug recoveries of 60-80%. Use of Baker - $10 \text{ SPE}^{\textcircled{0}}$ disposable extraction columns allowed us to consistently obtain greater than 98% recovery of both cefoxitin and cephalothin. Methods for quantification of the extracted drugs include comparison of peak ratios (for serum) or peak heights (for bone) to first-order equations obtained from regression analyses.

INTRODUCTION

Biological materials such as saliva, serum and urine have been analyzed for cephalosporin content by high-performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) methods [1-5]. Cefazolin, cephalothin, cefoxitin, cefotaxime, cefamandole, cefuroxime and cefoperazone (T1551) concentrations have been determined in plasma and urine specimen by reversed-phase liquid column chromatography [1]. Cefoxitin has also been measured in serum samples by reversed-phase liquid chromatography [2]. Anion-exchange HPLC has been used to detect cephalothin, cefoxitin and their metabolites in whole urine [3]. Moxalactam and cefazolin levels have been determined in bone and serum samples by HPLC [4]. Microbiological assays have also been used to demonstrate the presence of cephalosporins in samples of blood, skin, soft tissue and bone [6-12].

Procedures for the extraction of cephalosporins from biological materials vary according to methods of analysis and type of sample, with recovery of the drugs as low as 60%. In organic solvent extraction, low yields of recovered drug may be partially attributed to unfavorable partition coefficients of the extraction solvent.

In 1981, Dupont and De Jager [5] reported the use of Sep-Pak[®] cartridges to obtain 97% extraction of cefoperazone from serum samples.

The present communication reports a method which was developed independently in our laboratory for the extraction of cefoxitin from serum and bone of orthopedic patients. This method serves to increase the sensitivity of HPLC and decrease the quantity of drug lost in sample preparation. The procedure includes use of Baker-10 SPE[®] disposable C_{18} extraction columns and increases the yield of recovered drug 38% over procedures involving extraction with organic solvents. Not only is the method sensitive, but it is rapid and reproducible.

The use of cephalothin as an internal standard in measuring cefoxitin concentration in serum samples is also reported in this paper.

EXPERIMENTAL

Reagents and materials

Sodium cefoxitin was supplied by Merck Sharpe & Dohme (West Point, PA, U.S.A.). Cephalothin was purchased from Sigma. HPLC-grade acetonitrile and methanol (Fisher Scientific) and reagent-grade acetic acid, hydrochloric acid, potassium dihydrogen phosphate, dipotassium hydrogen phosphate, phosphoric acid and potassium hydroxide (J.T. Baker) were used in these studies. Baker - 10 SPE disposable columns containing octadecyl (C_{18}) packing were used throughout these experiments.

Apparatus

A Waters Assoc. (Milford, MA, U.S.A.) HPLC system, which included a Model M6000A solvent delivery system, an U6K injector and a Model 440 fixed-wavelength (254 nm) detector, was utilized. A Hewlett-Packard Model 3390A integrator was used. The chromatograph was equipped with a μ Bondapak C₁₈ (10 μ m particle size; 30 cm \times 3.9 mm I.D.) column and a Whatman guard column (Clifton, NJ, U.S.A.) packed with Co:Pell ODS.

Filtration of solvents was carried out using a Millipore analytical filtering system (Millipore, Bedford, MA, U.S.A.).

Preliminary treatment of samples

Samples of blood and bone were provided by orthopedic patients, who were undergoing elective arthroplastic surgery.

All samples were obtained from the surgical unit at the University of Mississippi Medical Center immediately upon notification of availability and were processed as follows:

The blood samples were centrifuged. The serum layer was removed and frozen at -60° C until analyzed.

When possible, at least 3 g, wet weight, of tissue were removed from each patient sample of cancellous bone. The bone was then cut into small pieces, approximately 2-3 mm in diameter, using a rongeur. Care was taken to select

tissue free from contamination with blood. Samples were packaged individually and frozen at -60° C until analyzed.

Preparation of standards

For serum, a stock standard solution of cefoxitin (1 mg/ml) was prepared by dissolving 26.37 mg of cefoxitin in 2 ml of 1% phosphate buffer, pH 6.0 [13], and diluting to 25 ml with drug-free serum. Working standards (12.5, 25, 50, 100, 200 and 400 μ g/ml) were then made by diluting the stock solution with drug-free serum.

A solution of cephalothin (500 μ g/ml), prepared in the 1% phosphate buffer, was used as an internal standard for measuring cefoxitin concentration in serum samples.

For bone, a solution of cefoxitin (1 mg/ml) was prepared in distilled water. Dilutions (50, 100, 250 and 500 μ g/ml) were made and a 60- μ l aliquot of each solution was added to 3-g portions of cefoxitin-free bone. These samples were then incubated for 30 min in a water bath (38°C). Final cefoxitin concentrations of the standard solution were 1, 2, 5, 10 and 20 μ g/g. The use of heat in preparation of bone standards eliminated the possibility of using an internal standard because the loss of cefoxitin from samples during period of incubation with cephalothin was a probability. Since an internal standard was not used, three sets of bone standards were prepared and extracted at separate times.

All standard solutions were either stored at -20° C or kept on ice when not in use.

Assay for serum cefoxitin

Extraction procedure. To 1 ml of serum was added 0.2 ml of the solution of internal standard (cephalothin) and the sample was acidified (pH < 3) by addition of 0.5 ml of 0.4 *M* hydrochloric acid. The sample was then applied to an octadecyl (C_{18}) disposable column that had been conditioned with 2 column vols. of methyl alcohol and 2 column vols. of distilled deionized water. After aspiration of the sample, the column was washed with 1 vol. of 0.1 *M* hydrochloric acid and dried under vacuum for 1 min. The sample was then eluted with 0.5 ml methyl alcohol. A 20-µl aliquot of the methyl alcohol eluent was injected into the HPLC system.

Chromatography. The mobile phase consisted of a mixture of distilled deionized water—acetonitrile—acetic acid (70:29:1). The flow-rate was set at 1.0 ml/min. The detector was set at 0.5 a.u.f.s. All separations were carried out at ambient temperature.

Quantification. First-order regression analysis was performed on data acquired from HPLC analysis of the serum standards. The X-coordinate values were represented by the ratio of the peak area of cefoxitin (PACF) versus peak area of cephalothin (PACP) for a known concentration of cefoxitin. The Y coordinates were represented by the known concentrations of cefoxitin. Cefoxitin in serum samples was quantified by comparing HPLC data of the ratio of PACF versus PACP to the first-order equation from regression analysis of the serum standards.

Assay for bone cefoxitin

Extraction procedure. After the prepared bone samples were thawed,

approximately 3 g of each sample were weighed into screw-capped conical tubes. The bone was then mixed with water in a ratio of weight of bone (g) to volume of diluent (ml) equivalent to 1:2. The mixture was shaken at 5°C for 5 h. The diluent was then removed and frozen at -20°C overnight. The procedure for extraction of cefoxitin from the diluent was the same as for the serum, but without the addition of internal standard. A 75- μ l aliquot of the methyl alcohol eluent was then injected into the chromatographic system.

Chromatography. The mobile phase consisted of a mixture of distilled deionized water—acetonitrile—acetic acid (80:19:1). The flow-rate was set at 1.0 ml/min. The detector was set at 0.02 a.u.f.s. The column was operated at ambient temperature.

Quantification. The chromatograms were quantified by comparing cefoxitin peak height to the first-order equation.

First-order regression analysis on HPLC data of cefoxitin bone standards was done as for serum standards. The X-coordinate values were represented by the averaged peak heights from three different preparations and extractions of the known cefoxitin concentration. The Y coordinates were represented by known concentrations of cefoxitin. Cefoxitin concentration in bone samples was then calculated by comparing the HPLC data of the averaged cefoxitin peak heights to the first-order equation determined by the regression analysis.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Preliminary extraction of cefoxitin bone standards and samples

Due to the lack of available literature on the extraction of cephalosporins from bone, studies were done to determine the period of time necessary to extract cefoxitin from bone with water. Several drug-free bone samples were incubated with 60 μ l of 1 mg/ml cefoxitin to obtain 20 μ g/g cefoxitin standard. Portions (3 g) of the cefoxitin bone samples were then mixed with 6 ml water and shaken on a mechanical shaker at 5°C for a total of 24 h. Aliquots of 50 μ l of the eluent were removed and quantified at 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 24 h. Samples analyzed after 5 h showed no increase in cefoxitin concentration, hence, a period of 5 h was used throughout these experiments for extraction of the drug from bone samples.

Standard solutions of cefoxitin $(1, 2, 5, 10, \text{ and } 20 \,\mu\text{g/ml})$ in methyl alcohol were quantified concurrently with the bone extract. Recovery of cefoxitin was calculated at 56 ± 6%. Since the recoveries were low and an internal standard was not used, three different sets of bone standards were prepared, extracted and analyzed. These analyses repeatedly gave recoveries within the 56 ± 6% range. Possibly, adsorption to the bone by cefoxitin can account for this reduction of the recovery. Efforts to improve this recovery were limited by the number of cefoxitin-free bone samples which could be obtained at surgery.

Extraction of cefoxitin from serum and bone

Extraction with C_{18} disposable columns resulted in greater than 98% recovery of cefoxitin from blood and bone standards. Organic solvent extraction, using chloroform—1-pentanol, yielded a recovery of only 60—80%.

Extraction with cyano disposable columns was tried, but since cefoxitin was detected in the eluent of the sample application, the method was rejected.

Analysis of the eluent, after application of sample to the C_{18} disposable column, revealed no loss of either drug from the column; also, analysis of the acid wash eluent, revealed loss of neither cephalothin nor cefoxitin.

The rate of elution of the first methyl alcohol portion (0.5 ml) was regulated in order to maximize the elution of cefoxitin and cephalothin. An elution rate of 1 drop every 2 sec resulted in total recovery of both drugs in the first methyl alcohol elution, as was determined by absence of drug in the second methyl alcohol eluent.

Linear regression analysis

Linear regression analysis performed on serum standards provided a correlation coefficient equal to 0.99998.

Linear regression analysis performed on bone standards provided a correlation coefficient of 0.99886.

HPLC

A typical chromatogram of the sample fraction of serum (A) and bone (B) from a patient are depicted in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. (A) Chromatogram of sample fraction (0.5 ml) of extracted serum. Blood sample was drawn at time of bone excision. Cefoxitin concentration was 20.4 μ g/ml. Retention time of cefoxitin is 5.48 min. Retention time of cephalothin (internal standard) is 9.05 min. $\lambda = 254$ nm; 0.5 a.u.f.s.; mobile phase: water-acetonitrile-acetic acid (70:29:1); injection volume; 20 μ l. (B) Chromatogram of sample fraction (0.5 ml) of extracted bone. Cefoxitin concentration was 4.2 μ g/ml. Retention time of cefoxitin is 12.93 min. $\lambda = 254$ nm; 0.02 a.u.f.s.; mobile phase: water-acetonitrile-acetic acid (80:19:1); injection volume: 75 μ l.

The mobile phase was altered from water—acetonitrile—acetic acid (70:29:1) in serum cefoxitin determination to water—acetonitrile—acetic acid (80:19:1) in bone cefoxitin determination due to an unidentified peak which occurred in blank bone controls. The occurrence of this peak necessitated delaying the elution of cefoxitin in order to avoid interference. Fig. 2 shows chromatograms of extracted blank serum (A) and extracted blank bone (B) used in preparing standards. In Fig. 2B the peak at 11 min would be separated from any cefoxitin peak which would elute 2 min later, using 80% water in the mobile phase; at 70% water these two peaks are not separated.



Fig. 2. (A) Chromatogram of blank serum, extracted as for serum standards and samples. HPLC conditions were the same as those in Fig. 1A. (B) Chromatogram of blank bone used in preparing bone standards, extracted as for bone standards and samples. HPLC conditions were the same as those in Fig. 1B. (\downarrow) denotes where cefoxitin (CF) or cephalothin (CP) would elute in serum and where cefoxitin (CF) would elute in bone.

Precision

The 100 μ g/ml cefoxitin serum standard was analyzed with each set of samples to determine the precision of the curve. Relative precision of 3.5% for the 100 μ g/ml serum standard was obtained during the analysis of the 55 serum samples. Due to the linearity of the serum standard curve, the high rate of recoveries for cefoxitin from serum (> 98%), and the use of an internal standard, no more than one point on the serum standard curve was repeatedly extracted and analyzed.

The relative precision for the bone standard curve was 3% on the lower part of the curve and 10% on the upper portion. To compensate for the variations in precision, three different sets of bone standards were prepared, extracted and analyzed. The averages of their peak heights were used to prepare the standard curve. Bone standards were also analyzed intermittently during HPLC analysis of samples and were within the limits of the standard curve.

REFERENCES

- 1 A.M. Brisson and J.B. Fourtillan, J. Chromatogr., 223 (1981) 393.
- 2 L.A. Wheeler, M. De Meo, B.D. Kirby, R.S. Jerauld and S.M. Finegold, J. Chromatogr., 183 (1980) 357.
- 3 R.P. Buhs, T.E. Maxim, N. Allen, T.A. Jacob and F.J. Wolf, J. Chromatogr., 99 (1974) 609.
- 4 R. Polk, A. Hume, B.J. Kline and J. Cardea, Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res., 177 (1983) 216.
- 5 D.G. Dupont and R.L. De Jager, J. Liquid Chromatogr., 4 (1981) 123.
- 6 D.J. Schurman, D.S. Burton, G. Kajiyama, K. Moser and D.A. Nagel, Curr. Ther. Res., 20 (1976) 194.
- 7 R.L. Perkins, T.G. Slama, R.J. Fass, R.B. Prior, J.T. Plouffe, J.F. Warner and T.M. File, Rev. Infect. Dis., 1 (1979) 165.
- 8 D.J. Schurman and M. Dillingham, Rev. Infect. Dis., 1 (1979) 206.
- 9 W.R. Murray and E. Jameson, Orthopedics, 3 (1980) 32.
- 10 J.Y. Summersgill, L.G. Schupp and M.J. Raff, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 21 (1982) 601.
- 11 D.J. Schurman, H.P. Hirshman and D.S. Burton, Bone Jt. Surg., 62 (1980) 981.
- 12 M.B. Rosenfeld, J. Campos, K.R. Ratzan and I. Uredo, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 19 (1981) 826.
- 13 The United States Pharmacopeia, Mack Publishing Co., Easton, PA, 19th rev., 1975, p. 596.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 141–147 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2238

Note

Quantitative analysis of aromatic amines in human urine by gas chromatography—mass spectrometry—selected-ion monitoring

GIOVANNI CARLUCCI*, LUISA AIROLDI and ROBERTO FANELLI

Laboratory of Environmental Pharmacology and Toxicology, Istituto di Ricerche Farmacologiche "Mario Negri", Via Eritrea 62, 20157 Milan (Italy)

and

BIAGIO LAGUZZI

Michelin Italiana, Turin (Italy)

(First received March 22nd, 1984; revised manuscript received June 4th, 1984)

Epidemiological studies in several countries on workers in the rubber industry point to a high incidence of various types of tumours [1]. Bladder cancer has been associated with exposure to aromatic amines and in particular to 2-naphthylamine. Other types of cancer (lung, stomach, and leukaemia) occurring in excess among rubber workers have not been associated with exposure to specific compounds; but this is explained by the fact that the industrial processes involved use a wide variety of chemicals whose toxicological properties are unknown. Since it is unlikely that toxicological information about these compounds will be available in the near future, a practical approach would be to reduce the exposure of these workers and to measure it.

N-Phenyl-2-naphthylamine (PBNA), N-isopropyl-N'-phenyl-*p*-phenylenediamine (IPPD) and N-(1,3-dimethylbutyl)-N'-phenyl-*p*-phenylenediamine (6PPD) are widely used as antioxidants and antiozonants (generally at levels of 1-2%) in the rubber industry [2] and workers may be exposed to them.

Contrasting results have been reported on the carcinogenicity of PBNA in laboratory animals: oral [3-5], subcutaneous [3,4,6] and aerosol [7] administration to mice resulted in a significantly higher incidence of different tumours; PBNA intragastrically administered for life did not cause neoplastic growth in Sprague—Dawley rats [8] or in Syrian golden hamsters [9]; no bladder tumours were observed in dogs fed orally with PBNA [10]. There are no data in the literature on IPPD and 6PPD carcinogenicity. Hence, it is important to quantify the possible exposure to these chemicals in order to avoid or

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

reduce contact with those chemicals for which the toxicological hazard is not yet clear.

One of the simplest and most easily applicable systems is to measure urinary excretion of aromatic amines in exposed individuals. A number of methods have been reported for the determination of aromatic amines in human urine by gas chromatography (GC) [11-13], high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) [14] and mass spectrometry (MS) [15]. However, to our knowledge there are no methods to determine PBNA in human urine and only one method reports separation and quantitation of IPPD and 6PPD in this biological fluid [16]; in that method aromatic amines were measured by HPLC with a sensitivity of $50 \mu g/l$.

In order to study the exposure of workers to aromatic amines normally used in the rubber industry, we devised a reliable, specific and highly sensitive analytical method for the determination of trace levels of PBNA, IPPD and 6PPD in human urine using combined gas chromatography—mass spectrometry—selected-ion monitoring (GC—MS—SIM). The application to biological monitoring of rubber industry workers is reported.

EXPERIMENTAL

Chemicals and reagents

PBNA was provided by E. Merck (Darmstadt, F.R.G.); IPPD and 6PPD were obtained from Bayer (Leverkusen, F.R.G.). Reagent-grade sodium hydroxide and ammonium hydroxide were from Farmitalia Carlo Erba (Milan, Italy). Trifluoroacetic anhydride (TFAA) of reagent grade was purchased from Janssen (Beerse, Belgium). Silylation-grade pyridine was obtained from Pierce (Rotterdam, The Netherlands). *n*-Hexane of pesticide analytical grade was supplied by Riedel-de Haen (Hannover, F.R.G.).

Extraction and derivatization of biological samples

In a 40-ml centrifuge tube, 20 ml of human urine were adjusted to pH 11 using 10 *M* sodium hydroxide. The compounds were extracted three times with 10 ml of *n*-hexane by mixing for 10 min on a horizontal reciprocating shaker. After centrifuging at 2000 g for 5 min the combined organic extracts were concentrated to 1 ml in a rotating evaporator, transferred to a 10-ml reaction tube and evaporated under vacuum to dryness. The residue was dissolved in 500 μ l of *n*-hexane and reacted with 20 μ l of TFAA and 20 μ l of pyridine at 60°C for 30 min using a thermostated bath. After cooling, 1.5 ml of *n*-hexane and 1 ml of 5% aqueous ammonia solution were added to the sample and the mixture was shaken on a vortex mixer for 1 min. The organic layer was transferred to another 10-ml conical tube and evaporated to dryness under an air stream. The residue was dissolved in 50 μ l of *n*-hexane; 4 μ l were analysed by GC-MS.

Instrumentation

An LKB 2091 gas chromatograph, low-resolution mass spectrometer, equipped with an LKB 2130 computer data processing system, was used. A $2 \text{ m} \times 2 \text{ mm}$ I.D. silanized glass column packed with 3% OV-1 on Gas Chrom

Q (80–100 mesh) (Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, U.S.A.) was used. Column and injector port temperatures were 265°C and 290°C, respectively. Helium was used as carrier gas and the column head pressure was 2.5 bars. The mass spectrometer was operated in the electron-impact (EI) mode with the following conditions: electron energy 70 eV, trap current 50 μ A, ion source temperature 250°C. SIM chromatograms were obtained by monitoring the ions at m/z 315, 376/418, 376/460 for PBNA, IPPD, 6PPD, respectively.

Calculations

Since early attempts to synthesize deuterium-labelled aromatic amines to be used as internal standard failed, all measurements were made by comparison of the areas of unknown samples with areas of reference mixtures containing known amounts of PBNA, IPPD and 6PPD. Reference mixtures were injected every three samples.

Calibration curves were constructed by derivatizing known amounts (0.1, 0.2, 0.4, 1, 2 ng) of aromatic amines as described above. Extraction and clean-up efficiency were evaluated by adding known amounts (2-80 ng) of standards PBNA, IPPD and 6PPD to 20 ml of blank urine samples which were then processed as described above. For routine analysis, blank and spiked urine samples were processed together with each batch of samples.

Human studies

Urine specimens (200 ml) were collected from 21 workers in a rubber factory, who were likely to have been exposed to aromatic amines by inhalation or skin contact, and kept frozen (-20° C) until analysed.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The mass spectra of the three underivatized amines gave intense peaks which could be used for SIM detection at m/z 219 (M)⁺ for PBNA, m/z 211 (M-15)⁺ and 226 (M)⁺ for IPPD, m/z 211 (M-57)⁺ and 268 (M)⁺ for 6PPD as shown in Fig. 1. However, the attempt to use these for SIM analyses failed because aromatic amines gave broad GC peaks because of absorption on the GC columns and interference from urine components.

To improve the GC behaviour of the compounds to be analysed derivatization was decided upon. Trifluoroacetyl (TFA) derivatives were found to be suitable for GC-MS analysis. Derivatization was quantitative: PBNA gave rise to a monoderivative while IPPD and 6PPD reacted with two TFAA molecules. All the derivatives produced sharp and symmetrical GC peaks. The mass spectra of the three derivatives are shown in Fig. 2. The retention times and masses of the most abundant ions in each spectrum are listed in Table I together with their abundance ratios relative to the most intense ion.

Multiple-ion detection was performed by monitoring the ion intensities at m/z 315 for PBNA, at m/z 376 and 418 for IPPD, at m/z 376 and 460 for 6PPD. Typical SIM chromatograms are shown in Fig. 3; there were no interfering peaks from amine-free urine.

Peak areas as a function of the amounts of amines injected were linear in the range 0.1-2 ng as shown by linear regression analysis correlation coefficients of



Fig. 1. Mass spectra of PBNA (a), IPPD (b) and 6PPD (c).

0.9999, 0.9991 and 0.9989 for PBNA, IPPD (m/z 418) and 6PPD (m/z 376), respectively.

The minimum detectable amount of aromatic amines was calculated to be 0.1 μ g/l of urine with a signal-to-noise ratio >3:1. Mean recovery values and standard errors, in the range of concentrations in urine from 0.1 ng/ml to 4 ng/ml, were 86±3%, 77±5% and 70±5% for PBNA, IPPD and 6PPD, respectively.



Fig. 2. Mass spectra of TFA derivatives of PBNA (a), IPPD (b) and 6PPD (c).

TABLE I

RETENTION TIME OF TFA AROMATIC AMINE DERIVATIVES, MASSES AND ABUNDANCE RATIOS OF CHARACTERISTIC IONS

Compound	Retention time (min)	Ions, m/z (abundance, %)
diTFA-IPPD	1.6	172(100), 418(46), 376(40), 167(32)
TFA-PBNA	2.0	172(100), 315(86), 217(69), 218(68)
diTFA-6PPD	2.4	376(100), 172(70), 43(63), 460(42)

The SIM method was applied to the determination of urine levels of PBNA, IPPD and 6PPD in a group of 21 workers in the rubber industry. Four urine samples were collected during a working week from each worker. About 70%

of the urine samples analysed contained at least one of the aromatic amines studied. As reported in Fig. 4, among the positive samples more than threequarters presented values ranging from 0.1 to 0.3 μ g/l; the highest value detected was 1.3 μ g/l and there was no correlation between the presence of the three amines in the same subject. Air samples collected in the work area showed concentrations of 0.01–1 μ g/m³ for each of the three amines.

In conclusion, the GC-MS-SIM assay described is convenient for detecting and quantifying PBNA, IPPD and 6PPD in human urine with high sensitivity $(0.1 \ \mu g/l)$ and lack of interference.

Nevertheless, the information obtained by application of this method is useful at the present time only for qualitative evaluation of workers' exposure to aromatic amines. Studies on laboratory animals [17-19] and humans



Fig. 3. Mass fragmentograms of selected ions of PBNA (m/z 315), IPPD (m/z 376, 418) and 6PPD (m/z 376, 460). (A) Blank urine sample; (B) standard aromatic amine mixture (2 ng each); (C) urine sample.



Fig. 4. Distribution of PBNA-, IPPD- and 6PPD-positive samples as a function of urine concentration.

[20,21] have shown that PBNA [18-21] and IPPD [17] are rapidly metabolized; so, in fact, determination of their urinary excretion may not give the best quantitative indicator of exposure. Experiments are in progress to determine whether these compounds are metabolized to products that may better reflect human contamination.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by Michelin Italiana S.p.A., Turin, Italy. G.C. is a Fellow of the Formez Training Program.

REFERENCES

- 1 IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans, Vol. 28, International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, 1982.
- 2 F.W. Shaver, in R.E. Kirk and D.F. Othmer (Editors), Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology, Vol. 17, Wiley, New York, 2nd ed., 1968, p. 509.
- 3 J.R.M. Innes, B.M. Ulland, M.G. Valerio, L. Petrucelli, L. Fishbein, E.R. Hart, A.J. Pallotta, R.R. Bates, H.L. Falk, J.J. Gart, M. Klein, I. Mitchell and J. Peters, J. Nat. Cancer Inst., 42 (1969) 1101.
- 4 National Technical Information Service (NTIS), Evaluation of Carcinogenic, Teratogenic and Mutagenic Activities of Selected Pesticides and Industrial Chemicals, Vol. 1, U.S. Department of Commerce, Washington, DC, 1968.
- 5 H. Wang, R. Shen and R. Dzeng, Shiyan Shengwu Xuebao, 14 (1981) 129.
- 6 H. Wang, R. Dzeng and D. Wang, Shiyan Shengwu Xuebao, 15 (1982) 199.
- 7 X. You and Y. Yao, Shiyan Shengwu Xuebao, 14 (1981) 139.
- 8 M.B. Ketkar and U. Mohr, Cancer Lett., 16 (1982) 203.
- 9 U. Green, J. Holste and A.R. Spikermann, J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol., 95 (1979) 51.
- 10 G.H. Gehrmann, J.H. Foulger and A.J. Fleming, in Proc. 9th Int. Congr. Industrial Medicine, London, 1948, Wright, Bristol, 1949, pp. 472-475.
- 11 P.B. Van Roosmalen, A.L. Klein and I. Drummond, Amer. Ind. Hyg. Ass. J., 40 (1979) 66.
- 12 M.C. Bowman and L.G. Rushing, Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 6 (1977) 471.
- 13 C.R. Nony and M.C. Bowman, J. Chromatogr. Sci., 18 (1980) 64.
- 14 J.R. Rice and P.T. Kissinger, J. Anal. Toxicol., 3 (1979) 64.
- 15 R.E. Hurst, R.L. Settine, F. Fish and E.C. Roberts, Anal. Chem., 53 (1981) 2175.
- 16 F. Belliardo and I. Pavan, J. Liquid Chromatogr., 4 (1981) 279.
- 17 H. Saito, K. Miyazaki and T. Arita, Yakugaku Zasshi, 100 (1980) 126.
- 18 P.L. Batten and D.E. Hathway, Brit. J. Cancer, 35 (1977) 342.
- 19 M.M. Anderson, R.K. Mitchum and F.A. Beland, Xenobiotica, 12 (1982) 31.
- 20 R. Kummer and W.F. Tordoir, Tijdschr. Soc. Geneeskd., 53 (1975) 415.
- 21 R.M. Moore Jr., B.S. Woolf, H.P. Stein, A.W. Thomas and J.F. Finklea, Science, 195 (1977) 344.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 148–153 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2227

Note

Dihydrocaffeic acid: a common contaminant in the liquid chromatographic—electrochemical measurement of plasma catecholamines in man

DAVID S. GOLDSTEIN* and ROBIN STULL

Hypertension-Endocrine Branch, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health, Building 10 8C118, Bethesda, MD 20205 (U.S.A.)

SANFORD P. MARKEY

Laboratory of Clinical Science, National Institute of Mental Health, National Institutes of Health, Building 10 8C118, Bethesda, MD 20205 (U.S.A.)

ERIC S. MARKS*

Department of Medicine, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Bethesda, MD 20814-4799 (U.S.A.)

and

HARRY R. KEISER

Hypertension-Endocrine Branch, National Hearth, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health, Building 10 8C118, Bethesda, MD 20205 (U.S.A.)

(First received January 10th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 13th, 1984)

High-performance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection (HPLC-ED) after an alumina extraction provides high sensitivity and specificity for measuring plasma levels of the endogenous catecholamines norepinephrine (NE), epinephrine (E), and dopamine (DA) [1]. This technique will also detect catechols other than the neurotransmitter catecholamines, because the alumina separation and electrochemical reaction depend on a catechol nucleus and its oxidation potential and not on the presence of an amine residue [2]. This

^{*}The opinions and assertions contained herein are the private ones of the author and are not to be construed as official or reflecting the views of the Department of Defense or the Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences.



Fig. 1. (A) Chromatogram (BAS system) of 500 pg each of norepinephrine (NE), epinephrine (E), dopamine (DA), and the internal standard, N-methyldopamine (NMDA) after alumina batch extraction. Numbers are retention times in hundredths of a minute. (B) Chromatogram of plasma-derived eluate from a patient with a large coffee peak. (C) Chromatogram from the same patient 18 h after discontinuing coffee. Note complete absence of the coffee peak.

means that in clinical settings where the food and drug intake of the patient is uncontrolled, exogenous catechols may produce contaminating chromatographic peaks by the HPLC-ED technique.

One unidentified substance which we have frequently encountered has been more than a mere annoyance, because it may co-chromatograph with E or DA depending on the chromatographic conditions. In the case shown in Figs. 1 and 2, for instance, this unknown substance co-chromatographed with E in a patient with an adrenal mass and suggested the diagnosis of pheochromocytoma. We sought to identify this substance.

METHODS

We compared the chromatographic characteristics of the unknown substance with those of several standards on different chromatographic systems. The small amount of substance in the unknown peak precluded direct identification by gas chromatography—mass spectrometry (GC—MS) without substantial concentration and isolation efforts.

The HPLC-ED method used was previously validated in this laboratory [1]. In the present study we used two different HPLC-ED systems. One consisted of a Waters 6000A solvent delivery system, U6K injector, μ Bondapak



Fig. 2. (A) Co-chromatography of the coffee peak with epinephrine (E) using the same plasma sample as in Fig. 1B but with the plasma-derived eluate injected into a matched system with a somewhat newer column; (B) Co-chromatography of dihydrocaffeic acid (DHCA) with E on this system. Compare with Fig. 1A; (C) Chromatogram of DHCA. Note identical retention time with that of the coffee peak.

 C_{18} , 30 cm \times 3.9 mm reversed-phase stainless-steel column containing 10- μ m irregular particulate packing, and a guard column packed with C_{18} Porasil; a Bioanalytical Systems (BAS) LC4 or LC4A amperometric detector with TL5 glassy carbon electrode; and a Waters Data Module. The mobile phase for this system consisted of 1 l water, 6.8 g sodium acetate, 100 mg EDTA, 1 g heptane-sulfonic acid, and 7% acetonitrile at pH 4.8. The mobile phase was pumped at a flow-rate of 1.0 ml/min with the detector set at 1 nA/V at 0.50 V applied potential. The other system was the same, except that an Environmental Sciences Associates (ESA) triple-electrode system was used, with the first electrode in the post-column series set at 0.30 V, the second at 0.15 V, and the third at -0.35 V, so that only reversibly oxidizable species were detected. The ESA mobile phase consisted of 1 l water, 6.8 g sodium acetate, 100 mg EDTA, 1 g heptanesulfonic acid, and 8% acetonitrile at pH 3.5.

After HPLC studies suggested dihydrocaffeic acid as the unknown substance, GC-MS was used to confirm this identification. Aliquots (2 ml) of plasma obtained from subjects without the unknown peak, plasma to which dihydrocaffeic acid (3 ng/ml) had been added, and plasma from a patient who, had a large unknown chromatographic peak were acidified with 1 ml of 1 mol/l hydrochloric acid, and 0.1 ml of 0.114 mol/l ascorbic acid and 0.1 ml of 0.054 mol/l EDTA were added. Each sample was extracted twice with 4 ml of ethyl acetate. The extracts were dried over sodium sulfate, evaporated in vacuo, and transferred with methanol to PTFE-lined screw cap glass tubes. The

samples were evaporated under nitrogen and reacted with 50 μ l of pentafluoropropanol and 100 μ l of pentafluoropropionic anhydride at 70°C for 15 min, evaporated under nitrogen, and then rereacted with 100 μ l of pentafluoropropionic anhydride for 10 min at 70°C. The reacted samples were evaporated to dryness and redissolved in 25 μ l of ethyl acetate for GC-MS. A 3% OV-17 (100-120 mesh) column (2 m × 2 mm I.D., glass) was used for analysis. Of each derivatized sample 2-4 μ l were injected into a Finnigan Model 3200 electron ionization GC-MS system with a Nermag SADR data acquisition system.

RESULTS

Of 108 people whose plasma was assayed for catecholamine content using HPLC-ED, 36 (33%) had an additional peak larger than that of NE, E, or DA and with a retention time between that of E and DA.

When patients with large unknown peaks were interviewed, they all reported being coffee drinkers, with coffee intake varying from 3 to 30 cups per day. Four subjects volunteered to stop drinking all coffee or caffeinated beverages for periods varying from 18 h to 1 week. In all of these subjects, the unknown peak decreased markedly in height or disappeared entirely (Fig. 1C). Two subjects substituted decaffeinated for caffeinated coffee and had blood drawn



Fig. 3. Electron-ionization spectra for derivatized (A) dihydrocaffeic acid; and (B) plasma extract from a patient with a large unknown peak on HPLC--ED analysis.

1 day or 1 week later, and in both, the unknown peak persisted. These findings, and the fact that neither caffeine nor any of several of its metabolites was detectable by the HPLC—ED procedure, implied that the unknown substance was related to a non-caffeine constituent of coffee. The unknown substance was not detectable in coffee itself after the alumina extraction. Because the unknown substance was retained on alkaline alumina and eluted from acid alumina as part of the HPLC—ED sample preparation, and because it was reversibly oxidizable at low potentials, we reasoned that it was a catechol. None of the known stable catecholamine metabolites or tyramine, synephrine, ascorbic acid, N-methylepinephrine, or dimethylephinephrine co-chromatographed with the unknown substance. We therefore searched for a metabolite of a catechol present in coffee.

Caffeic acid and chlorogenic acid are well known coffee-associated catechols [3]. Caffeic acid was not retained on the HPLC column, and chlorogenic acid did not co-chromatograph with the unknown substance. However, dihydro-caffeic acid (DHCA, 3,4-dihydroxyphenylpropionic acid), a metabolite of caffeic acid, co-chromatographed with the unknown peak on two HPLC systems. DHCA had congruent voltammetry with that of the unknown peak. We therefore concluded that DHCA was likely to be the unknown substance.

Dihydrocaffeic acid was then studied using GC-MS. At a column temperature of 130° C, derivatized DHCA eluted at 2.5 min; the separator and transfer lines were at 200°C; and the ionizing potential was set at 70 eV. Partial mass spectra (m/z 370-515) are shown in Fig. 3. Selected-ion recording at m/z428 and 457 (not shown) indicated that these ions were present at the appropriate retention time in the plasma extract which exhibited the unknown peak on HPLC and in the plasma extract to which 3 ng/ml of DHCA had been added but were absent in a plasma sample which did not exhibit the unknown peak on HPLC. Thus, extracted, derivatized plasma without the unknown peak did not contain DHCA, whereas a plasma extract from a subject with a large unknown peak contained a substance with the identical retention characteristics and mass spectra as recorded from authentic DHCA (Fig. 3).

DISCUSSION

In clinical settings where the food and drug intake of the patient is uncontrolled, exogenous catechols may produce contaminating chromatographic peaks by the HPLC-ED technique for catecholamines. One such peak has appeared in about one third of the chromatograms we have obtained, and occasionally this peak has co-chromatographed with epinephrine or dopamine.

On the basis of clinical observations and then HPLC-ED and GC-MS analyses, we identified the unknown substance as dihydrocaffeic acid, a catechol metabolite of caffeic acid. Dihydrocaffeic acid can be produced from caffeic acid by human intestinal bacteria [4].

The presence of detectable DHCA in plasma was not associated with elevations of plasma NE. Thus, despite the fact that acute caffeine ingestion increases plasma catecholamines [5], our apparent marker of coffee drinking was not associated with generalized sympathetic neural activation. When injected intravenously acutely into anesthetized rats and for up to 32 h into conscious rats, DHCA produced no changes in blood pressure, heart rate, or cardiac output.

We routinely have proscribed drinking caffeinated beverages for 24 h prior to blood sampling in our clinical studies, but we have allowed subjects to drink decaffeinated coffee. Since many subjects have stopped driking coffee in any from prior to blood sampling, the prevalence of the DHCA peak we observed probably underestimated that in the general population.

When HPLC-ED procedures are used to measure plasma catecholamines in people, dietary factors can produce contaminating peaks and potentially lead to erroneous clinical interpretations. One such factor is DHCA, a metabolite of a coffee-containing catechol.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We gratefully acknowledge the assistance of Drs. Henry Fales, Irwin Kopin, and Robert Levine, and of Ms. Joan Folio and Mr. Robert Sherman.

REFERENCES

- 1 D.S. Goldstein, G.Z. Feuerstein, J.L. Izzo, Jr., I.J. Kopin and H.R. Keiser, Life Sci., 28 (1981) 467-475.
- 2 A.H. Anton and D.F. Sayre, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 138 (1962) 360-375.
- 3 A.N. Booth, O.H. Emerson, F.T. Jones and D. Floyd, J. Biol. Chem., 229 (1957) 51-59.
- 4 M.A. Peppercorn and P. Goldman, J. Bacteriol., 108 (1971) 996-1000.
- 5 D. Robertson, G.A. Johnson, R.M. Robertson, A.S. Nies, D.G. Shand and J.A. Oates, Circulation, 59 (1979) 637-643.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 154–159 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2226

Note

Determination of DOPA, dopamine, and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA in plasma, urine, and tissue samples by high-performance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection

SHOSUKE ITO*, TOSHIAKI KATO, KAZUHIRO MARUTA and KEISUKE FUJITA

Institute for Comprehensive Medical Science, School of Medicine, Fujita-Gakuen University, Toyoake, Aichi 470-11 (Japan)

and

TATSUO KURAHASHI

Yanagimoto Manufacturing Co., Ltd., Fushimi-ku, Kyoto 612 (Japan)

(First received March 5th, 1984; revised manuscript received May 4th, 1984)

There are two basic classes of melanin pigments in animals, i.e. dark eumelanin and reddish pheomelanin [1]. In melanocytes, tyrosinase converts tyrosine to 3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine (DOPA) and then to a highly reactive dopaquinone. In the absence of sulphydryl compounds, dopaquinone is converted to eumelanin in a complex series of reactions. If dopaquinone encounters cysteine (or glutathione), cysteinyl-DOPA isomers are produced among which 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA is the major one [2]. Further oxidation of cysteinyl-DOPA gives rise to pheomelanin.

A high level of 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA was first detected in melanoma tissues [3] and then in urine of melanoma patients [3]. The urinary excretion of this catecholic amino acid was found to reflect the degree of dissemination of melanoma [4] and is now routinely evaluated in many clinical laboratories. Although a fluorimetric method was originally developed for the determination of 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA, a more sensitive and selective method was then reported using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with electrochemical detection [5-7].

Commonly, alumina extraction has been applied to extract catechols from biological samples before chromatographic analysis. However, the previously reported methods for 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA determination use a batch procedure [5] or a column procedure [7] which is tedious and requires large amounts of samples, e.g. 6 ml of serum [5]. We have been studying the correlation between the level of DOPA and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA, the pigment precursors, and the type of melanogenesis [8,9]. In these studies, we found it convenient to develop a micro-batch procedure for catechol extraction which can be applied to plasma, urine, and tissue samples with minimum variations in the procedure and requires minimum amounts of samples. We describe here an improved method for the determination of DOPA, dopamine, and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA in biological samples by HPLC with electrochemical detection. Dopamine was included as an analyte because it is an immediate metabolite of DOPA in the catecholamine pathway.

EXPERIMENTAL

Chemicals

L-DOPA, dopamine hydrochloride, and 2-methyl-3-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)-DL-alanine (α -methyl-DOPA) were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.). Aluminum oxide, from Merck (Darmstadt, F.R.G.), was purified according to the method of Anton and Sayre [10]. 5-S-Cysteinyl-DOPA was prepared as described by us [11]. All other chemicals were of analytical grade and obtained from Wako (Osaka, Japan). Milli-Q system (Millipore, Bedford, MA, U.S.A.) ultrapure water was used throughout this study.

Chromatography

A Yanaco Model L-2000 liquid chromatograph (Yanagimoto, Kyoto, Japan) was used with a Yanaco Model VMD-101 electrochemical detector. The detector was set at +750 mV versus an Ag/AgCl reference electrode. Sensitivity was 4 and 32 nA at full scale. Separation was achieved on a C_{18} reversed-phase column (Yanaco ODS-A, particle size 7 μ m, 250 × 4.6 mm) at 40°C. The mobile phase contained 10 g/l phosphoric acid and 7 g/l methanesulphonic acid in water, the pH being adjusted to 2.35 with 5 mol/l sodium hydroxide. To this, Na₂EDTA was added to a final concentration of 0.1 mmol/l. The flow-rate was 0.7 ml/min.

Samples

Blood samples were collected in centrifuge tubes containing Na₂EDTA and plasma was obtained by centrifugation. Urine samples (24-h) were collected at room temperature in bottles containing 50 ml of acetic acid and 1 g of sodium metabisulphite. Tissue samples were extracted with 0.4 mol/l perchloric acid [8]. All samples were stored frozen at -30° C until analysis.

Alumina extraction of DOPA, dopamine, and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA

In a conical plastic tube (1.5-ml volume) were placed 50 mg of acid-washed alumina, 100 μ l of 2% (w/v) sodium metabisulphite, and 10 μ l of 10 μ g/ml α -methyl-DOPA in 0.1 mol/l hydrochloric acid as an internal standard. Either 1.0 ml of plasma, 100 μ l of urine or tissue extract, or 10 μ l of a standard solution containing 1 μ g/ml each of DOPA, dopamine, and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA in 0.1 mol/l hydrochloric acid were added to the tube. For urine samples, 100 μ l of 0.1 mol/l hydrochloric acid were added, and the mixture was extracted twice with

1 ml of ethyl acetate by shaking for 2 min on a JASCO MT-30 multi-tube mixer, and the ethyl acetate layer discarded by aspiration. Catechols were adsorbed onto alumina by adding 1.5 mol/l Tris—HCl buffer containing 2% (w/v) Na₂EDTA (pH 8.6) and immediately shaking for 5 min on the mixer. Volumes of the Tris buffer added were 0.3 ml for plasma and 1.0 ml for urine, tissue extract, and standard. For the analysis of tissue samples except for melanogenic tissues such as melanoma and hair, we used 0.3 ml of extract and 1.0 ml of 1.5 mol/l Tris—HCl buffer containing 2% (w/v) Na₂EDTA (pH 8.8). After centrifugation, alumina was washed twice with about 1.5 ml of water. Catechols were then eluted with 150 μ l of 0.4 mol/l perchloric acid by shaking for 2 min. After centrifugation, 50—100 μ l of the supernatant were injected into the HPLC system. Catechols were quantified from peak height ratios between catechols and α -methyl-DOPA for sample and standard.

RESULTS

Determination of DOPA, dopamine, and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA in biological samples

Fig. 1 shows typical chromatograms of urine samples from a normal subject and from a melanoma patient, and of a plasma sample from a normal subject, and of an extract of a B16 mouse melanoma. DOPA, dopamine, 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA, and α -methyl-DOPA appeared at about 10, 11, 15.5, and 21 min, respectively. No large peaks appeared after α -methyl-DOPA. Although no interfering peaks were found in plasma and tissue samples after alumina extraction, urine samples contained multiple peaks which interfered with those of the catechols to be analysed. However, most of these peaks were eliminated by the extraction with ethyl acetate.

Method evaluation

The standard curves were linear over the range 0.5-100 ng of DOPA, dopamine, and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA after alumina extraction, when compared to 100 ng of the internal standard α -methyl-DOPA.

The absolute recoveries of catechols were estimated by comparison of the alumina-extracted standards with directly injected standards. The results, summarized in Table I, showed modest to good recovery and precision of the extraction procedure. The use of 0.4 mol/l perchloric acid was essential for the good recovery of 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA; the recovery decreased to 54.3% with 0.2 mol/l perchloric acid. Similar results have been reported by Hansson et al. [6].

The analytical recoveries of the catechols added to normal plasma and urine samples were satisfactory, as indicated in Table II. Since catechols, especially 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA, are susceptible to autoxidation, great care should be taken to shake the mixture immediately after the addition of Tris—HCl buffer.

Estimation of DOPA and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA in plasma

Plasma samples from 31 normal subjects were analysed. Plasama concentrations (mean \pm S.D.) of DOPA and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA were 0.85 \pm 0.38 ng/ml and 0.37 \pm 0.30 ng/ml, respectively. These values are much lower than those



Fig. 1. Chromatograms of (a) a urine sample from a normal subject, (b) a urine sample from a melanoma patient, (c) a plasma sample from a normal subject, and (d) an extract of a B16 mouse melanoma. Chromatographic conditions: column, Yanaco ODS-A (7 μ m particle size); mobile phase, 10 g/l phosphoric acid and 7 g/l methanesulphonic acid, pH being adjusted to 2.35 with 5 mol/l sodium hydroxide, Na₂EDTA being added to a final concentration of 0.1 mmol/l; flow-rate, 0.7 ml/min; temperature, 40°C; detector, +750 mV versus Ag/AgCl, 4 and 32 nA at full scale. Peaks: 1 = DOPA, 2 = dopamine, 3 = 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA, 4 = α -methyl-DOPA.

reported by Hansson et al. [5]. This discrepancy may be ascribed to better clean-up and separation of the present procedure. For plasma samples, the detection limits at a signal-to-noise ratio of 2 were about 0.02 ng/ml for DOPA and dopamine and about 0.05 ng/ml for 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA (injection volume 100μ). Dopamine was below the detection limit.

TABLE I

ABSOLUTE RECOVERIES OF DOPA, DOPAMINE, AND 5-S-CYSTEINYL-DOPA AFTER ALUMINA EXTRACTION

Μ	ean	±	S.D.	for	5	determina	atio	ns
---	-----	---	------	-----	---	-----------	------	----

Compound	Amount (ng)	3) Recovery (%) C.V. (%)			
DOPA	10	764+14	1.9		
Dopamine	10	75.4 ± 1.3	1.8		
5-S-Cysteinyl-DOPA	10	69.6 ± 3.7	5.3		
α -Methyl-DOPA	100	74.9 ± 1.5	2.0		

TABLE II

ANALYTICAL RECOVERIES OF DOPA, DOPAMINE AND 5-S-CYSTEINYL-DOPA ADDED TO NORMAL PLASMA AND URINE SAMPLES

Mean ± S.D. for 5 determinations.

Sample Amount added (ng)	Amount	Recovery (%)	Recovery (%)				
	added (ng)	DOPA	Dopamine	5-S-Cysteinyl-DOPA			
Plasma	10	94.7 ± 4.2	104.1 ± 4.9	92 2 + 2 3			
Plasma	100	93.7 ± 0.5	105.9 ± 1.1	94.0 ± 0.9			
Urine	100	99.7 ± 7.3	102.3 ± 6.7	99.5 ± 8.3			

DISCUSSION

Previous studies by Rorsman and his associates [3,4,12,13], by us [8,9], and by others have shown that the determination of DOPA and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA in urine, blood, and tissue samples has a biochemical and clinical significance. HPLC with electrochemical detection has been adopted for the determination of these catecholic amino acids as for catecholamines.

Commonly, urinary 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA is determined after alumina extraction. Kågedal and Pettersson [7] found that the alumina extraction alone was not enough to remove many interfering compounds and they recommended a combination of ion-exchange chromatography with alumina extraction for the clean-up. We replaced ion-exchange chromatography with ethyl acetate extraction to simplify the procedure.

DOPA and 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA in serum have also been determined by HPLC with electrochemical detection after alumina extraction [5,6,13]. However, as far as we know, the reported method requires 6 ml of serum, which seems to be a burden to patients. Our improved method requires only 1 ml of plasma, and, moreover, involves only minimum variations in the procedure for plasma, urine, and tissue samples. This enabled us to analyse different types of samples at the same time.

Hansson et al. [6] described a good separation of DOPA, cysteinyl-DOPA isomers, and catecholamines using a mobile phase of pH 1.75. We also obtained similar results with a pH 1.75 buffer, but found a rapid deterioration of the column due to the low pH. At pH values higher than 2.50, uric acid, which

appears just in front of DOPA, comes too close to DOPA. Thus, we chose pH 2.35 for the mobile phase.

Advanced methodology has recently been applied to the determination of urinary 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA. First, the use of a diastereomer of naturally occurring 5-S-L-cysteinyl-L-DOPA as an internal standard should improve the precision of the analysis because of the close similarity in chemical properties [14,15]. Secondly, phenylboronate affinity gel can be used to purify 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA with a higher selectivity [15]. If only 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA is to be analysed, the combined use of these two methodologies would be advantageous over the present method. However, our method can analyse not only 5-S-cysteinyl-DOPA but also DOPA and dopamine. Furthermore, our method is sufficiently simple, sensitive, precise, and accurate for routine use.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We thank Professor K. Jimbow of the Department of Dermatology, Sapporo Medical College, Japan, for the samples of B16 mouse melanoma and for his continuous interest in this study.

REFERENCES

- 1 G. Prota, J. Invest. Dermatol., 75 (1980) 122-127.
- 2 S. Ito and G. Prota, Experientia, 33 (1977) 1118-1119.
- 3 H. Rorsman, A.-M. Rosengren and E. Rosengren, Yale J. Biol. Med., 46 (1973) 516-522.
- 4 G. Agrup, P. Agrup, T. Andersson, L. Hafström, C. Hansson, S. Jacobsson, P.E. Jönsson, H. Rorsman, A.-M. Rosengren and E. Rosengren, Acta Derm. Venereol., 59 (1979) 381-388.
- 5 C. Hansson, L.-E. Edholm, G. Agrup, H. Rorsman, A.-M. Rosengren and E. Rosengren, Clin. Chim. Acta, 88 (1978) 419-427.
- 6 C. Hansson, G. Agrup, H. Rorsman, A.-M. Rosengren, E. Rosengren and L.-E. Edholm, J. Chromatogr., 162 (1979) 7-22.
- 7 B. Kågedal and A. Pettersson, J. Chromatogr., 272 (1983) 287-297.
- 8 S. Ito, K. Homma, M. Kiyota, K. Fujita and K. Jimbow, J. Invest. Dermatol., 80 (1983) 207-209.
- 9 S. Ito, K. Fujita, H. Takahashi and K. Jimbow, J. Invest. Dermatol., 83 (1984) 12-14.
- 10 A.H. Anton and D.F. Sayre, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 138 (1962) 360-375.
- 11 S. Ito, S. Inoue, Y. Yamamoto and K. Fujita, J. Med. Chem., 24 (1981) 673-677.
- 12 C. Hansson, G. Agrup, H. Rorsman and E. Rosengren, Acta Derm. Venereol., 60 (1980) 155-156.
- 13 C. Hansson, H. Rorsman, E. Rosengren and T. Tegner, Acta Derm. Venereol., 61 (1981) 251-255.
- 14 G. Agrup, L.-E. Edholm, H. Rorsman, A.-M. Rosengren and E. Rosengren, Acta Derm. Venereol., 63 (1983) 59-61.
- 15 B. Kågedal and A. Pettersson, Clin. Chem., 29 (1983) 2031-2034.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 160–166 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2231

Note

Chromatographie en phase liquide automatique de la dopamine urinaire

F. GUYON*, V. LECOMTE-JOULIN, C. FALCY et J.P. DUPEYRON

Laboratoire de Biochimie et de Toxicologie, Hôpital Hôtel-Dieu, Parvis Notre-Dame, 75181 Paris Cedex 04 (France)

(Reçu le 6 mars 1984; manuscrit modifié reçu le 5 mai 1984)

Dans l'organisme la dopamine est un neurotransmetteur à la fois central et périphérique, ainsi que le précurseur de la biosynthèse de deux autres catécholamines, la noradrénaline et l'adrénaline. La dopamine excrétée dans l'urine humaine provient indistinctement de territoires systémiques et/ou des régions centrales riches en dopamine, encore que la forte teneur des urines comparée à celle du plasma — ait fait évoquer une production locale rénale par décarboxylation de la dopamine [1].

Néanmoins, on a signalé une majoration de l'excrétion urinaire de la dopamine dans les neuroblastomes [2], dans certains phéochromocytomes où cette majoration concerne aussi la noradrénaline, dans les stress [3] et dans les états d'hypertension artérielle [4].

Au niveau central on a observé une diminution de l'excrétion urinaire de dopamine, concomitante de l'akinésie, au cours de la maladie de Parkinson. Par ailleurs une application intéressante du dosage de la dopamine urinaire pourrait consister en l'estimation de l'activité de la dopamine- β -hydroxylase [5] qui représente un marqueur de l'activité sympathique.

L'analyse des catécholamines dans les milieux biologiques fait classiquement appel à une ou deux étapes d'isolement, précédant une séparation chromatographique en phase liquide. Ces deux étapes sont très généralement une fixation des catécholamine sur résine échangeuse d'ions et/ou une fixation en milieu basique sur alumine convenablement activée [6]. Ces opérations sont menées soit sur de petites colonnes chromatographiques (résine) soit par simple équilibre (alumine). Après cette étape préliminaire le type de séparation le plus souvent utilisé est la chromatographie de partage à haute performance, à polarité de phases inversée avec formation de paires d'ions, comme le montre une revue récente [7]. Le système de détection utilise soit l'oxydation électro-
chimique [8] soit la fluorescence naturelle des catécholamines [9] ou bien la fluorescence de dérivés formés en sortie de colonne chromatographique [10, 11].

Le choix d'une ou deux étapes d'isolement dépend essentiellement de la complexité du milieu biologique considéré. Le choix de la méthode de détection dépend surtout des concentrations à doser, la détection électrochimique est plus sensible mais en général plus délicate à employer en analyse de routine.

En ce qui concerne le dosage de l'adrénaline, noradrénaline et dopamine dans l'urine, les concentrations assez élevées permettent l'utilisation d'une détection fluorimétrique des molécules elles-mêmes. Pour l'adrénaline et la noradrénaline l'utilisation de deux étapes préalables d'isolement (résine + alumine) est généralement pratiquée compte tenu de l'interférence de certains composés endogènes. En revanche, pour la dopamine (présente à plus forte concentration) une seule étape de fixation sur alumine paraît suffisante.

Nous avons recherché à automatiser l'analyse de la dopamine urinaire de façon simple en employant la fixation sur une précollone d'alumine suivie d'une séparation par chromatographie de paires d'ions et détection spectrofluorimétrique.

Un système de précolonne, garnie d'une phase stationnaire de même nature que celle de la colonne analytique [12] ou d'un support différent [13], a déjà été utilisé pour des analyses de substances médicamenteuses dans les prélèvements biologiques.

L'utilisation de microcolonnes d'alumine a été proposée pour l'analyse des catécholamines mais dans le cadre d'un système assez compliqué [14].

Nous avons appliqué le principe d'une précolonne utilisée en "back flush" en mettant en oeuvre un matériel limité (et en particulier une seule pompe chromatographique) présent dans beaucoup de laboratoires.

MATÉRIEL ET MÉTHODE

Réactifs

Sel disodique de l'acide éthylènediaminetétracétique (EDTA disodique), Fluka (Buchs, Suisse). Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminométhane (Tris), acide ascorbique, octylsulfate de sodium, alumine pour chromatographie LiChrosorb Alox T (granulométrie 10 μ m), E. Merck (Darmstadt, R.F.A.). Dihydrogénophosphate de potassium, acide citrique, méthanol, Prolabo (Paris, France). Gel de silice greffée alkyle Nucleosil C₁₈ (granulométrie 5 μ m), Macherey, Nagel & Co. (Düren, R.F.A.). Tous ces réactifs sont de qualité pour analyse. La dopamine sous forme de chlorhydrate et la 3,4-dihydroxybenzylamine sous forme de bromhydrate (DHBA) sont des produits Sigma (St. Louis, MI, E.U.).

Des filtres GF/F Whatman (Springfield Mill, Kent, Grande-Bretagne) sont utilisés pour filtrer les phases mobiles, et des filtres Millex HA adaptables sur seringue (Millipore, Bedford, MA, É.U.) permettent de filtrer les échantillons urinaires.

Appareillage

Le schéma du système utilisé est représenté Fig. 1. Il comprend une pompe chromatographique Altex 110 A (Berkeley, CA, É.U.), alimentée par l'inter-



Fig. 1. Schéma de principe du système chromatographique. (A) Tampon pH 8.6 (Tris 0.1 M, EDTA disodique 0.002 M, acide ascorbique 0.001 M). (B) Phase mobile [octylsulfate 0.003 M, dihydrogénophosphate de potassium 0.035 M, acide citrique 0.03 M, acide ascorbique 0.001 M et 14% (v/v) de méthanol]. Sur le passeur d'échantillons un godet sur deux contient un liquide de rinçage (EDTA disodique 0.002 M, acide ascorbique 0.001 M ajusté à pH 7).

médiaire de trois électrovannes (General Valve, Fairfield, NJ, É.U.). Une précolonne Merck Hibar, modifiée par nos soins pour en réduire la longueur $(1 \times 0.3 \text{ cm I.D.})$ et une colonne analytique $(15 \times 0.48 \text{ cm I.D.})$ sont reliées à une vanne six voies Rhéodyne 7010 (Cotati, CA, É.U.), à commande électrique (Touzart et Matignon, Vitry, France) selon le schéma de la Fig. 2. La précolonne est remplie à sec (alumine), la colonne analytique est remplie classiquement par voie humide (silice greffée alkyle). Le détecteur est un spectrofluorimètre JY 3 (Jobin et Yvon, Longjumeau, France) (excitation 282 nm, fente 10 nm, émission 315 nm, fente 10 nm). Un passeur d'échantillon Sampler IV (Technicon, Tarrytown, NY, É.U.) est utilisé. Les trois électrovannes, la vanne six voies, l'avancement du passeur d'échantillons sont commandés par un microordinateur Zx 81 Sinclair (Oxford, Grande-Bretagne). Ce dernier est équipé d'une mémoire additionnelle 64 K Memopak de Memotech (Oxford, Grande-Bretagne) et d'une interface "entrées-sorties" permettant la commande de huit relais (cinq sont utilisés). La programmation en temps utilise la fonction "pause" dans le programme écrit en basic.

Prélèvement

Au moment du recueil des urines est ajouté 1% d'EDTA disodique et 0.1% d'acide ascorbique, le prélèvement est ensuite congelé. Lors du dosage, à 10 ml



Fig. 2. Schéma de branchement de la vanne six voie. (A) Fixation sur précolonne d'alumine en présence de tampon pH 8.6 (la phase mobile ne circule pas dans la colonne analytique). (B) Élution chromatographique par la phase mobile acide.

d'urines ainsi traitées est ajouté 0.1 ml d'une solution à 5 mg l⁻¹ de DHBA comme étalon interne, l'échantillon est filtré sur filtre Millex HA.

Étalon

Solution-mère de dopamine à 100 mg l⁻¹ en base dans l'acide chlorhydrique 0.1 M, conservée au congélateur. Solution-fille à 5 mg l⁻¹ dans l'acide chlorhydrique 0.1 M. Solution de DHBA à 5 mg l⁻¹ dans l'acide chlorhydrique 0.1 M. Une gamme de dopamine de 0.05 à 0.3 mg l⁻¹ (0.32 à 1.95 μ mol l⁻¹) contenant 0.05 mg l⁻¹ de DHBA est préparée en présence de 1% d'EDTA disodique et 0.1% d'acide ascorbique.

Principe de la méthode

Le principe consiste à fixer la dopamine à pH 8.6 sur la précolonne

d'alumine, le tampon basique ne circulant pas sur la colonne analytique qui serait rapidement dégradée en raison de la solubilité du gel de silice à ce pH. Puis après élimination du tampon présent dans le volume poreux de la précolonne, par passage d'une solution neutre, l'élution de la dopamine est obtenue par circulation d'une phase mobile acide, en sens inverse de celui utilisé pour la fixation.

Le prélèvement n'est amené à pH basique par mélange avec le tampon pH 8.6 qu'au moment de la fixation sur précolonne d'alumine (par mélange en amont de la pompe) pour éviter la dégradation de la dopamine instable à ce pH.

Chromatographie

Le débit de la pompe est 2 ml min⁻¹.

Fixation sur la précolonne. La vanne six voies étant en position A représentée sur la Fig. 2, la vanne II (Fig. 1) est ouverte pendant 3 min, la précolonne est alors conditionnée par passage de 6 ml de tampon basique (Tris 0.1 M, EDTA disodique 0.002 M, acide ascorbique 0.001 M, ajusté à pH 8.6), qui est ensuite rejeté à l'évier. Le passeur d'échantillon étant en position de prélèvement les vannes I et II sont ouvertes alternativement pendant 3 min (toutes les 6 sec), pour amener le prélèvement à pH 8.6 par mélange avec la solution tampon basique. Le volume de liquide circulant pendant cette période est de 6 ml dont 3 ml d'échantillon et 3 ml de tampon basique. Sur le passeur un godet de prélèvement et un godet de liquide de rinçage (EDTA disodique 0.002 M, acide ascorbique 0.001 M, ajusté à pH 7 par de la soude 1 M) alternent. La vanne II restant seule ouverte le passeur change de godet, la vanne I s'ouvre, la vanne II se ferme. Pendant 3 min les canalisations depuis l'aiguille de prélèvement jusqu'à la précolonne d'alumine, sont rincées par la solution neutre prélevée dans le godet de rinçage.

Elution chromatographique. La vanne III est ouverte, en même temps que la vanne I se ferme et que la vanne six voies vient en position B représentée sur la Fig. 2. L'élution chromatographique des solutés préalablement fixés sur l'alumine en milieu basique a lieu grâce à une phase mobile acide de chromatographie de paires d'ions décrite par Krstulovic et al. [15] [octylsulfate 0.003 M, dihydrogénophosphate de potassium 0.035 M, acide citrique 0.03 M, et 14% (v/v) de méthanol] à laquelle nous rajoutons de l'acide ascorbique (0.001 M) pour éviter les risques d'oxydation de la dopamine.

RÉSULTATS ET DISCUSSION

Les chromatogrammes obtenus à partir d'une solution étalon et d'une urine humaine normale sont représentés Fig. 3. Dans le cas de l'urine les pics de dopamine et de DHBA apparaissent bien séparés des composés endogènes.

La présence de la précolonne nuit peu à l'efficacité du système chromatographique (finesse des pics). En effet, la comparaison de chromatogrammes enregistrés après injection directe en tête de colonne ou par élution à partir de la précolonne après fixation sur cette dernière, a montré que l'efficacité du système colonne/précolonne reste supérieure à 80% de celle de la colonne chromatographique utilisée seule (en nombre de plateaux théoriques). Ceci montre que la libération de la dopamine et du DHBA fixés sur l'alumine est rapide en présence de la phase mobile chromatographique acide. L'inversion du sens de circulation de la phase liquide entre la fixation et l'élution contribue à ce bon résultat.



Fig. 3. (A) Chromatogramme correspondant à une solution étalon de dopamine (étalon interne = DHBA) après fixation sur précolonne d'alumine $(1 \times 0.3 \text{ cm})$ et séparation par formation de paires d'ions. Colonne: $15 \times 0.48 \text{ cm}$; phase stationnaire: Nucleosil C₁₅, 5 µm; Phase mobile: selon Fig. 1; débit: 2 ml min⁻¹; température: 20°C; concentration de dopamine dans l'échantillon: 0.2 mg l⁻¹ (1.3 µmol l⁻¹). (B) Prélèvement urinaire dans les mêmes conditions. Concentration de dopamine déterminée: 0.23 mg l⁻¹ (1.5 µmol l⁻¹).

La courbe de calibration pour la dopamine est linéaire au-delà de 1 μ g injecté; c'est-à-dire, en considérant un prélèvement de 3 ml, au-delà de 0.33 mg l⁻¹ (2.15 μ mol l⁻¹) dans l'urine. Ceci est bien adapté aux valeurs fréquentes de concentration de dopamine dans l'urine humaine normale (pour une diurèse moyenne de 1.5 l): 0.04–0.26 mg l⁻¹ (0.28–1.7 μ mol l⁻¹).

Le coefficient de variation pour le dosage repété de la dopamine sur un même échantillon d'urine a été 2.7% (n = 10). Le rendement d'extraction, de la dopamine rajoutée à l'urine, par l'alumine de la précolonne était $98.2 \pm 3.2\%$ (moyenne \pm déviation standard, n = 10). L'utilisation prolongée d'un même échantillon d'alumine ne semble pas poser de problème (jusqu'à 100 analyses successives). La sensibilité, la reproductibilité, la précision et le rendement d'extraction sont suffisants pour l'analyse de la dopamine urinaire. Si ce dispositif automatique d'analyse qui n'utilise qu'une seule pompe fonctionne sans arrêt, environ 70 échantillons peuvent être traités par jour.

BIBLIOGRAPHIE

- 1 M.Da Prada, Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 1 (1980) 157.
- 2 W. Von Studnitz, H. Kaser et A. Sjoerdsma, N. Engl. J. Med., 269 (1963) 232.
- 3 U.S. Von Euler et S. Hellner, Acta Physiol. Scand., 22 (1951) 161.
- 4 O. Kuchel, N.T. Buu, T. Unger, M. Lis et J. Genest, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 48 (1979) 425.
- 5 R.D. Hoeldtke et P.L. Stetson, Anal. Biochem., 105 (1980) 207.
- 6 A.H. Anton et D.F. Sayre, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 138 (1962) 360.
- 7 A.M. Krstulovic, J. Chromatogr., 229 (1982) 1.
- 8 L.J. Felice, J.D. Felice et P.T. Kissinger, J. Neurochem., 31 (1978) 1461.
- 9 G.P. Jackman, Clin. Chem., 26 (1980) 1623.
- 10 K. Mori, J. Chromatogr., 218 (1981) 631.
- 11 R.C. Causon et M.E. Carruthers, J. Chromatogr., 229 (1982) 301.
- 12 P. Schauwecker, R.W. Frei et F. Erni, J. Chromatogr., 136 (1977) 63.
- 13 G. Schmidt et W. Salavin, Chromatogr. Newsl., 9 (1981) 21.
- 14 M. Goto, T. Nakamura et D. Ishii, J. Chromatogr., 226 (1981) 33.
- 15 A.M. Krstulovic, S.W. Dziedzic, L. Bertani-Dziedzic et D.E. Dirico, J. Chromatogr., 217 (1981) 523.

CHROMBIO. 2242

Note

Ascorbic acid oxidase speeds up analysis for catecholamines, indoleamines and their metabolites in brain tissue using high-performance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection

L. McKAY, C. BRADBERRY and A. OKE*

Department of Chemistry, University of Kansas, Lawrence, KS 66045 (U.S.A.)

(First received March 19th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 21st, 1984)

We report a simple procedure to speed up high-performance liquid chromatographic-electrochemical detection (HPLC-ED) of catecholamines, indoleamines and their metabolites in brain samples using commonly available HPLC equipment and minimal sample preparation. We analyze for norepinephrine (NE), epinephrine (E), dopamine (DA), 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) and the metabolites 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC), 5-hydroxyindole-3acetic acid (5-HIAA), and homovanilic acid (HVA) in 30 min per sample by direct injection of supernatant from sonicated brain tissue [1]. The first component eluted, NE, is frequently overlapped by a large solvent front. Alternative mobile phases using increased ion-pairing agent or decreased organic solvent in order to resolve NE result in untimely appearance of 5-HT. There is a trade-off necessary between using a method that allows short enough sample time for routine processing of large numbers of samples and resolution of the NE peak. Processing samples in 0.1 M perchloric acid, which is expected to lower protein concentration of the supernatant, did not decrease the solvent front. The primary cause of this large solvent front in brain samples is ascorbic acid. A shorter sample time can be obtained by a simple enzyme addition (ascorbic acid oxidase, AAO) which reduces the solvent front by 80%. The small quantity of AAO is added during sample preparation, and NE, the first peak of interest, is readily detected. The alternative way to increase the rate at which samples are processed is to change to $3-\mu m$ particle columns with the added equipment expense and more stringent sample handling procedures [2].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chromatographic analysis was carried out using an Altex Ultrasphere ODS reversed-phase separation column (5 μ m particle size, 250 × 4.6 mm) attached to a glassy carbon electrode (Bioanalytical Systems, TL5) and a BAS-LC4A amperometric controller. A Milton-Roy single piston pump (No. 396-57) and a Universal Scientific repackable guard column (C₁₈, 10 μ m particle size; 46 × 2.0 mm) were used.

A methanol-water (10:90) eluent, pH 4.0, containing 8.2 g sodium acetate (0.1 *M*), 14.0 g citric acid (0.07 *M*), 100 mg octylsulfonic acid (sodium salt) $(5 \cdot 10^{-4} M)$, and 25 mg EDTA flowed at a rate of 1 ml/min. $E_{\rm app}$ was 0.61 V. Temperature was controlled via a water-jacketed column at 32°C. (A shorter sample time of 18 min on a similar column was possible using 15% methanol and running at room temperature.)

Ascorbic acid oxidase solution was made from 1.0 mg of ascorbic acid oxidase (E.C. 1.10.3.3) from Boehringer-Mannheim into 1.0 ml of acetate buffer, pH 5. Refrigerated enzyme solution stays active for at least seven days. The pH 5 buffer used for sample homogenization is composed of $0.1 M \text{ Ac}^-$, $3.5 \cdot 10^{-2} M$ in glacial acetic acid; the pH was adjusted to 5.0 with sodium hydroxide.

Samples of human brain tissue (weight ≈ 30 mg) are sonicated on ice in 450 μ l of pH 5 buffer, 50 μ l of 1 \cdot 10⁻⁶ *M* dihydroxybenzylamine (DHBA), internal standard solution. Of the ascorbic acid oxidase solution 10 μ l are added to each sample, which is then centrifuged at 0°C at 40,000 g for 20 min. The action of the AAO is immediate. The supernatant is injected directly into the chromatographic system.

RESULTS



Fig. 1. HPLC—ED chromatograms of human brain tissue (septal region) without (A) and with (B) the addition of ascorbic acid oxidase to brain tissue supernatant. Peaks: 1 = norepinephrine; 2 = DHBA; 3 = DOPAC; 4 = dopamine; 5 = 5-HIAA; 6 = HVA; 7 = 5-HT.

Fig. 1 shows the comparison of human brain sample chromatograms

without and with the addition of the ascorbic acid oxidase. With this method we are able to detect many biogenic amines oxidizable at 0.61 V in 30-35 min sample time with minimal sample preparation. AAO-treated human brain supernatant spiked with known quantities of NE, DA and 5-HT gave linear calibration curves. Catechol and indole stability was not dependent on the presence of ascorbic acid. We have found after injection of 100 samples (700 mg of tissue supernatant) the precolumn packing must be changed, but the separation column has resolved more than 1800 samples and retained its separation ability after a year of use.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The support of the National Institutes of Health via Grant 5RO1 NS08740 is gratefully acknowledged.

REFERENCES

2 N.H.C. Cooke, B.G. Archer, K. Olsen and A. Berick, Anal. Chem., 54 (1982) 2277-2283.

¹ J.T. Coyle and R. Zaczek, J. Neural Transm., 53 (1982) 1-5.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 170–175 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2237

Note

Determination of non-protein-bound N-acetylcysteine in plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography

BERTIL KÅGEDAL*, MAGNUS KÄLLBERG and JOHANNES MÅRTENSSON

Department of Clinical Chemistry, University Hospital, S-581 85 Linköping (Sweden)

(First received March 30th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 7th, 1984)

N-Acetylcysteine has been identified as a normal constituent in urine [1] and its excretion has been determined by both gas—liquid chromatography (GLC) [2] and high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) [3]. The compound has not been detected in plasma except after drug intake. As a mucolytic agent it has been used for inhalation treatment for a long time [4], and it has also been documented as an effective oral drug in chronic bronchitis [5,6]. The compound is a precursor for the in vivo synthesis of glutathione, and it therefore exerts a beneficial effect in paracetamol (acetaminophen) poisoning [7].

If only disulphide interchange is considered, N-acetylcysteine may be found as a free thiol, as a low-molecular-weight disulphide, and as a disulphide with SH-containing proteins. The present paper describes a HPLC method for the determination of non-protein-bound N-acetylcysteine in plasma suitable for pharmacokinetic studies. After precipitation of plasma proteins, low-molecularweight disulphides in the supernatant are reduced, and liberated N-acetylcysteine is purified using an organomercurial adsorbent and a cation exchanger. Derivatization is then done with N-(7-dimethylamino-4-methyl-3-coumarinyl)maleimide (DACM), and quantitation is accomplished by fluorometric detection after separation of the N-acetylcysteine derivative from other acid thiol derivatives by reversed-phase ion-pair HPLC.

EXPERIMENTAL

Materials

N-Acetylcysteine was obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.) and N-(7-dimethylamino-4-methyl-3-coumarinyl)maleimide (DACM) was from Fluka (Buchs, Switzerland). Stock solutions of these compounds were prepared

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

as described previously [3]. Thiopropyl-Sepharose 6B (TPS) was from Pharmacia (Uppsala, Sweden). It was used in its free thiol form and contained 20 μ mol of thiol per ml of gel suspension. The organomercurial adsorbent *p*-acetoxymercurianiline-Sepharose 4B (PAMAS) was prepared according to the description of Sluyterman and Wijdenes [8], and the strong cation exchanger AG 50W-X8, 100-200 mesh, was from Bio-Rad Labs. (Richmond, CA, U.S.A.).

High-performance liquid chromatography

HPLC of the fluorescent DACM derivatives of N-acetylcysteine was performed with tetramethylammonium as ion-pairing reagent as previously described [3]. We employed a Supelcosil LC-8 (250 × 4.6 mm, particle size 5 μ m) column from Supelco (Bellefonte, PA, U.S.A.), and as detector we used a Fluoromonitor III filter fluorometer from LDC (Riviera Beach, FL, U.S.A.). The detector was operated with a mercury lamp, a 360-nm excitation filter and a 418–700 nm emission filter. An RP-8 (particle size 10 μ m) column, 30 × 4.6 mm (RP-GU) from Brownlee Labs. (Santa Clara, CA, U.S.A.) was connected to the injector instead of the sample loop. Once the N-acetylcysteine derivative had passed this loop column, the injector was switched to the load position again. Late peaks were thereby trapped in the loop column and could be removed by backward flushing with the same mobile phase as in the analytical column. Backward flushing was accomplished with a mini HPLC pump (Eldex E-120-S-2, Eldex Labs., Menlo Park, CA, U.S.A.).

Procedure

Venous blood was taken in vacuum tubes containing K_3 EDTA (Vacutainer), and plasma was obtained by centrifugation. A 1.0-ml aliquot of each plasma sample was precipitated with 0.2 ml of trichloroacetic acid, 200 g/l. After vortex mixing and standing for 15 min the samples were centrifuged, and 0.6-ml aliquots of the clear supernatants were transferred to new tubes and mixed with 0.4 ml of 20 mmol/l Na₂EDTA and 1.0 ml of sodium borate buffer, pH 10.0 (prepared from boric acid, 0.24 mol/l final volume). Then 1.0 ml of TPS suspension was added and the tubes were placed in an end-overend mixer for 30 min. Then 1.0 ml of 4.0 mol/l acetic acid was added to the tubes. After centrifugation, 3.0 ml of the supernatant were transferred to a 1.3×0.7 cm column of PAMAS which retains the thiols. Washing was done with 2×1 ml of water and elution was effected by 3.0 ml of 10 mmol/l cysteine hydrochloride. The eluate was transferred to a 2.5×0.5 cm AG 50W-X8 (H^+) column, which retains the cysteine and other positively charged thiols. The effluent was collected in a tube containing 0.2 ml of 0.18 mol/l Na₂ EDTA together with a further 1-ml washing with 10 mmol/l hydrochloric acid. From the effluent, 2.0 ml were transferred to a new tube, 0.2 ml of 0.1 mol/l sodium hydroxide was added for neutralization, and then 3 ml of 50 mmol/l carbonate buffer containing 10 mmol/l Na₂ EDTA pH 9.0 were added. Finally, 0.5 ml of 20 μ mol/l DACM in acetone, was added. After mixing, the tubes were placed in a water bath 37°C, usually overnight. Standard was derivatized by mixing 50 μ l of N-acetylcysteine working solution (10 μ mol/l) with 5.0 ml of the carbonate buffer used in the derivatization of the plasma samples. Then 0.5 ml of 20 μ mol/l DACM was added, and after mixing the tubes were placed in the water bath.

Plasma concentrations after oral intake

Seven healthy subjects aged 21 to 40 years received 400 mg of N-acetylcysteine (Fabrol[®], Ciba-Geigy, V. Frölunda, Sweden). The drug was dissolved in about 100 ml of water and was given orally to the subjects after overnight fasting. Venous blood samples were taken from a catheter placed in a cubital vein, at the times shown.

RESULTS

Derivatization

In the previous studies on urinary thiols [3] the derivatization was carried out by incubation at 37°C for 20 h, but preliminary experiments indicated that it should be possible to shorten this time. Fig. 1 shows the effect of pH on the development of the N-acetylcysteine derivative with DACM. It can be seen that the fluorescence developed most rapidly at high pH (9.7) and was completed within less than half an hour. At lower pH (≤ 7.6) the fluorescent product developed more slowly. Maximal fluorescence was obtained at pH 9.0, and this pH was therefore chosen in the final method.

Reduction of low-molecular-weight disulphides

Preliminary experiments showed that protein-free extracts of plasma taken at about 1 h after N-acetylcysteine ingestion contained N-acetylcysteine mainly as disulphide. The N-acetylcysteine could be liberated by reduction with thiopropyl-Sepharose 6B in alkaline medium. We found that transferring the extracts to a borate buffer pH 10 was more suitable than adjusting the pH with strong ammonia [2,3]. We also found higher N-acetylcysteine values when reduction with the thiopropyl-Sepharose 6B was performed in this buffer. Fig. 2 shows that with the chosen amount of thiopropyl-Sepharose 6B, the reduction was completed in 20-30 min. A reduction time of 30 min was therefore chosen in the final method.



Fig. 1. Effect of pH on the development of the fluorescent DACM derivative of N-acetylcysteine. Temperature 37°C. □, pH 6.0; ○, pH 7.6; □, pH 9.0; ○, pH 9.7.

Fig. 2. Liberation of free N-acetylcysteine from supernatant of plasma by reduction with thiopropyl-Sepharose 6B.

High-performance liquid chromatography

Ion-pair HPLC [3] was adopted for DACM derivatives of plasma thiols. In addition to the peaks from the N-acetylcysteine derivatives there were also other peaks, some of them with long retention times. Fig. 3 shows that, by use of the column switching technique described, late peaks could be eliminated by trapping in the loop column. This substantially increased the possible number of injections that could be done in a working day.



Fig. 3. Chromatogram of acid plasma thiols by HPLC, before and after introduction of the column-switching technique. The N-acetylcysteine peak is designated 1.

Precision

TABLE I

Plasma samples obtained at different times after intake of N-acetylcysteine were used for precision studies. From duplicate determinations the imprecision (coefficient of variation) was calculated as 5.7-6.5% for different ranges of measurement (Table I). From the standard deviation (S.D.) obtained for the lower range the detection limit (2 S.D.) was calculated as 0.14μ mol/l, which was quite satisfactory.

No. of duplicates	Range (µmol/l)	Mean (µmol/l)	S.D. (µmol/l)	C.V. (%)	
28	0.2-2.0	1.09	0.07	6.5	
42	2.0-10	4.49	0.25	5.7	

PRECISION OF THE METHOD CALCULATED FROM DUPLICATE DETERMINATIONS

Recovery

We added N-acetylcysteine to plasma samples to increase the concentration by 1.0 μ mol/l (Table II). The increase found by analysis before and after addition showed a quantitative recovery.

Application to pharmacokinetic studies

Fig. 4 shows the plasma concentrations obtained in seven subjects after ingestion of 400 mg of N-acetylcysteine. As can be seen, the maximum value, ranging from 2.6 to $18.4 \ \mu mol/l$ (mean 7.4 $\ \mu mol/l$), was obtained at 25-45

TABLE II

ANALYTICAL	RECOVERY	OF N-ACETY	LCYSTEINE	ADDED TO	PLASMA	SAMPLES,
CORRESPOND	ING TO AN I	NCREASE IN	CONCENTRA	TION OF 1.	$0 \mu mol/l$	

Initially present (µmol/l)	After addition (µmol/l)	Increase found (µmol/l)	Recovery (%)		
0.22	1.34	1.12	112		
0.25	1.19	0.94	94		
0.28	1.27	0.99	99		
0.30	1.27	0.97	97		
		Mean ± S.D.	101 ± 8		



Fig. 4. Non-protein-bound plasma N-acetylcysteine concentration after oral intake of 400 mg of N-acetylcysteine (Fabrol).

min after intake. The half-life of elimination $(t_{1/2})$ for N-acetylcysteine was calculated from the 1.5–5-hour segment of the log plasma concentration versus time curve, and was found to vary between 1.1 and 2.3 h, with a mean of 1.7 h.

DISCUSSION

In an earlier paper we described an HPLC system which was capable of resolving N-acetylcysteine and mercaptoacetate as their derivatives with N-(1-pyrene)maleimide (PM) and DACM. The applicability of the method was shown for the determination of urinary thiols using PM. However, the sensitivity for the thiols was about ten-fold higher with DACM than with PM. With DACM we have now obtained a highly sensitive method for the determination of N-acetylcysteine in plasma, both for study of the high concentrations after intake and for study of its lower concentration during elimination.

Pharmacokinetic data for N-acetylcysteine after peroral intake are scanty. Rodenstein et al. [9] gave 100 mg of ³⁵S-labelled N-acetylcysteine to five patients with heart and pulmonary diseases. Calculated from the radioactivity determinations given in the paper, a maximal plasma concentration of 21-39 μ mol/l was obtained after 2–3 h. A substantial amount of radioactivity still remained in the plasma after 24 h. The free N-acetylcysteine concentration in plasma after oral intake of 400 mg of N-acetylcysteine was estimated by Maddock [10], who found maximal plasma concentrations of $0-3.6 \,\mu \text{mol/l}$. No data were given regarding the method used, and therefore the results are difficult to evaluate. Recently, Morgan et al. [11] published a GLC method for plasma using the principles developed by Hannestad and Sörbo [2]. No protein precipitation was performed before reduction, and therefore their method should estimate the total concentration in plasma. They gave 250 mg of N-acetylcysteine in gelatin capsules per m^2 body surface to five subjects with bronchogenic carcinomas. Assuming a standard body surface of 1.73 m^2 for their patients this corresponds to a mean dose of 433 mg which was close to what we gave. They obtained a mean maximal N-acetylcysteine concentration of 10.7 μ mol/l, i.e. a mean value only slightly higher than our mean value for non-protein-bound N-acetylcysteine. Their maximum values were obtained at a mean of 0.72 h after intake, and the mean $t_{1/2}$ was 2.1 h, again values similar to ours. This in comparison with our data may indicate that the protein binding of N-acetylcysteine by disulphide bridges is low. However, direct measurements must be done in order to estimate the protein binding of N-acetylcysteine in plasma.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the Swedish Medical Research Council, Project No. B84-13X-05644-05A, and Ciba-Geigy Läkemedel AB, Västra Frölunda, Sweden.

REFERENCES

- 1 H. Kodama, T. Ikegami and T. Araki, Physiol. Chem. Phys., 6 (1974) 87-89.
- 2 U. Hannestad and B. Sörbo, Clin. Chim. Acta, 95 (1979) 189-200.
- 3 B. Kågedal and M. Källberg, J. Chromatogr., 229 (1982) 409-415.
- 4 S. Chodosh, W. Baigelman, T.C. Medici and K. Einstein, Curr. Ther. Res., 17 (1975) 319-334.
- 5 Multicenter Study Group, Eur. J. Resp. Dis., 61 (Suppl. 111) (1980) 91-108.
- 6 G. Boman, U. Bäcker, S. Larsson, B. Melander and L. Wåhlinder, Eur. J. Resp. Dis., 64 (1983) 405-415.
- 7 B.H. Rumac and R.G. Peterson, Pediatrics, 62 (Suppl.) (1978) 898-903.
- 8 L.A. AE. Sluyterman and J. Wijdenes, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 200 (1970) 593-595.
- 9 D. Rodenstein, A. De Coster and A. Gazzaniga, Clin. Pharmacokin., 3 (1978) 247-254.
- 10 J. Maddock, Eur. J. Resp. Dis., 61 (Suppl. 111) (1980) 52-58.
- 11 W. Morgan, M.R. Holdiness and L.E. Gillen, Semin. Oncol., 10 (Suppl. 1) (1983) 56-61.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 176–182 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2244

Note

Determination of α -tocopherol in human plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection

M. VANDEWOUDE

Laboratory of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Nutrition, Faculty of Medicine, University of Antwerp, Universiteitsplein 1, B-2610 Wilrijk (Belgium)

M. CLAEYS*

Laboratory of Experimental Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Antwerp, Universiteitsplein 1, B-2160 Wilrijk (Belgium)

and

I. DE LEEUW

Laboratory of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Nutrition, Faculty of Medicine, University of Antwerp, Universiteitsplein 1, B-2610 Wilrijk (Belgium)

(First received March 22nd, 1984; revised manuscript received May 29th, 1984)

High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) has been employed successfully to determine the naturally occurring vitamin E analogues, α -, β - and γ -tocopherol (TP) in human plasma (Fig. 1). Most recently published procedures make use of ultraviolet (UV) or fluorimetric detection and of reversed-phase methods by which the prevalent form, α -TP, can be separated from its minor co-eluting β - and γ -homologues [1-5].

In this communication we wish to report a rapid, sensitive and reproducible HPLC method with electrochemical detection for routine measurement of α -tocopherol in human plasma. We have selected electrochemical detection, which was first described by Ikenoya et al. [6], for the analysis of tocopherols on the basis of its sensitivity and specificity. Since δ -tocol, which has been employed as internal standard in most HPLC assays based on UV, fluorimetric or electrochemical detection [1,5,6,7], can no longer be commercially obtained, we have evaluated the use of δ -tocopherol. The homologue, δ -TP, which has been demonstrated in some plant oils, e.g. in soybean oil [8], has the advantage that it is a natural readily available form of vitamin E. δ -Tocopherol (Fig. 1) contains a free hydroxyl group at the C-6 position which is responsible



for its electrochemical reactivity and, furthermore, meets the other criteria of an internal standard: (1) it is quantitatively of minor importance in human blood; (2) it is structurally closely related to the compound to be determined so that the use of this homologue can compensate for losses during the sample work-up procedures; and (3) it can be separated from α -TP and its minor β and γ -homologues during reversed-phase HPLC. The experimental conditions for suitable electrochemical detection of both α - and δ -TP have also been investigated because of the known different reactivity toward singlet oxygen, which correlates with the antioxidant vitamin E activity, α -TP being about ten times more potent than δ -TP [9].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chemicals

The solvents and reagents used were obtained from the following companies: ethanol, *n*-hexane, isopropanol and sodium perchlorate from Fluka (Buchs, Switzerland); methanol from Ferak (West-Berlin, F.R.G.); and pyridine from E. Merck (Darmstadt, F.R.G.). All solvents were analytical grade and were used without further purification.

The vitamin E standards, α -, γ -, and δ -TP were purchased from Supelco (Bellefonte, PA, U.S.A.).

High-performance liquid chromatography

The HPLC analyses were performed with a M45 solvent delivery system (Waters Assoc., Milford, MA, U.S.A.), equipped with a U6K universal sample injector (Waters Assoc.) and an electrochemical detector (Model LC5, BioAnalytical Systems, West Lafayette, IN, U.S.A.) with a glassy carbon working electrode. The detector was operated at a potential setting of +0.7 V versus the Ag/AgCl reference electrode. The chromatographic trace was registered by a potentiometer recorder. A reversed-phase LiChrosorb RP-18 column was used in all experiments and was obtained from Chrompack (Middelburg, The Netherlands) ($250 \times 4.6 \text{ mm}$; $5 \cdot \mu \text{m}$ particles). The eluent consisted of methanol containing 0.1% pyridine and 0.05 M sodium perchlorate

as supporting electrolyte, as described by Ikenoya et al. [6] for reversed-phase analysis of tocopherols in combination with electrochemical detection. The eluent was filtered through a Millipore type FH 0.5μ m filter and was degassed before use. The solvent flow-rate was 1 ml/min with a corresponding pressure of 7.9 MPa.

Sample preparation

Blood samples were collected in Li-heparin vacutainers (Becton Dickinson, France) and plasma was separated and frozen until analysed. The plasma was extracted following the procedures described by De Leenheer et al. [5] with minor modifications. In a centrifuge tube, 40 μ l of a δ -TP solution in isopropanol (100 μ g/ml) and 100 μ l of ethanol were added to a plasma sample of 100 μ l. After mixing, the sample was extracted with 1.2 ml of *n*-hexane by thoroughly mixing using a vortex-type mixer for 1 min. After centrifugation (5 min, 700 g) the organic layer was transferred to a brown conical tube and evaporated under a nitrogen stream. The residue was redissolved in 500 μ l of isopropanol and an aliquot of 30 μ l was used for HPLC analysis.

Quantification

Known amounts of α -TP, covering the range of 5.80–46.45 μ mol/l were added to samples of a plasma pool. The regression curve was made by plotting peak height ratios (α -TP/ δ -TP) against the α -TP concentration.

The exact concentration of the α -TP standard solution was determined by measuring the UV absorbance at $\lambda_{max} = 292$ nm and by using an ϵ -value of 3500 l/mol cm [5].

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Typical chromatograms of extracts from human plasma, with and without addition of the internal standard δ -TP, are illustrated in Fig. 2. The retention characteristics of the vitamin E homologues are given in Table I. The total elution of the vitamin E homologues takes about 13 min. Because δ -TP is a natural vitamin E homologue, the plasma of 40 healthy individuals was checked for the possible occurrence of δ -TP. In only 8 out of 40 samples could traces of endogenous δ -TP be detected ($0.82 \pm 0.65 \ \mu \text{mol/l}$) at the lower detection limit of δ -TP (signal-to-noise ratio = 3). The finding that δ -TP is quantitatively of minor importance in human plasma justifies its use as internal standard and is in agreement with data published by Kato et al. [7], who reported the total absence of δ -TP in human serum for a group of 19 individuals. In order to minimize the possible error in the determination of peak height ratios (α -TP/ δ -TP) due to the contribution of traces of endogenous δ -TP, a 120-fold excess of the expected δ -TP amount was added as internal standard.

In a series of experiments we have also investigated the experimental conditions for suitable electrochemical oxidation of both α - and δ -TP. α - and δ -TP have been demonstrated to display a different reactivity toward singlet oxygen, which correlates with the antioxidant vitamin E activity, α -TP being about ten times more potent than δ -TP [9]. Consequently, different half-wave potentials for the electrochemical oxidation of α -TP ($E_{1/2} = 0.45$ V versus Ag/AgCl) and of



Time (min)

Fig. 2. High-performance liquid chromatogram of a plasma extract without and with addition of the internal standard, δ -TP. Column: 25 cm × 4.6 mm I.D., packed with 5- μ m LiChrosorb RP-18. Eluent: methanol containing 0.1% pyridine and 0.05 *M* sodium perchlorate; flow-rate 1 ml/min. Detection: electrochemical oxidation at a potential of +0.7 V. 1 = δ -TP; 2 = β - + γ -TP; 3 = α -TP.

TABLE I

RETENTION	CHARACTERISTICS	OF TOCOPHEROLS
-----------	-----------------	----------------

	Capacity ratio (k')	Retention time (min)	
δ-TP	2.8	9.2	
$\beta \cdot TP / \gamma \cdot TP$	3.5	11.0	
α-TP	4.2	12.6	

 δ -TP ($E_{1/2} = 0.62$ V) have been found [6]. Mixtures of α - and δ -TP, containing 5.8 and 7.5 ng, respectively, were subjected to HPLC analysis and the oxidizing potential of the glassy carbon working electrode was varied from +0.50 to +0.90 V versus the Ag/AgCl reference electrode in order to select a reasonably low oxidizing potential for δ -TP in its plateau region. Potentials higher than +0.90 V were not applied because of serious baseline instability, probably due to impurities in the eluent which started to oxidize. Fig. 3 shows the relationship between the peak response (in nA) and the applied potential. As can be seen from Fig. 3, a plateau value is reached for α -TP at approximately +0.80 V but not for δ -TP at the highest potential evaluated, i.e. +0.90 V. Because of baseline instability, which already started to occur at +0.80 V, and because sensitivity was not a limiting factor (detection limit 0.6 ng; signal-to-noise ratio = 10), we finally decided to use an oxidizing potential of +0.70 V for routine determinations of α -TP. A linear relationship between peak height ratios (α -TP/ δ -TP) and the α -TP concentration was found (Y = 0.7005X + 0.7866; r = 0.99985; n = 6).



Fig. 3. Voltammograms for α -TP (\Box) and δ -TP (\triangle) obtained under the conditions of Fig. 2. Injected amounts: 5.8 ng of α -TP; 7.5 ng of δ -TP.

For the estimation of the unknown concentrations, the procedure described by De Leenheer et al. [5] is applied. Briefly, the calibration curve is used after subtraction of the intercept, which represents the endogenous level of α -TP in the plasma pool, and the concentration in unknown plasma samples is determined after calculation of the peak height ratios. Analysis of nine samples of a plasma pool revealed a within-day precision (coefficient of variation, C.V.) of 2.5% (mean \pm S.D. = 18.05 \pm 0.46 μ mol/l). The day-to-day precision (C.V.) as measured over a period of ten days was 4.3% at the concentration level of 26.89 mol/l (S.D. = 1.16 μ mol/l). All these values are within an acceptable 5% limit. The detection limit of the procedure was established using aqueous standards and was shown to be 0.23 μ mol/l (signal-to-noise ratio = 10), which corresponds to concentrations about 100 times lower than those normally found in human plasma.

As a test of the applicability of the method, plasma from 25 human donors was analysed. Data are given in Table II and are in good agreement with literature data [5,10].

The HPLC method in combination with electrochemical detection for the estimation of α -TP is as simple and as short (total analysis time approximately 30 min) as the UV method described by De Leenheer et al. [5] and has a comparable precision: the C.V. for the UV method was 3% against 4% for our

TABLE II

PLASMA α-TOCOPHEROL	CONCENTRATIONS I	FOR A	GROUP O	F ADULT	HUMANS

Age (years)	Sex*	α -TP concentration (μ mol/l)	
20	M	15.79	
20	F	23.46	
22	F	21.83	
22	M	22.53	
25	M	16.49	
25	F	24.15	
26	F	23.46	
27	F	26.70	
28	М	25.08	
29	М	33.44	
30	F	31.12	
30	F	21.60	
31	М	50.39	
31	Μ	29.96	
31	Μ	22.76	
32	F	27.64	
32	F	25.78	
36	\mathbf{F}	34.60	
36	F	26.70	
36	Μ	20.44	
39	F	22.29	
51	F	58.52	
62	Μ	36.00	
63	F	22.53	
66	Μ	36.23	
Mean ± S.D.	: 28.05 ± 9.48 µ	mol/l	

Range: 15.79-58.52 µmol/l

*M = male; F = female.

method. The very clean chromatograms, which are totally free from interferences, indicate that the specificity of electrochemical detection, in which a relatively low oxidizing potential of ± 0.70 V is employed, is high. This is in contrast with methods based on direct fluorimetry and UV spectrophotometry, in which co-extracted compounds interfere in the analysis [3,11]. The HPLC method proposed is extremely sensitive as only 100 μ l of plasma are utilized and only 1/16 of the final extract is employed for HPLC analysis. The method may therefore have a particular value in cases where the sample size is a limiting factor, e.g. in white blood cell analysis [1].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. H. Nelis (Laboratory of Medical Biochemistry and Clinical Analysis, State University of Ghent) for helpful advice concerning vitamin E analysis, Mr. J. Vertommen for technical assistance and Mrs. G. Van de Vyver for typing the manuscript. M. Claeys is a research associate of the Belgian National Fund for Scientific Research.

REFERENCES

- 1 L.J. Hatam and H.J. Kayden, J. Lipid Res., 20 (1979) 639.
- 2 S.K. Howell and Y.-M. Wang, J. Chromatogr., 227 (1982) 174.
- 3 C.H. McMurray and W.J. Blanchflower, J. Chromatogr., 178 (1979) 525.
- 4 B.J. Zaspel and A.S. Csallany, Anal. Biochem., 130 (1983) 146.
- 5 A.P. De Leenheer, V.O.R.C. De Bevere, M.G.M. De Ruyter and A.E. Claeys, J. Chromatogr., 162 (1979) 408.
- 6 S. Ikenoya, K. Abe, T. Tsuda, Y. Yamano, O. Hiroshima, M. Ohmae and K. Kawabe, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 27 (1979) 1237.
- 7 H. Kato, H. Tanimura and Y. Hikasa, Arch. Jap. Chir., 50 (1981) 740.
- 8 M.K. Govind Rao and E.G. Perkins, J. Agric. Food Chem., 20 (1972) 240.
- 9 G.W. Grams and K. Eskins, Biochemistry, 11 (1972) 606.
- 10 J.G. Bieri, T.J. Tolliver and G.L. Catignani, Amer. J. Clin. Nutr., 32 (1979) 2143.
- 11 L.G. Hansen and W.J. Warwick, Amer. J. Clin. Pathol., 70 (1978) 922.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 183–188 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2248

Note

Quantitative analysis of cystathionine and perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5dicarboxylic acid in the urine of a patient with cystathioninuria using isotachophoresis

HIROYUKI KODAMA*, KEIKO SASAKI and HIROAKI MIKASA

Department of Chemistry, Kochi Medical School, Oko-cho, Nankoku-shi, Kochi 781-51 (Japan)

and

DORIANO CAVALLINI and GIORGIO RICCI

Istituto di Chimica Biologica, Universita di Roma, Rome (Italy)

(First received April 5th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 1st, 1984)

We have reported in previous papers [1-3] that the following unusual sulphur-containing amino acids have been excreted in the urine of a cystathioninuric patient: S-(3-hydroxy-3-carboxy-*n*-propyl)cysteine, S-(β -carboxy-methyl)homocysteine, S-(2-hydroxy-2-carboxyethyl)homocysteine, perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid, cystathionine sulphoxide and N-acetyl-cystathionine. After that, it was reported that cystathionine was oxidized with snake venom L-amino acid oxidase [4]. But the biosynthesis and physiological roles of these compounds in vivo are as yet not entirely understood.

All sulphur-containing amino acids described above, except for perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid, could be easily determined with an amino acid analyser, but the extinction coefficient of perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5dicarboxylic acid in the ninhydrin reaction, because it only has an imino group in its structure, was too low for this compound to be determined by an amino acid analyser.

Therefore, a new method for determining urinary perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid was devised using isotachophoresis [5-10]. The determination of cystathionine in rat tissue using isotachophoresis has been reported in a previous paper [11]. The determination of cystathionine in the urine of a cystathioninuric patient has also been achieved using this method.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cystathionine was obtained from Sigma. Authentic perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid was synthesized as reported in previous papers [4, 12]. All other chemicals used were analytical grade. The urine samples from normal humans were obtained from laboratory personnel. The sample from a patient with cystathioninuria was obtained from an elder sister reported in a previous paper [1].

A 2-ml volume of each urine sample was applied to a column containing 5 ml of Diaion SK-1 (H^{*} cation exchanger, mesh 100; Mitsubishi Kasei, Tokyo, Japan), washed with 50 ml of water and eluted with 30 ml of 2 M ammonium hydroxide. The eluate was evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure. An aliquot of the residue was hydrolysed in 6 M hydrochloric acid, and the hydrolysate was evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure. The two residues of non-hydrolysate and hydrolysate were analysed by isotachophoresis for the determination of cystathionine.

The determination of cystathionine using an amino acid analyser was carried out by directly analysing the urine of a cystathioninuric patient. The effluent plus 50 ml of water from the Diaion SK-1 (H⁺) column described for the analysis of cystathionine was adjusted to pH 9.0 with 2 *M* ammonium hydroxide and applied to a column containing 5 ml of Diaion SA (OH⁻ anion exchanger, mesh 100; Mitsubishi Kasei) washed with 30 ml of 2 *M* acetic acid and eluted with 30 ml of 0.5 *M* hydrochloric acid. The eluate was evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure. The identification of perhydro-1,4thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid in the residue was carried out by comparing its chromatographic behaviour with that of an authentic sample. An aliquot of the residue was analysed by an isotachophoretic analyser.

Instrumentation

Assay conditions for perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid. The capillary apparatus used was a Shimadzu IP-1B isotachophoretic analyser (Shimadzu Seisakusho, Kyoto, Japan). The separations were carried out in a capillary tube, 20 cm \times 0.5 mm I.D., maintained at 20°C. The migration current was 100 μ A. The detector cell was 0.05 cm \times 0.5 mm I.D., the chart speed was 10 mm/min. The leading electrolyte consisted of 0.01 *M* hydrochloric acid and β -alanine (pH 3.1). The terminating electrolyte was 0.01 *M* glutamic acid.

Assay conditions for cystathionine. The leading electrolyte consisted of 0.01 M hydrochloric acid and 2-amino-2-methyl-1,3-propanediol (amediol) containing 5% polyvinyl alcohol (pH 8.9). The terminal electrolyte was 0.01 $M \gamma$ -aminobutyric acid and barium hydroxide (pH 10.9). The other conditions were the same as for the analysis of perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Determination of cystathionine

The described procedure was used to determine cystathionine in the urine of a cystathioninuric patient. Authentic cystathionine gave a sharp zone under the



Fig. 1. Isotachophoretic runs of (A) authentic cystathionine, (B) non-hydrolysed urine and (C) hydrolysed urine of a cystathioninuric patient, and (D) hydrolysed urine as in C plus authentic cystathionine. Analytical conditions are described under Materials and methods.

described analytical conditions (Fig. 1A). A zone that had the same potential gradient as authentic cystathionine was not detected in normal human urine, but it was detected in the urine sample of a cystathioninuric patient (Fig. 1B). The sample of Fig. 1B was hydrolysed in 6 M hydrochloric acid for 24 h. An aliquot of the hydrolysate (Fig. 1C) was analysed by the isotachophoretic analyser just at the point where the zone of cystathionine in the hydrolysate was shorter than the zone of cystathionine in the non-hydrolysate as shown in Fig. 1C. The zone of cystathionine in Fig. 1C and that of authentic cysta

TABLE I

COMPARISON OF CYSTATHIONINE CONCENTRATION IN THE URINE OF A CYSTATHIONINURIC PATIENT AS DETERMINED BY ISOTACHOPHORETIC AND AMINO ACID ANALYSERS

Sample	Isotachophoretic a	nalyser	Amino acid analyser		
	Non-hydrolysed	n-hydrolysed Hydrolysed			
1	4.26	2.84	2.89		
2	4.33	2.84	2.91		
3	4.25	2.41	2.86		
4	4.31	2.84	2.93		
5	4.26	2.83	2.86		
Mean ± S.E.	4.28 ± 0.032	2.75 ± 0.17	2.89 ± 0.028		

Values are expressed in μ mol/ml.

thionine were made to overlap by adding authentic cystathionine to the urine sample; this resulted in an elongation of the cystathionine zone in the urine sample as shown in Fig. 1D. The recovery of authentic cystathionine during hydrolysis was 93-96% (n = 5).

The results for the determination of cystathionine in the urine of the cystathioninuric patient using an isotachophoretic analyser and an amino acid analyser are compared in Table I. The values of cystathionine in non-hydrolysed urine determined using isotachophoresis were higher than the values obtained using the amino acid analyser. On the other hand, the values of cystathionine in the hydrolysed urine agreed well with the values obtained with the amino acid analyser.

These results indicate that the zone with the same potential gradient as authentic cystathionine in non-hydrolysed urine samples comprises several zones, but the cystathionine zone in the hydrolysed urine is a single zone. Therefore, the method presented here is also applicable for the determination of cystathionine in urine as reported previously [11].

Determination of perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid

Isotachophoretic runs of authentic perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid, normal human urine, and perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid added to normal urine are shown in Fig. 2A—C, respectively. The results indicate that perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid is absent in normal human urine (Fig. 2B and Table II).



Fig. 2. Isotachophoretic runs of (A) authentic perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid, (B) normal urine, and (C) normal urine plus authentic perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid.

TABLE II

DETEI	RMINA	TIC)N	OF	PEI	RHY.	DRO)-1,4-	THL	AZEP	INE-3,	5-D	ICA	RB	OX.	YLIC	A	CID	IN
THE U	IRINE	OF	A	CYST	TATI	HION	IINU	RIC	PAT	IENT	AND	IN	NO	RM.	AL	HUM	AN	UR	INE

Sample	Cystathioninuric patient	Normal human urine				
1	0.97	N.D.*				
2	0.91	N.D.				
3	0.94	N.D.				
4	0.93	N.D.				
5	0.95	N.D.				
Mean ± S.E.	0.94 ± 0.02					

Values are expressed in µmol/ml.

*N.D., not detectable.

Isotachophoretic runs of urine samples of a cystathioninuric patient are shown in Fig. 3. The zone that had the same potential gradient as the zone of authentic perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid was made to overlap by adding authentic perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid to the urine sample, resulting in an elongation of the zone of perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5dicarboxylic acid in the urine sample, as shown in Fig. 3.

The urine sample described above contained a compound with the same R_F value as authentic perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid on paper chromatography using *n*-butanol—acetic acid—water as mobile phase. The compound moved with the same mobility as synthetic perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid on high-voltage paper electrophoresis, and gave a positive



Fig. 3. Isotachophoretic runs of (A) urine of a cystathioninuric patient, and (B) the same urine plus authentic perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid.

sulphur test [3]. These results indicate that the zone has the same potential gradient as the zone of authentic sample shown in Fig. 3A is perhydro-1,4thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid.

The slope of a standard curve drawn by plotting zone length against concentration of authentic perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid using isotachophoresis was linear from 0 to 50 nmol. It was possible to detect 1 nmol of perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid using isotachophoresis.

The recovery of perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid added to normal urine using the column chromatographic procedure described under Materials and methods was 92.3-103.1% (n = 5) and 92.6-95.3% (n = 5) in the urine of a cystathioninuric patient. Analyses of authentic perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid and aspartic acid were also carried out simultaneously by using the amino acid analyser. In this case, 0.5 nmol of aspartic acid could easily be detected, but not even 200 nmol of perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid could be detected because of the lower colour value of the respective ninhydrin solution. When 500 nmol of this amino acid were analysed, it finally appeared as a small peak on the chart.

However, when the urine sample was analysed with the amino acid analyser, several compounds overlapped with perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid and interfered with its analysis. It was thus impossible to determine this compound after the same column treatment as used in isotachophoretic analysis when using the amino acid analyser.

The isotachophoretic assay presented here was more simple and sensitive than that using the amino acid analyser. The results indicate that the method should be very useful, and can be adequately utilized for the quantitative estimation of perhydro-1,4-thiazepine-3,5-dicarboxylic acid in the urine of cystathioninuric patients.

REFERENCES

- 1 H. Kodama, K. Yao, K. Kobayashi, K. Hirayama, Y. Fujii and S. Mizuhara, Physiol. Chem. Phys., 1 (1969) 72-76.
- 2 H. Kodama, S. Ohmori, M. Suzuki and S. Mizuhara, Physiol. Chem. Phys., 2 (1970) 287-292.
- 3 H. Kodama, Y. Ishimoto, M. Shimomura, T. Hirota and S. Ohmori, Physiol. Chem. Phys., 7 (1975) 147-152.
- 4 D. Cavallini, G. Ricci and G. Federici, in K. Kuriyama, R.J. Huxtable and H. Iwata (Editors), Taurine, Alan R. Liss, New York, 1983, pp. 355-363.
- 5 H. Haglund, Sci. Tools, 17 (1970) 2-12.
- 6 L. Arlinger, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 393 (1975) 393-403.
- 7 H. Miyazaki and K. Katoh, J. Chromatogr., 119 (1976) 369-383.
- 8 H. Kodama and S. Uasa, J. Chromatogr., 163 (1979) 300-303.
- 9 H. Mikasa, K. Sasaki and H. Kodama, J. Chromatogr., 190 (1980) 501-503.
- 10 H. Mikasa, T. Ageta, N. Mizoguchi and H. Kodama, Anal. Biochem., 126 (1982) 52-57.
- 11 H. Kodama, N. Mizoguchi, K. Sasaki and H. Mikasa, Anal. Biochem., 133 (1983) 100-103.
- 12 G. Ricci, L. Santoro, M. Achilli, R.M. Materese, M. Nardini and D. Cavallini, J. Biol. Chem., 259 (1983) 10511-10517.

CHROMBIO. 2236

Note

Gas-Hiquid chromatographic analysis with electron-capture detection of diclofensine in human plasma following derivatization

H. HOJABRI, D. DADGAR* and J.D. GLENNON*

Department of Chemistry, University College, Cork (Ireland)

(First received March 19th, 1984; revised manuscript received May 31st, 1984)

Diclofensine (Fig. 1) is a newly synthesised isoquinoline antidepressant. The only commercially available antidepressant with the same basic isoquinoline moiety is nomifensine [1] (Fig. 1). Rapid and high-resolution gas chromatographic (GC) analyses for nomifensine have been developed [2, 3]. Electron-capture detection of a metabolite of nomifensine, 4'-hydroxynomifensine, in biological samples has been studied utilising pentafluoropropionic anhydride as a derivatizing agent [4]. Heptafluorobutyric anhydride was used to derivatize nomifensine in an earlier GC study [5] and very recently in a comparative study of high-performance liquid and gas—liquid chromatography (GLC) [6].



Fig. 1. Chemical structures of nomifensine and diclofensine.

To date no analytical method for the determination of diclofensine has been described. Previous work has concentrated on the antidepressant effect of diclofensine [7-9]. Preliminary investigations in our laboratory have indicated

^{*}Present address: Institute of Clinical Pharmacology, Dublin, Ireland.

that diclofensine does not exhibit sufficient electron-capturing ability to be determined directly. In this paper, we describe a GLC method for diclofensine in plasma which is based on solvent extraction and the formation of a

MATERIALS AND METHODS

fluorinated derivative of the amine.

Reagents

Diclofensine [RAC-4-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)-1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-7-methoxy-2methylisoquinoline hydrochloride] was kindly supplied by its manufacturers (Hoffmann-La Roche, Basle, Switzerland). The internal standard imipramine hydrochloride (purity 99%) was obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.). Heptafluorobutyric anhydride, HFBA (Pierce, Rockford, IL, U.S.A.) was used directly as the derivatizing agent. Methyl chloroformate was obtained from Aldrich (Gillingham, U.K.). Diethyl ether, *n*-heptane and triethylamine were of analytical-reagent grade (Hopkins and Williams, Essex, U.K.). Plasma was prepared by adding triply distilled water to dry plasma (Blood Transfusion Service Board, Dublin, Ireland).

Preparation of standards

Diclofensine hydrochloride (11.12 mg equivalent to 10 mg diclofensine) was dissolved in 100 ml triply distilled water (working standards). Plasma standards were freshly prepared each day by spiking the blank plasma with working standards to yield diclofensine concentrations ranging from 100 to 700 ng/ml in plasma. A stock solution of the internal standard was prepared by dissolving 11.28 mg imipramine hydrochloride (equivalent to 10 mg imipramine) in 100 ml of distilled water to give an imipramine concentration of 100 μ g/ml. This solution was further diluted to give a 10 μ g/ml solution of imipramine.

Extraction and derivatization procedures

To 1-ml aliquots of plasma were added 100 μ l of the working standards together with 100 μ l of imipramine hydrochloride, from an internal standard solution containing 10 μ g/ml. The plasma was made alkaline (pH 9) with 0.2 ml 1 M sodium hydroxide followed by the addition of 1.5 ml diethyl ether. The mixtures were shaken for 30 sec on a vortex mixer and then centrifuged for 5 min at 700 g. Aliquots (1.10 ml) of the supernatant were removed and evaporated to dryness under nitrogen in glass tubes. Following reconstitution in 0.5 ml *n*-heptane, sodium carbonate (10 mg) and methylchloroformate (200 μ l) were added to each tube. The tubes were then attached to an air condenser and heated at 100°C for 30 min in an oil bath. Following this, the samples were evaporated to dryness under a gentle flow of nitrogen and 0.5-ml quantities of 30% hydrogen bromide in glacial acetic acid added. The tubes were then heated for a further 10 min at 100°C and cooled. Concentrated ammonia (1 ml) was added to each tube. The contents of each tube were shaken with 300 μ l of *n*-heptane and 250- μ l aliquots of the supernatant were separated out. To each 250- μ l aliquot were added 50 μ l triethylamine and 5 μ l HFBA in a dry glass tube. After 1 h at room temperture, the samples were washed with 2 ml of 0.1 M sodium hydroxide and the organic layer separated for analysis by GLC.

Gas—liquid chromatography

A Sigma 4 Perkin-Elmer gas chromatograph with a Ni⁶³ electron-capture detector was used, with a 2 m \times 2 mm glass column packed with 3% OV-17 on Chromosorb W HP (80–100 mesh). The oven temperature was 265°C with the detector and injection port temperatures maintained at 300°C. The flow-rate was 45 ml/min (oxygen-free nitrogen) with the make up carrier flow-rate at 75 ml/min. The column was conditioned each day by increasing the oven temperature from 100°C to 265°C at a rate of 1°C/min. A Hewlett-Packard 3390 A reporting integrator was used to record and measure the peak height values.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Diclofensine $(pK_a = 7)$ can be extracted from plasma at pH 9 with a number of organic solvents. The efficiency of extraction was determined using flameionisation detection by comparing peak heights obtained with a variety of extracting solvents with those obtained by direct injection of a standard diclofensine solution in methanol. The extraction efficiency was found to be 80% with diethyl ether, 50% with chloroform, 72% with toluene and 75% with hexane. The derivatization procedure itself was used for imipramine, amitriptyline and a series of diphenylmethane alkyl tertiary amines [10] and is adapted here for use in the analysis of diclofensine with imipramine conveniently as the internal standard.

Amines are generally difficult to analyse using GC. Although nomifensine can be gas chromatographed as the free base, the chromatographic properties of these compounds are considerably improved by derivative formation. Diclofensine is first demethylated using methyl chloroformate followed by hydrolysis of the urethane to N-desmethyldiclofensine (Fig. 2). The final step involves the derivatization reaction with heptafluorobutyric anhydride in the presence of triethylamine.



Fig. 2. Demethylation of diclofensine followed by hydrolysis of the urethane to N-desmethyldiclofensine.

A typical chromatogram of diclofensine and the internal standard imipramine is shown in Fig. 3 together with appropriate blank chromatograms. The retention times are 2.78 min for diclofensine and 1.96 min for the internal standard. A plot of peak height ratios of diclofensine to those of the internal standard against diclofensine concentration in plasma is linear over the concentration range 100-700 ng/ml with a correlation coefficient > 0.99.



Fig. 3. Chromatograms of (a) derivatized extract of drug-free plasma; (b) underivatized extract of spiked plasma; (c) derivatized extract of spiked plasma containing 600 ng/ml diclofensine. Peaks: internal standard, imipramine (1), endogeneous (2), diclofensine (3).

Selectivity of the method

With respect to potential interferences in multiple drug therapy, some information on the selectivity of the method is obtained from a comparison of retention volumes. Apart from the internal standard, the tricyclic anti-depressant cianopramine (Fig. 4) was also studied by this method. The retention volumes for the antidepressants were considerably different: diclofensine 125 ml, imipramine 88 ml, cianopramine 167 ml. The results indicate that a high selectivity is achieved.



Fig. 4. Structural formulae of imipramine and cianopramine.

Precision of the method

Intra-assay variability was determined in the 100–700 ng/ml concentration range studied, yielding a mean coefficient of variation of 4.8% for the method. The coefficient of variation was 3.3% at 700 ng/ml and 6.2% at 100 ng/ml (n = 4).

Limit of detection

Using the conditions outlined, the limit of detection with 1 ml plasma and $1-\mu l$ injection was 70 ng/ml where the signal-to-noise ratio was just greater than 3:1.

CONCLUSION

The derivatization and electron-capture detection of diclofensine is a sensitive and accurate method for the determination of the drug in plasma. Although the levels determined did not reach the expected therapeutic plasma level, the method offers a means of measuring trace amounts of diclofensine. The extraction, separation and determination of spiked plasma samples indicates the potential use of the method in clinical applications. At the time of this study the expected metabolites of this compound were not available. N-Desmethyldiclofensine, a possible metabolite, is an intermediate in the preparation of extracted diclofensine for derivatization. However, such a metabolite could be distinguished by immediate derivatization with heptafluorobutyric anhydride and triethylamine.

REFERENCES

- 1 C. Cherpillod and L.M.O. Omer, J. Int. Med. Res., 9 (1981) 324.
- 2 E. Bailey, M. Fenoughty and L. Richardson, J. Chromatogr., 131 (1977) 347.
- 3 J. Chamberlain and H.M. Hill, Brit. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 4 (1977) 117S.
- 4 S. Caccia, G. Guiso and M.G. Zanini, J. Chromatogr., 190 (1980) 475.
- 5 L. Vereczkey, G. Bianchetti, V. Rovei and A. Frigerio, J. Chromatogr., 116 (1976) 451.
- 6 R.L.P. Lindberg, J.S. Salonen and E.I. Iisalo, J. Chromatogr., 276 (1983) 85.
- 7 L.M. Omer, Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. Toxicol., 20 (1982) 320.
- 8 R. Scherschlight, P. Porc, J. Schneeberger, M. Steiner and W. Haefely, Adv. Biochem. Psychopharmacol., 31 (1982) 359.
- 9 H.H. Keller, R. Schaffner, M.O. Carruba, W.P. Burkard, M. Pieri, E.P. Bonetti, R. Scherschlicht, M. Da Prada and W.F. Haefely, Adv. Biochem. Psychopharmacol., 31 (1982) 249.
- 10 P. Harvig and J. Vessman, Acta Pharm. Suecica, 11 (1974) 115.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 194–198 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2228

Note

Rapid gas chromatographic determination of ifosfamide in biological fluids

MAY R.Z. TALHA and H.J. ROGERS*

Department of Clinical Pharmacology, Guy's Hospital Medical School, London Bridge, London SE1 9RT (U.K.)

(First received April 27th, 1983; revised manuscript received June 13th, 1984)

Ifosfamide [IF, 3-(2-chloroethyl)-2-(2-chloroethylamino)tetrahydro-1,3,2oxazophosphorine 2-oxide] is a structural analogue of cyclophosphamide in which one functional chloroethyl group is transferred from the extracyclic to the endocyclic nitrogen. IF has efficacy in testicular tumours including teratomas, osteosarcoma, lymphoma, pancreatic carcinoma and small cell bronchial carcinoma [1-4]. Like cyclophosphamide, IF requires metabolic activation to alkylating metabolites which have anti-mitotic actions. These latter compounds, only some of which are presently known, cannot at the moment be satisfactorily or easily estimated in biological fluids. Therefore pharmacokinetic analysis of the disposition of IF and its relationship to efficacy and dosage regimes must largely rest upon the estimation of IF and alkylating activity in plasma.

Methods for IF estimation by gas chromatography (GC) have previously been published. The earliest published method was for underivatised IF and separated IF from other compounds on a 3.8% W-982 column followed by flame-ionisation detection. The technique required, however, 2 ml plasma and a complicated extraction procedure to yield a sensitivity of only 1 μ g/ml [5]. Greater sensitivity was achieved by conversion to the trifluoroacetyl (TFA) derivative and chromatography using electron-capture (ECD) or nitrogenphosphorus detection [6-8] which allowed considerably better selectivity and sensitivity. The estimation of underivatised oxazophosphorines is complicated by the occurrence of intramolecular alkylation. This can be prevented by derivatisation [6-8] or by careful selection of assay conditions. Such conditions have been determined for cyclophosphamide and, by implication, for IF [9]. Recently an ECD-GC method for IF determination has been described [10] which requires derivatisation using heptafluorobutyric anhydride. The present report describes a practical assay for underivatised IF in biological fluids and compares it with a more complex assay which requires prior trifluoroacetylation of IF. The use of the underivatised technique for IF estimation is exemplified by a study of IF disposition in a dog.

EXPERIMENTAL

Chemicals

IF was a gift from WB Pharmaceuticals (Bracknell, U.K.); trophosphamide was donated by Prof. Dr. N. Brock, Asta-Werke (Bielefeld, F.R.G.). Other chemicals were purchased from BDH (Poole, U.K.).

Instrumentation

The chromatograph was a Pye 104 model fitted with a glass column (0.9 m \times 2 mm I.D.) packed with 5% SE 30 on 80–100 mesh Chromosorb W (acid-washed, DMCS-treated). It was operated at 200°C with a nitrogen (carrier) flow-rate of 40 ml/min. The nitrogen detector was maintained at 350°C. The flow-rates were 65 ml/min and 635 ml/min for hydrogen and air, respectively.

Analytical methods

For direct assay of ifosfamide, the internal standard (5 μ g trofosfamide) and 0.2 ml of 0.1 *M* sodium hydroxide were added to 1 ml of plasma containing IF and briefly mixed. This mixture was extracted with 3 ml ethyl acetate by mixing for 1 min on a vibration mixer (Whirlimixer; Luckhams, Burgess Hill, U.K.). After centrifugation for 10 min at 1000 g, 1 ml of the supernatant was transferred to a clean dry tapered glass tube (15 ml) and evaporated to dryness in a gentle stream of air in a 50°C waterbath. The dried residue was redissolved in 100 μ l ethyl acetate and 2 μ l of this were injected into the gas chromatograph. The volumes given above are suitable for clinical samples; adjustment of volumes will allow greater sensitivity for other circumstances.

Assay of TFA-derivatised IF was by a previously published method [6]. The 4-(4-nitrobenzypyridine) pyridine (NBP) alkylating activity was measured spectrophotometrically [7].

RESULTS

Typical chromatograms from the assay of underivatised IF are shown in Fig. 1. The retention times were 0.6 min for IF and 1.3 min for the internal standard. Identification was made by retention time in comparison with standards and peak superimposition. No interference was noted from endogenous plasma constituents. Standard solutions of IF in blank human plasma gave excellent linearity with respect to ratio of peak heights of IF:internal standard over a range of plasma concentrations from 1 to $50 \,\mu$ l/ml (r = 0.999; n = 22; P < 0.001). The relative standard deviation of between-assay replicates over this range of concentrations varied from 0.06 to 0.11. The minimum detection level (signal-to-noise ratio 2:1) was 100 ng/ml for plasma (Fig. 1).

The accuracy in assay of known IF concentrations in spiked plasma samples



Fig. 1. Representative chromatograms from plasma. Injection artifact is first peak on right and all chromatograms are read from right to left. Chromatograms: (1) blank plasma containing 100 ng/ml ifosfamide; (2) the corresponding blank plasma; (3) blank plasma recorded at the attenuation appropriate to demonstrate the peaks due to 2 μ g/ml ifosfamide (4); and 10 μ g/ml ifosfamide (5). Peaks: T, trophosphamide (internal standard); and I, ifosfamide.



Fig. 2. Relationship between 22 estimates for IF concentrations assayed from the same sample by the direct and TFA-derivatisation methods.
was excellent. The correlation coefficient between known and estimated IF concentrations was 0.999 with a slope of 0.989 (n = 22). The intraclass correlation coefficient R_i was 0.997 indicating similarity of slope and intercept of the regression [11].

To compare the direct assay of IF with its assay as the trifluoroacetylated derivative, 22 plasma samples containing IF concentrations between 1 and 40 μ g/ml were assayed by both techniques. Fig. 2 shows the results of this study. The least-squares regression line shown in Fig. 2 is derived from the equation [TFA method result] = 0.988 [direct method result] + 0.61. The 95% confidence limits of the intercept are 0.38–0.84 and of the slope 0.949–1.028. It will be noted that the latter interval spans unity which would be the slope for perfect parallelism. For this regression, r = 0.996 (P < 0.001). The intraclass correlation coefficient R_i tests for concordance and was 0.984. A residual plot indicated no significant bias and this was confirmed by analysis of variance.



Fig. 3. (A) Plasma concentration—time profiles of unchanged IF in the femoral (•) and hepatic portal (\circ) veins of a dog following intravenous injection of 20 mg/kg IF. (B) Total NBP alkylating activity in the same dog (expressed as μ g nornitrogen mustard equivalents per ml) determined in femoral vein (•) and bile (•) compared with elimination of unchanged IF in bile (\circ).

Fig. 3 shows the plasma concentrations of unchanged IF in the femoral artery, hepatic portal vein and bile of a male greyhound (27.5 kg) given IF 20 mg/kg as an intravenous bolus following cannulation under general anaesthesia of the appropriate vessels. The half-life in the β -phase of IF in both femoral arterial and hepatic portal venous plasma was 2.3 h, the apparent volume of distribution in the β -phase of the central compartment (V_{β}) 1.0 l/kg, and the systemic clearance 0.3 ml/kg/h. IF elimination in bile showed a discontinuous pattern and this was mirrored by elimination of NBP-alkylating IF may also be estimated in urine from patients undergoing treatment for sarcomas using this underivatised method [12].

DISCUSSION

The assay for estimation of underivatised IF was found to be as accurate as that involving the more complex requirements of derivatisation with trifluoroacetic acid. The extraction time is rapid and chromatography on a relatively narrow-bore column gives a short retention time so that some 50 samples can easily be assayed in a working day. A previous report suggested decompositon of underivatised IF on an SE 30 column [8]; this was not noted in the present study. Under the present assay conditions, cyclophosphamide shows formation of double peaks and has a brief retention time which made it unsuitable as an internal standard. An assay for underivatised cyclophosphamide has previously been published [9].

In our hands this rapid assay has proved suitable for pharmacokinetic studies of IF in animals and man using samples of saliva, plasma, bile and urine. The assay is suitable for pharmacokinetic studies as illustrated by a study of IF kinetics in bile and plasma following intravenous administration to a dog. The elimination of IF and its NBP alkylating metabolites in bile has not been previously reported but is consonant with analogous observations on cyclophosphamide made in man [13]. This route of elimination may explain the finding of IF in faecal samples from patients receiving IF by the intravenous route [14]. Further studies will be required to elucidate the kinetics of this in the bile but a quantitative study of cyclophosphamide in man [11] suggests by analogy that the fraction of the drug dose eliminated by this route is likely to be small.

REFERENCES

- 1 P. Bruhl, U. Gunther, H. Hoefer-Janker, W. Hiils, W. Scheef and W. Vahlensieck, Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 14 (1976) 29.
- 2 F. Cabanillas, M.A. Burgess, G.P. Bodey and E.J. Freireich, Amer. J. Med., 74 (1983) 382.
- 3 J.J. Costanzi, R. Gagliano, D. Lonkas, F.J. Panettieree and J.A. Hokanson, Cancer, 41 (1978) 1715.
- 4 N. Gad-er-Manda and J.L. Ziegler, Cancer Treat. Rep., 65 (1981) 357.
- 5 L.M. Allen and P.J. Creaven, Cancer Chemother. Rep., 56 (1972) 721.
- 6 F.D. Juma, H.J. Rogers, J.R. Trounce and I.D. Bradbrook, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 1 (1978) 229.
- 7 F.D. Juma, H.J. Rogers and J.R. Trounce, Brit. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 8 (1979) 209.
- 8 C. Pantarotto, A. Bossi, G. Belvedere, A. Martini, M.G. Donelli and A. Frigerio, J. Pharm. Sci., 63 (1974) 1554.
- 9 N. van den Bosch and D. de Vos, J. Chromatogr., 183 (1980) 49.
- 10 M.R. Holdiness and L.R. Morgan, Jr., J. Chromatogr., 275 (1983) 432.
- 11 J.H. Zar, Biostatistical Analysis, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1974, pp. 246-247.
- 12 C.A. James, personal communication.
- 13 J.S. Dooley, C.A. James, H.J. Rogers and R. Stuart-Harris, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 9 (1982) 26.
- 14 E. Schaumloffel, Proceedings of the International Holoxan Symposium, Düsseldorf, 1977, Asta-Werke, Düsseldorf, 1977, p. 37.

CHROMBIO. 2224

Note

Simple method for routine determination of betaxolol in blood and urine by automated high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorimetric detection

H. CAQUERET and G. BIANCHETTI*,*

LERS-Synthélabo, 58, rue de la Glacière, 75013 - Paris (France)

(First received March 2nd, 1984; revised manuscript received April 30th, 1984)

(±)-1-{4-[2-(cyclopropylmethoxy)ethyl]phenoxy}3-isopropyl-Betaxolol, amino-2-propanol hydrochloride (Kerlon[®]), is a new adrenoceptor blocking agent, approved for the treatment of hypertension in many European countries. In two previously published reports, the quantification of betaxolol in biological fluids with gas-liquid chromatography (GLC) and electron-capture detection was described [1,2]. These methods are time-consuming because several extraction steps are necessary in order to obtain clean chromatograms. Moreover, derivatization with heptafluorobutyric anhydride is needed to allow the quantification of concentrations as low as 0.5 ng/ml betaxolol. These GLC methods are specially suitable for pharmacokinetic studies. Betaxolol has a long terminal half-life (16-22 h), and following oral administration of a 20-mg dose the peak blood concentration ranges between 30 and 60 ng/ml. Hence, it is absolutely necessary to have a method sensitive enough to follow betaxolol blood concentrations down to 1-2 ng/ml with good precision in order to measure elimination half-lives.

For therapeutic drug monitoring the emphasis is not on sensitivity; what is required is a fast, simple and reliable method. If compliance is good, betaxolol steady-state concentrations are never below 10 ng/ml with a dose of 10 mg/day. The present report describes a high-performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) method with fluorimetric detection and automatic injection for the determination of betaxolol in clinical setting, and gives some examples of drug monitoring in a group of hypertensive patients treated for at least one year with the drug.

^{*}Correspondence address: LERS-Synthélabo, 23-25, Avenue Morane Saulnier, 92360 Meudon la Foret, France.

EXPERIMENTAL

Standard and reagents

Betaxolol hydrochloride was synthesized in the Chemistry Department of Synthélabo (Bagneux, France); metoprolol hydrochloride was kindly supplied by Dr. Cavero from the Cardiovascular Department of Synthélabo (Paris, France).

Diethyl ether, acetic acid and sodium hydroxide, all analytical reagent grade, were obtained from Carlo Erba (Milan, Italy). Acetonitrile (HPLC grade) was purchased from E. Merck (Darmstadt, F.R.G.).

Stock solutions

Standard solutions of betaxolol $(1 \ \mu g/ml)$ and metoprolol $(1 \ \mu g/ml)$ were prepared in methanol and kept at 4°C. Under these conditions the solutions were stable for several weeks.

Equipment

Chromatography was carried out on a Micromeritics 7000 liquid chromatograph connected to an automatic injector (Micromeritics 725) and a fluorimetric detector (Kontron SFM 23 B). The fluorimetric detector was set with an excitation wavelength of 275 nm and emission wavelength of 305 nm.

Chromatographic conditions

The mobile phase was acetonitrile—acetate buffer 0.03 M, pH 5.6 (40:60 v/v) pumped at a flow-rate of 1.0 ± 0.01 ml/min through a stainless-steel column (15 cm \times 4.6 mm I.D.) packed in our laboratory [3] with Spherisorb CN, 5 μ m (Batch 17/143) (Phase Separations, Queensferry, U.K.). Acetate buffer was prepared by adding 1.8 ml of glacial acetic acid to 11 of distilled water and adjusting the pH to 5.6 with 10 M sodium hydroxide.

Extraction procedure

A 1-ml volume of blood and 1 ml of distilled water were added to a conical tube containing 50 ng of the internal standard metoprolol (50 μ l of a 1 μ g/ml solution in methanol). This mixture, made alkaline (pH 11) with 200 μ l of 2 *M* sodium hydroxide, was shaken on a Vortex mixer and then extracted with distilled diethyl ether (7 ml) on a rock-and-roll shaker for 15 min. Following centrifugation (1000 g, 5 min at 4°C), 6.5 ml of the upper organic phase were transferred to a second tube and evaporated to dryness at 37°C under a gentle stream of nitrogen. The dry extract was then dissolved in 880 μ l of 0.03 *M* acetate buffer by agitation on a Vortex mixer. This solution was transferred to an injection vial with a volume of 880 μ l [4,5], and injected onto the column by means of an automatic injector equipped with a 500- μ l loop.

For the quantification of betaxolol in urine, the same procedure was followed, but, owing to the higher concentrations of the drug in this medium, the volume analysed was scaled down to between 0.1 and 0.5 ml.

A calibration curve prepared with blood (or urine) spiked with 10, 20, 40 and 80 ng (from a methanolic solution of $1 \mu g/ml$) and 50 ng of metoprolol as internal standard, was run with each series of samples. Each point in the calibration curve was prepared in duplicate.

Quantification

All determinations were performed by calculating the peak area ratios of betaxolol to the internal standard. The integration of the peaks and the calculations of the concentrations were performed by a Sigma 10 Perkin Elmer integrator after the definition of the response factor, between betaxolol and metoprolol.

Patients

The patients whose blood betaxolol concentrations are reported were participating in a multicentre long-term study to assess the efficacy and tolerance of betaxolol. All were outpatients, suffering at the beginning of the study from essential hypertension with a diastolic pressure > 100 mm Hg. The dose could vary from 10 to 40 mg/day, taken as a single oral administration. These patients were, in principle, on monotherapy. In these ambulatory patients blood was sampled to monitor the betaxolol concentration at the same time as the periodic clinical control. The full results of this two-year study will be reported elsewhere.

The present report also includes a second group of twelve hypertensive patients, from another long-term study, to whom betaxolol was administered as polytherapy. This makes it possible to check for possible analytical interferences.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Two chromatograms obtained from a blank blood extract and from a spiked (20 ng) blood extract are presented in Fig. 1. The blank blood extract showed no endogenous interfering peaks. The retention times of metoprolol and betaxolol were 6.4 and 7.9 min, respectively. The absolute sensitivity (signal-to-noise ratio = 3) of this method, checked using standard solutions, was 0.5 ng/ml. However, from a practical point of view, the minimum quantifiable level is 1 ng/ml of blood.

The precision of the method was determined by spiking ten 1-ml aliquots of drug-free blood with four different amounts of betaxolol, i.e. 5, 50, 80 and 500 ng. After the addition of 50 ng of internal standard, the samples were processed as previously described. The coefficient of variation ranged from 11% to 3% for the concentrations 5–500 ng (Table I).

The recovery of the method was not calculated in the present study, but it is estimated to be equal to that reported in the previously described methods in which the same extraction procedure was utilized [2].

Interfering peaks from other cardiovascular drugs which can be administered concomitantly with this beta-blocker were checked. Guanethidine, furosemide, lidocaine, quinidine and diltiazem did not interfere with either betaxolol or metoprolol.

This method is suitable for an automatic sample processing and data acquisition system. Under these conditions 40 samples a day can easily be analysed, the rate-limiting step remaining the preparation of the samples for injection.

The blood concentrations observed in the patients on monotherapy are reported in Table II, and a representative chromatogram of a patient's blood sample appears in Fig. 2.



Fig. 1. Chromatograms of (A) 1 ml of blank blood extract, and (B) 1 ml of spiked blood extract containing 20 ng of betaxolol and 50 ng of internal standard (metoprolol). RRT = relative retention time, RF = response factor, C = concentration.

TABLE I

REPRODUCIBILITY OF THE HPLC METHOD FOR THE MEASUREMENT OF BETAXOLOL AT DIFFERENT CONCENTRATIONS IN BLOOD

Theoretical concentration (ng/ml)	Number of measurements	Mean concentration obtained (ng/ml)	Standard deviation	Coefficient of variation (%)
5	10	4.7	0.5	11
50	11	48.8	3.1	6
80	10	79.4	2.8	3.5
500	11	508.5	17.0	3

It is interesting to observe the consistency of the blood concentrations of betaxolol, within the same subjects, monitored over intervals of two to four months.

The very narrow intra-subject fluctuation of the betaxolol blood concentration has been already observed in many studies, which also showed minimal (two to three times) inter-individual variation of the blood betaxolol concentrations for the same given dose [6-8]. In subjects reported in this study, the inter-individual differences for betaxolol blood concentrations may appear greater. However, it must be considered that different doses were administered, that the sampling was done either before or after the drug intake, and that the subjects studied were outpatients.

TABLE II

CONCENTRATIONS OF BETAXOLOL IN BLOOD OF HYPERTENSIVE PATIENTS UNDERGOING CHRONIC TREATMENT WITH THE DRUG AT DIFFERENT DOSES

Subject	Weight (kg)	Dose (mg)	Date	Time from last dose (h)	Betaxolol plasma conc. (ng/mł)
B.M.	108	40	30.07.82	28.0	27.8
		40	29.11.82	1.5	42.4
B.E.	47	10	28.06.82	1.5	29.1
2.2.		10	04.10.82	4.5	33.9
		10	07.02.83	1.5	33.7
V.M.	79	10	20.09.82	3.0	16.1
		10	24.01.83	2.0	17.2
C.M. ⁻	80	40	21.06.82	1.5	100.7
		40	25.10.82	1.5	99.3
		40	28.02.83	2.0	136.5
М.Т.	48	20	28.06.82	24.0	61.7
	-	20	04.10.82	24.0	73.2

Α



в

Fig. 2. Chromatograms of (A) 1 ml of blood from a patient receiving betaxolol 20 mg/day, and (B) 0.1 ml of urine from a patient receiving betaxolol 20 mg/day. Abbreviations as in Fig. 1.

For the second group of twelve patients, the individual blood concentrations are not reported because they include subjects sampled both after the first dose and after 16-30 days of treatment, which gives no comparable data. The most important observation concerns the fact that they were on polytherapy, and that clonidine, verapamil, pentobarbital, digoxin, chlortalidone, clofibrate, reserpine, caffeine, triamterene, cyclophosphamide and trimetonine were

associated with betaxolol. None of these drugs appeared to interfere with betaxolol quantification.

Importance of the type of spectrophotofluorimeter

A marked difference both in sensitivity and selectivity was observed in relation to the type of spectrofluorimeter used (Kontron versus filter fluorimetric detector). While running samples from a patient who should have been on monotherapy, we observed an unknown interference eluting with betaxolol. This interference was present only in the chromatogram obtained with the filter fluorimetric detector (Schoeffel GM 970 monochromator). The



Fig. 3. Chromatograms obtained from the plasma of a patient supposed to be on monotherapy. The trace obtained with the filter fluorimetric detector (F) shows a peak interfering with betaxolol. On the other hand, the trace obtained with the Kontron (K), which is working in series with the other detector, does not show any interfering peak. The working conditions were: (A) Schoeffel filter detector, excitation 220 nm, no emission filter; (B) Kontron, excitation 275 nm, emission 305 nm.

chromatogram obtained from the Kontron detector, which was working in series with the other fluorimeter, was, however, perfectly clean (Fig. 3).

We presumed that the lack of selectivity was due to the configuration of the filter fluorimetric detector: excitation filter at 220 nm and no emission filter, this configuration being that giving the best sensitivity. By adding an emission filter at 320 nm we reduced the sensitivity of the detector by factor of two. By changing the excitation wavelength using a 275-nm filter, with or without the emission filter at 320 nm, in order to have the same configuration as the Kontron detector, the sensitivity was decreased by a factor of five. Nevertheless, the addition of the emission filter did not improve the specificity of the detector, and the interference could not be separated from betaxolol. It is likely that the intrinsic geometry of the double-monochromator detector (Kontron) gives more sensitivity and selectivity than the filter detector.

CONCLUSION

The method described is suitable for routine monitoring of betaxolol. The time required for the preparation of 40 samples for the injection is less than 2 h. Moreover, using automatic injection and an appropriate data system, manual intervention by the operator is minimal. The steady-state concentrations of betaxolol, during chronic treatment, usually do not fall below 10 ng/ml, even if the patient is treated with 10 mg of the drug. The sensitivity of the proposed method should therefore be more than adequate for the quantification of the drug. Moreover, a certain number of drugs which can be associated with a beta-blocker like betaxolol, do not seem to interfere with its analytical quantification. For interferences which cannot be separated with HPLC, it is always possible to use the gas chromatographic method with capillary column [2].

REFERENCES

- 1 G. Bianchetti, J. Ganansia and P.L. Morselli, J. Chromatogr., 176 (1979) 134.
- 2 J. Ganansia, G. Gillet, P. Padovani and G. Bianchetti, J. Chromatogr., 275 (1983) 183.
- 3 M. Broquaire, J. Chromatogr., 170 (1979) 43.
- 4 M. Broquaire and P.R. Guinebault, J. Liquid Chromatogr., 4 (1981) 2039.
- 5 P.R. Guinebault and M. Broquaire, J. Chromatogr., 217 (1981) 509.
- 6 P.J. Cadigan, D.R. London, B.L. Pentecost, G. Bianchetti, R. Gomeni, J.R. Kilborn and P.L. Morselli, Brit. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 9 (1980) 569.
- 7 J.F. Giudicelli, M. Chauvin, C. Thuillez, C. Richer, G. Bianchetti, R. Gomeni and P.L. Morselli, Brit. J. Clin. Pharmacol., 10 (1980) 41.
- 8 G. Bianchetti, C. Blatrix, R. Gomeni, J.R. Kilborn, J. Larribaud, P.W. Lucker, P.L. Morselli, J.J. Thebault and S. Trocherie, Arzneim.-Forsch., 30 (1980) 1912.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 206-212 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2234

Note

Rapid and sensitive analysis of terazosin in plasma, peritoneal dialysis solution, and urine using high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection

SEAN E. PATTERSON

Department of Drug Metabolism, Drug Safety Analysis Section, Abbott Laboratories D-463 AP9, North Chicago, IL 60064 (U.S.A.)

(First received March 12th, 1984; revised manuscript received May 24th, 1984)

Terazosin hydrochloride dihydrate $\{2-[4-(2-tetrahydrofuranyl)carbonyl]-1-piperazinyl-6,7-dimethoxy-4-quinazolinamine monohydrochloride, dihydrate, Fig. 1 } is an antihypertensive agent [1, 2] under current development at Abbott Laboratories under the registered trademark Vasocard. The high potency of this drug necessitated the development of a very sensitive assay in order to quantify the low plasma levels which follow a therapeutic dose (1-3 mg).$



Fig. 1. Chemical structure of terazosin hydrochloride dihydrate.

The high-performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) method reported here utilizes extraction of plasma, dialysis solution, or urine samples for lowest background interference and highest assay sensitivity. A much faster alternative sample preparation method for small volumes of plasma or serum (0.1-0.2 ml) using acetonitrile precipitation of proteins is also presented. Following extraction, the lower quantifiable concentration of terazosin was about 0.25 ng/ml using a 1-ml plasma or dialysis solution sample, and was about 1 ng/ml using a 0.2-ml urine sample. The assay was reproducible in the range of 1-50 ng/ml with a mean relative standard deviation of about 7% and 4% for plasma

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

206

and dialysis solution, respectively. The urine assay was reproducible within the range of 10-500 ng/ml with a mean relative standard deviation of about 3%. Following acetonitrile precipitation, the serum assay was reproducible within the range of 50-1000 ng/ml with a mean relative standard deviation of about 1%.

EXPERIMENTAL

Chemicals and equipment

Terazosin hydrochloride dihydrate (THD) and prazosin hydrochloride (PH), the internal standard, were obtained from Abbott Labs. (North Chicago, IL, U.S.A.). Peritoneal dialysis solution (Dianeal PD-2 with 2.5% dextrose) was obtained from Travenol Labs. (Deerfield, IL, U.S.A.). Reagent-grade phosphoric acid, sodium hydroxide, and buffer salts were obtained from Mallinckrodt (St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.). All solvents were HPLC grade from J.T. Baker (Phillipsburg, NJ, U.S.A.). A Vortex Genie mixer or SMI Multi-tube Vortex mixer from American Scientific Products (Division of American Hospital Supply, McGaw Park, IL, U.S.A.) was used for sample preparation.

Stock solutions

For convenience in the preparation of eluents for HPLC, stock solutions of 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.0 and 5.0, were usually prepared. Eluents were filtered through a Nuclepore (Pleasanton, CA, U.S.A.) 400-nm polycarbonate membrane after preparation, and degassed by vacuum sonication just before use.

Stock solutions of 1 *M* sodium hydroxide and 0.1 *M* phosphoric acid were prepared in distilled water. Stock solutions of THD equivalent to 200 μ g/ml terazosin (11.9 mg of THD is equivalent to 10.0 mg of terazosin) and PH (80 μ g/ml), the internal standard, were prepared in methanol. Standard solutions of terazosin at 20 μ g/ml in methanol, and 2, 0.2, and 0.01 μ g/ml in methanol—water were prepared by serial 1:10 dilutions of the 200 μ g/ml terazosin stock solution. Standard solutions of PH at 200 ng/ml in acetonitrile and 4 ng/ml in 20% (v/v) ethyl acetate in benzene were prepared.

Chromatographic systems and conditions

HPLC separations were performed using a Waters Assoc. (Milford, MA, U.S.A.) Model M6000 or M6000A or Beckman (Fullerton, CA, U.S.A.) Model 110A reciprocating pump at a flow-rate of 1-2 ml/min for solvent delivery. The reversed-phase HPLC columns used in this study were Waters Assoc. 300 or 150×3.9 mm I.D. columns which were repacked with IBM C 1 (Danbury, CT, U.S.A.) 5- μ m particle size or Spherisorb ODS (Phase Separation, Queensbury, U.K.) 10- μ m particle size packing by Analytical Sciences (Santa Clara, CA, U.S.A.). The eluents were composed of 22-25% (v/v) acetonitrile and 6% (v/v) tetrahydrofuran in 0.004-0.02*M* sodium phosphate, pH 5-7.0 (see legends of Figs. 2 and 3 for specific columns and conditions). A Waters Assoc. WISP 710B or Perkin-Elmer (Norwalk, CT, U.S.A.) Model ISS-100 automatic sampler was used for sample processing. The HPLC system was operated at ambient temperature, and the effluent was monitored for fluorescence with a



Schoeffel (Westwood, NJ, U.S.A.) Model 970 LC fluorometer using a 370-nm emission filter after excitation at 250 nm.

Sample preparation procedures

Extraction. A suitable volume of plasma, dialysis solution, or urine up to 1 ml was combined with 100 μ l of 1 M sodium hydroxide in a culture tube and mixed well. Five ml of 20% (v/v) ethyl acetate in benzene containing 2-50 ng/ml of PH (as appropriate) was added to each tube and mixed for 5 min on a vortex-type mixer to extract terazosin into the organic (upper) phase. Following centrifugation to separate phases (if necessary), 4-4.5 ml of the organic phase were transferred to a second culture tube and evaporated to dryness in a water bath at 40-50°C under a gentle stream of air. The residue was redissolved in 300 μ l of 0.1 M phosphoric acid or mobile phase and an aliquant was injected into the chromatograph.

Acetonitrile precipitation. A small volume $(100-200 \ \mu)$ of plasma was combined with 2 vols. of cold $(5^{\circ}C)$ acetonitrile containing 200 ng/ml of PH, the internal standard, and mixed immediately to precipitate proteins. Following centrifugation at $5^{\circ}C$ for 5-10 min to sediment the precipitate, the supernatant was decanted into a second culture tube and evaporated to dryness in a water bath at $40-50^{\circ}C$ under a gentle stream of air. The residue was redissolved in $400 \ \mu$ l of HPLC eluent and an aliquant was injected into the chromatograph.

Calibration curves for plasma, serum, dialysis solution, and urine

Sets of standard plasma, serum, dialysis solution, and urine samples were prepared by the addition of known amounts of THD to blank plasma, serum, dialysis solution, or urine. The chromatographic peak height ratios of terazosin/ prazosin were subjected to linear regression versus the corresponding terazosin concentrations. The resulting equation was used to calculate the concentration of terazosin in the test samples. The terazosin levels, sample size, and the PH levels added as internal standard to the samples may be varied to suit the concentration ranges of the intended analyses.

Recovery

Recovery of terazosin from the extraction procedures was determined by comparing the peak height ratios of test samples to blank samples which were spiked with terazosin at the same concentration following extraction.

Fig. 2. Chromatograms from human plasma (1 ml), dialysis solution (1 ml), and human urine (0.2 ml) samples prepared by the extraction method. (A) Blank plasma; (B) blank plasma spiked with THD equivalent to 5 ng/ml terazosin and 20 ng/ml PH; (C) blank dialysis solution; (D) blank dialysis solution spiked with THD equivalent to 10 ng/ml terazosin and 20 ng/ml PH; (E) blank urine; (F) blank urine spiked with THD equivalent to 50 ng/ml terazosin and 100 ng/ml PH; (G) 0.5-h postdosing plasma spiked with 20 ng/ml PH; (H) 3–6 h postdosing peritoneal dialysate spiked with 20 ng/ml PH; (I) 8–12 h postdosing urine spiked with 50 ng/ml PH from a patient with renal insufficiency who received an oral dose of THD (1 mg free base). Chromatographic conditions were as follows: column, 150×3.9 mm I.D., IBM C1; mobile phase, 22% acetonitrile and 6% tetrahydrofuran, pH 7.0; flow-rate, 1 ml/min; detector sensitivity, 0.2 μ A; injection volumes, 100 μ l (A, B); 60 μ l (C, D, G, H); 15 μ l (E, F).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Fig. 2 shows typical chromatograms for extracted samples of blank human plasma (A), blank human plasma spiked with THD equivalent to 5 ng/ml terazosin and 20 ng/ml of PH, the internal standard (B), blank dialysis solution (C), blank dialysis solution spiked with THD equivalent to 10 ng/ml terazosin and 20 ng/ml PH (D), blank human urine (E), and blank human urine spiked with THD equivalent to 50 ng/ml terazosin and 100 ng/ml PH (F). Fig. 2 also shows 0.5 h postdosing plasma spiked with 20 ng/ml PH (G), 3-6 h postdosing peritoneal dialysate spiked with 20 ng/ml PH (H), and 8-12 h postdosing urine spiked with 50 ng/ml PH (I) from a patient with renal insufficiency who received an oral dose of THD (1 mg free base). Fig. 3 shows typical chromatograms of dog serum prepared by the acetonitrile precipitation method: blank (A), blank spiked with THD equivalent to 50 ng/ml terazosin and 100 ng/ml PH (B), and a 2-h postdosing serum sample from a dog which administered an oral dose of THD (0.6 mg/kg free base) and was methyclothiazide (0.3 mg/kg), spiked with 100 ng/ml PH (C).

To determine the precision and accuracy of the assay methods, replicate samples (3-4) were analyzed at five concentrations of the plasma, serum, dialysis solution, and urine assays. The results of these analyses are summarized in Table I for extraction data, and Table II for acetonitrile precipitation data.

A comparison of various weighting factors showed that 1/response-squared $(1/R^2)$ weighting was most similar to 1/variance weighting for the plasma



Fig. 3. Chromatograms from dog serum samples (0.2 ml) prepared by the acetonitrile precipitation method. (A) Blank; (B) blank spiked with THD equivalent to 50 ng/ml terazosin and 100 ng/ml PH; (C) 2-h postdosing sample from a dog which was administered an oral dose of THD (0.6 mg/kg free base) and methyclothiazide (0.3 mg/kg), spiked with 100 ng/ml PH. Chromatographic conditions were as follows: column, 300×3.9 mm I.D., Spherisorb ODS; mobile phase, 25% acetonitrile and 6% tetrahydrofuran, pH 5.0; flow-rate, 1.6 ml/min; detector sensitivity, 0.2 μ A; injection volumes, 100 μ l (A, B); 50 μ l (C).

standard curve, while 1/concentration-squared $(1/C^2)$ weighting was most similar to 1/variance weighting for the dialysis solution and urine standard curves (Table I). Using $1/R^2$ weighting (Table I), the mean predicted plasma concentrations ranged from 99% to 101% of the calculated concentrations. The relative standard deviations (R.S.D.) of the peak height ratios ranged from 2.8% to 17.8% (mean = 6.9%). This large range resulted from the 1 ng/ml concentration. If this point were excluded, the R.S.D. would range from 2.8% to 6.6% (mean = 4.2%). The mean predicted dialysis solution concentrations ranged from 94% to 105% $(1/C^2$ weighting), with an R.S.D. range of 2.9-6.6% (mean = 4.4%). The mean predicted urine concentrations ranged from 91% to 128% $(1/C^2$ weighting). This large range resulted from the 50 ng/ml point. If this point were excluded, the mean predicted concentrations would range from 91% to 96% of the calculated concentrations. The urine assay had an R.S.D. range of 2.5-5.1% (mean = 3.3%). The data from Table I were subjected to linear regression analysis, and standard curves were constructed which were linear from 1 to 50 ng/ml terazosin in plasma or dialysis solution (r = 0.999) or from 10 to 500 ng/ml terazosin in urine (r = 0.985).

A comparison of various weighting factors for the acetonitrile precipitation method showed that $1/C^2$ weighting was most similar to 1/variance weighting

TABLE I

PRECISION AND ACCURACY DATA OF THE PLASMA, DIALYSIS SOLUTION, AND URINE STANDARD CURVES FOR THE EXTRACTION METHOD

Calculated concentration of terazosin (ng/ml)	Observed mean peak height ratio	Predicted mean concentration of terazosin [Percent of theory] (ng/ml)	Relative standard deviation (%)
Plasma			
1.00	0.087	0.999 [100]	17.8
5.00	0.408	5.029 [101]	3.9
10.00	0.803	10.001 [100]	6.6
30.00	2.401	30.095 [100]	2.8
50.00	3.954	49.632 [99]	3.6
]	Mean = 6.9
Dialysis solutio	n		
1.00	0.116	0.994 [99]	6.6
5.00	0.596	5.066 [101]	2.8
10.00	1.233	10.462 [105]	2.9
30.00	3.560	30.179 [101]	5.5
50.00	5.550	47.042 [94]	4.2
		1	Mean = 4.4
Urine			
10.00	0.232	9.552 [96]	2.5
50.00	1.255	64.163 [128]	5.1
100.00	1.783	92.349 [92]	3.3
300.00	5.273	278.656 93	2.7
500.00	8.569	454.607 [91]	2.8
		N	Mean = 3.3

TABLE II

Calculated concentration of terazosin (ng/ml)	Observed mean peak height ratio	Predicted mean concentration of terazosin [Percent of theory] (ng/ml)	Relative standard deviation (%)	
50.00	0.443	50.17 [100]	0.3	
100.00	0.902	99.61 [100]	0.8	
250.00	2.273	247.27 [99]	2.6	
500.00	4.641	502.33 [100]	1.1	
1000.00	9.325	1006.84 [101]	0.8	
		Mea	an = 1.1	_

PRECISION AND ACCURACY DATA OF THE SERUM STANDARD CURVE FOR THE ACETONITRILE PRECIPITATION METHOD

for the serum standard curve. Using $1/C^2$ weighting for the serum assay (Table II), the mean predicted concentrations ranged from 99% to 101% of the calculated concentrations with an R.S.D. range of 0.3-2.6% (mean = 1.1%). Linear regression analysis of these data showed that the curve was linear (r = 0.999) from 50 to 1000 ng/ml of terazosin.

Mean recoveries of terazosin from the extraction procedure were as follows: plasma, 94% and 95% at 5 and 50 ng/ml, respectively; dialysis solution, 99% and 91% at 5 and 50 ng/ml, respectively; urine, 88% and 85% at 50 and 500 ng/ml, respectively. Recovery of terazosin from the acetonitrile precipitation procedure averaged 102% at 1000 ng/ml.

Results of plasma stability experiments have shown quantitative recovery of terazosin from samples stored at room temperature (about 23° C) for at least 30 days and from refrigerated (5°C) or frozen (-20°C) plasma samples stored for at least 60 days.

REFERENCES

- 1 J.J. Kyncl, R.E. Hollinger, K.W. Oheim and M. Winn, Pharmacologist, 3 (1980) 272.
- 2 J.J. Kyncl, E.N. Bush and S.A. Buckner, Fed. Proc., Fed. Amer. Soc. Exp. Biol., 41 (1982) 1648.

CHROMBIO. 2243

Note

High-performance liquid chromatographic analysis of naloxone in human serum

MICHELLE D. TERRY, GORDON H. HISAYASU, JACK W. KERN and JORDAN L. COHEN*

Clinical Pharmacokinetic Laboratory and School of Pharmacy, University of Southern California, 1985 Zonal Avenue, Los Angeles, CA 90033 (U.S.A.)

(First received March 19th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 15th, 1984)

Naloxone is an opiate antagonist widely used for the reversal of narcotic overdose. Recently, case reports have shown naloxone to be possibly effective in reversing some of the detrimental hemodynamic effects of septic and hypovolemic shock [1-4]. Other investigational uses of naloxone include management of alcohol intoxication [5, 6], schizophrenia [7, 8], mania [9] and Alzheimer's disease [10, 11]. At the present time little is known concerning the pharmacokinetic disposition of naloxone [12, 13] and information concerning therapeutic and toxic serum concentrations and dosage adjustment in concomitant disease states is lacking. The limited clinical pharmacologic knowledge concerning this drug can be attributed, in part, to the absence of suitably sensitive, specific and rapid analytical methods capable of measuring naloxone in biological samples following therapeutic doses.

Two analytical methods for naloxone in biological media have been reported, namely, a gas--liquid chromatographic method [14] and radioimmunoassay [15]. However, while both report sensitivities consistent with concentrations observed following typical 0.4-mg bolus doses, concerns of complex derivatization and extraction in the case of the chromatographic procedure, and the lack of general availability of specific antibody in the case of the radioimmunoassay procedure, make these methods difficult to utilize in clinical situations. In the present paper we report a sensitive, rapid and reproducible high-performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) analytical method applicable to the measurement of naloxone in patient samples following typical dosing schedules.

EXPERIMENTAL

Chemicals and reagents

Naloxone HCl was obtained as a pure, unformulated standard from Endo

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

Labs. (Lot No. 82-037, Garden City, NJ, U.S.A.) and was used directly. The internal standard, codeine sulfate USP, was obtained from Merck (Rahway, NJ, U.S.A.). All extraction and chromatography solvents were HPLC grade (Omnisolve, MCB, Cincinnati, OH, U.S.A.) and all other chemicals and reagents were analytical-reagent grade (J.T. Baker, Phillipsburg, NJ, U.S.A.) and were used as received. Distilled water was purified by passing through a reversed-osmosis four-filter system (Millipore, Bedford, MA, U.S.A.). Stock standard solutions of naloxone·HCl (0.01 mg/ml) and codeine sulfate (0.02 mg/ml) were prepared individually in methanol. These were protected from light and refrigerated at 4° C and were determined to be stable for at least one month.

Chromatographic conditions and instrumentation

A Waters Assoc. (Milford, MA, U.S.A.) Model 202 liquid chromatograph, equipped with a Model M6000A pump and a Model U6K injector, and interfaced with a Tracor Model 970A (Austin, TX, U.S.A.) variable-wavelength detector was used for the analysis. Chromatography was performed on a 30 cm \times 4 mm I.D. stainless-steel μ Bondapak C₁₈ reversed-phase column, 5 μ m particle size (Analytical Systems, Santa Clara, CA, U.S.A.). The mobile phase consisted of 13% acetonitrile in 0.1 *M* sodium dihydrogen phosphate buffer, pH 4.8, at a flow-rate of 1.5 ml/min and a pressure of 1700 p.s.i. The separation was run at ambient temperature using a detector wavelength of 220 nm.

Extraction procedure

To 2.0 ml of a serum sample or standard in a 13×100 mm glass culture tube was added 1.0 ml of carbonate buffer, pH 8.95 (500 ml of 0.01 *M* sodium bicarbonate and 40 ml of 0.1 *M* sodium carbonate), 15μ l of internal standard solution (300 ng of codeine sulfate in methanol) and 2.0 ml of benzene. The tube was vortexed for 45 sec and centrifuged at 1500 g for 5 min. The upper organic layer was pipetted into a 10×75 mm glass culture tube and dried under a stream of filtered air at room temperature. The residue was then reconstituted with 50 μ l of mobile phase and 40 μ l were injected into the chromatograph.

Quantitation

Standard curves were generated over the range 10-80 ng/ml naloxone concentrations in serum and unknown concentrations were determined by calculating peak height ratios of drug:internal standard. Linear regression analysis, using a Hewlett-Packard Model 9825A computer (Palo Alto, CA, U.S.A.) was used to compute the standard curves on a daily basis.

Recovery

Recovery studies were performed by comparing peak height ratios from 10, 20 and 60 ng/ml naloxone serum standards, to which internal standard was added after extraction, to comparable unextracted standards.

Precision

Between-run variability of the method was assessed by comparing standard curves from five consecutive daily runs. Within-run variability was evaluated from five replicate analyses of 15 and 50 ng/ml control samples.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Typical chromatograms from a human serum blank, a spiked human serum sample and a patient specimen are shown in Fig. 1. Internal standard was added to all three samples. Under the analytical conditions described, retention times for naloxone and codeine were 6.3 and 7.7 min, respectively. No significant interferences near the drug and internal standard peaks were observed from extracted human serum blanks. Peak shape was generally symmetrical and allowed a calculation of naloxone concentrations from peak height ratio measurements. Standard curves prepared from spiked human serum were linear over the range 10-80 ng/ml and statistics for a typical daily curve demonstrated a slope of 0.0044, an intercept of -0.001 and r^2 of 0.993. The mean r^2 observed for nine standard curves was 0.987 with a standard deviation of 0.014.



Fig. 1. High-performance liquid chromatograms of (A) extracted blank human serum, to which codeine, internal standard, had been added; (B) spiked human serum sample of 20 ng/ml naloxone; and (C) patient sample containing 12 ng/ml. All were run at 0.01 a.u.f.s. and the arrow indicates the expected elution of naloxone.

The percent recovery from 10, 20 and 60 ng/ml serum standards was 67%, 70%, and 65%, respectively, and the mean recovery was 67% with a standard deviation of 2%. The between-run coefficients of variation for control concentrations (n=5) of 20 and 40 ng/ml were 13.9% and 10.4%, respectively. The within-run coefficients of variation for 15 and 50 ng/ml controls (n=5) were 9.0% and 8.3%, respectively. The detector response demonstrated linearity up to 2000 ng/ml and the practical lower limit of sensitivity, which demonstrated a 3:1 signal-to-baseline noise ratio, was 5 ng/ml from a 2.0-ml serum sample.

Fig. 2 illustrates the application of the method to the analysis of serum samples over the typical time course of naloxone therapy in a septic shock patient. Naloxone was initiated as a 0.4-mg bolus followed by a continuous infusion of 2 mg/h. This infusion rate was increased in stepwise increments of 2 mg/h over 80 min until the rate reached 10 mg/h. Prior to each increase in the in-

fusion rate an additional 0.4-mg bolus was administered. Serial blood samples were drawn over a 6-h time period and naloxone was detected for 1 h after stopping the infusion.

The procedure presented here provides a satisfactory method for the analysis of clinical naloxone samples. It avoids the lengthy organic extraction and derivatization procedures needed in the gas chromatographic assay [14] and circumvents the difficulty in obtaining specific antibodies for the radioimmunoassay procedure [15]. There is also a question of cross-reactivity by metabolites in the immunoassay method. Since the primary metabolite of naloxone in humans is the 3-glucuronide [16], it is not extracted in the present system and, as such, does not interfere in the HPLC analysis. Additionally, other narcotic agents with similar chemical structures were evaluated and all, including morphine, meperidine, and hydromorphone, eluted with the solvent front in this system.



Fig. 2. Time course of serum naloxone concentrations in a patient in septic shock receiving typical intravenous administration (see text for details of dosing protocol).

In summary, the present procedure appears to be selective, sensitive, reproducible and rapid enough to support typical clinical pharmacology studies with naloxone and continuing clinical studies are presently being conducted in our laboratory.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This project was supported in part by BRSG S07 RR05792 awarded by the Biomedical Research Support Grant Program, Division of Research Resources, National Institutes of Health, U.S.A.

REFERENCES

- 1 W.P. Peters, P.A. Freidman, M.W. Johnson and W.E. Mitch, Lancet, i (1981) 529.
- 2 K. Lenz, W. Druml, A. Gassner, K. Hruby, G. Kleinberger and A. Laggner, Lancet, i (1981) 834.
- 3 W.R. Swinburn and P. Phelan, Lancet, i (1982) 167.
- 4 S.H. Dzierba, Hosp. Form., 1 (1983) 723.
- 5 S. Barros and G. Rodriguez, Anesthesiology, 54 (1981) 174.
- 6 D.B. Jeffreys, R.J. Flanagan and G.N. Volans, Lancet, i (1980) 308.

- 7 G.C. Davis, M.S. Buschbaum and W.E. Bunney, Schizophr. Bull., 5 (1979) 244.
- 8 K. Verekey, J. Volanka and D. Clonet, Arch. Gen. Psychiatry, 35 (1978) 877.
- 9 G.C. Davis, I. Extein and V. Reus, Amer. J. Psychiatry, 137 (1980) 1583.
- 10 K.A. Handal, J.L. Schauben and F.R.R. Salamone, Ann. Emerg. Med., 12 (1983) 438.
- 11 R.J. Wartman, N. Engl. J. Med., 309 (1983) 555.
- 12 B.A. Berkowitz, Clin. Pharmacokinet., 1 (1976) 219.
- 13 J. Fishman, H. Roffwarg and L. Hellman, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 187 (1973) 575.
- 14 P.F. Meffin and K.J. Smith, J. Chromatogr., 183 (1980) 352.
- 15 B.A. Berkowitz, S.H. Ngai, J. Hempstead and S. Spector, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 195 (1975) 499.
- 16 S.H. Weinstein, M. Pfeffer, J.M. Schor, L. Indindoli and M. Mintz, J. Pharm. Sci., 60 (1971) 1567.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 218–222 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2250

Note

Determination of bupivacaine in human plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography

U.-W. WIEGAND* and R.C. CHOU

Department of Pharmacology, Johannes Gutenberg-University Mainz, Obere Zahlbacher Strasse 67, D-6500 Mainz (F.R.G.)

E. LANZ

Department of Anaesthesiology, Johannes Gutenberg-University Mainz, Obere Zahlbacher Strasse 67, D-6500 Mainz (F.R.G.)

and

E. JÄHNCHEN

Department of Pharmacology, Johannes Gutenberg-University Mainz, Obere Zahlbacher Strasse 67, D-6500 Mainz (F.R.G.)

(First received April 10th, 1984; revised manuscript received June 20th, 1984)

The efficacy and safety of regional anaesthesia with local anaesthetics have improved considerably during recent years. However, the undesirable effects of these drugs, especially those of central nervous system and cardiac toxicity, can still cause severe problems [1]. Since these effects are directly related to the concentrations of local anaesthetics in the systemic circulation, their determination in plasma is of paramount importance. Due to its favourable properties, bupivacaine is one of the most frequently used local anaesthetics in many regional anaesthetic techniques, especially in obstetric anaesthesia [2]. Until now, it has been assayed by gas chromatography [3-6]. In the present communication, an assay for bupivacaine using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with a simple one-step extraction procedure is described. This assay permits the determination of bupivacaine concentrations in plasma following the administration of this drug by various regional anaesthetic techniques.

EXPERIMENTAL

Reagents and materials

All chemicals and solvents were of analytical or HPLC grade (E. Merck, Darmstadt, F.R.G.) and were used without further purification. Bupivacaine HCl and the internal standard 1-pentyl-2-(2', 6'-xylylcarbamoyl)piperidine (PXP) (Fig. 1) were supplied by Astra Läkemedel (Södertälje, Sweden). All glassware used for sample preparation was acid-washed and rinsed extensively with double-distilled water. Silanization of the glassware is not necessary, although it is recommended so as to decrease the variation of the results. The PTFE linings of the screw caps of culture tubes were ultrasonicated in methanol and then in double-distilled water.



Fig. 1. Chemical structure of bupivacaine. The internal standard (PXP) carries a pentyl group on the piperidine nitrogen.

Sample preparation

The internal standard solution (4 μ l), containing 3.2 μ g of PXP (1.8 μ g for lower concentrations of bupivacaine) was added to 1-ml plasma samples in screw-capped (lined with PTFE) culture tubes using a Hamilton Microlab M automatic pipette. The samples were alkalinized with 100 μ l of sodium hydroxide solution (2 mol/l) and extracted into 7 ml of hexane by rotating slowly for 20 min. The hexane phase was separated from the aqueous phase by centrifuging at 1000 g for 10 min; it was transferred to a conical glass tube and evaporated to dryness under a gentle nitrogen stream. The residues were redissolved in 50 μ l of methanol and then further diluted with 50 μ l of water. An 85- μ l aliquot of this final solution was injected onto the chromatograph.

Chromatography

A model 6000A high-pressure solvent delivery system (Waters Assoc., Milford, MA, U.S.A.) coupled with an automatic injector (WISP 710 B, Waters Assoc.), a μ Bondapak C₁₈ reversed-phase column (30 cm \times 3.9 mm I.D., particle size 10 μ m, Waters Assoc.) and a filterphotometer (Model 160, Beckman Instruments, Berkeley, CA, U.S.A.) was used. The mobile phase, consisting of 60 parts of methanol and 40 parts of 50 mM sodium phosphate buffer (adjusted to pH 5.0 with phosphoric acid), was passed through a 0.45- μ m filter (RC 55, Schleicher and Schüll, Dassel, F.R.G.) before use. The flow-rate was 1.0 ml/min. The effluent was monitored either at 0.003 or 0.005 a.u.f.s. at 254 nm and recorded at 10 mV with a chart speed of 1 mm/ min. All chromatography was performed at ambient temperature.

Calibration

Calibration curves were constructed by adding known amounts of bupivacaine•HCl (50, 100, 200, 400, 600, 1000, 1400, 2000, 2400, 2800, 3200 ng) to 1-ml aliquots of pooled human plasma. The peak height ratios of bupivacaine \cdot HCl to the internal standard were plotted against the concentrations of bupivacaine \cdot HCl. The least-squares linear regression line was fitted through the data points. The bupivacaine concentrations of the unknown samples were determined by using the regression equation of the calibration curve which was assayed concurrently with the unknown samples.

Application of the method

In order to test the method under clinical conditions, plasma concentrations of two patients, who received either 187.5 or 250 mg of bupivacaine \cdot HCl for brachial plexus block, were determined. Blood samples were taken frequently following the block from an antebrachial vein using silanized plastic syringes with heparin (approximately 10 I.U./ml of blood) as anticoagulant. The plasma was separated by centrifugation and stored at -20°C until assayed.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The resolution of the chromatographic system was checked daily by the injection of $20 \,\mu$ l of a mixture containing bupivacaine and the internal standard PXP. Retention times were 8.5 and 12.5 min for bupivacaine and internal standard, respectively (Fig. 2). Using the extraction method described, endogenous plasma components did not interfere with either bupivacaine or the internal standard (Fig. 2). The detection limit for bupivacaine from plasma samples, using a signal-to-noise ratio of 4, was approximately 50 ng/ml.

The linearity of the detector response was assessed by injecting 100 μ l of aqueous bupivacaine solutions with concentrations ranging from 50 to 5000



Time (min)

Fig. 2. Chromatograms of blank plasma (left) and plasma spiked with 300 ng/ml bupivacaine•HCl (I) and 3200 ng/ml internal standard (II) (right).

ng/ml. The absolute peak heights of bupivacaine were plotted against the corresponding concentrations. The relationship was linear (r = 0.999) with a y-intercept close to zero (0.00214). The regression line of the plasma calibration curve also showed excellent linearity (r = 0.998) with a small intercept on the y-axis (0.00843).

The precision of the assay was evaluated in a blind study in the concentration range of approximately 70–3000 ng/ml. The experimentally determined concentrations agreed well with the theoretical concentrations (Table I). The day-to-day variation of the assay stayed in an acceptable range. The slope of the standard curve showed a coefficient of variation of 5.9% (n = 12) within a time period of two months.

TABLE I

PRECISION OF THE ASSAY

Concentration of bupivacaine HCl (ng/ml)		Accuracy*		
Theoretical	Experimental	(%)		
72.3	77.4 ± 5.0**	6.9		
239.3	237.6 ± 8.45	0.7		
939.0	944.3 ± 11.1	0.6		
1671.6	1652.1 ± 42.8	1.2		
2498.6	2466.4 ± 54.6	1.3		
3156.0	3157.8 ± 41.4	0.06		

*Calculated according to ref. 7.

******Mean \pm S.D. (*n* = 5).

The recovery of the extraction procedure was estimated by comparing the bupivacaine peak height ratio in a plasma extract with that in an aqueous solution of the same concentration. The recovery of bupivacaine in the concentration range 70-4000 ng/ml was $94.5 \pm 4.44\%$ (n = 14).



Fig. 3. Plasma concentrations of bupivacaine in two patients who received the drug for brachial plexus block: $187.5 \text{ mg}(\circ)$, or $250 \text{ mg}(\bullet)$.

The application of the assay is demonstrated for two patients who received a brachial plexus block with a dose of either 187.5 or 250 mg of bupivacaine (Fig. 3). The plasma concentration—time profile for bupivacaine showed that this method is sensitive and specific enough to determine concentrations of bupivacaine in the systemic circulation following such an anaesthetic technique.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported in part by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (La 502/1-1) and ASTRA Chemicals, Wedel, F.R.G. Bupivacaine and the internal standard were generously supplied by Dr. C. Graffner, ASTRA, Läkemedel AB, Södertälje, Sweden.

REFERENCES

- 1 G.A. Albright, Anesthesiology, 51 (1979) 285.
- 2 M.J. Cousins and L.E. Mather, Anaesth. Intensive Care, 8 (1980) 257.
- 3 L.E. Mather and G.T. Tucker, J. Pharm. Sci., 63 (1974) 306.
- 4 L.J. Lesko, J. Ericson, G. Ostheimer and A. Marion, J. Chromatogr., 182 (1980) 226.
- 5 A.G.L. Burm, J.W. van Kleef and A.G. de Boer, Anesthesiology, 57 (1982) 527.
- 6 P.M. Kuhnert, B.R. Kuhnert, J.M. Stitts and T.L. Gross, Anesthesiology, 55 (1981) 611.
- 7 Editorial, Anal. Chem., 51 (1979) 173.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 223–226 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2251

Note

Detection of nalbuphine in plasma: an improved high-performance liquid chromatographic assay

M. KEEGAN* and B. KAY

Department of Anaesthesia, Research and Teaching Building, University Hospital of South Manchester, Withington, Manchester M20 8LR (U.K.)

(First received April 10th, 1984; revised manuscript received May 28th, 1984)

Nalbuphine is a partial agonist opiate derived from oxymorphone. Although approximately 0.8 times the potency of morphine at a dose of 8 mg [1], a "ceiling" effect on respiratory depression is observed at a dose of approximately 0.5 mg/kg, and very much larger doses have been employed in clinical practice [2]. Thus in a 70-kg man doses ranging from 5 to 200 mg may be used, resulting in widely variable plasma concentrations even at peak effect.

A method for the high-performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) analysis of nalbuphine concentrations in plasma has been described using an electrochemical detector [3]. However, the method did not prove to be sufficiently sensitive or consistent for our clinical use; emulsification is likely to occur during extraction and interference peaks are common. In addition, the use of sodium hydroxide for control of pH makes uniform recovery of nalbuphine difficult. The method was therefore modified as described.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

Reagents

Ethyl acetate, toluene, isopropanol (glass-distilled) and methanol (HPLC grade) were all obtained from Rathburn (Walkerburn, U.K.). Potassium dihydrogen orthophosphate, boric acid, borax and hydrochloric acid were all AnalaR grade from BDH (Poole, U.K.). Nalbuphine hydrochloride powder was obtained from the Pharmaceutical Development Section of Endo Labs. (Garden City, NY, U.S.A.) and the internal standard, naloxone hydrochloride powder, from Sigma.

Extraction procedure

To 2 ml of plasma in a 10-ml screw-topped test-tube were added 50 μ l of an aqueous solution of naloxone, the internal standard (4 μ g/ml) and 1 ml of 0.5 *M* borate buffer (pH 8.0). The plasma was then extracted twice with 5 ml of ethyl acetate—toluene—isopropanol (79:20:1, v/v/v) by mixing on a rotary tumbler at 40 rpm for 15 min and centrifuging for 5 min at 750 g. The organic layers were transferred to a clean tube by Pasteur pipette; 1 ml of 0.1 *M* hydrochloric acid was added, mixed on a rotary tumbler and the tube centrifuged. The organic layer was discarded and the acid layer brought to pH 8.0 with 2 ml of 0.5 *M* borate buffer. The aqueous layer was extracted twice with 5 ml of the ethyl acetate—toluene—isopropanol mixture. After centrifugation the organic top layer was collected and evaporated to dryness in tapered reaction vials under a gentle stream of nitrogen. The sample residue was then redissolved in 500 μ l of methanol and injected onto the column using a 100- μ l sample loop.

Nalbuphine calibration curves were prepared by spiking blank human plasma with nalbuphine at concentrations ranging from 1 to 100 ng/ml and with naloxone at a fixed concentration of 100 ng/ml. These samples were extracted and chromatographed as described below and the peak height ratios of nalbuphine relative to internal standard were plotted against the nalbuphine concentration.

High-performance liquid chromatography

A ConstaMetric III pump (Laboratory Data Control) was used in conjunction with an automatic injection system (Magnus Scientific M7110 automatic injector) and a precolumn (5×0.5 cm) and column (15×0.5 cm) both packed with Spherisorb 5- μ m C₈ (HPLC Technology). The eluent was 55% potassium dihydrogen orthophosphate (0.01 *M*) and 45% methanol (HPLC grade) with a flow-rate of 0.8 ml/min. A BioAnalytical Systems LC4A electrochemical detector with a glassy carbon electrode (TL5) operating in the oxidative mode at 0.75 V was used. The current sensitivity was set at 5 nA and chromatograms were recorded on a Kipp & Zonen BD9 flat bed recorder.

RESULTS

The recovery of nalbuphine from extracted plasma at various concentrations was determined by comparing the peak height ratios of extracted nalbuphine samples with naloxone as an external standard, to those obtained with unextracted primary standard. The actual recovery determined was 76 \pm 3% (mean \pm S.E.M., n = 7).

As can be seen from the chromatograms of extracts from spiked plasma samples (Fig. 1), the retention times of the naloxone and nalbuphine were 7.5 and 10 min, respectively. A small tail peak was present on the nalbuphine peak of the extracted and unextracted standards, but this did not appear to affect the linearity of the calibration curve, the regression equation of which was Y = 0.0177X - 0.0092 from five separate determinations, with a correlation coefficient of 0.9999.

The reproducibility was checked by analysing plasma samples spiked with several concentrations of nalbuphine. The results are shown in Table I.



Fig. 1. Typical chromatograms of (A) control plasma to which internal standard (100 ng/ml) has been added, (B) control plasma to which have been added nalbuphine (50 ng/ml) and internal standard (100 ng/ml), and (C) patient plasma taken 1 h after administration of 0.24 mg/kg nalbuphine to which naloxone (100 ng/ml) has been added. Arrows 1 and 2 indicate the retention times of nalbuphine and naloxone, respectively.

TABLE I

REPRODUCIBILITY OF ASSAY

Added (ng/ml)	Found (ng/ml, mean \pm S.E.M., $n = 4$)	S.E.M. (%)	
10	10.26 ± 0.05	0.5	
25	23.72 ± 0.40	1.7	
50	47.91 ± 0.30	0.6	
100	110.75 ± 0.49	0.4	

DISCUSSION

This method was based on a modification of that presented by Lake et al. [3]. It was found that the extraction mixture ethyl acetate—isopropanol (9:1) with plasma was prone to the formation of emulsions which obstructed adequate removal of the organic phase. Addition of toluene to the extraction mixture resulted in an almost emulsion-free separation. In addition, there was great difficulty measuring chromatograms of plasma extracts due to interference peaks. The inclusion of a back-extraction in the extraction procedure produced a chromatogram free of interference from endogenous plasma substances. It was also found that the extraction pH was an important factor in nalbuphine recovery. Lake et al. [3] employed 0.1 M sodium hydroxide to adjust the plasma to pH 8.0; however, we obtained better pH control with 0.5 M borate buffer, with a correspondingly more consistent recovery.

The recovery was only 76% compared with a reported 94% or greater by Lake et al. [3]. However, the actual improvement in clarity of the chromatograms obtained by a more thorough extraction procedure would seem to compensate for this.

Using the method described in this paper, levels of nalbuphine down to 0.1 ng/ml of plasma were measured. The level of detection could have been increased by injection a more concentrated sample into the chromatogram, i.e. redissolving the final dried-down sample in 200 μ l instead of 500 μ l of methanol. This was not possible with our automated injection system as about 300 μ l of final sample are required to inject 100 μ l onto the column.

REFERENCES

- 1 W.T. Beaver and G.A. Feise, J. Pharm. Exp. Ther., 204 (1978) 487-496.
- 2 B. Kay, Anaesthetist, 32 (1983) 366S.
- 3 C.L. Lake, C.A. DiFazia, E.N. Duckworth, J.C. Moscicki, J.S. Engle and C.G. Durbin, J. Chromatogr., 233 (1982) 410-416.

CHROMBIO. 2239

Note

Determination of carboxybupranolol, the major metabolite of bupranolol, in human plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography

L.M. WALMSLEY*, R.R. BRODIE and L.F. CHASSEAUD

 $Department \ of \ Metabolism \ and \ Pharmacokinetics, \ Huntingdon \ Research \ Centre, \ Huntingdon \ (U.K.)$

(Received April 6th, 1984)

Bupranolol $[1-tert.-butylamino-3-(2-chloro-5-methylphenoxy)propan-2-ol, Fig. 1, R = CH₃] is used clinically as a <math>\beta$ -adrenoceptor antagonist [1]. In human subjects, oral doses of bupranolol are almost completely excreted as the carboxy metabolite, carboxybupranolol [1-tert.-butylamino-3-(2-chloro-5-carboxyphenoxy)propan-2-ol, Fig. 1, R = COOH], which is also the major drug-related component in plasma [2].

Fig. 1. Chemical structure of bupranolol ($R = CH_3$) and carboxybupranolol (R = COOH).

After oral doses of 40 mg bupranolol to human subjects, unchanged bupranolol was not detected above a limit of detection of 1 ng/ml using an electron-capture—gas chromatographic procedure [3]. Bupranolol has been detected in lower ng/g concentrations by a high-performance liquid chromatographic—ultraviolet (HPLC—UV) procedure [4] in rat plasma and tissues after administration of a relatively large intravenous dose (1.85 mg/kg). Studies of [¹⁴C] bupranolol in both humans and animals indicated extensive first-pass metabolism of the drug and the rapid formation of carboxybupranolol; these results suggested either that bupranolol is pharmacologically active, although present at very low concentrations in plasma, or that (a) metabolite(s) of bupranolol also contributes to the pharmacological activity [2, 3, 5]. Since carboxybupranolol has been identified as the major metabolite of bupranolol in

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

both humans and animals [2, 6], and since this compound has some pharmacological activity [7] it may be measured as an indication of the absorption of bupranolol from dose formulations of the drug.

In order to obtain reliable pharmacokinetic and bioavailability data, the method of analysis of carboxybupranolol in plasma must be sufficiently sensitive for the accurate determination of circulating concentrations of the compound. This paper describes an HPLC method for the measurement of carboxybupranolol in plasma over the concentration range 45–623 ng/ml. The assay procedure involves the extraction from plasma of the drug as an ion-pair, followed by chromatography in a reversed-phase mode, coupled with fluorimetric detection. The latter is ideal for carboxybupranolol analysis in that it is sensitive and highly specific thereby minimising the possibility of interference from other bupranolol metabolites, or other drugs administered concurrently with bupranolol.

EXPERIMENTAL

Reagents

Methanol was HPLC grade; sodium lauryl sulphate was Prima reagent grade; chloroform and propan-2-ol were Distol grade. All other reagents were of analytical grade. All solutions of inorganic reagents were prepared in freshly glass-distilled water. Standard solutions of the hydrochloride salt of carboxybupranolol (obtained from Dr. R. Bonn, Pharma-Schwarz GmbH, Monheim, F.R.G.) were prepared at concentrations of 1 mg/ml and 0.01 mg/ml in methanol. Solutions of deschlorocarboxybupranolol [1-tert.-butylamino-3-(5carboxyphenoxy)propan-2-ol] hydrochloride, used as the internal standard for the assay, were made at similar concentrations. All standard solutions were stored in the dark at 4° C.

Sample preparation procedure

Plasma samples (0.1-0.5 ml) were transferred into conical centrifuge tubes and the volume adjusted to 0.5 ml with control plasma; the samples were spiked with internal standard (30 μ l, containing 300 ng deschlorocarboxybupranolol hydrochloride). The pH of the samples was adjusted by the addition of sodium dihydrogen orthophosphate buffer (1 *M*, pH 3, 0.5 ml). Sodium dioctyl sulphosuccinate (DSS) (1%, w/v, 1.0 ml) was added as an ion-pairing agent. Samples were extracted by manual shaking for 15 sec with chloroform propan-2-ol (9:1, v/v, 5 ml). After centrifugation, the organic layer was carefully transferred into another centrifuge tube and was evaporated to dryness at 37° C under a stream of nitrogen. The residue was washed to the bottom of the tube with a small amount of chloroform—propan-2-ol, which was again evaporated to dryness. The residue was mixed on a vortex mixer with mobile phase (50 μ l) for 15 sec, after which time the sample was transferred to an autosampler vial. The total sample was injected into the chromatograph.

High-performance liquid chromatography

The liquid chromatograph consisted of a Waters M6000A pump (Waters Assoc., Northwich, U.K.) coupled to a Perkin-Elmer 3000 fluorescence detector

(Perkin-Elmer, Beaconsfield, U.K.) operated at an excitation wavelength of 245 nm and an emission wavelength of 330 nm. Injection was via an automatic injector, Waters' Intelligent Sample Processor (WISPTM, Waters Assoc.). The column was constructed of stainless steel (25 cm \times 0.46 cm I.D.) prepacked with Zorbax[®] C₈ (mean particle diameter 6 μ m, DuPont, Hitchin, U.K.). A pre-column (7 cm \times 0.2 cm I.D.) constructed of stainless steel and dry-packed with pellicular Co:Pell[®] ODS (particle diameter 25–37 μ m) (Whatman, Maid-stone, U.K.) was installed in front of the analytical column to protect it from contamination.

Chromatography was performed in a reversed-phase mode using an ionpairing mechanism. The mobile phase consisted of methanol (70%, v/v) in aqueous potassium dihydrogen orthophosphate buffer (0.1%, w/v), containing sodium lauryl sulphate (1%, w/v). The final solution was adjusted to pH 3 with phosphoric acid. The mobile phase was passed through the column at a flow-rate of 2 ml/min.

Chromatograms were recorded using a 3380A computing integrator (Hewlett-Packard, Slough, U.K.).

Under the conditions described, carboxybupranolol had a retention time of 7 min and the internal standard a retention time of 5 min (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Chromatogram of reference standards. Chromatographic conditions: column, 25 cm \times 0.46 cm I.D., containing Zorbax C_s; mobile phase, 70% (v/v) methanol—aqueous potassium dihydrogen orthophosphate (0.1% w/v) containing sodium lauryl sulphate (1%, w/v), final pH adjusted to 3 with phosphoric acid; flow-rate, 2 ml/min; detector, fluorescence, excitation wavelength 245 nm, emission wavelength 330 nm. Peaks: 1 = carboxybupranolol; 2 = internal standard.

Calibration procedure

The calibration line was constructed from peak area ratio measurements of carboxybupranolol to internal standard against concentration over the concentration range 45–623 ng/ml.

Samples of blank plasma (0.5 ml) were spiked with amounts of carboxy-

bupranolol hydrochloride of 25, 50, 100, 150, 200, 250 and 350 ng per 0.5-ml sample; this was equivalent to concentrations of 45, 89, 178, 267, 356, 445 and 635 ng carboxybupranolol free base per ml. Internal standard (as the hydrochloride) was added into samples at a fixed concentration of 600 ng/ml (300 ng per 0.5 ml). The samples were taken through the extraction procedure described previously.

Studies in humans

Four human subjects were dosed with capsules containing bupranolol (300 mg as the hydrochloride salt), together with 100 ml water, at 1 h following a standardised breakfast. The study was conducted under conditions similar to those previously described [8].

Blood samples were withdrawn by venepuncture into heparinised tubes before dosing and at 0.5, 0.75, 1, 1.5, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8 and 10 h after dosing. The blood cells were separated by centrifugation and discarded; plasma was stored at -20° C until analysis by the method described.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Precision

Extraction and measurement at each concentration were repeated on six occasions at each point over the calibration range. The precision of the method for the measurement of carboxybupranolol in plasma was indicated by the coefficients of variation of peak area ratios (Table I) which were 21% at 45 ng/ml, 6% at 267 ng/ml and 5% at 623 ng/ml.

TABLE I

BETWEEN-ASSAY PRECISION MEASUREMENTS OF CARBOXYBUPRANOLOL IN PLASMA

Concentration of carboxybupranolol (ng/ml)	Peak area ratio $\left(\frac{\text{carboxybupranolol}}{\text{internal standard}}\right)$					Mean (± S.D.)	Coefficient of variation (%)	
45	0.12	0.12	0.18	0.16	0.14	0.12	0.14 (0.03)	21
89	0.30	0.32	0.23	0.36	0.26	0.21	0.28 (0.06)	21
178	0.47	0.54	0.47	0.52	0.55	0.44	0.50 (0.04)	8
267	0.83	0.71	0.81	0.79	0.85	0.82	0.80 (0.05)	6
356	1.02	1.03	1.10	0.96	1.13	1.05	1.05 (0.06)	6
445	1.16	1.19	1.26	1.15	1.15	1.17	1.18 (0.04)	3
623	1.69	1.81	1.87	1.69	1.70	1.71	1.75 (0.08)	5

Accuracy

The calibration line for the measurement of carboxybupranolol in plasma was constructed over the range 45–623 ng/ml; six replicate extractions were made at each concentration over the range. The plot of peak area ratio against concentration was linear (Y = a + bX, where a = 0.031565 and b = 0.002732) where Y is the peak area ratio and X is the concentration of carboxybupranolol free base (ng/ml). The accuracy of the method as indicated by the standard error of the fitted least-squares regression line, i.e. using the calibration line to estimate the concentrations of carboxybupranolol in plasma, was ± 23 ng/ml.

Recovery

The recovery (extraction efficiency) of internal standard (600 ng/ml) from plasma (0.5 ml) was determined by comparison of peak area ratio measurements of internal standard to carboxybupranolol of standards taken through the extraction procedure, to those injected into the chromatograph without extraction. The mean recovery of internal standard was $79 \pm 6\%$ S.D. (n = 6).

The mean recovery of carboxybupranolol from plasma was determined by

(a)

(b)



Fig. 3. Chromatograms of (a) pre-dose control plasma and (b) 1-h post-dose plasma containing carboxybupranolol at a concentration of 768 ng/ml. Experimental conditions as for Fig. 2. Peaks: 1 = carboxybupranolol, 2 = internal standard.

comparison of peak area ratios of extracted standards, corrected for 100% recovery of internal standard, to those of non-extracted standards. The mean recovery of carboxybupranolol from plasma over the concentration range 45-356 ng/ml did not differ significantly from 100%.

Stability of carboxybupranolol in plasma

The stability of carboxybupranolol in plasma under the storage conditions used $(-20^{\circ}C)$ was tested by storing plasma standards at a concentration of 267 ng/ml for nineteen days. Recovery of carboxybupranolol from the stored samples was $95 \pm 5\%$ S.D. (n = 6).

Limits of detection

No interfering peaks with retention times similar to either carboxybupranolol or internal standard were present in predose (blank) plasma (Fig. 3). The limit of detection of carboxybupranolol based on the extraction of 0.5 ml plasma, was set by instrumental noise at 20 ng/ml. The reliable limit of accurate measurement based on integrator sensitivity was 45 ng/ml, the lowest datum point on the calibration line.

Selectivity of the analytical method

No peaks interfering with the analysis were present from any control plasma investigated. Samples chromatographed without internal standard showed no interference from metabolites with the same retention time as the internal standard. Bupranolol, desmethylbupranolol and hydroxymethylbupranolol (another less important metabolite) were only weakly fluorescent at the wavelengths employed and did not interfere with either carboxybupranolol or internal standard.

Concentrations of carboxybupranolol

The mean concentrations of carboxybupranolol in the plasma of four volunteers after single oral doses of 300 mg bupranolol (as the hydrochloride

TABLE II

MEAN (\pm S.D.) CONCENTRATIONS OF CARBOXYBUPRANOLOL (ng/ml) IN THE PLASMA OF FOUR HUMAN SUBJECTS AFTER SINGLE ORAL DOSES OF 300 mg OF BUPRANOLOL HYDROCHLORIDE

Time after dosing (h)	Conce (ng/m	entration (± S.D.) 1))	 	
0.5	236	(143)			
0.75	1275	(612)			
1	2273	(880)			
1.5	4190	(1272)			
2	3304	(852)			
3	2174	(741)			
4	747	(213)			
5	308	(88)			
6	165	(45)			
8	54	(39)			
10	$<\!45$	(—)			
salt) reached a peak of 4190 ng/ml (Table II) at 1.5 h after dosing and thereafter declined to below the limit of accurate measurement at 10 h with a mean half-life of 1.3 h (\pm 0.33). These concentrations were associated with drug action since concurrent pharmacodynamic measurements indicated that there was a pharmacological effect (inhibition of response to exercise stress) in the healthy volunteers after administration of 300 mg bupranolol.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to Dr. R. Bonn of Pharma-Schwarz GmbH, Monheim, F.R.G. for the opportunity to carry out these studies and for providing the analytical standards used.

REFERENCES

- 1 K.H. Rahn and A. Schrey (Editors), Betablocker, Urban and Schwarzenberg, Munich, 1978.
- 2 A.R. Waller, L.F. Chasseaud, R. Bonn, T. Taylor, A. Darragh, R. Girkin, W.H. Down and E. Doyle, Drug Metab. Dispos., 10 (1982) 51.
- 3 L.F. Chasseaud, in K.H. Rahn and A. Schrey (Editors), Betablocker, Urban and Schwarzenberg, Munich, 1978, pp. 30-33.
- 4 H. Winkler and B. Lemmer, J. Chromatogr., 309 (1984) 193.
- 5 K. Kagiwada, T. Kamasuka, T. Maeda, Y. Asami and S. Shoji, Pharmacometrics, 7 (1973) 317.
- 6 M. Kondo, T. Maeda and S. Tanji, Pharmacometrics, 7 (1973) 15.
- 7 A.J. Kaumann and H. Lemoine, in K.H. Rahn and A. Schrey (Editors), Betablocker, Urban and Schwarzenberg, Munich 1978, pp. 4–7.
- 8 R.R. Brodie, L.F. Chasseaud, T. Taylor, D.A. O'Kelley and A. Darragh, J. Chromatogr., 146 (1978) 152.

Journal of Chromatography, 311 (1984) 234–238 Biomedical Applications Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam – Printed in The Netherlands

CHROMBIO. 2249

Note

Determination of sodium 2-mercaptoethanesulphonate by high-performance liquid chromatography using post-column reaction colorimetry or electrochemical detection

BEATE SIDAU and IAN C. SHAW*

Laboratory of Toxicology and Pharmacokinetics, Department of Clinical Pharmacology, University College London, 5 University Street, London WC1 (U.K.)

(First received April 11th, 1984; revised manuscript received May 24th, 1984)

Sodium 2-mercaptoethanesulphonate (mesna) is a new drug which is used to ameliorate the urotoxicity associated with oxazaphosphorine (e.g. cyclophosphamide) chemotherapy [1]. The urotoxic oxazaphosphorine metabolites are detoxified by their reaction with the free sulphydryl group of mesna [2]. In order to ensure constant protection of the bladder and urinary tract, sufficient levels of free thiol must be maintained during the period when the toxic metabolites are excreted. Monitoring the urinary levels of free thiol is therefore important clinically.

Mesna in biological samples can be measured by the non-specific Ellman's free thiol assay [3, 4] which detects other thiols (endogenous thiols and thiol drugs) as well. A high-performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) method with ultraviolet (UV) detection has also been reported [5]; however, its sensitivity is not sufficiently high to make it suitable for application to clinical samples.

The method described here allows the determination of mesna per se in pharmaceutical and biological samples. It is based on the separation of mesna from other thiols by ion-pair HPLC followed either by post-column derivatization and colorimetric detection (system A) or by electrochemical detection (system B).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chemicals

Mesna was provided by WB Pharmaceuticals (Bracknell, U.K.); other thiol

0378-4347/84/\$03.00 © 1984 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

compounds (L-cysteine, DL-homocysteine, glutathione, D-penicillamine) were purchased from Sigma (Poole, U.K.) and the ion-pairing reagents heptanesulphonic acid (HSA) and tetrabutylammonium phosphate (TBAP) from Magnus Scientific (Aylesbury, U.K.). All other chemicals were of analytical grade.

HPLC equipment

Two HPLC systems were used which consisted of the same basic set-up, but utilized different ion-pairing reagents and detection systems (Table I). They comprised a Constametric III solvent pump (Laboratory Data Control, Stone, U.K.) and a Rheodyne injection valve (Rheodyne, Berkeley, CA, U.S.A.) with a 50- μ l injection loop. Separation was performed on a Hypersil ODS analytical column (25 cm \times 4 mm I.D., particle size 5 μ m).

TABLE I

DETAILS OF THE HPLC SYSTEMS USED FOR THE DETERMINATION OF MESNA Both systems were used with conventional HPLC equipment (see Materials and methods).

	System A	System B				
Mobile phase	Phosphate buffer (0.25 M, pH 7.4)—methanol (95:5)	Phosphate buffer $(0.25 M, pH 7.4)$				
Ion-pairing reagent	TBAP $(0.005 M)$	HSA(0.005 M)				
Detection system	Post-column detivatization with Ellman's reagent followed by colorimetric detection at 412 nm	Electrochemical detection with glassy carbon electrode, potential + 800 mV				

System A. The mobile phase consisted of a mixture of aqueous phosphate buffer (0.25 *M*, pH 7.4) and methanol (95:5) containing 0.005 *M* TBAP as the ion-pairing reagent. The flow-rate was 1 ml/min. For the post-column reaction a stainless-steel column (20 cm \times 4 mm I.D.) packed with glass beads (100-120 mesh, dichloromethylsilane-treated) was used [6]. The stock Ellman's reagent [7] for the post-column derivatization consisted of 5,5'-dithiobis(2-nitrobenzoic acid) (0.2%, w/v) and tripotassium citrate (10%, w/v) in phosphate buffer (0.25 *M*, pH 7.4); it was diluted 1:10 with water before use. The flowrate was 0.5 ml/min.

Absorbance was measured using a Varichrom variable-wavelength detector at 412 nm (Varian, Walton-on-Thames, U.K.).

System B. The mobile phase consisted of HSA (0.005 M) in aqueous phosphate buffer (0.25 M, pH 7.4) and was used at a flow-rate of 1 ml/min. The electrochemical detector (LCA 15, EDT Research, London, U.K.) with a glassy carbon electrode was used at a potential of + 800 mV [8].

Preparation of standard solutions and calibration graph

Standard solutions containing mesna, D-penicillamine, L-cysteine, DL-homocysteine and glutathione were made up in water or urine. EDTA (final concentration 0.1%, w/v) was added to prevent disulphide formation [9]. Calibration curves were prepared up to $3 \mu g$ of mesna (on column).

Preparation and analysis of urine samples

Urine samples were collected from patients receiving mesna (30 mg/kg body weight/dose intravenously; four doses were given each day at times 0, 3, 6 and 9 h after the cyclophosphamide dose) during cyclophosphamide therapy [10]. Control urine samples were obtained before the start of chemotherapy. Urine samples were preserved with EDTA (final concentration 0.1%, w/v) and analysed immediately.

A 50- μ l volume of diluted urine (dilution range 1:3 to 1:39) was injected onto the column. The mesna concentrations were calculated using the calibration graphs.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Mesna was readily detectable by both of the HPLC and detection systems described and gave a linear calibration graph up to 3.5 μ g (on column) in system A and 7.4 μ g (on column) in system B. Quantitative variation in system A was 15 ng at the 1- μ g level and 0.8 ng at the 25-ng level in system B (n=4).

In system B with HSA as the ion-pairing reagent the retention time for mesna is relatively short since it probably does not form an ion-pair with HSA at this pH; however, a sufficient separation from other thiols (Table II) and endogenous compounds (see Fig. 2A) is achieved because a number of these compounds do form ion-pairs with HSA at pH 7.4. HSA possibly modifies the reversed-phase HPLC column giving it ion-exchange characteristics and this could be an important mechanism of separation of mesna from endogenous compounds. Since a number of chemical groups give an electrochemical response at + 800 mV (e.g. phenolic hydroxyl groups), this is important when clinical samples are analysed, where interference from drugs and their metabolites during multiple drug treatment could be a problem.

TABLE II

Thiol compound	System A	System B	
L-Cysteine	0.1	0	
DL-Homocysteine	0.1	0.3	
D-Penicillamine	0.72	1.5	
Glutathione	1.2	0.1	
Mesna	5.0	0.2	

CAPACITY FACTORS (k') FOR SELECTED THIOL COMPOUNDS USING REVERSED-PHASE ION-PAIR HPLC AS DESCRIBED IN TABLE I

Considerable interest in the application of electrochemical detection has resulted in numerous techniques for detection of phenolic hydroxyl groups (e.g. catecholamines); this study underlines the importance of this technique in the detection of thiol groups.

In system A the resolution is much greater (Table II) because mesna forms an ion-pair with TBAP and this results in discrete peaks for all thiol compounds tested apart from cysteine and homocysteine which are not separated under these conditions. The specific Ellman's assay only detects compounds containing free sulphydryl groups; therefore the number of possible interfering substances is limited and no interfering peaks are present in the control urine samples analysed (Fig. 1A).

The electrochemical detection has three-fold greater sensitivity when applied to urine samples (limit of detection 25 ng compared to 75 ng in system A); however, with minimum mesna levels in the urine in the order of 50 μ g/ml during the first 24 h after mesna administration the sensitivity of the Ellman's assay is sufficient.



Fig. 1. Reversed-phase HPLC traces (system A) (A) of undiluted control urine showing a small peak for excreted cysteine (c), and (B) of diluted urine (1:5) from a patient receiving mesna during cyclophosphamide cancer chemotherapy. The trace shows enhanced excretion of cysteine (c) and excretion of mesna (m).

HPLC analysis of urine from patients receiving mesna (Figs. 1B and 2B) demonstrates enhanced cysteine excretion and underlines the necessity to use chromatographic separation prior to the colorimetric determination rather than the Ellman's free thiol assay alone (i.e. where total SH levels are measured) [4]. This results in artificially high "mesna" levels in urine from patients receiving mesna. The enhanced cysteine excretion during mesna administration is analogous to the treatment of cystinuria with the thiol drug penicillamine [11] and is presently being studied in our laboratory.

CONCLUSION

Both HPLC systems followed by either the post-column reaction or electrochemical detection techniques described are suitable for application to rapid



Fig. 2. Reversed-phase HPLC traces (system B) (A) of control urine showing a small peak for excreted cysteine (c), and (B) of urine from a patient receiving mesna during cyclophosphamide cancer chemotherapy. The trace shows enhanced excretion of cysteine (c) and excretion of mesna (m).

clinical assays, and may be used to monitor urinary mesna levels during oxazaphosphorine cancer chemotherapy using mesna uroprotection.

There is no reason why the ion-pairing reagents (TBAP and HSA) and the detection systems cannot be exchanged to produce the combination most suitable for a specific analytical problem.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to thank WB Pharmaceuticals and the Wellcome Trust for financial assistance, and Dr. R. Souhami of University College Hospital for permission to use data from his patients.

REFERENCES

- W. Scheef, H.O. Klein, N. Brock, H. Berkert, V. Günther, H. Hoefer-Jonker, D. Mitrenga, J. Schinitker and R. Voigtmann, Cancer Treatm. Rep., 63 (1979) 501.
- 2 N. Brock, in H. Burkert and G.A. Nagel (Editors), Neue Erfahrungen mit Oxazaphosphorinen unter besonderer Berucksichtigung des Uroprotektors Uromitexan[®], Karger, Basel, 1980, p. 1.
- 3 G.L. Ellman, Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 82 (1959) 70.
- 4 B. Sidau, I.C. Shaw and G.P. Finn, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., submitted for publication.
- 5 Z. Apostolides, N.M. Vermeulen and D.J.J. Potgieter, J. Chromatogr., 246 (1982) 304.
- 6 D. Beales, R. Finch, A.E.M. McLean, M. Smith and I.D. Wilson, J. Chromatogr., 226 (1981) 498.
- 7 E. Beutler, O. Duron and B.M. Kelly, J. Lab. Clin. Med., 61 (1963) 882.
- 8 I.C. Shaw, A.E.M. McLean and C.H. Boult, J. Chromatogr., 275 (1983) 206.
- 9 R. Saetre and D.L. Rabenstein, Anal. Chem., 50 (1978) 276.
- 10 R.L. Souhami, P.G. Harper, D. Linch, C. Trask, A.H. Goldstone, J. Tobias, S.G. Spiro, D.M. Geddes and J.D.M. Richards, Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol., 8 (1982) 31.
- 11 J.C. Crawhall, D. Lecavalier and P. Ryan, Biopharm. Drug Dispos., 1 (1979) 73.

PUBLICATION SCHEDULE FOR 1984

Journal of Chromatography (incorporating Chromatographic Reviews) and Journal of Chromatography, Biomedical Applications

MONTH	D 1983	J	F	м	A	м	J	J	A	S	0	N
Journal of Chromatography	282	283 284/1	284/2 285/1	285/2 285/3 286 287/1	287/2 288/1 288/2 289	290 291 292/1	292/2 293 294	295/1 295/2 296	297 298/1 298/2 298/3	299/1 299/2 301/1	301/2 302 303/1	303/2
Chromatographic Reviews		300/1					300/2					300/3
Bibliography Section		304/1	304/2			304/3					304/4	304/5
Biomedical Applications		305/1	305/2	306	307/1	307/2	308	309/1	309/2	310/1	310/2	311/1 311/2

INFORMATION FOR AUTHORS

(Detailed *Instructions to Authors* were published in Vol. 295, No. 2, pp. 555-558. A free reprint can be obtained by application to the publisher.)

- Types of Contributions. The following types of papers are published in the *Journal of Chromatography* and the section on *Biomedical Applications:* Regular research papers (Full-length papers), Short communications and Notes. Short communications are preliminary announcements of important new developments and will, whenever possible, be published with maximum speed. Notes are usually descriptions of short investigations and reflect the same quality of research as Full-length papers, but should preferably not exceed four printed pages. For review articles, see page 2 of cover under Submission of Papers.
- Submission. Every paper must be accompanied by a letter from the senior author, stating that he is submitting the paper for publication in the *Journal of Chromatography*. Please do not send a letter signed by the director of the institute or the professor unless he is one of the authors.
- Manuscripts. Manuscripts should be typed in double spacing on consecutively numbered pages of uniform size. The manuscript should be preceded by a sheet of manuscript paper carrying the title of the paper and the name and full postal address of the person to whom the proofs are to be sent. Authors of papers in French or German are requested to supply an English translation of the title of the paper. As a rule, papers should be divided into sections, headed by a caption (*e.g.*, Summary, Introduction, Experimental, Results, Discussion, etc.). All illustrations, photographs, tables, etc., should be on separate sheets.
- Introduction. Every paper must have a concise introduction mentioning what has been done before on the topic described, and stating clearly what is new in the paper now submitted.
- Summary. Full-length papers and Review articles should have a summary of 50-100 words which clearly and briefly indicates what is new, different and significant. In the case of French or German articles an additional summary in English, headed by an English translation of the title, should also be provided. (Short communications and Notes are published without a summary.)
- Illustrations. The figures should be submitted in a form suitable for reproduction, drawn in Indian ink on drawing or tracing paper. Each illustration should have a legend, all the *legends* being typed (with double spacing) together on a *separate sheet*. If structures are given in the text, the original drawings should be supplied. Coloured illustrations are reproduced at the author's expense, the cost being determined by the number of pages and by the number of colours needed. The written permission of the author and publisher must be obtained for the use of any figure already published. Its source must be indicated in the legend.
- **References.** References should be numbered in the order in which they are cited in the text, and listed in numerical sequence on a separate sheet at the end of the article. Please check a recent issue for the layout of the reference list. Abbreviations for the titles of journals should follow the system used by *Chemical Abstracts.* Articles not yet published should be given as "in press", "submitted for publication", "in preparation" or "personal communication".
- Proofs. One set of proofs will be sent to the author to be carefully checked for printer's errors. Corrections must be restricted to instances in which the proof is at variance with the manuscript. "Extra corrections" will be inserted at the author's expense.
- **Reprints.** Fifty reprints of Full-length papers, Short communications and Notes will be supplied free of charge. Additional reprints can be ordered by the authors. An order form containing price quotations will be sent to the authors together with the proofs of their article.
- Advertisements. Advertisement rates are available from the publisher on request. The Editors of the journal accept no responsibility for the contents of the advertisements.

A					
ELSEVIER	PROGRAMS AVAILABLE .				
isgoing	REFVALUE: calculates reference intervals from total hospital-patients laboratory data. (Baadenhuysen and Smit) for PDP and HP 85 (and in prep. for IBM-PC). Price: Mini computer US\$ 1080,00 Micro computer US\$ 500,00				
EISWARE	BALANCE: a program to statistically compare two series of measurements (Massart) for IBM-PC and APPLE. Price: US\$ 150,00				
'Elsware' with its software. Elsevier, publisher of many journals in all of the major scientific fields, is now going elsewhere with the launch of its first series of programs for both mini and micro- computers.	 CLEOPATRA: Chemometrics Library: an Extendable set Of Programs as an Aid in Teaching, Research and Application. (Kateman) for HP 9845 B (and in prep. for IBM-PC). Price: USS 600,00 				
Unlike other software publishers, we have some unique features programs are extensively refereed and operationally tested; program manuals	INSTRUMENTUNE-UP: helps the user to improve the performance of common scientific laboratory instruments (Deming and Morgan) for IBM-PC and APPLE. Price: US\$ 150,00				
usually include source code listings; free updates are provided for a year and comprehensive information is available before ordering.	 and in preparation: CHEOPS: CHEmometrical OPtimization by Simplex. The program offers an intelligent, sequential experimental plan, based on the modified or super-modified simplex method. It optimizes the response of a system by varying up to ten instrumental parameters. 				
	CLUE: a program for heirarchical divisive clustering.				
 Please send me further information on: REFVALUE BALANCE CLEOPATRA INSTRUMENTUNE-U Name 	P CLUE ELSEVIER SCIENTIFIC SOFTWARE				
Address					
send this coupon to: Keith Foley, Elsevier Scientific Software, P.O. Box 330, 1000 AH Amsterdam, The Netherlands. (Tel.: 020 - 5803 447) (Tel.: 212 867 9040)					